
 

 

 
 
 
 
Please ask for Liz Athorn 
Direct Line: 01246 959612 
Email  democratic.services@chesterfield.gov.uk 
 
 
The Chair and Members of Planning 
Committee 

 

Councillors Kellman, Redihough and 
Snowdon – Site Visit 1  
 
Councillors J Innes, McLaren and 
Twigg – Site Visit 2 and 3 
 

14 July 2023 

 
Dear Councillor, 
 

Please attend a meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE to be held on 
MONDAY, 24 JULY 2023 at 1.00 pm in Committee Room 1, the agenda for which 
is set out below. 
 

AGENDA 
 

Part 1(Public Information) 
 

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE MEETING WILL BE PRECEDED BY THE 
FOLLOWING SITE VISITS. 

 
Planning Committee Members should assemble in Committee Room 1 at 
10.50am Ward members wishing to be present should attend on site as 
indicated below:- 
  
1. 
  

11.10am Park Hall Farm, Walton Back Lane, Walton, 
Chesterfield  
CHE/22/00437/LBC and 
CHE/22/00436/FUL 
  

2. 11:30am Dunston Road, Chesterfield, William Davis 

Public Document Pack



 

  Homes 
CHE/21/00549/OUT 
  

3. 
  

12.10pm Land to North of Dunston Road, 
Chesterfield 
CHE/23/00313/FUL 

      
      
      
Members are reminded that only those attending on site will be eligible to 
take part in the debate and make a decision on these items, unless a 
reasonable adjustment is in place by prior arrangement. Members intending 
to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, or any other matter which 
would prevent them taking part in discussions on an item, should not attend 
the site visit for it. 
  
A reasonable adjustment meeting will take place at 10.15am in Committee 
Room 1 for those not able to attend the site visits.    
                                                                                                    
Ward members are invited to attend on site and should confirm their 
attendance by contacting Liz Athorn on tel. 01246 959612     or via e-mail:  
liz.athorn@chesterfield.gov.uk by 9.00 a.m. on Monday 24th July 2023. If 
you do not confirm your attendance, it will be assumed that you will not be 
attending on site. 

  
Please ensure that all mobile phones are switched off during site visits and 
at the meeting at the Town Hall. 
   

1.    Apologies for Absence  
  

2.    Declarations of Members' and Officers' Interests Relating to Items on the 
Agenda  
  

3.    Minutes of Planning Committee (Pages 5 - 26) 
  

4.    Applications for Planning Permission - Plans Determined by the 
Committee (Pages 27 - 260) 
  

5.    Applications for Planning Permission - Plans Determined by the 
Development Management and Conservation Manager (P140D) (Pages 
261 - 272) 

mailto:liz.athorn@chesterfield.gov.uk


 

  
6.    Applications to Fell or Prune Trees (P620D) (Pages 273 - 280) 

  
7.    Appeals Report (P000) (Pages 281 - 284) 

  
8.    Enforcement Report (P410) (Pages 285 - 290) 

  
9.    Five Year Supply of Land for Housing (Pages 291 - 324) 

 
 

Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 

Head of Regulatory Law and Monitoring Officer 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 03.07.23 
1 

 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Monday, 3rd July, 2023 
 

Present:- 
 

Councillor Callan (Chair) 
 
Councillors B Bingham 

J Bingham 
Brittain 
Caulfield 
Davenport 
 

Councillors Falconer 
Miles 
Ridgway 
Yates 

The following site visits took place immediately before the meeting and 
was attended by the following Members: 
 
CHE/22/00828/FUL - Erection of single storey annex to be used in 
conjunction with existing house (amended plans and description) at 277 
Handley Road, New Whittington, Chesterfield, Derbyshire, S43 2ES for 
Mr and Mrs Knight.  
 
Councillors J Bingham, Brittain, Callan, Caulfield, Davenport, Falconer, 
Ridgway and Yates. 
 
Councillors B Bingham and Miles were unable to attend on site and 
received relevant site information by other means as a reasonable 
adjustment. 
 
CHE/22/00422/FUL - Change of Use from TV Repair Shop to Auto 
Garage and single storey rear extension and covered area at the Old 
Station, Station Road, Old Whittington, Chesterfield for Mr B Lalli. 
 
Councillors J Bingham, Brittain, Callan, Caulfield, Davenport, Falconer, 
Ridgway and Yates. 
 
Councillors B Bingham and Miles were unable to attend on site and 
received relevant site information by other means as a reasonable 
adjustment. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 03.07.23 
2 

 
 

CHE/21/00746/RET - Retrospective consent for canopy and decking to 
side of premises for outside dining, installation of wooden posts on front 
boundary and retractable canopy to frontage at the Birdcage, 35 Derby 
Road, Chesterfield for the Birdcage.  
 
Councillors J Bingham, Brittain, Callan, Caulfield, Davenport, Falconer, 
Ridgway and Yates. 
 
Councillors B Bingham and Miles were unable to attend on site and 
received relevant site information by other means as a reasonable 
adjustment. 
 
*Matters dealt with under the Delegation Scheme 
  

16    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Brady and Stone. 
  

17    DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' AND OFFICERS' INTERESTS 
RELATING TO ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
 
Agenda Item 3 - CHE/22/00828/FUL - Erection of Single Storey Annex to 
be used in conjunction with existing house (Amended Plans and 
Description) at 277 Handley Road, New Whittington, Chesterfield, 
Derbyshire, S43 2ES for Mr and Mrs Knight. 
  
Councillor B Bingham mentioned that he had been contacted by both the 
applicant and objector. He had not expressed any view on the application 
and had explained the planning process. 
  
  

18    MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMITTEE  
 
RESOLVED -  
  
That the Minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on 12 
June, 2023 be signed by the Chair as a true record. 
  

19    APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION - PLANS 
DETERMINED BY THE COMMITTEE  
 

Page 6



 03.07.23 
3 

 
 

*The Committee considered the under-mentioned applications in light of 
the reports by the Development Management and Conservation Manager 
and resolved as follows: 
  
CHE/22/00828/FUL - ERECTION OF SINGLE STOREY ANNEX TO BE 
USED IN CONJUNCTION WITH EXISTING HOUSE (AMENDED PLANS 
AND DESCRIPTION) AT 277 HANDLEY ROAD, NEW WHITTINGTON, 
CHESTERFIELD, DERBYSHIRE, S43 2ES FOR MR AND MRS KNIGHT. 
  
In accordance with Minute No. 299 (2001/2002) Mr Wolstenholme 
(objector) addressed the meeting.  
  
In accordance with Minute No. 299 (2001/2002) Mrs Phipps (objector) 
addressed the meeting.  
  
In accordance with Minute No. 299 (2001/2002) Mr Fieldhouse (on behalf 
of the applicant) addressed the meeting.  
  
*RESOLVED 
  
That the officer recommendation be upheld and the application be 
approved subject to the following conditions:- 
  
1.  The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
  
2.  The development hereby approved shall only be carried out in full 
accordance with the approved plans (listed below) with the exception of 
any approved non-material amendment. All external dimensions and 
elevational treatments shall be as shown on the approved plan/s (listed 
below). 
  
-  Drawing Titled ‘Proposed Elevations and Floor Plans’ (Published 
28.03.2023) 
  
3.  The self-contained accommodation hereby permitted shall only be 
occupied in connection with, and incidental to, the occupation of the 
adjoining dwelling known as 277 Handley Road, in that it shall: 

  

Page 7



 03.07.23 
4 

 
 

-  Only be occupied by persons with a familial link or demonstrable   
relationship to the occupants of the main dwelling; 
-  not be identified or addressed as a separate postal address; 
-  not be occupied in the event the main dwelling is unoccupied;  and 
-  not be occupied under any form of contract. 
  
4.  Prior to the ordering of materials, details of the render, stone quoins, 
roof materials and windows & doors materials shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Only the materials 
agreed in writing shall be used at the application site. 
  
5.  No construction works, movement of construction traffic, or deliveries 
to and from the premises, shall occur other than between 0800 and 1800 
hours weekdays, and 0800 and 1300 hours on Saturdays, and at no time 
on Sundays or Public Holidays. 
 
6.  Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or in any 
Statutory Instrument revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification) no buildings, structures, extensions, fences, gates, walls or 
other means of enclosure – other than those expressly authorised in this 
permission –  shall be erected within the curtilage of the dwelling without 
the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority upon an 
application submitted to it. 

  
7.  Prior to completion of the development hereby approved; details of 
treatment of all parts on the site not covered by buildings shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
site shall be landscaped strictly in accordance with the approved details in 
the first planting season after completion. Details shall include: 

  
a)  a scaled plan showing vegetation to be retained and trees and plants 
to be planted along with habitat/wildlife improvements: 
b)  a schedule detailing sizes and numbers of all proposed trees/plants. 
c)  sufficient specification to ensure successful establishment and survival 
of new planting. 

Page 8



 03.07.23 
5 

 
 

d)  details of biodiversity and ecological enhancement measures to be 
installed into the development on site. 

  
Any new tree(s) that die(s), are/is removed, become(s) severely damaged 
or diseased shall be replaced and any new planting (other than trees) 
which dies, is removed, becomes severely damaged or diseased within 
five years of planting shall be replaced. Replacement planting shall be in 
accordance with the approved details (unless the Local Planning Authority 
gives its written consent to any variation). The ecological enhancement 
measures shall thereafter be retained and maintained throughout the life 
of the development. 

  
CHE/23/00247/FUL - CHANGE OF USE TO CREATE A LARGER 
HOUSE IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION, USE CLASS C4 TO SUI 
GENERIS AT 32 FAIRFIELD ROAD, BROCKWELL, CHESTERFIELD 
FOR MR R CUSIMANO 
  
In accordance with Minute No. 299 (2001/2002) Mr Cusimano (applicant) 
addressed the meeting.  
  
*RESOLVED 
  
That the officer recommendation be upheld and the application be 
approved subject to the following conditions:- 
  
1.  The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
  
2.  The development hereby approved shall only be carried out in full 
accordance with the approved plans (listed below) with the exception of 
any approved non-material amendment. All external dimensions and 
elevational treatments shall be as shown on the approved plan/s (listed 
below): 
 
-  Site location plan 
-  Existing Floor plans 
-  Proposed Floor plans 
  
3.  Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, on site 
facilities shall be provided within the curtilage of the site for the secure 
and weatherproof storage for 7 bicycles, in accordance with details to be 

Page 9



 03.07.23 
6 

 
 

submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority beforehand. 
Such facilities shall be maintained for use throughout the life of the 
development. 
  
4.  Within 2 months of the occupation of the development hereby 
approved, biodiversity and ecological enhancement measures shall be 
installed/integrated into the development and / or planted on site in line 
with the advice at informative 2.  The ecological enhancement measures 
shall thereafter be retained and maintained throughout the life of the 
development.  
  
CHE/21/00746/RET - RETROSPECTIVE CONSENT FOR CANOPY AND 
DECKING TO SIDE OF PREMISES FOR OUTSIDE DINING, 
INSTALLATION OF WOODEN POSTS ON FRONT BOUNDARY AND 
RETRACTABLE CANOPY TO FRONTAGE AT THE BIRDCAGE, 35 
DERBY ROAD, CHESTERFIELD FOR THE BIRDCAGE 
  
*RESOLVED 
  
That the officer recommendation be upheld and the application be 
approved subject to the following conditions:- 
  
1.  The development hereby approved shall only be carried out in full 
accordance with the approved plans: Site Location Plan, Site Plan, 
Elevation Plans; with the exception of any approved non-material 
amendment.  

  
2.  The outdoor area of the premises shall not be used for external 
seating in connection with the operation of the café before 8.00am and 
after 9.00pm Sunday to Thursday and before 8am and after 10pm on 
Friday and Saturday.  
  
3.  The planting provided on site for biodiversity benefits shall be retained 
and maintained throughout the life of the development.  
  
CHE/22/00422/FUL - CHANGE OF USE FROM TV REPAIR SHOP TO 
AUTO GARAGE AND SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION AND 
COVERED AREA AT THE OLD STATION, STATION ROAD, OLD 
WHITTINGTON, CHESTERFIELD FOR MR B LALLI 
  
*RESOLVED 
  

Page 10



 03.07.23 
7 

 
 

That the officer recommendation be upheld and the application be 
approved subject to the following conditions:- 
  
1.  The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
  
2.  The development hereby approved shall only be carried out in full 
accordance with the approved plans: Site Location Plan, Revised Parking 
layout (11/04/23), Vehicle Tracking (04/05/23), Proposed Elevations 
(24/05/23), Lintel Details, Proposed Floor plans and Elevations 
(15/09/22); with the exception of any approved non-material amendment.  
  
3.  Prior to the ordering of external materials taking place, precise 
specifications and /or samples of; all fenestration including the large door 
opening and its detailed junction with the brick coursing and header detail, 
brick for the external wall and all roofing materials to be used shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Only 
those materials approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority shall 
be used as part of the development unless otherwise agreed by the Local 
Planning Authority in writing. 

  
4.  No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied until 
space has been laid out within the site in accordance with the approved 
plan for cars to be parked, and for vehicles to turn so that they may enter 
and leave the site in forward gear. The 3 external parking spaces should 
be clearly marked out, with no parking in front of the access gate. This is 
in line with the submitted drawings for the parking layout plan (11/04/23) 
and vehicular tracking (04/05/23). 

  
5.  The business shall be operated on an appointment only basis and 
there shall be no more than 2 staff present at the premises per day and 3 
customers per day. No more than 3 customers’ vehicles shall be at the 
site at any one time.  

  
6.  The premises shall not be used for the purposes authorised by this 
permission (including deliveries) other than between the following hours: 
0800 to 1800 Monday to Friday, 0800 to 1300 on Saturdays and no 
opening on Sundays and Bank Holidays. 

  
7.  Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority construction 
work shall only be carried out on site between 8:00am and 6:00pm 
Monday to Friday, 9:00am to 1:00pm on a Saturday and no work on a 

Page 11



 03.07.23 
8 

 
 

Sunday or public holiday. The term “work” will also apply to the operation 
of plant, machinery and equipment.  
  
8.  The development permitted by this planning permission shall only be 
carried out in accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment 
(FRA) produced by RAB dated 19th August 2022 and the following 
mitigation measures detailed within the FRA shall be implemented: 
-  The finished floor level of the extension should be set no lower than the 
existing, 
-  Implement a scheme of flood resilience within the extension (and to the 
existing building as far as possible) in line with recommendations given in 
Section 4.1.3, 
-  The site manager should register to receive Environment Agency Flood 
Alert provide useful information about local flood conditions as outlined in 
Section 4.2.2. 
-  Review the use of small retrofit SuDS components when making any 
modification to the existing surface water drainage scheme (refer to 
Section 4.3.2). 
-  Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015 
The revised CDM Regulations came into force in April 2015 to update 
certain duties on all parties involved in a construction project, including 
those promoting the development. One of the Designer’s responsibilities 
is to ensure that the Client organisation, in this instance Sukhbinder Singh 
Lalli, is made aware of their duties under the CDM Regulations. 
  
9.  The Solid Masonry Wall insulation details submitted 22.02.2023 and 
the email content from the agent dated 15.09.2022 noting the 225mm 
masonry wall and 50mm gap from the party wall, shall all be fully installed 
along the length and sull internal height of the existing and proposed 
south eastern party wall prior to the occupation of the premises.  
  
10.  Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(Uses Classes) Order 1987, (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that 
Order with or without modifications), this permission shall relate solely to 
the use of the land and buildings for a car repair garage within Use Class 
B2 and for no other purpose, including any other activity within the same 
class of the schedule to that Order. 

  
11.  The development shall be competed in accordance with the 
mitigation strategy and conclusions of the Coal Mining Risk Assessment 
by Envirosolution dated 11.11.2022.  
  

Page 12



 03.07.23 
9 

 
 

20    APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION - PLANS 
DETERMINED BY THE DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT AND 
CONSERVATION MANAGER (P140D)  
 
*The Development Management and Conservation Manager reported that 
pursuant to the authority delegated to him, he had determined the under-
mentioned applications subject to the necessary conditions:- 
  
(a)   Approvals 
  
CHE/21/00077/RET Retrospective consent for erection of a 

cold storage unit and 2 additional air 
conditioning units. 
At Birdholme Service Station, Derby Road, 
Birdholme S40 2EU for Mrs Natalie 
Ternent 
  

CHE/22/00669/FUL Demolition of existing church hall and toilet 
block, erection of replacement church and 
erection of 9 new dwellings with associated 
car parking, landscaping, boundary 
treatments and external lighting. 
(Amended/additional information received 
28.04 and 03.05) at former Inkersall 
Methodist Church, Summerskill Green, 
Inkersall, Chesterfield S43 3SR for Osco 
Homes Ltd 
  

CHE/23/00022/FUL Change of use and conversion of former 
public toilets to a Dessert Bar with 
associated building works including energy 
efficiency measures and rendering at 
Public Conveniences, Hasland Road, 
Hasland, Chesterfield S41 0SJ for Mr S 
Pugh 
  

CHE/23/00109/FUL Two storey side extension at 100 Norwood 
Avenue, Hasland, Chesterfield S41 0NH 
for  
Mr Mark Bladon 
  

CHE/23/00125/FUL Single storey front extension at 48 

Page 13



 03.07.23 
10 

 
 

Piccadilly Road 
Chesterfield S41 0EJ for Mr Richardson 
  

CHE/23/00157/FUL Two storey side extension to form a 1 
bedroom annexe to the ground floor and 
additional bedroom and bathroom space to 
the first floor at 22 Challands Way, 
Hasland, Chesterfield  
S41 0ER for Mr & Mrs John & Wendy 
Whitfield 
  

CHE/23/00186/FUL Erection of pergola and installation of 
astroturf to existing outside seating area at 
Woodside, 343 Ashgate Road, Chesterfield 
S40 4DB for Stonegate Pub Group 
  

CHE/23/00187/RET Retrospective application for the 
installation of two wall mounted 
compressors, a cold room extension  
and a metal structure to house associated 
gas cylinders at Woodside, 343 Ashgate 
Road, Chesterfield S40 4DB for Stonegate 
Pub Group 
  

CHE/23/00230/FUL Demolition of existing buildings and 
construction of single storey rear extension 
at 31 Westbrook Drive, Chesterfield S40 
3PQ for  
Mr and Mrs Kamwendo 
  

CHE/23/00232/FUL Rebuilding of external wall at the rear of 
the property at 26 Abercrombie Street, 
Chesterfield 
S41 7LW for Mr Steven Taft 
  

CHE/23/00237/TPO T1 Oak- Crown lift the canopy, pruning of 
limbs to achieve 1m clearance around 
phone lines, canopy pruned to ensure a 
5.2m clearance of roadside  
where applicable and achieve a 3m 
clearance away from property at 67 
Windermere Road, Newbold S41 8DT for 

Page 14



 03.07.23 
11 

 
 

Mr Jon Geary 
  

CHE/23/00253/RET Retention of timber fence to garden 
frontage at 8 Kentmere Way, Middlecroft, 
Staveley S43 3TW for 
Mrs Lisa Baker 
  

CHE/23/00254/FUL Two storey side extension and single 
storey front extension at 3 Kelburn Avenue, 
Walton, Chesterfield S40 3DG for Mrs 
Isobel Maltby 
  

CHE/23/00260/FUL Alterations to disused office 
accommodation to form two dwellings at 48 
Newbold Road, Newbold, Chesterfield S41 
7PL for James Norton RIBA  
  

CHE/23/00262/TPO Crown lifting, removal of dead or dying 
branches (general maintenance) and 
removal of Ivy to trees fronting Newbold 
Road at former Shrubberies, 46 Newbold 
Road, Newbold S41 7PL for  
Mr Luke Fletcher 
  

CHE/23/00265/FUL Creation of unloading layby and access 
ramp to existing building. Installation of 
new access staircase to flat roof area at 
Walton Hospital, Whitecotes Lane, Walton, 
Chesterfield S40 3HW 
For Derbyshire Community Health 
Services NHS Trust 
  

CHE/23/00285/TPO Beech Tree - T25- Crown lift to an 
approximate height of the house gutter to 
give a clearance below the trees crown to 
allow light to the property from underneath 
the tree. The reduction of branches 
growing towards the property to give a 1.5 
metres clearance from the structure. The 
reduction of branches to clear telephone 
wires. A  
25% crown thin to allow light through the 

Page 15



 03.07.23 
12 

 
 

crown which would also remove dead 
wood and any weak branches. Birch-T13- 
Remove Ivy rather than just severing at the 
base to allow more light and crown clean to 
remove dead wood and inspect.  No 
pollard advised. Poplars-G6- Fell and 
replace due to their poor condition and 
reduced amenity value.  We would propose 
to replace with acer platanoides which we 
though a good choice based on colour and 
advised as ideal for avenues at 26 
Abercrombie Street, Chesterfield S41 7LW 
for Mr Steven Taft 
  

CHE/23/00292/FUL First floor rear infill extension over existing 
ground floor extension at 180 Somersall 
Lane, Somersall, 
Chesterfield S40 3NA for Mr and Mrs 
Ashmore 
  

CHE/23/00293/FUL Change of Use from D1 (Education 
Facility) to sui generis vehicle workshops 
Including Class IV MOT bay, training 
facility, parts storage, staff, visitor and 
vehicle parking areas and de-minimis 
change of external appearance at 
Chesterfield College Automotive Centre, 
Units 4-6 Lockoford Lane, Chesterfield S41 
7HY for Vertu Motors plc 
  

CHE/23/00339/TPO Felling of one dead Beech tree with 
reference T40 of Tree Preservation Order 
160 at 85 The Green, Hasland, 
Chesterfield S41 0LW for Mr Kevin Gill 
  

CHE/23/00340/TPO Fell T50 Horsechestnut of Tree 
Preservation Order 4901.46 at Somersall 
Hall Farm, Somersall Hall Drive, Somersall 
S40 3LH for Katie Lloyd 
  

CHE/23/00342/TPO Crown lift all trees bordering the property to 
a height of 2.4m over the footpaths and 

Page 16



 03.07.23 
13 

 
 

5.2m over the roads where necessary and 
crown clean to  
reduce any encroaching branches from the 
house to give 1.5-2m clearance and to 
improve splay from the street light on 
Avondale Road. Remove  
epicormic growth from 2 Lime trees which 
border Hawksley Avenue at 1 Avondale 
Road, Chesterfield S40 4TF for Miss 
Emma Proctor 
  

CHE/23/00350/TPO T2 Ash - the tree is producing Inonotus 
hispidus fungi so far, on a main limb. 
Request to take down at 25A Storrs Road, 
Chesterfield S40 3QA for Mrs Jean 
Coxhead 
  

CHE/23/00368/TPO Crown reduce T3- Ash at Orchard Cottage, 
1 Wash House Lane, Chesterfield S40 3AZ 
for  
Mrs Hazel Robinson 
  

(b)   Refusals 
  
CHE/23/00167/FUL Construction of hardstanding drive, 

accessed via Old Road by removing part of 
garden wall at 192 Old Road, Chesterfield 
S40 3QP for  
Mr Richard Ogle 
  

CHE/23/00331/NMA Non-material amendment to application  
CHE/23/00172/REM1- Variation of 
conditions 2 (Approved plans), 3 (Drainage 
strategy) and 12 (Landscaping) of 
application  CHE/21/00484/REM1- 
Variation of conditions of 
CHE/18/00764/FUL - Redevelopment of a 
previously-developed site for 2. 'self-build' 
dwellings and garages - for amended door 
locations and the addition of a basement 
within footprint of approved garage building 
at Oldfield Farm, Wetlands Lane, 

Page 17



 03.07.23 
14 

 
 

Brimington, Chesterfield S43 1QG for Mr 
Walters 
  

(c)  Discharge of Planning Condition 
  
CHE/22/00842/DOC Discharge of conditions 4 (contamination) 

and 5 (coal mining activity) of 
CHE/22/00388/FUL -  
Rear/side extension to factory at Units 1 – 
4 Highlands Place, Foxwood Road, 
Sheepbridge, Chesterfield S41 9RN for Mr 
Ray Woolley 
  

CHE/23/00200/DOC Discharge of conditions 13 (Construction 
goods space), 18 (Biodiversity 
enhancement plan) , 20  
(Tree protection measures for ground 
investigation), 21 (Tree protection), and 25 
(Construction management plan) of  
CHE/22/00511/FUL- Erection of a new 3 
bedroom bungalow with attached garage 
and associated landscaping works at Land 
West Of Wash House Lane, Wash House 
Lane, Chesterfield for  
Mr Christopher Allenby 
  

CHE/23/00202/DOC Discharge of condition 9 (biodiversity) of 
CHE/21/00633/FUL- Erection of a two 
bedroom detached dwelling at 41 Cobnar 
Drive, Newbold, Chesterfield S41 8DB for 
Mr John Ford 
  

CHE/23/00330/DOC Discharge of conditions 5 (Site setup) and 
6 (Biodiversity) of application 
CHE/22/00813/FUL- External alterations, 
changes to frontage parking layout, 
relocated fence and gates and change of 
use of workshop to showroom at 464 
Chatsworth Road, Chesterfield S40 3BD 
for Vertu Motors 
  

(d)   Partial Discharge of Conditions 

Page 18



 03.07.23 
15 

 
 

  
CHE/23/00208/DOC                 Discharge of conditions 6 (Tree protection 

measures) and 9 (Demolition method 
statement) of application 
CHE/22/00680/FUL- Demolition of existing 
buildings and erection of a self storage 
facility (Unit 1) including office use (Class 
E(g)(i)) of 186 sqm and two employment 
units comprising Unit 2 Class E (g)(ii)/E 
(g)(iii) & B8 and Unit 3 Class E(g) & B8 and 
associated parking, servicing  
areas and landscaping at former Simply 
Gym, Sheffield Road, Whittington Moor, 
Chesterfield 
S41 8LF for McCarthy's Storage World, 
(Chesterfield) Ltd 
  

CHE/23/00229/DOC Discharge of conditions 3 (Biodiversity 
measures), 14 (Car parking management 
plan) and 17 (Event  
management plan) of CHE/21/00430/FUL- 
Change of use of Dunston Hall from C3 to 
sui generis use permitting the building to 
be operated as a Holiday Let and wedding 
venue, including conversion of the existing 
garage building to create an internal space 
suitable for conducting wedding 
ceremonies and the creation of a car 
parking area at Dunston Hall, Dunston 
Road, Chesterfield S41 9RL for Dunston 
Hall Leisure Ltd 
  

(e)   Unconditional Permission 
  
CHE/23/00266/TPO T1 Oak -Fell and treat stump with eco 

plugs to combat subsidence at 23 Yew 
Tree Drive, Somersall, Derbyshire S40 
3NB for Kammy Porter 
  

(f)  Prior approval not required 
  
CHE/23/00302/TPD Single storey rear extension at 5 

Page 19



 03.07.23 
16 

 
 

Shaftesbury Avenue, Ashgate, Chesterfield 
S40 1HN for  
Mr D Ragan 
  

  
  
  
  

21    APPLICATIONS TO FELL OR PRUNE TREES (P620D)  
 
The Development Management and Conservation Manager reported that 
pursuant to the powers delegated to him he had determined the under-
mentioned applications in respect of:- 

  

  (a)   The felling and pruning of trees:- 
  

CHE/23/00339/TPOEXP 
  

Consent is granted to the felling of one dead 
Beech tree reference T40 on the Order map 
and situated in the grounds of 85 The Green, 
Hasland.  A replacement Copper Beech tree 
is to be planted in the next available planting 
season 
  

CHE/23/00237/TPO 
  

Consent is granted to the pruning of one Oak 
tree reference T19 on the Order Map and 
which is situated to the frontage of 79 
Windermere Road, Dunston 
  

CHE/23/00340/TPOEXP 
  

Consent is granted to the felling of one 
Horsechestnut tree reference T50 on the 
Order map, which is situated in the grounds of 
Somersall Hall, Somersall.  A replacement 
Oak tree is to be planted in the next available 
planting season. 
  

CHE/23/00266/TPO 
  

Consent is granted to the felling of one Oak 
tree reference T5 on the Order map, which is 
situated in the grounds of 23 Yew Tree Drive, 
Somersall. 
  

CHE/23/00262/TPO 
  

Consent is granted to the pruning of six trees 
reference T1, T5, T6 & T10 Beech, T3 & T8 

Page 20



 03.07.23 
17 

 
 

Whitebeam on the Order Map and which are 
situated in the grounds of the Shrubberies, 46 
Newbold Road.  A replacement Whitebeam is 
to be planted in the next available planting 
season. 
  

CHE/23/00285/TPO 
  

Consent is granted to the felling of 4 Poplar 
trees reference G6 which are in poor condition 
and reduced amenity value from a previous 
pollarding cycle and the pruning of 1 Birch 
reference T13 and 1 Beech reference T25 on 
the Order map, which is situated in the 
grounds of 26 Abercrombie Street.  4 Norway 
Maples are to be planted as replacement 
trees in the first available planting season 
after felling. 
  

CHE/23/00342/TPO 
  

Consent is granted to the pruning of seven 
trees reference T1 Maple & T2-T7 Lime on the 
Order Map and which are situated in the 
grounds of 1 Avondale Road. 
  

CHE/23/00350/TPO 
  

Consent is granted to the felling of one Ash 
tree reference T2 on the Order Map and which 
is situated at the entrance of the driveway to 
25a Storrs Road, Brampton, with a condition 
to plant a replacement Fastigiated Hornbeam 
in the first available planting season after 
felling. 
  

CHE/23/00368/TPO 
  

Consent is granted to the pruning of one Ash 
tree reference T3 on the Order Map and which 
is situated on land to the north of Orchards 
Cottage, Wash House Lane, Brampton. 
  

  
  

22    APPEALS REPORT (P000)  
 
The Development Management and Conservation Manager reported on 
the current position in respect of appeals which had been received.  
  

Page 21



 03.07.23 
18 

 
 

*RESOLVED -  
  
That the report be noted. 
  

23    ENFORCEMENT REPORT (P410)  
 
The Local Government and Regulatory Law Manager and the 
Development Management and Conservation Manager submitted a joint 
report on the current position regarding enforcement action which had 
been authorised by the Council.  
  
*RESOLVED -  
  
That the report be noted. 
 
 
 

Page 22



 05.07.23 
1 

 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Wednesday, 5th July, 2023 
 

Present:- 
 

Councillor Callan (Chair) 
 
Councillors B Bingham 

J Bingham 
Brittain 
Caulfield 
Davenport 
 

Councillors Falconer 
Miles 
Ridgway 
Stone 
Yates 

The following site visit took place immediately before the meeting and 
was attended by the following Members: 
 
CHE/22/00604/FUL - Full application for residential development 
comprising demolition of all existing buildings, to be replaced by the 
erection of 83 dwellings and 41 apartments, 20 flats over garages (fog) 
together with ground floor commercial units (use class E), landscaping, 
infrastructure and associated works on land at Tapton Business Park,  
Woodall Homes Ltd. 
 
Councillors J Bingham, Brittain, Callan, Caulfield, Davenport, Falconer, P 
Innes, Ridgway, Servant, Stone and Yates.  
 
Councillor B Bingham and Miles were unable to attend on site and 
received relevant site information by other means as a reasonable 
adjustment. 
 
*Matters dealt with under the Delegation Scheme 
  

24    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Brady. 
  

25    DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' AND OFFICERS' INTERESTS 
RELATING TO ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
 
No declarations of interest were received. 
  

Page 23



 05.07.23 
2 

 
 

26    APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION - PLANS 
DETERMINED BY THE COMMITTEE  
 
The Committee considered the under-mentioned application in light of a 
report by the Development Management and Conservation Manager and 
resolved as follows:- 
  
CHE/22/00604/FUL - FULL APPLICATION FOR RESIDENTIAL 
DEVELOPMENT COMPRISING DEMOLITION OF ALL EXISTING 
BUILDINGS, TO BE REPLACED BY THE ERECTION OF 83 
DWELLINGS AND 41 APARTMENTS, 20 FLATS OVER GARAGES 
(FOG) TOGETHER WITH GROUND FLOOR COMMERCIAL UNITS 
(USE CLASS E), LANDSCAPING, INFRASTRUCTURE AND 
ASSOCIATED WORKS ON LAND AT TAPTON BUSINESS PARK,  
WOODALL HOMES LTD 
  
The applicant having appealed to the Planning Inspectorate against non-
determination of their application, the Committee was being asked to 
consider what decision it would have made had the local planning 
authority been able to determine the application. The applicants had sent 
written representations to the Committee on 4th July 2023. 
  
In accordance with Minute No. 299 (2001/2002) Ms Hopkinson (Transition 
Chesterfield) addressed the meeting.  
  
In accordance with Minute No. 299 (2001/2002) Mr Abbott, Planning 
Director (Woodall Homes Ltd) addressed the meeting.  
  
In accordance with Minute No. 299 (2001/2002) Mr Dwan, Land & 
Planning Director (Woodall Homes Ltd) addressed the meeting.  
  
*RESOLVED 
  
That Planning Committee would have been minded to approve the 
development subject to an agreement under Section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990:  
  

1.    Either for the developer to improve the routes of footpaths FP100 
and FP17 as part of the development or to pay a financial 
contribution for this purpose; 
  

Page 24



 05.07.23 
3 

 
 

2.    To agree a process for securing the necessary evidence to show 
ownership of the south western parcel of unregistered land and to 
include a provision to require maintenance of the land by a 
management company; 
  

3.    To provide a proportion of any profit from the development 
additional to that currently demonstrated to the Council, to be 
applied towards relevant off-site infrastructure. 

  
  
 
 
 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
COMMITTEE/SUB   Planning Committee 
 
 
DATE OF MEETING   24th July 2023 
 
 
TITLE  DETERMINATION OF 
  PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 
 
PUBLICITY   *For Publication 
 
 
CONTENTS SUMMARY  See attached index 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS  See attached reports 
 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND For each of the attached 
PAPERS reports, the background papers 

consist of the file specified in the 
top right hand corner on the 
front page of the report.  Those 
background papers on the file 
which do not disclose exempt or 
confidential information are 
open to public inspection at the 
office of the Development 
Management and Conservation 
Manager – Planning Services.  
Additional background papers (if 
any) will be separately listed in 
the report.    

  
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



 
INDEX TO DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT AND CONSERVATION 

MANAGER’S REPORT ON THE 24th July 2023 
 

ITEM 1  CHE/21/00549/OUT - OUTLINE PLANNING APPLICATION ALL 
MATTERS RESERVED EXCEPT FOR ACCESS FOR UP TO 
500 DWELLINGS, LOCAL CENTRE (CLASS E USE AND SUI 
GENERIS: HOT FOOD TAKEAWAY AND PUBLIC 
HOUSE/RESTAURANT USES) APPROX. 0.4HA), LAND 
RESERVED FOR A 1 FE PRIMARY SCHOOL (APPROX. 1HA), 
DRAINAGE, INFRASTRUCTURE, TWO PRIMARY VEHICULAR 
ACCESSES INTO THE SITE TO SERVE THE RESIDENTIAL 
DEVELOPMENT FROM DUNSTON ROAD AND DUNSTON 
LANE VIA THE SKYLARKS RES.DEVPT, TOGETHER WITH 
ASSOC. PROVISION OF LANDSCAPING, PUBLIC OPEN 
SPACE, WALKING AND CYCLING LINKS AND THE 
REINSTATEMENT OF THE FORMER CRICKET PITCH AND 
ASSOC. FACILITIES WITH VEHICULAR ACCESS FROM 
DUNSTON ROAD ON LAND OFF DUNSTON ROAD, 
CHESTERFIELD FOR WILLIAM DAVIS HOMES. 
 

ITEM 2  CHE/22/00437/LBC and CHE/22/00436/FUL - RENOVATION 
AND CONVERSION OF PART OF GRADE II LISTED BARN TO 
CREATE TWO DWELLINGS WITH ASSOCIATED 
LANDSCAPING WORK AT PARK HALL FARM, WALTON BACK 
LANE, WALTON, CHESTERFIELD FOR MR M TAYLOR. 
 

ITEM 3 CHE/23/00313/FUL - ERECTION OF AN APARTMENT BLOCK 
(8 UNITS) WITH ASSOCIATED PARKING, AMENITY AREAS 
AND LANDSCAPING (REVISED SCHEME OF 
CHE/20/00808/FUL) AT LAND TO NORTH OF DUNSTON 
ROAD, CHESTERFIELD, DERBYSHIRE FOR G H PRESTON 
 

 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Case Officer: HF                Application No: CHE/21/00549/OUT 
 

ITEM 1 
Outline planning application all matters reserved except for access for 

up to 500 dwellings, local centre (Class E use and Sui Generis: hot food 
takeaway and public house/restaurant uses) approx. 0.4HA), land 

reserved for a 1 FE primary school (approx. 1HA), drainage, 
infrastructure, two primary vehicular accesses into the site to serve the 
residential development from Dunston Road and Dunston Lane via the 

Skylarks res.devpt, together with assoc. provision of landscaping, public 
open space, walking and cycling links and the reinstatement of the 
former cricket pitch and assoc. facilities with vehicular access from 

Dunston Road on Land Off Dunston Road, 
Chesterfield for William Davis Homes. 

 
Local Plan: SS6 – for 500 houses  
Ward: Dunston 
Plot No:       
 
Committee Date: 24th July 2023 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Sport England  Object, comment made see report  
Active Travel 
England  

Refer to standing advice 

DCC Development 
Control incl. 
Education  

Happy with the location of the school and 
ability to expand this in the long term.  
 
Comment 18/8/21 

DCC Policy incl. 
Landscape 

Comment made on landscape impact and 
climate, see report  

DCC Conservation  Comment made see report  
DCC Archaeology  Comment made, condition recommended 
DCC Highways  No objection subject to condition and S106 

contributions. Comments made see report.  
DCC Rights of Way  Comment included – no objection subject to 

footpath route remaining open and on legal 
alignment  

CBC Climate Officer  Comment made see report  
CBC Strategic 
Planning  

Comment made see report  

Page 31



2 
 

CBC Waste Services  Bin details to be provided to ensure access to 
cul-de-sac as and closes – bin collection 
points will be needed.  

CBC Conservation 
Officer  

Comment made see report  

CBC Tree Officer  Comments made see report 
CBC Design 
Services Drainage  

We note the FRA and the comments of the 
LLFA, the areas where concern may be 
expected have been highlighted but e LLFA 
and FRA. The topography leaves the Sud 
Brook unaffected. 

CBC Economic 
Development  

Request local labour/supply chain condition.  

CBC Urban Design 
Officer  

Comment made see report  

CBC Leisure 
Services  

Comment made see report  

CBC Environmental 
Health  

Request contaminated land condition and 
hours of working condition.  

CBC Housing  No comment received  
Chesterfield Cycle 
Campaign  

Comments made see report  

NHS CCG Contribution required, see report for detail 
Derbyshire Wildlife 
Trust  

Comments made and conditions 
recommended 

Lead Local Flood 
Authority  

Conditions recommended  

Yorkshire Water  Conditions recommended  
Ramblers 
Association  

Comment made see report  

Derbyshire Fire and 
Rescue East area  

No comment received  

Coal Authority  Conditions recommended 
Natural England  Based on the plans submitted the proposed 

development will not have significant adverse 
impacts on designated sites, no objection.  

Environment Agency  Will not be making comment as the site is in 
Flood Zone 1, we have no fluvial flood risk 
concerns.  

CPRE Derbyshire  Object – comments made see report  
Stage Coach East 
Midlands  

No comment received  

Page 32



3 
 

North East 
Derbyshire District 
Council  

No comment received  

Toby Perkins MP Please note the comments of the 
constituents. Please provide an update on the 
application and whether the changes to the 
proposal address the concerns of the panel 
that saw the previous application refused.  

Representations  In the region of 595 contributors have made 
comment, some have submitted more than 
one comment (619 contributors including 
those who have not provided addresses or 
are separately registered groups to their 
members) this also includes 31 parties who 
have commented in support of the 
application.  The comments raised are 
summarised in section 6.0 below and the 
matters raised are addressed throughout the 
report.  

 
2.0 THE SITE 
 
2.1 The application site is around 34 hectares of agricultural fields with 

areas of scrub, woodland and natural areas. The site is bound by; 
Dunston Road to the north, which is a 50 mph road, partially by open 
fields to the north east and the Skylarks development to the east. 
Existing housing the Ochre Dyke and wildlife area (The Newbold Spoil 
Heaps, Hills and Holes; a non-statutory designated Local Wildlife Site), 
are located to the south and the site of the old Cricket pitch and open 
fields to the west.  

 
2.2 The land generally inclines quite steeply towards Dunston Road with 

more level areas to the north east and west. Dunston Road forms a 
landscaped ridge line in the area. Also to the west are the villages of 
Cutthorpe and Barlow within North East Derbyshire Authority area.  

 

Page 33



4 
 

Red edged site in context: 

 
 
2.3 There is a single public right of way running through the site, footpath 

no. 58, the status of which is footpath only and leads from Dunston 
Road to Newbold Road. There are no other public access routes 
through or at the site.  

 
 
2.4 There are a number of Heritage Assets in the area:  

 Barlow and Cutthorpe Conservation Areas 
 Newbold Fields Grade II Listed Building circa early 19th Century. 
 Dunston Grange Farmhouse Grade II listed building circa 17th and 

19th Century.  
 Dunston Hall; house, outbuildings (some of medieval origin) and 

gates all Grade II listed buildings, circa medieval and 17th, early 
18th, early 19th century.  

Approved 
development, the 
westerly area 
remains under 
construction. 

Application site 

Page 34



5 
 

 Fields Farm House grade II listed building circa 17th century and 
later.  

 
2.5 To the north, west and south there are areas of protected Green Belt 

land identified by the hatched green areas on the local plan map:  

 
The dark green edge line indicates the boundary of the Borough, where 
it adjoins the North East Derbyshire District Council area.  

 
2.6 Site images:  

From near Ochre Dyke -   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



6 
 

From the footpath -  

 
 Near the Cricket ground -  

 
From within the site adj Dunston Road to the east of the footpath –

 

Page 36



7 
 

Fields to the east of the footpath - 

 
Looking towards the existing Skylarks site –  

 
From the north –  

 
 

Page 37



8 
 

Looking west showing the slope of the land -  

  
Development adj under construction -  

 
 
2.7 The line of existing trees and hedgerows and the areas of proposed 

development can be seen on this annotated google image:  
 
 

Page 38



9 
 

 
 
 
 
 
3.0 SITE HISTORY 
 
3.1 No relevant planning history on the application site.  
 
3.2 The adjacent site:  
 CHE/16/00016/OUT Resubmission of CHE/14/00873/OUT 

(Residential development along with associated access, public open 
space, landscaping and surface water balancing (all matters reserved 
save for means of access into the site) – Conditional permission 
29.03.2016 

 
 
3.3 CHE/17/00351/REM Reserved matters application for 

CHE/16/00016/OUT - Erection of 99 dwellings and associated public 
open space, landscaping and surface water balancing (Phase 1) - 

Existing development 
under construction

Ochre Dyke
Footpath 

Cutthorpe village Proposed cricket 
club area 

Fields for proposed housing 
areas 

Page 39



10 
 

Amended details submitted on 10/8/2017 and 15/08/2017 – 
conditional permission 19.09.2017 

 
 
3.4  Reserved Matters submission for the erection of 200 dwellings and 

associated landscaping (to which CHE/16/00016/OUT refers) - 
revised details received 26/02/2019, 06/03/2019, 08/03/2019, 
19/03/2019, 21/03/2019, 22/03/2019, 25/03/2019 and 26/03/2019 – 
Conditional permission 02.04.2019. 

 

 
 
3.5 CHE/21/00070/EIA Screening opinion for residential development of 

up to 500 dwellings, a local centre and land reserved for a primary 
school together with landscaping proposals, public open space, 
cricket pitch and walking and cycling links – Environmental Statement 
not required 23.02.2021.  

 
4.0 THE PROPOSAL 
 
4.1 In response to the ongoing dialogue through the application process a 

revised Design and Access statement was submitted which sought to 
address issues raised, the scheme is considered on the basis of these 
revisions.   

Page 40



11 
 

 
4.2 The pertinent points of the statement are summarised:  
  

The site:   
The site extends to 33.97 hectares of predominatley agricultural land. 
Dunston Road is to the north, the Ochre Dyke to the south, exitsing 
residential development to the east and open field to the west.  
There is the former site of a cricket pitch to the western edge of the 
site.  
The site inclines to Dunston Road with the high point of 145.0m AOD 
to the western edges and low point of 110.0m AOD to the south eastern 
corner.  
Large areas of planting are to the west as are fault lines and mine 
shafts in relation to former coal mining activity.  

 
4.3 The application:  

Within this outline submission all matters other than access are 
reserved for future consideration. 
The master plan is indicative but is intended to be sufficiently robust 
that it will inform subsequent reserved matters applications.  
12.33 hectares are proposed for residential development for the 500 
dwellings as set out in the allocation.  

 Affordable housing is at 10% to meet the policy requirements.  
 1.0 hectare of land is reserved for a new primary school.  
 0.4 hectares for a local centre providing retail and community uses.  

19.06 hectares of public open space provided overall, including natural 
areas, leisure routes, pocket parks, natural play, kickabout areas and 
formal play space.  
Two access points to the site will be from Dunston Road and from the 
existing Skylarks development.  

  The cricket pitch is to be reinstated with its own vehicle access from 
Dunston Road.  
The school site and local centre location have been amended to be to 
the centre of the site to better serve the future development and 
existing local community. 

   
4.4 The Masterplan:   

Page 41



12 
 

 

 
 
4.5 Streets and connections:  

Proposals include pedestrain/cycle routes through the site and linking 
to surrounding network of streets, paths and cycle routes.  
The proposed street hierarchy includes a tree lined primary street with 
cycle path.   
Secondary streets are to be of 5.5m width with 2m pavements, lanes 
and edge lanes being 5m with one or 2, 2m pavements and shared 
private drives being 4.5m to 6m width.  

 
 
 Connection into the existing adjacent development is proposed along 

with connections to Baines Wood Close and the end of Kirkstone Road.  

Page 42



13 
 

   
A new perimeter route will create a walking cycling route of around 
2km.  
There will be connections into the existing public right of way.  

 It is the aim for paths to be suitable for the disabled and at reserved 
matters stage suitability for horse riding will be considered.  

 
4.6 Design, Density and Heights:  
 As a general rule the density will be greater within the perimeter blocks 

softening and reducing to development edges.  
 Heights will generally be 2 storey with 2.5 to 3 storey in certain 

circumstances, such as for nodal points, set backs to open spaces, key 
vistas etc.  

 The design parameters are intended to continue from the existing 
development.  

 
4.7 Landscape:  
 There is to be a generous landscape buffer to the northern edge of the 

site.  
 The scheme will enrich biodiversity.  
 Specimen tree planting will be used at key nodal points, with trees 

within the pocket parks other incidental areas of open space with public 
art interventions.   

 
4.8 Climate:  
 In terms of climate matters the approach will be reducing energy usage 

and increasing efficiency of energy used.  

Page 43



14 
 

 As a primary matter walking and cycling and proximity of useable 
services have been considered.  
Tree planting whilst not detailed is likely to be in the region of 250 
equating to absorption of 5 tonnes of Co2 per year. 
The housing will need to comply with the updated building regulations 
of June 2023 which will include solar pv, more efficient fabric and EV 
charging points providing in the region of 30% carbon reduction from 
earlier building regulations.   
Further changes to the building regulations will arrive from 2025 and 
therefore will be relevant in future reserved matters applications.  

 
4.9 Phasing: 

The phasing plan is detailed as follows:  

 
 
 The intention is that the structural landscaping to the northern edge will 

be within the first planting season prior to first occupation in relation to 
each phase.   

 A serviced site for the local centre to be available within Phase 2, 
delivery dependent on sufficient housing completions.  

 The land reserved for the 1FE primary school will be for a set period of 
time as set out in the legal agreement.  

 
4.10 The assessment of the proposed development is set out in the report 

below.  

Page 44



15 
 

 
5.0 CONSIDERATIONS 
 
5.1 Planning Policy 
 
5.1.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and 

section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 require that, 
‘applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise’. The relevant Development Plan for the area 
comprises of the Chesterfield Borough Local Plan 2018 – 2035. 

5.1.2 Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 requires that; In considering whether to grant planning 
permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting, 
the local planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability 
of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 

5.2 Chesterfield Borough Local Plan 2018 – 2035 
CLP1 Spatial Strategy (Strategic Policy)  
CLP2 Principles for Location of Development (Strategic Policy)  
CLP3 Flexibility in Delivery of Housing (Strategic Policy)  
CLP4 Range of Housing  
CLP6 Economic Growth (Strategic Policy)  
CLP9 Retail  
CLP10 Social Infrastructure  
CLP11 Infrastructure Delivery 
CLP13 Managing the Water Cycle  
CLP14 A Healthy Environment  
CLP15 Green Infrastructure  
CLP16 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and the Ecological Network  
CLP17 Open Space, Play Provision, Sports Facilities and Allotments  
CLP20 Design  
CLP21 Historic Environment 
CLP22 Influencing the Demand for Travel  
CLP23 Major Transport Infrastructure  
SS6 Land at Dunston (Strategic Policy)  

 
5.3          Other Relevant Policy and Documents 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): 
Part 2. Achieving sustainable development 
Part 4. Decision-making  

Page 45



16 
 

Part 5. Delivering a sufficient supply of homes  
Part 6. Building a strong, competitive economy  
Part 8. Promoting healthy and safe communities  
Part 9. Promoting sustainable transport  
Part 11. Making effective use of land  
Part 12. Achieving well-designed places  
Part 14. Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 
change  
Part 15. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment  
Part 16. Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

 
Supplementary Planning Documents: 
 Designing Out Crime 
 Successful Places’ Residential Design Guide 
 Historic Environment 

 
5.4 Key Issues 
 

•  Principle of development  
 Primacy of the Development Plan and allocation and EIA 

screening 
 Housing need 
 Availability of Brownfield Land and funding for this 
 Cricket Club provision  
 Infrastructure 
 Climate 
 Affordable Housing 
 Accessible and Adaptable Homes 
 Settlement coalescence  

•  Design and appearance  
 Views 
 Character  
 Layout of masterplan  
 Phasing  
 Open space 

•  Impact on Heritage Assets   
 Setting of Listed Buildings and Barlow Conservation Area 
 Archaeology  

•  Impact on residential amenity 
•  Highway safety  

 Link to Cutthorpe  

Page 46



17 
 

 Active travel/connectivity  
•  Biodiversity 

 Trees 
 Biodiversity  

•  Ground conditions  
•  Drainage  
•  Waste 
•  CIL Liability  
•  Conclusion  
   

5.5 Principle of Development  
 
Primacy of the Development Plan, allocation and EIA screening 
 
5.5.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and 

section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act set out the 
primacy of the development plan where it states that, ‘regard is to be 
had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to 
be made under the planning Acts the determination must be made in 
accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise’. The relevant Development Plan for consideration in this 
regard is the Chesterfield Borough Local Plan 2018 – 2035, Adopted 
July 2020. The requirements of the adopted policies of the plan are set 
out below:   

 
5.5.2 Why was the site allocated for 500 dwellings? 

All of the sites, including this one, were subject to individual appraisal 
as part of preparing the Local Plan through a process of ‘Strategic 
Housing Land Availability Assessment’. As part of this an assessment 
of capacity is made by applying typical development densities to the 
site after taking account of physical constraints such as flood risk zones 
or buffers around sensitive uses.  

 
5.5.3 For the Dunston site this was informed by a masterplan approach that 

had been previously prepared by William Davis as part of their 
representations to consultations on the Local Plan.  

 
5.5.4 Publicity that took place as part of the allocation process:  

The Local Plan was subject to two rounds of public consultation. The 
first, in January/February 2017, included the land at Dunston as 
safeguarded land for development needs beyond the plan period. 
When it became apparent that the Plan needed more flexibility the land 

Page 47



18 
 

at Dunston was then taken forward as a proposed Strategic Site in the 
pre-submission version of the Local Plan, which was subject to public 
consultation in January and February 2019. 

 
Dunston Groups on the mailing list: 
Dunston Community Group 
Dunston Ladies Club 
Dunston Moor & St Helens Community Forum 
Dunston Primary School 
Dunston Residents Action Group 
Dunston Walking for Health Group 

 
5.5.5 Summary of comments on Draft Plan which included the site as a 

reserved site 
• 5 Objections (3 Representees) 
• 2 Comments (2 Representees) 
• 3 Supports (3 Representees) 

Summary of comments on Pre-Submission Plan which included the 
site as a Strategic Site Allocation: 
• 4 Objections (4 Representees) 
• 3 Supports (3 Representees) 

5.5.6 The Plan was then subject (in November 2019) to an independent 
Examination in Public undertaken by two Inspectors appointed by the 
Planning Inspectorate. A further consultation on modifications to the 
Plan arising from the examination was undertaken in 2020 before 
adoption by Full Council in July of the same year.  

 
5.5.7 Consultation on the Local Plan included a range of letters to statutory 

consultees and individuals who had expressed an interest in being 
informed of the Local Plan, alongside press notices and public 
exhibition events. Cabinet approval was sought for the draft Local Plan, 
and the ‘pre-submission’ Local Plan was approved by the Full Council.  

 
5.5.8 The publicity undertaken and resulting engagement was set out in a 

Statement of Consultation, which formed part of the suite of documents 
the Council was legally required to submit with the Local Plan for its 
Examination.  

 
5.5.9 Delivering and Contribution to housing supply  

As a Local Plan allocation, the delivery of homes on the Dunston site 
was incorporated into the estimated housing trajectory that was set out 

Page 48



19 
 

in the adoption of the Local Plan. It assumes that the site will deliver at 
least 50 dwellings per annum. 

 
5.5.10 The statement setting out the Council’s five-year supply of deliverable 

housing sites is available on the council’s website. This demonstrates 
sufficient supply including an anticipated 274 dwellings by 31st 
September 2026 from the application site (accounting for 23% of the 
required supply) on the basis of meeting the tests set out in Planning 
Practice Guidance for a deliverable site (an up-to-date Local Plan 
allocation with evidence of delivery in the form of a current planning 
application). 

 
5.5.11 Policy CLP3 states: “Planning permission will be granted for residential 

development on the sites allocated on the Policies Map and as set out 
in Table 4, provided they accord with other relevant policies of the 
Local Plan.” Paragraph 11 of the NPPF requires that decisions should 
apply a “presumption in favour of sustainable development”. For 
decision-taking this means “approving development proposals that 
accord with an up-to-date development plan without delay”. 

 
5.5.12 The application site as proposed is an allocated Housing Site as set 

out in policy SS6 of the Local Plan. Table 4 to Policy CLP3 allocates 
the site for 799 dwellings, inclusive of the original Phases 1 to 3 of the 
Skylarks site located to the east adjacent to this application site and 
which includes a total of 299 dwellings, with the allocation therefore 
leaving 500 dwellings required on this application site. 

 
5.5.13 Policy SS6 sets out the detail of the allocation and states:  

“Planning permission will be granted for residential development for 
approximately 500 dwellings on land north of Dunston and south east 
of Dunston Road as allocated on the Policies Map and as set out in 
Table 4 (site reference SS6). Development should be carried out in 
accordance with a masterplan to be agreed with the Local Planning 
Authority prior to development that demonstrates: 

 i. acceptable access arrangements from Dunston Road and Dunston 
Lane; 

 ii. appropriate provision for walking and cycling within the site. 
 iii. appropriate transport mitigation to ensure an acceptable impact on 

the highway network for all users; 
 iv. appropriate mitigation to minimise any adverse impacts to the 

significance of affected heritage assets, including their settings. 
 v. provision of a new local centre to serve development; 

Page 49



20 
 

 vi. provision of a site reserved for a new one form entry primary school 
(to be retained until such time as required or evidence can be provided 
of a lack of need); 

 vii. a scheme of green infrastructure including landscaping, open 
space, play and sports provision including re-instatement of the former 
cricket pitch, and early implementation of a landscaping and planting 
scheme along Dunston Road; 

 viii. a phasing plan for development phases and the provision of 
infrastructure.” 

 
5.5.14 It is clear from the policy SS6 of the Adopted Local Plan that housing 

development in the region of 500 units is anticipated and accepted in 
principle on the application site. This fundamental requirement of the 
allocation is therefore met within this submission. It is therefore 
necessary to consider the detail of the submission against the 
remaining aims of policy SS6 and against the other policies of the 
Adopted Local Plan.  

 
5.5.15 EIA screening was undertaken in 2021 and concluded that the 

development did not require Environmental Impact Assessment and 
therefore an Environmental Statement was not required as part of the 
planning application.  

 
Housing need 
 
5.5.16 To meet the housing needs of a growing population and a growing 

economy, a total of at least 4080 net new dwellings must be built in 
Chesterfield Borough between 2018 and 2035. This is derived from the 
Local Housing Need methodology derived housing requirement of 240 
dwellings per annum. The local plan, through the allocations, sets out 
how these targets and the trajectory of delivery are to be met, the 
application site is fundamental to this.   

 
Availability of Brownfield Land and funding for this 
 
5.5.17 The Local Plan notes that: Well over 60% of new development in the 

borough has been delivered on previously developed land. The priority 
for development will be to continue delivering and regenerating 
brownfield land. In the borough a minimum of 60% completions on 
brownfield land will continue to be sought, with the aim being for the 
redevelopment of the major previously developed sites including 
Waterside and Staveley Works. However, it is acknowledged that large 
greenfield sites as extensions to the urban area will also have a role to 

Page 50



21 
 

play in delivering the borough’s strategic housing requirement on an 
annual basis. 

 
5.5.18 It is important to acknowledge that as well as being far more biodiverse 

than former agricultural land, brownfield land can also be very difficult 
to bring forward due to the extent of investment required which is why 
green field sites (but not green belt sites) are also required to meet the 
housing needs of the Borough. The application site is not Green Belt 
land to which restrictive planning policies apply. The submitted soil and 
agricultural baseline report notes the agricultural land on site is not 
high-quality being grade 3b and 4 which is medium to low quality. 
Therefore, the quality of the agricultural land is not a barrier to 
development.  

 
5.5.19 The allocation of the site therefore includes an anticipated capacity 

which in this case is 799, 299 of which are approved and under 
construction or occupied with the remaining 500 being this application, 
the capacity included within the local plan trajectory of housing delivery 
is 799 dwellings. To meet the housing needs of the Borough the 
allocation is required to come forward. Work within the Local Planning 
Authority is ongoing in relation to the larger Brownfield sites within the 
Borough including Waterside and Staveley Works, with applications 
currently being considered. But as noted these are difficult sites to 
bring forward in an appropriate manner and with sufficient investment, 
the delivery of these sites is therefore more uncertain. 

 
Cricket Club provision  
 
5.5.20 The allocation requires under SS6 vii. re-instatement of the former 

cricket pitch. This provision is included in the application, the detail of 
which is set out in the submission document and includes costings and 
an Agronomists report noting:   

 “Cutthorpe Cricket Club is a high achieving and progressive club 
playing in the Derbyshire Premier and County Leagues, the Mansfield 
and District Sunday league and the North Derbyshire Youth Cricket 
League. The Cricket Club performs at the higher levels of each of the 
league structures. Under lease arrangements there is a risk that the 
club could lose access to their changing and social facilities which 
impacts on the clubs ability to seek grant funding for improvements. 
Therefore, there is a need in the local area for an improved Cricket 
facility.” 

 

Page 51



22 
 

5.5.21 The application site includes the former cricket ground ‘Mullan Park’ 
which ceased operating in 1987 when the club building was dismantled 
although the remains of this are still in place.  

 
5.5.22 To meet the local need and policy requirement the applicant will 

provide Cutthorpe Cricket Club with the freehold to 2.81ha of land for 
the site, alongside the installation of the cricket pitch or a financial 
contribution towards the installation of cricket pitch, in addition to a 
financial contribution towards essential cricket facilities on site (in 
accordance with Sport England and ECB requirements and estimated 
costs) along with the provision of the access and service connections 
to the edge of the site. The access to the site is detailed in the originally 
submitted Transport Assessment as can be seen in the image below, 
the access has a 2.4 x 120m visibility in both directions, it would be a 
5.5m wide access road with 10m radii:  

 

 
 
5.5.23 The provision of a 215m2 pavilion is considered to meet the essential 

needs of a Club and would incorporate all of the essential and some 
desirable features recommended by the ECB Pavilions and Clubhouse 
Guidance (TS5). Sport England in their Clubhouse Design Guidance 
Notes (2016 update) provide minimum standards in terms floor areas 
for changing facilities and suggested features. The 215m2 which 

Page 52



23 
 

represents the reinstatement of the previous pavilion can incorporate 
these facilities into a footprint of 215m2. 

 
5.5.24 It is then envisaged that Cutthorpe Cricket Club will subsequently seek 

to work up detailed plans and use the freehold of the site to assist them 
in securing additional funding from external sources for further 
enhancements of the proposed cricket pitch development. 

 
5.5.25 These facilities will be secured through a S106 agreement linked to the 

granting of Outline Planning permission: 
In detail William Davis Homes will provide Cutthorpe Cricket Club with 
the following:  
 Freehold of 2.81ha of land for a nominal (£1) fee.  
Planning Obligations totalling up to £887k towards the provision of:  
 Delivery of or a financial contribution towards the provision of a 

‘cricket pitch’ including a cricket square (6- pitch square – 458m2) 
and outfield (11,925m2), including 12 months maintenance/grow- 
in costs (c.£270 k – Agronomist Costs)  

 A two- team pavilion with umpire changing facilities and social 
space totalling 215 sqm (c.£ 462k SPONS 2021costs (indexed to 
today))  

 Associated infrastructure, e.g. Car park, pavements and drainage 
(estimated cost of up to £155k) Provision of access and service 
connections to the edge of the site including (gas, electricity, water 
and broadband).   

 As part of the submission of the detailed application the design of 
the cricket club and playing pitch will be supported by appropriate 
surveys and assessments undertaken by appropriate 
professionals. 

 
Whilst a gas connection is noted in the submission this may not be 
suitable given the move away from non-renewable energy and 
therefore this will not be included in the S106 terms.  

 
5.5.26 The Dunston Grange Action Group (DGAG) have raised objection on 

this element of the scheme, their comments are summarised:  
We are concerned that reinstatement of the former cricket pitch and 
assoc. facilities has escalated well beyond as is required, with the 8-
pitch square, 2 winter sports pitches (125.6x164.4m), 2 team pavilion 
with changing facilities and social space, 2 bay practice cage, storage 
facilities, car park and access road. This is significantly more than 
reinstatement of the original one cricket pitch and a pavilion. Query 
what and where the ‘winter pitches’ are, query hockey pitches? We 

Page 53



24 
 

cannot see how all of the currently proposed pitches and facilities can 
be accommodated in the area assigned on the drawings without 
impinging on areas allocated to be left for wildlife.  
The pavilion looks extremely big and out of proportion and context with 
its surroundings of a rural wildlife area. 
The cricket pitch reinstatement is part of Strategic Site 6 (SS6). 
However, permission to develop parcels of SS6 has already been 
granted and building commenced without approval for the cricket pitch.  
The developer put forward reinstating the cricket pitch to gain inclusion 
of the site as a strategic development site in the LP. The need for a 
cricket pitch was not identified from CBC and there has been no 
assessed need. This clearly contravenes paragraph 98 of the NPPF as 
it states that planning policies should be based on robust and up to 
date assessments of the need and opportunities for new provision. 
There has been no assessed need for additional cricket facilities within 
Chesterfield. 
Policy CLP 17 criterion vii) states that “where proposed development 
would result in need for new open space and outdoor sports facilities… 
development must contribute to public open space, sports facilities and 
play provision. Again, there has been no assessed need for a new 
cricket pitch as part of this development. 
CIL Regulation 122 requires the cricket pitch to be directly related to 
the development”. This is not the case as it is to serve Cutthorpe in NE 
Derbyshire. 
A walkable link to Cutthorpe Cricket Club is not possible due to the 
dangerous nature of the section of Dunston Road. 
Access is not being considered at the outline stage. Failure to agree a 
safe access prior to granting outline planning permission is 
unacceptably risky due to the nature of the road. There is lack of 
relevant traffic assessment in connection with this access.  
This area should be left as such for the benefit of nature, ecology and 
environment. This site being left to nature would benefit more people 
than if developed as a cricket pitch which would only benefit a select 
few people. 
If additional cricket facilities are required we believe that an option at 
Holmebrook Valley Park should be explored.  
The Group strongly object to the plans for the cricket] pitch 
reinstatement.  

 
5.5.27 In response to the comments of the DGAG it is noted that the access 

is detailed in the originally submitted transport assessment and 
therefore is being considered at this stage.   

Page 54



25 
 

In terms of policy SS6 – the allocation of the whole site including that 
already built out at Skylarks amounts to 799 dwellings, 500 of which 
are to be provided as part of this development. The allocation brings 
together the existing development which was largely granted planning 
permission prior to the adoption of the local plan. It is therefore 
appropriate to consider the Cricket provision part of the policy at this 
stage.  
The Cricket provision is on the application site and required by policy 
to be provided it is therefore directly related to the development in 
terms of regulation.  

 Due to the growth and poor facilities of the existing Club at Cutthorpe, 
there was considered to be a need for a new facility which was 
considered to be best placed on the application site due to this being 
a reinstatement of a previous facility on site. It should be noted that the 
Local Plan is Adopted and following the Examination In Public cannot 
now be reconsidered through the consideration of a planning 
application. 
Concerns regarding walkable access and biodiversity are set out in the 
Highway and Biodiversity sections of the report below.   

 
5.5.28 Comments have also been received from Sport England in response 

to the proposal. In considering the scheme SE remain in objection as 
set out in their latest comments:  

 Whilst the information provided is moving in the right direction, Sport 
England are still not satisfied that the LPA have been provided with 
enough clarity to be certain of the scale and nature of the cricket facility 
that is intended (see points listed below) and maintain its objection. 

 1. Sport England seeks clarity from the LPA to understand the precise 
nature of the scale and size of the square. There appears to be a lack 
of evidence, certainty and understanding of the LPA requirements for 
the re-establishment of the cricket facility. It is essential that Sport 
England receive an understanding of this from the LPA. The lack of 
precise detail in Policy SS6 is not helpful.  

 2. Seek clarity on the precise infrastructure/services that the developer 
will provide to the edge of the site, and what is meant by the term edge 
of the site. It is assumed that the site previously had services, and the 
lack of services may render the project undeliverable. We recommend 
that the LPA seeks more certainty and clarification on that matter.  

 3. Whilst it is reasonable to agree to the principle of a pavilion and 
storage building of the size that was available previously it must be 
noted that ECB design standards should be adhered to along with the 
needs for a given amount of storage to serve the needs of the site. This 
must be recognised, and facilities of an appropriate scale secured. 

Page 55



26 
 

There also needs to be certainty of the finishes of the building along 
with fixtures and fittings, in order for an accurate cost estimate agreed.  

 4. Resolved  
 5. The LPA needs to be certain that the delivery of the cricket facility is 

guaranteed, and Sport England suggest that this should be secured on 
a timely basis prior to the occupation of the dwellings proposed (were 
the development to be approved).  

 6. Section 6 of the feasibility report does not include provision for the 
storage of maintenance equipment and it needs to.  

 7. The TGMS report sets out the requirements to establish a 6 pitch 
cricket square. Whilst ECB are content with the specification set out 
there still seems to be confusion of how big the square actually needs 
to be, when the club consider that a six-pitch square would not meet 
their needs. Sport England’s previous advice set out that an 8-pitch 
square would be provided.  

 8. The report omits to list the equipment needed to maintain the square.  
 9. One years’ maintenance is wholly inadequate. In establishing 

pitches Sport England requests that LPAs secure developer 
contributions for long-term maintenance, (minimum of 10 years) in 
order for the pitch to become fully established. Sport England’s Natural 
Turf for Sport Guidance explains the need for future maintenance to 
establish and maintain the performance of the square. The TGMS 
report, appendix II sets out some of this annual maintenance. 
Maintenance can be carried out by clubs themselves, provided that 
they are supplied with the appropriate equipment to do so. 

 
5.5.29 There are a number of issues raised here by Sport England some of 

which are considered to go above and beyond the requirements of the 
policy which merely requires for the reinstatement of the pitch without 
the loss of any existing facilities. Taking each of the matters in turn the 
response is as follows:  

 
 1.  In terms of the size of the square, a 6 pitch is to be provided 

based on the size of the area and ball strike distances. This is 
considered to be sufficient to meet the policy requirement.  

 
 2.  It has been clarified that electricity, water and broadband will 

be provided to the edge of the site – this being the edge of the land to 
be transferred to CCC.   

 
 3.   Design standards have been advised in line with SE standards 

set out in their design and costs guidance and include: A two- team 
pavilion with umpire changing facilities and social space totalling 215 

Page 56



27 
 

sqm. As this application is outline only the details of the finish of the 
building have not been set out but would be subject to future reserved 
matters approval.  
The 2009 ECB document on pavilions and clubhouses notes in 056.1 
the essential facilities as being:  
 Team changing, WC and showers x 2  
 Accessible WC 
 Spectators WC’s 
 Kitchen and servery 
 Umpire changing 
 Club room 
 Store  

 The document provides some of the spacing requirements for this.  
 Whilst no detail for the extent of floorspace required is provided the 

advisory diagram is useable to approximate the extent of the building 
required:  

  
 The applicant has used this information to inform their costings and to 

set out what the essential facilities need to be.   
 
 5.   The delivery would be guaranteed in so far as can be secured 

through the S106 agreement – please see the noted in para 5.5.21 
regarding the cascade element to the agreement. Given the extent of 
cost involved in the provision it is not considered that the requirement 
to provide the monies or facility prior to occupation is reasonable. 
Please refer to the phasing under para 5.6.15. 

 
 6.  The provision of essential facilities will presumably include an 

area of storage which seems feasibly e within the 215 m2. Alternatively 

Page 57



28 
 

external secure storage can be provided within a further unit if this were 
preferred. Storage at (c£10k) was noted in the original submission 
document for the cricket facility, since superseded.  

 
 7.  The size of the square is set by the land available and is to be 

a 6-pitch square. Whilst the CCC may wish for an 8 pitch square this is 
not a requirement of the policy and in line with the report is not feasible 
on this site.  

 
 8.  The CCC will be aware of the equipment needed to maintain 

the pitch, this was set out in the original submission document in 
relation to the cricket provision. The club will already have the 
equipment which is used to maintain their existing ground. 

 
 9.  The submitted report of the agronomist notes the need for the 

first detailed 12 to 18 month maintenance period to ensure the site is 
established. To require the applicant to provide maintenance of the 
facility for 10 years is considered to be wholly unreasonable. The CCC 
will already maintain their existing pitch and therefore after the initial 
12 month period it is reasonable for this to be taken on by the Club 
themselves.  

 
5.5.30 The Council’s Leisure Services have noted that:  
 “We would support bringing back in to use the cricket ground which is 

detailed in the outline application and would work with the cricket club 
to secure funding for any pavilion and/or ancillary buildings that would 
be managed and maintained by them.” 

 
5.5.31 It is acknowledged that Cutthorpe Cricket Club have not confirmed their 

willingness to agree to the terms set out above and that they have far 
greater aims in terms of the extent of facilities; including joint provision 
of pitches with the Hockey Club, 2 storey club building; adding up to a 
£2.5 to £3 plus million cost. However, it is not the wishes of the club 
that are to be considered here, merely the policy requirement for the 
re-instatement of the pitch for which only the essential facilities are 
required.   

 
5.5.32 The offer from the applicant is considered to be in full accord with the 

requirements set out in policy SS6 vii) and is therefore acceptable from 
a planning perspective. It is considered that the information now 
available within the agronomist’s report is sufficient to satisfy what will 
be provided on site. Whilst additional provision would be welcomed as 
hoped for by the Club and Sport England, such additional requirements 

Page 58



29 
 

may impact on other benefits arising from the development including 
matters such as affordable housing, biodiversity net gain and GP 
contributions. Therefore, a line of reasonableness has to be drawn in 
relation to the provision. It is considered that the submission now 
detailed is satisfactory in this respect. Whilst SE would like to see 
further detail of the building to be provided this application is outline 
only and therefore the detail of the building will be considered as part 
of any reserved matters application, along with details of the housing, 
school and local centre.  

 
5.5.33 As it remains somewhat unknown as to whether CCC will agree to the 

S106 provision and be a signatory to this, it is therefore considered that 
a reasonable way forward is to have a cascade clause within the S106 
agreement which will seek; first the agreement and transfer to the 
Cutthorpe Cricket Club as set out in the intensions above, and if 
agreement is not reached then offer the provision to other Cricket 
Clubs in the area; and if this fails then secure a revised landscaping 
scheme for this part of the site to be open space, with biodiversity 
gains. This reflects on the wishes of some residents who have not been 
supportive of the cricket club provision and who have noted the need 
to provide for habitat. On this basis the policy SS6 requirement for the 
reinstatement of the pitch under vii) is met.  

 
Infrastructure: 
 
5.5.34 Concern has been raised in the representations that the development 

will impact on existing services and facilities such as schools and GP 
practices.  

 
5.5.35 Within the CBC planning boundary the provision of required 

infrastructure is dealt with via the Community Infrastructure Levy where 
monies are collected from developments such as this and are 
coordinated into spending on matters such as school expansion. There 
is also the ability to secure other matters via legal agreement and direct 
contributions which in this case will secure funding for the NHS through 
the CCG who have requested £450,000 towards expansion of GP 
practices at Newbold, Whittington Moor and Whittington and Holme 
Hall but may expand to Avenue House, Wheatbridge, Brimington and 
Calow and Brimington, as patients could register at one of a number of 
surgeries. The CCG noted that; “Dunston and surrounds is identified in 
our Primary Care Estates Strategy as a priority area, as a result of 
current capacity in the local practices and the planned house building 
in the area. The contribution would be used to increase capacity at one 

Page 59



30 
 

or more GP practices sites that provides services to the development 
site, either through internal reconfiguration or extension and we will be 
able to provide detailed, costed plans prior to requesting the funding”. 
Such contributions will only secure physical improvements as set out 
by the CCG. The applicant has raised concern that the lack of specific 
projects by the CCG means that the contribution request fails to meet 
the legislative tests:  
• necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms  
• directly related to the development  
• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development  

 However, the Local Planning Authority remains in dialogue with the 
CCG regarding this matter and therefore the contribution is included 
within the recommended S106 matters.  

 
5.5.36 It is important to note that funding for patient numbers and school 

pupils remains via direct government funding. In this respect the 
contribution request for the Chesterfield Hospital is misplaced and 
cannot be secured via these mechanisms as central government 
funding of the NHS is provided for this. The funding for Dental 
Practices, has not been sought through S106 or CIL funding and no 
requests for any contributions have been received.  

 
5.5.37 In regard to school provision DCC Education have noted:  
 “The proposed development falls within and directly relates to the 

normal area of Dunston Primary and Nursery Academy. The proposed 
development of 500 dwellings would generate the need to provide for 
an additional 120 primary pupils.  
Dunston Primary and Nursery Academy has a net capacity for 315 
pupils, with 266 pupils currently on roll. The number of pupils on roll is 
projected to decrease during the next five years to 265.  
An evaluation of recently approved major residential developments 
within the normal area of Dunston Primary and Nursery Academy 
shows new development totaling 446 dwellings, amounting to an 
additional 107 primary pupils. 
Analysis of the current and future projected number of pupils on roll, 
together with the impact of approved planning applications shows that 
the normal area primary school would not have sufficient capacity to 
accommodate the 120 primary pupils arising from the proposed 
development.  

 
At secondary level:  

 The proposed development falls within and directly relates to the 
normal area Outwood Academy Newbold. The proposed development 

Page 60



31 
 

of 500 dwellings would generate the need to provide for an additional 
100 secondary and 40 post 16 pupils.  
Outwood Academy Newbold has a net capacity for 1,139 pupils with 
1,057 pupils currently on roll. The number of pupils on roll is projected 
to increase to 1,125 during the next five years. 
An evaluation of recently approved major residential developments 
within the normal area of Outwood Academy Newbold shows new 
development totaling 446 dwellings, amounting to an additional 89 
secondary and 36 post16 pupils.  
Analysis of the current and future projected number of pupils on roll, 
together with the impact of approved planning applications shows that 
the normal area secondary school would not have sufficient capacity 
to accommodate the 100 secondary and 40 post 16 pupils arising from 
the proposed development. 

 
Mitigation: 
Under the CIL system Derbyshire County Council works closely with 
Chesterfield Borough Council to identify the most cost effective and 
proportionate bids for funding to support education infrastructure to 
ensure that sufficient local school places are available in all localities 
across the borough. 
In the context of the assessment above, the County Council, as Local 
Education Authority (LEA), considers that the strategy for 
accommodating primary aged pupils from the development in the short 
and medium term is to agree the extension of the existing local school, 
subject to approval. 
In order to secure sufficient school places for the locality in the longer 
term, land for a primary school on this site is required by the Local Plan 
and the inclusion of this on the Masterplan is welcomed. In this context, 
however, the LEA considers that it would be helpful to have 
discussions around the location of the school land within the 
Masterplan.” 

 
5.5.38 As indicated by DCC, school provision would normally be provided by 

CIL but in this case there is additional provision in that part of the site 
is to be held for a future one form entry primary school. However, as 
DCC have noted the short to medium term school provision will be to 
expand existing local schools and it is unknown at this stage whether 
in the long term the additional school will be needed or whether 
expansion of existing school sites will be sufficient to serve the 
development. With this uncertainty there will be a need to preserve the 
future school site until most of the development is occupied. At which 
point it is anticipated that DCC as Education Authority will have a 

Page 61



32 
 

clearer understanding in terms of birth data as to whether the site for 
the school will be required. The school site can be brought forward 
earlier if necessary but the S106 needs to have a reasonable cut off as 
to how long the site is held for.  

 
5.5.39 DCC Education noted that they would prefer the school to be to the 

northern end of the site but following discussions around the local 
centre, school and active travel have now confirmed that they are 
happy with the site of the school as proposed within the masterplan. 
The concerns have now been allayed and the indicative site is 
considered acceptable to the County Council. Subject to a phasing 
condition relating to the school and S106 agreement this meets the 
requirements of Policy SS6 vi).  

 
5.5.40 Comments have been made by DCC that library provision in terms of 

stock may be sought via CIL. The development is CIL liable, and any 
such requests would have to be made in line with the CIL Expenditure 
Strategy. However, this Authority would need to be convinced that such 
a request was appropriate in terms of the legislation.  

 
5.5.41 In terms of other services and facilities the local centre, which has in 

the amended master plan been relocated to the centre of the site 
adjacent to the school, will provide for the day to day needs of the future 
residents whilst also being a hub for existing residents. Initial concerns 
in regard to the location of the local centre were raised by the CPRE 
and have therefore been addressed. The centre will include Class E 
use and Sui Generis uses, including hot food takeaway and public 
house/restaurant. Being located centrally within the site the local 
centre will be accessible for residents via walking and cycling. This 
provision meets the requirements of Policy SS6 v). 

 
 

Page 62



33 
 

  

 
 

It is therefore considered that infrastructure is appropriately considered 
and can be secured by both CIL provision and S106 contributions.  
 

Climate Change: 
 
5.5.42 The impact of climate change is rightly a serious concern raised by 

many local residents and in the comments from DCC further 
confirmation was sought regarding EV Charging and use of renewable 
technologies, with DCC seeking a commitment to a reduction in 
emissions. Since those comments were received the Building 
Regulations which set out how buildings should be constructed have 
been updated and now include matters such as EV charging for homes 

Page 63



34 
 

and solar provision in line with certain heating types, such as gas 
boilers.  The applicant submission notes that further changes to the 
building regulations are anticipated and the homes will be built in 
accordance with these as and when the changes occur. In time it is 
anticipated that this will restrict new gas boilers, further increase 
insultation standards and have a greater focus on more sustainable 
energy installations and energy efficiency. 

 
5.5.43 As the construction of the buildings is a matter for Building Regulations, 

the main way in which the Local Plan considers climate matters is 
through the consideration of the location of development to ensure that 
there are public transport, walking and cycling routes to serve the 
development as set out in policies CLP1 and 2. As this is an allocated 
site it is considered to be sustainable in terms of its location. The 
provision of the local centre and new walking and cycling routes 
through the site and enhancement of the footpath route all help toward 
providing a sustainable neighbourhood.   

 
5.5.44 In addition, Policy CLP20 requires that: Major development should, as 

far as is feasible and financially viable minimise CO2 emissions during 
construction and occupation, and also maximise both the use of and 
the generation of renewable energy. Planning applications for major 
new development should be accompanied by a statement (as part of 
or in addition to a design and access statement) which sets out how 
the development would do this in terms of: 
i. following the steps in the energy hierarchy by seeking to use less 
energy, source energy efficiently, and make use of renewable energy 
before efficiently using fossil fuels from clean technologies: 
ii. optimising the efficient use of natural resources; 
iii. reducing emissions through orientation and design. 

 
5.5.45 The CPRE have noted:  
 We would remind the Council of the zero-carbon target ambition of the 

government. Chesterfield Borough Council has also signed the 
Nottingham Declaration on Climate Change which pledges to address 
the causes of climate change and prepare for the associated impacts. 
Furthermore, the Council also declared a Climate Emergency in July 
2019. There is limited information provided as to how this proposal 
would lend itself towards helping the Borough Council address the 
issue of a changing climate which is one of, if not the biggest issue 
facing us at the current time. The submission does not address para’s 
154 and 155 of the NPPF. The Council’s Climate Change Officer raises 
a number of important points and we completely endorse their 

Page 64



35 
 

comments, particularly in regard to renewables, EV charging points, 
house insulation, sustainable drainage, waste management and 
replacement rates for tree felling 

 
5.5.46 The Council’s Climate Change officer has considered the scheme and 

commented that initially the submission did not adequately address 
climate issues. Questioning a gas connection to the site, renewables, 
insulation levels, EV charging, street trees, drainage, tree planting.  
Further comments noted the need to provide details of cycle storage 
and showers in commercial units, meeting the higher water efficiency 
standard, storage for recycling bins, commitment not to install coal or 
log burners, future proofing homes, permeable surfaces.  

 
5.5.47 In response to these concerns the applicant has provided climate 

information which notes in part:  
“The Sustainability Statement prepared evaluates the technical and 
economic feasibility of using both passive and low and zero carbon 
technologies and assesses the practical levels of CO2 reduction 
possible for this development. Measures proposed included: 
1) Enhanced building fabric to meet Building Regulation ADL1A/2A 
2013 
2) Enhanced air tightness and thermal bridging 
3) Heating and hot water to domestic areas by a highly efficient gas 
boiler system 
4) Continuous System 3 extract ventilation provided to domestic areas 
5) Efficient lighting provided throughout all building with LED-type 
fittings 
6) A photovoltaic array/ heat pumps could be provided on the School 
block 
7) Heating/cooling to retail areas by heat pump/ VRF. 
8) Hot water to commercial areas will be provided by an instantaneous 
electric system. 
The changes to Building Regulations will require any buildings not 
started by 15th June 2023 will need to accord with the requirements in 
the following Approved Documents: 
• Part L – Conservation of Fuel and Power 
• Part O – Overheating 
• Part F – Ventilation 
• Part S – EV charging  
William Davis will include the use of Solar PV, more efficient fabric and 
the inclusion of EV charging points in the majority of plots as a means 
of achieving these Regulations.  

Page 65



36 
 

As part of the Reserved Matters application(s), William Davis will set 
out ways of future proofing their house types to allow for easy 
adaptation to the future homes standard; a planning condition / 
reserved matter can be imposed to ensure that this is provided. 
This could include pipework to allow for future installation of heat 
pumps when the market for alternative heating systems has matured.  
The dwellings will still be served by a gas combi boiler for heating and 
hot water with no cooling requirement. Significant passive carbon 
emissions reductions through fabric, heating and hot water controls 
and air tightness can be utilised to reduce the consumption of the 
development. 
Overall, the changes in Building Regulation will result in a carbon 
reduction of around 30% compared to the previous building regulations 
and mean that homes will have reduced reliance on the national grid 
for power, will be cheaper to keep warm in the winter, will not overheat 
in the summer and will have an EV charging connection from Day 1. 
Many of the comments raised by the Council’s Climate Change Officer 
(dated August 2022) relates to specific details only likely to be 
confirmed during the detailed design of the development at reserved 
matters. William Davis are happy to accept a condition /reserved 
matter requiring the submission of a detailed energy/sustainability 
statement that considers and demonstrates how emissions will be 
reduced and how the development allows for adaptation prior to the 
commencement of the development. 
The road through the development has also been designed to allow for 
bus penetration increasing the opportunity for sustainable transport 
choices. A travel plan has been provided.  
The masterplan shows a landscape buffer along the northern boundary 
of the site and a number of street trees; once fully grown trees can 
absorb around 20kg of carbon dioxide per year. While the number and 
type of tree to be planted has not yet been determined it is likely to be 
more than 250 which equate to 5 tonnes of Co2 per year.” 

 
5.5.48 In response to this information the Council’s Climate Change Officer 

has noted that the willingness to accept a condition to provide detailed 
energy statement is welcomed. On this basis it is considered that 
climate matters are considered as far as can be through this outline 
planning application by imposing a number of conditions including: 
The submission of details through each reserved matters submission 
to set out the construction of the dwellings in terms of; heating, cooling, 
use of renewables, insultation, orientation and energy efficiency.    
The submission of a strategy to reduce carbon emissions through 
construction.  

Page 66



37 
 

The submission of a justification for any mains gas connection, given 
the likely short-term use of this.  
Removal of permitted development rights for the installation of 
chimneys and flues.  

 
5.5.49 On this basis of the imposition of the condition it is considered that 

climate matters have been suitably addressed.  
 
Affordable Housing:  
 
5.5.50 Policy CLP4 states in part that: In order to increase local housing 

choice, respond to emerging needs and promote the creation of 
sustainable communities, in new housing developments the council will 
seek a range of dwelling types and sizes based on the council’s most 
up to date evidence of housing needs and the location and 
characteristics of the area.  

 
5.5.51 The application site is within the medium CIL charging zone where the 

affordable housing requirement Local Plan is 10% provision with a 
90/10 percentage split of affordable rent and shared ownership.  

 
5.5.52 The Design and Access Statement notes:  
 “As required by the Local Plan 10% affordable housing will be provided 

within the development, with details of the precise tenure 
arrangements being submitted at Reserved Matters Stage through 
consultation with the Planning Authority. This will be informed by the 
affordable housing provisions contained within the Section 106 
Agreement. The affordable housing should be located around the 
development and their design must be tenure-blind, ensuring their 
integration into the scheme.” 

 
5.5.53 The approach to tenure blind affordable units is welcomed and the 

proposal as set out meets the policy requirements. More detail will be 
considered under each reserved matters application.  

 
5.5.54 The CPRE have noted: “How will the Council ensure that the developer 

would meet their requirements on affordable housing contribution? 
Section 106 agreements are all well and good until the developer 
comes in with a variation request stating that it is no longer viable to 
provide affordable housing. How can this be prevented from happening 
on this site if the proposal goes ahead? We would suggest that if 
development of the site were restricted to affordable and smaller units 

Page 67



38 
 

in the eastern part of the site only, then the same number of units could 
be achieved with higher densities and more sustainable designs.  What 
this Masterplan shows is the provision of larger, suburban style homes 
on the edge of open countryside, which are likely to appeal to out-
commuters from the area that will do nothing to solve the affordable 
housing problems of the borough, but will destroy valued open 
countryside in the process.” In their later comments it was noted that 
10% provision was unacceptable given the crisis in affordability of 
housing. In response the 10% provision is policy compliant and the 
needs within the Local Plan are ascertained on detailed assessment 
through the formulation of the Plan and the Examination process.  

5.5.55 Ultimately any viability matters would be resolved pre-determination 
and will not be a clause in the legal agreement to allow for viability 
assessment. Therefore, a further application to vary the S106 would 
be needed if this were to be considered. Given the clear policy 
requirement and applicant commitment this is not considered to be a 
likely scenario in this case.  

 
Adaptable and accessible housing: 
 
5.5.56 Policy CLP4 also requires that: On sites totalling 10 or more dwellings 

(including phases of those sites) 25% of dwellings should be built to 
building regulations standard M4(2) (where a site includes affordable 
housing this should normally be proportionately split between tenures). 
Where the council has identified evidence of a specific need for a 
wheelchair accessible standard M4(3) property (for which the council 
is responsible for allocating or nominating a person to live in that 
dwelling) that is relevant to a site, this will be negotiated with the 
developer and secured by planning obligation, subject to consideration 
of viability and suitability. 

 
5.5.57 In this case there has been no submission of details to set out what is 

required in terms of any additional affordable needs to the M4(3) 
standard. In terms of the accessible and adaptable requirements this 
will be conditioned and through each reserved matters/phased 
submission will be considered in more detail to ensure the provision of 
25% and to ensure this is across all tenures. On this basis the policy 
requirement is met.  

 
Settlement Coalescence  
 

Page 68



39 
 

5.5.58 Concern has been raised that the proposed development will result in 
settlement coalescence between Cutthorpe village which is within 
North East Derbyshire District Council area and Chesterfield, the edge 
of the built up area which at the closest point now ends at Dunston. 

 
5.5.59 Whilst the development of this site will result in the expansion of the 

developed edge of Chesterfield moving towards Cutthorpe. There will 
be a substantial amount of open space, including the cricket pitch site, 
between Cutthorpe and the development to ensure that there is a clear 
separation of the two without any settlement coalescence.  

 

 

This shows the fields to 
remain between the site and 
Cutthorpe and between the 
site and Newbold. This can 
also be seen in the 
Masterplan image below. 

Page 69



40 
 

  
  
Conclusion 
 
5.5.60 Considering these principle matters it is important to again consider 

the policy requirements of the allocation:  
 
 SS6 requirements:  
 Planning permission will be granted for residential development for 

approximately 500 dwellings on land north of Dunston and south east 
of Dunston Road as allocated on the Policies Map and as set out in 
Table 4 (site reference SS6). Development should be carried out in 
accordance with a masterplan to be agreed with the Local Planning 
Authority prior to development that demonstrates: 

 i. acceptable access arrangements from Dunston Road and Dunston 
Lane; 

 ii. appropriate provision for walking and cycling within the site. 
 iii. appropriate transport mitigation to ensure an acceptable impact on 

the highway network for all users; 
 iv. appropriate mitigation to minimise any adverse impacts to the 

significance of affected heritage assets, including their settings. 
 v. provision of a new local centre to serve development; 
 vi. provision of a site reserved for a new one form entry primary school 

(to be retained until such time as required or evidence can be provided 
of a lack of need); 

 vii. a scheme of green infrastructure including landscaping, open 
space, 

Page 70



41 
 

play and sports provision including re-instatement of the former cricket 
pitch, and early implementation of a landscaping and planting scheme 

 along Dunston Road; 
 viii. a phasing plan for development phases and the provision of 

infrastructure.” 
 
5.5.61 The majority of these matters are considered in detailed sections of the 

report below. However, the following have been met as set out above:  
 v. is met with the provision of the local centre in a central location to 

the site and the neighbouring development.  
 vi. is met with the school site appropriately located to the centre of the 

site adjacent to the local centre with appropriate cascade clauses 
within the S106 to ensure the school is provide, if and when required.  

 vii. is met as the Masterplan includes the necessary green 
infrastructure and including the possible re-instatement of the former 
Cricket Pitch again with a cascade clause in the case that a Club will 
not take this on.  

   
 The remainder of the report will consider i, ii, iii, iv, and viii.  

5.6 Design and Appearance  

5.6.1 Local Plan policy CLP20 states in part; all development should identify 
and respond positively to the character of the site and surroundings 
and respect the local distinctiveness of its context respect the 
character, form and setting of the site and surrounding area by virtue 
of its function, appearance and architectural style, landscaping, scale, 
massing, detailing, height and materials. 

 
Views and Character  
 
5.6.2 The character of the site is open green field interspersed with 

hedgerows and individual trees. The area to roughly the centre of the 
wider site is the footpath area which is much more overgrown with 
wooded character. The old Cricket Pitch area is grassed area which is 
well enclosed by planting, leading west this then becomes more 
farmland.  

 
5.6.3 The site is partly quite steeply sloping to the main fields to the east of 

the footpath with an incline to the north.  Dunston Road sits to the north 
of the site and forms a boundary with the green belt land beyond this 
within North East Derbyshire to the north. The site is therefore on rising 
land and will be visible from multiple locations within the Borough and 

Page 71



42 
 

beyond. Therefore, it is important to consider this wider visual impact 
of the scheme.  

 
 The constraints of the site can be seen on this plan:   

  
 
5.6.4 A Landscape and Visual impact assessment was submitted to support 

the application which concluded:  
 The wider landscape character is ‘Coalfield Village Farmlands’ the 

degree of change in the key characteristics of this will be minimal.  
 Direct impacts are limited to the site.  
 Indirect impacts in terms of wider landscape are restricted by the 

containment of the site by the localised ridgeline and topographically 
and by the influence of the existing urban fringe to the settlement 
edge of Chesterfield.  

 The residential development will be contained by the existing urban 
edge and established vegetation.  

 In the wider landscape there will be a negligible to minor negative 
adverse effect.  

 In the local landscape there will be minor to moderate adverse effect 
given the change in character which will have minimal impact on the 
wider landscape character.  

 The impacts will be highly localised within a contained settlement 
edge.  

 The landscape strategy has been considered in terms of the impact.  
 The retention of the green areas to the south and north west will 

serve as a buffer to the development.  
 Given the localised nature of the impact the impacts on the rural 

nature of the landscape are not considered to be significant.  
   

Page 72



43 
 

5.6.5 CPRE Derbyshire commented in part that:  
 In our view, the proposed landscaping plans put forward by the 

applicant are significantly lacking and do not in any way mitigate 
against the substantial harm that this development would cause. The 
submitted LVIA notes viewpoints rather than character. The 
development will fundamentally alter character in terms of traffic, 
tranquillity, light pollution, loss of wildlife and general ambiance.  There 
are errors in the application form, there will be and has been in increase 
in flooding, there are trees and hedges adjacent to the site and not all 
of the land is in agricultural use.  

 
5.6.6 The DGAG have objected noting that the site should be and has 

inconsistently been referred to as an Area of Multiple Environmental 
Sensitivity (AMES). This appears to refer to a DCC document from 
2013 which helped to inform the targeting of Environmental 
Stewardship Higher Level Scheme (HLS) funding, the identification of 
key strategic Green Infrastructure assets, and the potential for housing 
growth across the county but particularly within the Derby and 
Nottingham Housing Market Areas (HMA). This site was a secondary 
sensitivity area as was much of the County. This is not a term referred 
to in the Local Plan or NPPF.  

 
5.6.6 Derbyshire County Council commented on the landscape impact 

following on from their original criticism of the scheme, stating in part:  
 

“The Landscape Architect has commented that he welcomes the latest 
iteration of the site masterplan, which now appears to have taken on 
board and addressed many of his concerns raised in his last response. 
Most notably the Local Centre has been relocated more centrally within 
the development site where it is not only accessible to this 
development but also to existing communities. The school site is then 
located adjacent to the local centre again promoting more sustainable 
journeys and creating more of a ‘community hub’ at the heart of the 
development. 

 
The pocket parks and local play areas have also been relocated away 
from the linear park that effectively forms the northern boundary to this 
development and again this is supported because it reduces the 
urbanising effect of the development on the wider landscape as well as 
making these areas more accessible to more of this new community. 
The green infrastructure network seems to be better developed 
although it would be improved if some of the isolated pocket parks 
could be better connected to other linear corridors even if this was only 

Page 73



44 
 

by the inclusion of a few additional highway trees. The boulevard effect 
along the main access is welcomed but this would be significantly 
enhanced if a line of highway trees was to continue from the local 
centre to the community park located within the western development 
area – effectively along the secondary access road. 

 
It is noted that the linear park is now referred to as the ‘Northern 
Landscape Corridor’ which does feel like a retrograde step because 
this transitional area was never intended to be just a landscape strip 
but more of an informal park with access running through it and 
contributing to the wider GI of the development. It does feel narrower 
in extent than some of the earlier iterations and in that regard, it is 
questionable the extent that it will mitigate the visual effects of this 
proposal on the wider landscape and viewpoints to the north. Again, 
the inclusion of large, long-lived trees such as oak will go some way to 
addressing that particular issue as well as the finish and materials 
proposed for the roofscape as raised by the County Council’s Built 
Conservation Officer in their previous response.” Those comments 
were: “As the design develops, I would also advise that a suitably 
recessive roofing material should be used to help further reduce the 
visibility of the houses, particularly those in close proximity to Dunston 
Road.” Such detailed matters would be considered under future 
Reserved Matters applications.  

 
5.6.6 The Council’s Leisure Services made comment in response to the 

original submission:  
 “Further consideration should be given to the extent of landscaping to 

the proposed linear park along the north and north west boundary. The 
existing landscape setting is particularly attractive on the northern edge 
and skyline and further urbanisation through this development will 
detract from this unless adequate landscaping is provided. Overall the 
linear corridors do not appear to be adequate in size for a development 
of this size. Opportunities present here to plant trees of significant size 
and number and would hope that this can be reviewed/resolved going 
forward.” 

 
5.6.7 From considering the comments of DCC, the revised masterplan with 

the northern landscaped corridor is considered to appropriately 
address the wider landscape impacts. Whilst there will be visual 
impacts from the scheme these are considered to be well contained by 
topography and settlement edge and will not lead to such visual harm 
in the wider landscape setting that a refusal could be justified. The 
planting of the northern corridor needs to be appropriately phased 

Dunston Road 
ridge with the 
development 
leading away 
down the 
hillside. 

Page 74



45 
 

within the development to ensure an established and effective 
landscaped edge. The topography to the northern edge of the site will 
also help to mitigate landscape impact with Dunston Road forming the 
ridgeline, the set back of the proposed housing area from the northern 
boundary ridge will slightly lower the dwellings below the ridge line, 
thereby mitigating the wider landscape impact. This is demonstrated 
on the indicative section plan contained within the LVIA: 

  
5.6.7 Therefore subject to detailed consideration of the housing scheme and 

landscaping under the reserved matters applications which will include 
a need to set out the landscaped buffer to the north along with a 
condition relating to the phasing of the landscaping, the proposal is 
considered to accord with the aims of policy CLP2 and SS6 vii).  

 
Layout of masterplan  
 
5.6.8 This scheme is in outline only where the detailed design will be 

considered under a future Reserved Matters application. in this regard 
compliance with CLP20 in terms of design is in relation to the proposed 
layout as indicated in the master plan.  

 
5.6.9 The originally submitted masterplan was as follows:  

Page 75



46 
 

 
 
5.6.10 The Council’s Urban Design Officer commented on this scheme, with 

the comments summarised:  
 
1) The Design and access statement should be updated to reflect the 

latest version of the NPPF in regard to place making, design quality 
and street trees. There is limited detail to show how the proposals 
will contribute to creating character and a positive sense of place. 

2) The Concept Masterplan lacks any ‘vision’. 
3) Distinctive places and points of interest are needed, in addition to 

the street types, to avoid the risk of a large expanse of repetitious 
and monotonous housing. 

4) Proposals should include a hierarchy of buildings and spaces to 
emphasise key locations, such as modest public squares and 
spaces at key intersections. 

5) The Local Centre should be a key public space.  
6) Entrances should provide distinctive gateways and provide a 

positive ‘sense of arrival’.  
7) Opportunities for public art should be considered.  
8) The absence of a suitable walking and cycling connection from 

Cutthorpe represents a major weakness of the scheme. 
9) There appears to be no provision of a kickabout space or play area 

to serve the southern half the site. 
10) Consideration of the delivery times for the landscaped buffer to the 

northern edge.  

Page 76



47 
 

11) The NW boundary represents the most sensitive and exposed edge 
in visual terms with long views along Dunston Road and from the 
direction of Dunston Hall Garden Centre. Only a narrow landscape 
fringe is proposed along the boundary and the interface between 
development and landscape could appear quite abrupt, with limited 
scope to mitigate with landscaping. 

12) More detail of SUD’s required.  
13) Clarify mining features.  
14) Phasing of key infrastructure delivery. 
15) Consideration of scale/density.  
16) Consideration of character areas including school and centre.  
17) A requirement for the preparation of a design code for the site is 

required.  
18) A specification/section for typical cycle and pedestrian paths should 

be provided. 
19) Provide pedestrian and cycle link along the primary street where 

this road joins the Skylarks site.  
 
5.6.11 To address the comment of the Urban Design Officer and other matters 

arising from the initial consultee responses, including concerns 
regarding biodiversity, the masterplan has been amended as follows:  

 
 
5.6.12 The Design and Access Statement has also been updated and now 

includes details of; additional connections into adjacent land, better 
tree lined routes, street typology details, character areas, density 
information, the central relocation of the local centre and school area, 
better interconnected streets, more detail of and additional provision of 
play space along with an overall improved vision for the scheme.  

 

Page 77



48 
 

5.6.13 The amended Master Plan along with the updated Design and Access 
Statement is considered to have appropriately addressed the 
comments raised by the Council’s Urban Design Officer as well as 
addressing other comments made including the landscape matters 
above.   

 
5.6.14 In terms of the status of the Master Plan this is indicative only at the 

outline stage however, as set out by the Urban Design Officer, this 
Master Plan should be used to inform the detailed plans of the 
development, alongside a development framework submission prior to 
the submission of the first reserved matters to be secured via condition.   

Phasing 
  
5.6.15 The proposal is a substantial development where phasing is likely to 

be needed. In this case this needs careful consideration due to the 
provision of the local centre, school, Cricket Club and the landscaped 
edge to provide the mitigation for the visual impact of the scheme. 
Policy SS6 requires the “early implementation of a landscaping and 
planting scheme along Dunston Road”. 

 
5.6.16 In terms of the phasing the revised Design and Access Statement 

shows the following phasing plan:  

  
This indicates that access from Dunston Road will form the first phase 
with the second Phasing linking into the existing Skylarks 
development. Then the third phase will be the western edge of the 
housing, works to open space under phase 4 and 5 and lastly under 
phase 6 the Cricket Club.  

Page 78



49 
 

 
5.6.17 The submitted planning statement sets out that the structural planting 

to the northern edge would take place early within each phase. Noting 
that “whilst the Council would like to see early implementation of the 
landscaping to the whole of the northern edge this is not feasible; due 
to potential risk of damage and disturbance during construction of later 
phases of development. This would include; site clearance, 
construction vehicles and plant, compounds, earthworks for 
infrastructure and alterations to the existing road network.  It is also 
noted that existing trees and hedgerow will act as an initial screen from 
the outset. It is therefore intended that the landscaping of the northern 
edge will mirror phased delivery of the development to ensure that the 
landscaping is implemented robustly”. 

 
5.6.18 It appears from this information that there may be some difficulties in 

early provision of the landscaped northern edge and this is 
acknowledged. However, it is also considered that some planting here 
could take place as a level of protection for existing trees and 
hedgerows will also be needed. It is likely that a clearer picture will 
emerge as to when planting can take place when the details of the 
development are further advanced. It is therefore considered that the 
phasing of the landscaped edge can be conditioned so that it is subject 
to further discussion with the aim that this is provided as early and 
robustly as feasible.  

 
5.6.19 The phasing of the other matters needs to be considered. The 

provision of a serviced site for the local centre within phase 2 is 
considered to be acceptable in principle. It is noted that this is subject 
to feasibility linked to housing completions so again this is somewhat 
moveable but would need to be within phase 2. Again, a condition is 
required to secure this within in association with the phase 2 reserved 
matters submission.  

 
5.6.20 The housing numbers within each phase and M4(2) provision also 

need to be set out in the phasing to ensure the phased completion of 
the site does not exceed the overall number to be approved.  

  
5.6.21 As set out above, the land reserved for the 1FE primary school will be 

for a set period of time and needs to be detailed in the legal agreement. 
This will be dependant on information from County Education based 
on birth rates and need over time as the development progresses. DCC 
education have noted the intention that the early development school 
places will be accommodated in expanded school provision off site. In 

Page 79



50 
 

this regard a detailed clause within the S106 will need to set out from 
construction commencing 2 yearly monitoring of need in terms of 
occupation of units and updates on birth data, with this informing the 
timing of school provision. Through the monitoring, should the 
information show that there is no need for the school by the point of 
final occupation of the development, the S106 needs to allow for the 
land to be no longer set aside for school delivery and for an alternative 
use to be provided on the land.   

 
5.6.22 As noted above the provision of the Cricket Club needs to include a 

cascade clause to cover the possibility that there are no Clubs willing 
to take the pitch on. The phasing plan submitted by the applicant notes 
provision in phase 6, after the completion of all of the housing 
development and works to landscaped areas. This is considered to be 
late within the development. There seems to be no need for the 
provision to be the last element of the scheme to be provided. It would 
be better for this to be at the latest provided, at least in part in line with 
the Phase 3 area of the housing development. Again, as it is uncertain 
as to whether the cricket provision will be taken on it is reasonable to 
impose a condition to agree this phasing, including part provision, such 
as access, all linking into the S106 agreement.  

 
5.6.23 Subject to conditions and S106 agreement the phasing of the scheme 

is considered to be appropriately considered in line with policy SS6 
viii).  

 
Open space  
 
5.6.24 Policy CLP17 requires that; Where proposed development would result   

in a need for new open space and outdoor sports facilities and/or 
exacerbate existing deficiencies in provision, development must 
contribute to public open space, sports facilities and play provision in 
accordance with the council’s adopted standards as set out in 
Appendix B of the Local Plan.  

 
5.6.25 The Design and Access Statement notes in relation to open space:  

Page 80



51 
 

 
5.6.26 These spaces include; natural play areas, community park, trim trail 

linear park, kickabout area, pocket parks, formal play and retained 
landscape features as well as the Cricket Club which would become a 
private area, cycle and waling routes. Indicative details of these are set 
out in the Design and Access Statement.  

 
Images include the play to the north:  

 
And the central linear trim trail area:  

 
 
Which in 3D could appear like this:  

Page 81



52 
 

 
 
5.6.27 The Council’s Leisure Services have commented that:  

“Support the location of the informal play space, the location of the 
more formal play space would again appear to be at the detriment to 
attractive appearance of the northern boundary by the introduction of 
more built elements. Perhaps a more central location so that children 
and young people are overlooked and would also benefit residents 
from other parts of Dunston.” 
This is considered to have been addressed in the amended 
masterplan.  
 

5.6.28 The Council’s Strategic Policy have noted:  
The scheme as proposed exceeds the thresholds for on-site provision 
in the recommended local standards for all typologies with the 
exception of Parks and Gardens. In considering growth against 
existing provision it is considered likely there will be a deficit in 
allotments type open space. The comments also note there may have 
been loses and /or additions in the locality since the assessment work 
was done in 2018. The on-site provision required is noted as:  
Public open space of at least 6.21 hectares should be provided on-site, 
to include:  
- two amenity greenspaces (minimum area 0.4 hectares per space)  
- one allotment site (minimum area 0.4 hectares)  
- natural/semi-natural greenspaces (minimum area 0.4 hectares per 
space)  
- two equipped play spaces (including for older age ranges, minimum 
area 0.04 hectares per space)  
- two informal play spaces (including for older age ranges, minimum 
area 0.10 hectares per space)  
The submitted information indicates provision of 9.65 hectares of 
public open space (excluding the Cricket Pavilion and attenuation 
areas). Overall, in area this would meet the total open space needs, 
but it is not clear whether there will be provision of each required 

Page 82



53 
 

typology, and whether the spaces will be in locations that are 
accessible to all residents. 

 
5.6.29 These comments were noted in response to the original master plan 

with the amended master plan providing more open space, to which 
further comments have not been received. Whilst the type of open 
space is also considered, this needs to be balanced with the needs of 
Biodiversity and as such it is not considered that significant weight 
should be given to the typologies. It is noted that in terms of the lack of 
allotment open space type the masterplan shows a community orchard 
which is within the same typology and therefore welcomed. On this 
basis the extent of open space provided, balanced with the need for 
Biodiversity, is acceptable. This is considered to meet policy SS6 part 
vii).  

 
5.6.30 Whilst this outline application stage only considers the principle of the 

development and not the detail it is difficult to further consider design 
matters at this stage. The reserved matters applications will be further 
planning applications which consider the detail of the development 
including the design of the dwellings. In this regard it is anticipated that 
the dwellings will follow the design theme established in the existing 
Skylarks development adjacent to and which will be linked into this site. 
However, it is hoped that the developer will provide updated design of 
the units to reflect a more contemporary approach which may better 
respond to climate needs. In so far as the outline application can 
consider design matters it is considered that the scheme meets the 
requirements of policy CLP20.  

 
5.7 Impact on Heritage Assets   
 
5.7.1 There are a number of heritage assets adjacent to the site, the impact 

upon these needs to be considered in line with policy CLP21. This 
policy requires that; “In assessing the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, the 
council will give great weight to the conservation of designated heritage 
assets and their setting and seek to enhance them wherever possible”. 
The policy also requires the Council will d) identify and, where 
appropriate, protect important archaeological sites and historic 
environment features. Under g) it notes that within other areas of 
archaeological significance, the council require relevant development 
proposal is to demonstrate appropriate consideration of archaeological 
impact. This is reiterated in para’s 194, 199, 202, 203 and 204 of Part 
16 of the NPPF.   

Page 83



54 
 

 
5.7.2 The County Conservation Officer commented on the original scheme, 

but no further comments were received in regard to the amended 
scheme, the original comments are as follows:  
“While there are no known designated heritage assets within the site, 
in its current form, it is part of this rural landscape. The site provides a 
pleasant ‘green’ break between Sheepbridge and Cuthorpe, an 
important green space which currently provides a degree of 
detachment from the more dense urban areas associated with the 
outer-reaches of Chesterfield.  

 
Therefore, it is disappointing that the development of the site in the way 
proposed is being considered, as it will have a negative impact on the 
landscape setting of the various heritage assets which surround it. 
While the Heritage Statement suggests that little or no harm will be 
done to these assets, it is my opinion that this is incorrect. This is 
because although there may be little or no intervisibility between the 
site and the various designated heritage assets, such as Dunston Hall, 
for example, it is important to remember that an appreciation of their 
significance is formed through their rural context into which they are 
inserted. This appreciation will be eroded through the introduction of a 
development of this kind. However, on reviewing the outline proposals 
for the proposed housing development site it is encouraging to see that 
some effort is being made to mitigate some of the worst of the visual 
impacts. The formation of a linear park alongside Dunston Road is a 
welcome part of the design as this should help to reduce the visibility 
of the housing development alongside it. I am therefore wholly 
supportive of any previous or further comments by DCC’s landscape 
design architect. 

 
As the design develops, I would also advise that a suitably recessive 
roofing material should be used to help further reduce the visibility of 
the houses, particularly those in close proximity to Dunston Road. In 
the fullness of time, I am hopeful that much of the visibility of housing 
development will be greatly reduced as vegetation and trees mature.  

 
However, in the short to medium term it is likely that the development 
could potentially be quite visually prominent from within the rural 
landscape. Therefore, careful thought should be given towards using 
roofing materials which are recessive in appearance and which align 
well with local vernacular buildings; a slate type finish or dark-coloured 
Rosemary tile may be suitable but further research is needed to 
explore and justify the use of a suitable roofing material(s). I trust that 

Page 84



55 
 

discussions along these lines can be accommodated by CBC’s 
Conservation resource.  

 
The design and detailing of the vehicular entrance road from Dunston 
Road also requires careful thought to help reduce any negative visual 
impacts this might have. The design needs to be carefully integrated 
within the wider landscape design for the site and so again I am 
supportive of the comments made by the County Council’s Landscape 
Architect. From purely a design quality perspective, I do question 
whether the location of the ‘Local Centre’ (LC), currently located on the 
very edge and northernmost tip of the proposed development site, is 
optimal. It is my opinion this is not a satisfactory location for this and it 
would be better suited to being located more centrally; closer or 
adjacent to the potential school site. I understand that the current site 
may be considered suitable in view that it may capitalise on passing 
trade, but I consider that this will have a detrimental impact on the long-
term sustainability of the site, in terms of green travel and community 
buy-in. Another final point is that developments such as this often have 
more onerous lighting requirements and so it is also my opinion that its 
visual impact could be reduced if it were consolidated at the heart of 
the site where it would be less visible from along Dunston Road.” 

 
In response to these comments it is noted that the location of the local 
centre has been amended and the comments of the landscape officer 
addressed as set out above.  

 
5.7.3 The CBC Conservation Officer commented:  
 “The applicant has, in line with NPPF guidance, produced a Heritage 

Statement (Lanpro Services Ltd) to accompany the outline application. 
The Heritage Statement is comprehensive, covering all the relevant 
heritage issues relating to the site and its environs, including built 
heritage and below ground archaeology (Derbyshire County Council’s 
comments should be considered regarding the latter). The Heritage 
Statement is accurate is confirming that there are no designated or 
non-designated built heritage assets within the boundary of the 
proposed development site, but that there are a number of listed 
buildings on the site’s environs. Hence any potential impact from the 
proposed development on the setting of the listed buildings should be 
considered (a requirement in the NPPF, as set out, for instance, in 
paragraph 195). To the north east of the site these listed buildings are: 
Dunston Hall (grade II listed), Farm Buildings to the north east of 
Farmhouse at Dunston Hall Farm (grade II listed) and Range of brick 
buildings to the west of Dunston Hall (grade Il listed); to the east is 

Page 85



56 
 

Dunston Grange Farmhouse (grade II listed); and to the west is 
Newbold Fields (grade II listed).  

   
 The Heritage Statement concludes that given the existing screening of 

the listed buildings and the proposed layout (which includes buffer 
zones of green space between the listed buildings and the proposed 
development (as shown in the applicant’s Illustrative Landscape 
Masterplan, drawing ref: P19- 2720_13) ‘the proposed development 
would result in no harm to the significance of any designated asset in 
the vicinity of the study site’. In this context ‘significance’ would be 
defined as any special identity the listed buildings would gain by their 
setting and what impact (negative or otherwise) new development 
would have on that setting. The Heritage Statement includes 
photographs (Plates 1-18) of views from within the site to the listed 
buildings to demonstrate likely visual impacts from development on 
their setting. 

 
 My view is that the Heritage Statement is accurate in its conclusions 

and that, in the context of the requirement of the NPPF, it would be 
difficult to argue that the proposed development would cause 
significant harm to, or significant erosion of, the setting of the listed 
buildings. This is primarily because of the proposed site layout which 
includes significant areas of green space that would act as buffer zones 
between new development and the listed buildings, but also because 
of the existing screening, distance and orientation of the listed 
buildings. This conclusion is on the assumption that the range of 
housing and development types are typical 2-3 storey relatively low 
density construction types, the heights and massing of which would be 
consistent with existing development in the area.” 

 
Setting of Listed Buildings and Barlow Conservation Area 
 
5.7.4 The development of the site will result in the loss of green fields which 

have long since formed the rural setting of a range of nearby listed 
buildings and the Barlow Conservation Area. Therefore, the 
development will erode that agricultural context of the buildings and 
groups of buildings which is fundamental to their setting. This is clear 
from the historic mapping and the description of the assets set out in 
the Heritage Assessment. Whilst the assessment concludes that there 
will be no harm to the significance of any heritage asset this is 
considered to be a high bar judgement given the extent of the 
development and the proximity of the heritage assets. The report in 
considering the individual heritage assets clearly considers the site to 

Page 86



57 
 

be within the setting of these assets. Therefore, to result in no harm at 
all is difficult to conceive.  

 
5.7.5 The assessment notes that setting of a heritage asset is defined as: 

‘The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent 
is not fixed and may change as the asset and its surroundings evolve. 
Elements of a setting may make a positive or negative contribution to 
the significance of an asset, may affect the ability to appreciate that 
significance or may be neutral’. The assessment also notes that; 
Change is only considered harmful if it erodes an asset’s significance. 

  But then interestingly notes that; “The majority of the listed buildings 
in the search area are well screened from the study site by existing 
development and/or topography and are not considered sensitive to 
the proposed development”. This conclusion is reached despite earlier 
noting that visibility alone does not define setting.  

 
5.7.6 It is therefore important to consider all of these comments including the 

Conservation officer comments from CBC and DCC and to reach a 
conclusion on the impacts.  

 
5.7.7 As set out in the LVIA the site is relatively well contained within the 

landscape and the Dunston Road ridgeline is an essential factor in 
considering the wider landscape character. It is considered that the 
buffers to be created within the site of wider areas of planting will 
minimise the impacts of the development upon the adjacent heritage 
assets that can be viewed from the site. However, all assets will 
experience change within their more immediate or wider landscape 
setting from a rural environment to the edge of settlement. This change 
whilst mitigated with landscape buffers will nevertheless impact on their 
setting. Whilst this is harm it is considered to be low level harm on the 
scale of less than substantial harm. In line with para 202 of the NPPF 
it is considered that the wide ranging benefits arising from the 
development easily outweigh that harm. Therefore, whilst not all 
elements of the Heritage Assessment are agreed upon, the conclusion 
that the development will result in acceptable impacts is considered to 
be appropriate. On this basis the proposal is considered to meet the 
requirements of policy CLP21 and Part 16 of the NPPF, in particular 
para 202.  

 
Archaeology  
 
5.7.8 The Heritage Assessment and supporting documents include 

consideration of below ground archaeology including map regression, 

Page 87



58 
 

consideration of the HER and Geophysical Surveying; with the 
assessment concluding: 

 The available archaeological evidence, both within and adjacent to the 
study site, suggests that it has a low potential for below ground 
archaeological remains relating to all periods and that much of that 
potential will have been removed by widespread opencast mining 
across the study site. Based on current evidence no heritage or 
archaeological constraints have been identified that would preclude or 
constrain development of the study site. It is considered that any further 
investigation of the archaeological potential of the site could be 
secured by an appropriately worded condition attached to any grant of 
planning permission.  

 
5.7.9 The DCC Archaeologist has considered the initial and updated 

information in regard to archaeology commenting that; 
 Previous discussion highlighted the fact that the land in question had 

been heavily impacted by mining in the mid 20th century, and that the 
main issues here would be the impact on setting of the listed buildings 
on the margins of the site.   

 
 The current application includes a Heritage Statement which considers 

the impact of the current proposals on the setting and significance of 
these buildings/building complexes. I would recommend that your 
Conservation Officer reviews this information and advises further on 
this element of the scheme. The Heritage Statement includes the 
results of an archaeological geophysical survey. This has focused on 
land within the scheme which was judged to have been least impacted 
by past mining activities. It was not possible to sample the entire area 
for which this is the case however, as some land was under cultivation. 
The geophysical survey results indicated evidence of possible 
industrial structures such as kilns or furnaces in the western area of 
the site, along linear anomalies that may reflect associated building 
foundations. Evidence for extraction of coal or iron stone was also 
identified, along with linear anomalies which may reflect former field 
boundaries. The Heritage Statement also identifies a series of 
important hedgerows within, and bounding, the site which would be 
deemed ‘important’ under the 1997 hedgerow regulations. (Highlighted 
in green below).   

Page 88



59 
 

    
 
 We would recommend therefore that these hedgerows be retained in 

any overall landscaping/layout plan for the scheme. We would 
recommend that the geophysical anomalies identified in the survey be 
sampled by means of trial trenching under a pre-start condition.  

 
5.7.10 Following these comments the applicant submitted an updated 

geophysical survey on the park of the site not known to be affected by 
past mining activity. “The additional geophysics has identified 
essentially more of the same types of evidence: fairly sparse scatters 
of possible archaeological targets, two foci of ‘burnt’ activity which 
could be the locations of kilns or furnaces, and other areas which 
appear to be associated with coal mining disturbance. 

 
None of this resource would constitute an objection to development, 
though there may be locally/regionally important archaeology present 
if the geophysical results turn out to be e.g. prehistoric or the ‘burnt’ 
areas represent well-preserved kilns. 

Page 89



60 
 

 
Should the proposals gain consent there is consequently a 
requirement under NPPF para 204 for a programme of archaeological 
work in mitigation of the development impact, to be secured by 
condition and carried out before commencement of the development. 
This is in line with the previous recommendation the condition wording 
should supersede that previously recommended.  

 
5.7.11 Subsequent comments on additional information also note that; “The 

Heritage Statement also identifies a series of important hedgerows 
within and bounding the site which would be deemed ‘important’ under 
the 1997 hedgerow regulations.  This is on the basis that they are part 
of a field pattern pre-dating land enclosure, which in this area occurred 
after 1839.  It would therefore be beneficial for these hedgerows to be 
retained in any overall landscaping/layout plan for the scheme. 

 
The applicant has provided some additional information in relation to 
hedgerows within the site, although these have not been assessed 
against the criteria for historic/archaeological ‘importance’. I have 
therefore considered the additional hedgerows (as per ‘Hedgerows 
and Trees Additional Info’) against the criteria for 
historic/archaeological ‘importance’ at Schedule 1 Part II of the 
Hedgerow Regulations (1997) as amended and interpreted by judicial 
review (1998). 

 
Hedgerow H14 is historically ‘important’. It is shown on the same 
course on Sanderson’s Map of 1835, and appears to have remained 
relatively unaltered since. It therefore meets criterion 5a of Schedule 1 
Part II (‘pre-dating the Enclosure Acts’ is taken to mean pre-1845 by 
Judicial Review of the 1997 Regulations).  

 
Hedgerows H15-17 are not historically ‘important’. Although 
hedgerows are shown on the approximate alignments on Sanderson’s 
Map and subsequent 19th century Ordnance Survey mapping it is clear 
that these hedgerows have been substantially straightened during the 
20th century, perhaps as part of opencast restoration.” 
The maps of the hedgerows:  

Page 90



61 
 

 
 
5.7.12 These hedgerows can all be retained in line with the masterplan and 

will be considered in more detail at the reserved matters stage and are 
noted in the biodiversity section of the report below. It is therefore 
considered that matters heritage maters in terms of archaeology and 
heritage have been sufficiently considered and subject to the 
recommended condition meet the requirements of policy CLP21 and 
Part 16 of the NPPF.  

 
5.8 Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
5.8.1  Policy CLP14 requires that: All developments will be required to have 

an acceptable impact on the amenity of users and adjoining occupiers, 
taking into account noise and disturbance, dust, odour, air quality, 
traffic, outlook, overlooking, shading (daylight and sunlight and glare) 
and other environmental impacts.  

 
5.8.2 The masterplan shows indicatively the areas where the proposed 

housing will be in close proximity to the existing housing and therefore 
where the likely impacts will need to be carefully considered in terms 
of the proximity and amenity impacts such as overlooking and 
overshadowing. It is only the existing housing on Cordwell Avenue and 
the new housing within the Skylarks development that will be impacted 

Important hedgerow to be 
retained

Not important hedgerow to be 
retained 

Page 91



62 
 

in immediate terms by the proximity of new housing as demonstrated 
on the image below:  

  
  
5.8.3 However, the layout clearly shows space for a landscape buffer 

between the proposed and existing housing to ensure the amenity 
impacts are appropriate. Whilst this is shown indicatively, the detail of 
relationship between housing would be considered under the reserved 
matters application but could be accommodated without unacceptable 
impacts.  

 
5.8.4 A development of this scale will result in noise and nuisance from the 

construction works which are likely to be undertaken for a number of 
years. To minimise the inevitable impacts a condition is recommended 
for a construction management plan to be submitted to include matters 
such as dust suppression, hours of operation and details of any piled 
foundation equipment etc. This is considered to be sufficient to address 
amenity impacts from the construction works. 

 
5.8.5 In terms of amenity CPRE Derbyshire have noted: 
 No measures have been proposed to explain how amenity impacts 

would be managed and that no information has been submitted about 
how safer neighbourhoods will be achieved.  

Existing housing at 
Skylarks and Cordwell 
Avenue that is more 
immediately impacted by 
the development. 

Page 92



63 
 

 In response, it should be noted that at this stage the consideration of 
safer neighbourhoods is difficult to determine as such matters as 
natural surveillance and details of access via footpaths and cycle 
routes are considered as part of the detailed layout of the development 
and design of homes with consultation with the Derbyshire 
Constabulary Designing Out Crime Officer. When the Reserved 
Matters are considered, issues regarding safety and crime will then be 
assessed. 

 
5.8.6 Concern has also been raised by residents that construction traffic will 

utilise the main road through the existing Skylarks estate to the 
detriment of existing residents. It is therefore considered that the 
phasing also needs to consider construction access so that at the 
earliest feasible point the access through the Skylarks site is no longer 
used for construction vehicles.  

 
5.8.7 Numerous comments have raised noting concern that the development 

will result in pollution and poor air quality. The site is not within an 
AQMA and no concerns in this regard have been raised by the 
Council’s Environmental Health team. The submitted Air Quality 
Assessment concludes that ‘the development is not predicted to result 
in any exceedances of the relevant air quality objectives and that the 
impact of the development on local air quality was predicted to be 
negligible in accordance with relevant guidance’. Therefore, potential 
impacts on air quality are considered to be minimal and would not 
warrant refusal of planning permission. EV charging would be required 
under the updated Building Regulations and over time will improve air 
quality from traffic in the Borough.  

 
5.8.8 The submitted noise assessment notes that the impact of noise from 

Dunston Road to the future dwellings can be mitigated with appropriate 
glazing and ventilation where these will front Dunston Road. This would 
be considered further under the reserved matters applications but does 
not result in a barrier to the development of the site.  

 
5.8.9 So far as can be considered under this outline application with an 

indicative masterplan the impact of the development on the amenity of 
neighbouring residents has been appropriately assessed with 
conditions recommended to minimise impacts from construction works.  
On this basis the proposal meets the requirements of Policy CLP14 of 
the Adopted Local Plan.  

 
5.9 Highways Safety and Parking Provision 

Page 93



64 
 

 
5.9.1  Substantial concerns have been raised regarding the increased traffic 

from the development and the impact this will have upon highway 
safety.  

 
5.9.2 Policy CLP22 requires that: Development proposals will not be 

permitted where they would have an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would 
be severe. In terms of parking the policy goes on to note that; The level 
of vehicle and cycle parking provision appropriate to any individual 
proposal will take into account the circumstances of the particular 
scheme, including in particular: 
i. The size of any dwellings proposed. 
ii. The type, mix and use of the development. 
iii. The proximity of facilities such as schools, shops or employment 
iv. The availability of and capacity for safe on-street and public car 
parking in the area. 
v. Proximity to and availability of public transport and other sustainable 
transport options. 
vi. The likelihood that any existing on-street parking problems in terms 
of highway safety, congestion, pedestrian and cyclist accessibility and 
amenity will be made worse. 
vii. Local car ownership levels. 

 
5.9.3 The application is Outline only but includes consideration of access at 

the outline stage. Therefore, access to the development is to be 
considered at this stage. This consists of an access from Dunston 
Road and the continuation of the main route through the Skylarks 
Estate to the site. There will be a further access created to serve the 
Cricket Club area.  

 
5.9.4 Following discussion between the highway agent and the Highway 

Authority over a number of months the case as now proposed is as 
follows: 
The access from Dunston Road into the main part of the site will result 
in the road widening at the access point to secure a central turning 
lane. Dunston Road is shown to have a 2 x 3m wide passing through 
lanes and a 3.25m wide turning lane where vehicles can wait to turn 
into the site, there is a proposed central refuge to protect turners into 
the site. There will be 2.4 x 137.2m visibility towards Cutthorpe and 2.4 
x 108.3m towards Sheepbridge. The access road leading into the site 
would have a width of 6.75m with a 10m junction radii to allow for a bus 
route for future proofing the site and development. There would be a 

Page 94



65 
 

shared path of 3m width to one side of the access and 2m to the 
opposite side, to allow for walkers and cyclists. Through the 
discussions the access point has been relocated 2.3m to the south 
west (Cutthorpe Direction) from the original submission. The proposed 
access is set out on plan: DGC2-BWB-GEN-XX-DR-TR-101 Revision 
P7. This can be seen in the image below:  

 
 

There will be a new Cricket Pitch access as set out in the original 
Transport Statement:  

 
 
 The road into the adjacent Skylarks estate will be extended:  
 

Page 95



66 
 

 
5.9.5 A Transport addendum was submitted to address some of the issues 

raised by the Highway Authority:  
DCC queried the capacity of the Dunston Road/Lane junction which 
was to be upgraded to signal control as a result of the first phase 
(existing built elements of Skylarks development) of the development, 
will this still operate within in the capacity of the phase 2 (this 
application) development proposals. The assessment confirms that the 
junction would operate within capacity which should be acceptable to 
DCC.  

 
Following further discussion the Highway Authority have confirmed that 
they will not be reviewing the speed limit on Dunston Road and that 
this would not be necessary for the development proposal to be 
acceptable.  
To encourage bus travel the bus stop on Cordwell Avenue would be 
upgraded.   
Whilst some properties would be over 400m away from the bus stop it 
is nevertheless considered to be a reasonable distance to most of the 
properties within the development to access public transport until a 
route becomes available through the site. Whilst there is no bus route 
through the site immediately proposed by the private bus providers, the 
scheme is future proofed to allow for this.  

 
5.9.6 The siting of the access will result in three trees being removed and a 

section of hedge to accommodate the access and the visibility. (This is 
considered in more detail in the Biodiversity and Trees section of the 
report below).  

 
5.9.7 Dunston Road is a rural road that is subject to a 50mph speed limit. 

Substantial concern has been raised by residents and other groups 
regarding the access and the perceived danger in terms of highway 
safety resulting from the creation of an access to serve a large 
development emerging onto this rural road.  

Page 96



67 
 

 
5.9.8  CPRE Derbyshire have noted in part that:  
 The surrounding road network is often narrow and winding and an 

increase of a further 500 homes will cause unsustainable pressure on 
existing roads. Of particular concern is raised in regard to highways 
and traffic issues. Reference is made to traffic calming measures but 
no further details are provided. We would like to draw particular 
attention to the surrounding road network. Dunston Road is subject of 
7.5 tonne weight restriction and 50mph speed restriction, however this 
narrow road is frequented by HGV’s. There is no pedestrian footway 
on this road, and it has been subject of many road traffic collisions. 
Although there have, fortunately, been no fatalities so far, it should not 
take fatalities occurring before something is done. This proposed 
development will see a significant increase in traffic using Dunston 
Road, far and above the numbers quoted in the planning statement 
and the road simply is not wide enough to cope, especially due to its 
winding nature. Furthermore, the village of Cutthorpe will undoubtedly 
see a further increase in traffic levels and this village already 
experiences issues by virtue of being a rat-run through to the Peak 
District National Park. Due to the character of the area, roads are often 
used by large and slow-moving agricultural vehicles. Alongside this, 
the area is enjoyed by cyclists, joggers, walking groups and horse 
riders. The development will have a knock-on effect, particularly for 
pedestrians for whom no consideration has been given in this 
application. 

 
5.9.9 The Dunston Action Group have raised the following concerns:  

Dunston Road (B6050) connects Sheffield Road to Newbold Road, 
takes traffic from the Dronfield bypass (A61), the east of Chesterfield, 
the Sheepbridge Industrial Estate and is a major route to the Peak 
District. The stretch of the road near the proposed Dunston Grange 
Extension hosts multiple commercial office units, active agricultural 
fields, a new wedding venue, a busy garden centre with café, farm 
shop, an equestrian centre as well as housing. Along the stretch from 
the entrance to the Strata estate until just before the residences leading 
to the junction with Newbold Road it has a 50 MPH speed limit. This 
speed limit was reduced from 60 MPH presumably in response to road 
safety concerns. 
The road is very narrow in places, is subject to inclines, blind bends, a 
blind summit and a sweeping junction onto Dunston Road from 
Newbold Road which provides an excellent opportunity to enter 
Dunston Road at speed. 

Page 97



68 
 

It is noted in DCC documents that Dunston Road is a rural road which 
is a fast road with very few places even for a pedestrian to stand. 
Additional traffic from the proposed Dunston Grange Extension would 
filter into Newbold, Cutthorpe and Barlow or travelling east would filter 
through Dunston, creating significant road safety, pollution and 
congestion issues for these small villages. 
In addition to the planned 500 house development, local centre, school 
and cricket pitch complex, in the immediate area there is also a 
significant potential cumulative effect of traffic from developments 
underway and planned in the locality, including Peak Resort, the Strata 
development, Dunston Hall etc. 
The Dunston Grange Action Group completed a manual traffic vehicle 
movement count. The count was undertaken between 7 a.m. through 
to 7 p.m. 12th to the 15th May 2022, including week days and weekends.  
The group compared their survey data with that taken by ATC 
pneumatic tube counting. The surveys do not capture vehicles 
accessing the Strata Estate, Dunston Hall Wedding venue or the 
garden centre and café, as there is no safe place to stand. 
Whilst closely comparable to the BWB survey, DGAG have not 
captured traffic in a westbound direction which means that the figures 
may be low compared to the BWB 2019 figures. 
The only traffic volume study that captures traffic from the east and 
travelling to the garden centre was undertaken by BWB in 2016 which 
is now irrelevant as it is old data and does not capture additional traffic 
volumes from recent development. As neither survey capture traffic 
travelling from the east these cannot be used to model current or future 
traffic volumes on Dunston Rd as it’s only part of the picture. 
An up to date and accurate picture of current traffic levels on Dunston 
Road is essential to estimate the effect of the proposed Dunston 
Grange Extension on Dunston Road and the wider highways network.  
This should be undertaken independently.  
Another 500 houses has the potential to add a further 1000 residents’ 
cars on this busy road, plus related service and delivery vehicles etc. 
It also must be noted that the full effect of the current Skylarks 
development has not yet been felt as the development is still under 
construction. 
We are very concerned that the plans for the Dunston Grange 
Extension do not address issues around pedestrian and child road 
safety. The development poses a significant road safety risk to local 
children given the number of education establishments in the locale. 
Barlow Primary and Cutthorpe Primary are situated on fast twisting 
country roads and would be negatively impacted by unnecessary 
additional traffic. 

Page 98



69 
 

 
The Dunston Estate suffers from use as ‘rat runs’ by traffic from the 
Skylarks Estate which is under construction by William Davis, this will 
be worsened.  
The safety of children living on the Dunston estate would be seriously 
compromised due to the significant increased traffic.   
The public footpath that would cut through the proposed estate exits 
directly onto the 50 MPH stretch of Dunston Road which is absent of 
footway. There is no room for a footway provision on this and other 
stretches of Dunston Road. It should also be noted that on the site 
illustration childrens’ play parks are close to this public footpath which 
raises concerns for both pedestrians and drivers whose attention may 
be diverted by stray footballs etc. 
There are great concerns that a pedestrian link to Cutthorpe cricket 
club is not possible due to the dangerous nature of the section of 
Dunston Road.  
In the Personal Injury section of the July 21 Transport Assessment 
states ‘In summary a total of seven PICs have been recorded within 
said study area between 2016 and2020, of these three were classified 
as slight and four as serious’. Sadly, in August there was a serious 
motorcycle collision close to the proposed housing access site. 
Subsequently, Dunston Road was closed both directions for a number 
of hours. Documents note it is not safe to stand on Dunston Road to 
carry out speed surveys.  
A recent planning application for Dunston Hole Farm was approved on 
the condition that the development remained private and ancillary with 
DCC highways rationale noting ‘Dunston Road is a busy main road and 
it is considered that sub-letting, subdivision or selling off may result in 
an increased number of vehicle movements onto this road to the 
detriment of highway safety.’ Therefore, it should follow that the 
application to build another 500 houses, a primary school and local 
centre, with the access on the same stretch of road as Dunston Hole 
Farm, is refused on the grounds that it would result in an increased 
number of vehicle movements onto this road to the detriment of 
highway safety. 
The location for the revised access reserved for the cricket pitch 
complex from Dunston Road we believe has dangerous issues due to 
the vertical alignment of the road and a blind bend. Could it be 
confirmed whether to reduce the speed limit down from 50MPH.   
Due to oversights in the design of the access we have no confidence 
in the quality or accuracy of the whole suite of BWB’s transport 
assessments and related technical documents commissioned by 
William Davis. 

Page 99



70 
 

We note the developer’s Travel plan. This is a tick box exercise. What 
happens if a travel plan does not work – then what??  
The developer admits that a proportion of residents on the estate would 
have to walk more than twice the recommended 400m to a bus stop. 
Why is the bus provision unknown? 
We would reiterate the Chesterfield Cycle Campaign objections: ‘there 
are no connections to the existing cycle network outside of the 
development’.  
Crucially, prediction of pollution levels caused by traffic emissions are 
modelled on estimation of additional traffic.  What about cumulative 
planned developments?  Pollution estimates should be remodelled 
based on accurate, complete and up to date data.  
Despite the difficulties of standing on the road a manual speed survey 
was undertaken, what is the accuracy of this given the safety 
difficulties? The survey was a snapshot only, as taken on one day 
within 2 hours.  
The 2016 survey details do not show the maximum, and therefore most 
dangerous, speeds done by any vehicle; 121 vehicles exceeded 56 
MPH. Travelling NE vehicles exceeded 56 MPH limit 647 times, actual 
speeds unknown. In the 2019 speed survey the maximum recorded 
speed in the 50 MPH limit, was 89.2 MPH.  
To rely on ATC and radar speed merely because they are similar is 
completely unscientific. The speed survey is therefore invalid. 
A new traffic volume and speed survey must be undertaken specifically 
in relation to the proposed cricket pitch complex entrance. 
Traffic generated by the cricket pitch has been excluded as they would 
not typically generate trips during the weekday peak. However, 
weekend traffic is heavy and any increase at weekends should be 
taken into account.  
BWB are erring on the low side to estimate likely trip rates and 
therefore the picture of traffic volumes and impact of the development 
could well be greater than modelled, reference responses from DCC 
Highways.  
Even with the probable underestimation of traffic trips, it is estimated 
that the site will generate weekday AM peak of an additional new trip 
every 10 seconds.  
Trip rates should be re-examined.  
The Newbold Road/Sheffield Road mini roundabout was already 
overcapacity in 2019, prior to developments now approved.  
EV charging points have not been installed in the new dwellings. What 
guarantees do we have that they will be installed in all dwellings and 
at the local centre?  

Page 100



71 
 

Multiple queries about the trip data and traffic growth rates, survey 
information.   
 
Query what studies DCC Highways have undertaken themselves in 
addition to reviewing BWB’s documents and providing subsequent 
advice. 

 
5.9.10 DGAG also submitted detailed comments on the Traffic Model raising 

again concerns in regard to cumulative impacts of development and 
traffic forecasting. Dispute use of the studies as an effective 
mechanism to identify traffic issues caused by another huge 
development such as the Dunston Grange Extension on Dunston Road 
and the nearby road network.  

 
5.9.11 The highway agent has responded to the DGAG in detail, the Highway 

Authority have also responded noting that:  
 The Highway Authority considers that a Technical response Note that 

BWB has produced has addressed most of the points raised by the 
Dunston Grange Action Group. Whilst some of the more subjective 
aspects of the transportation assessment, in particular observations 
and assumptions underpinning it, can be debated. However ultimately, 
in order to support an objection to the proposals on highway grounds, 
the Highway Authority would need to satisfy the Planning Inspectorate 
that ‘Development should only be prevented or refused on highways 
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, 
or the cumulative residual impacts on the road network would be 
severe’. The Highway Authority has considered all the supporting 
traffic and transport information submitted in respect of the proposals. 
It should be understood that, as a generality, the Highway Authority 
does not always necessarily “agree” with the content of a Transport 
Assessment in its entirety or, inevitably, concur with every detail 
contained in it. However, providing it is considered that the conclusion 
is sound, then it is not regarded as reasonable or warranted to require 
the applicant to devote resources to amending detail which would not 
lead to any material variation to its conclusion. Consequently, and 
having considered the evidence provided in the Applicant’s 
transportation assessment together with the technical note and other 
supporting documentation, the County Council is not satisfied that 
there is sufficient basis upon which to warrant a refusal of this 
application on highways grounds.  

 
5.9.12 Therefore, whilst the DGAG have a series of questions and queries 

regarding very technical and specific elements of the reporting 

Page 101



72 
 

process, the Highway Authority whilst not agreeing every point of detail 
do consider that the access proposed for the development proposed is 
acceptable and do not consider it is necessary to go through all of the 
many points raised.   

 
5.9.13 The manual speed survey which was required by the Highway 

Authority to be undertaken to support the earlier automated data. As 
the result of the later survey largely matched the automated speed 
survey data from 2016 that the average speed on this road as in the 
region of 42.5mph this is considered to be largely accurate data upon 
which to base the design of the access. There will always be upper and 
lower limits to the speed as pointed out by DGAG but the average 
speed remained stable and is therefore considered to be a reasonable 
approach to consideration of the access. The visibility splays to be 
provided at the access are based on these findings.  

 
5.9.14 The access points are considered to be acceptable to the Highway 

Authority who have based on the amended details advised they have 
no objection subject to conditions which are included in the 
recommendation. In addition to conditions the Highway Authority also 
make requests for a number of matters to be secured via S106:  
• Travel Plan Monitoring fee of £11,165.00 
• Travel Bond fee of £413,952.00 
• Upgrade of bus stops on Cordwell Avenue (Costings to be 
confirmed by the Highway Authority)  

 
5.9.14 Whilst the internal road layout is detailed on the masterplan this is 

indicative and final details will be submitted as part of the reserved 
matters. The masterplan and Design and Access Statement shows a 
street hierarchy design with the main route through the site, known as 
the primary street having a 2m verge to enable it being tree lined as 
required by NPPF para 131: 

Page 102



73 
 

 
 
5.9.15 The primary street will also have 6.75 m width to enable bus provision 

with 2m and 3m footpaths and pedestrian/cycle routes which will be 
given priority.  

 

 
5.9.16 A secondary street type will have 5.5m width and 2m footpath.  
 

 

Page 103



74 
 

5.9.17 Lanes and edges will have 5m width and 2m footpath.  

 
 

With private drives then reducing to a 4.5m minimum width with 
adjacent footpath routes.  

 
5.9.18 Whilst the details are not being considered in this level of detail at this 

stage it is anticipated that the reserved matters scheme and required 
development framework will follow these principles established in the 
Design and Access Statement. These details are considered to be an 
appropriate approach to the development. Where tree lined streets are 
not proposed, it is clear that the extent of open space on the site is 
aimed to act as a tree lined area adjacent to the streets to ensure green 
links within the site.  

 
5.9.19 CBC Leisure Services have commented that they would like to see 

further clarification on then number and types of species for street 
trees. Street trees are significant in terms of visual amenity but have 
value for local ecosystems. Along with further detail on the number of 
replacement trees to reflect any loss as a result of felling trees on site.
  

5.9.20 Details of the street tree design and species along with the landscaping 
of the site will form part of the reserved matters and is not being 
considered at this stage. However, the layout is intended to seek to 
retain hedgerows and trees where possible. The green links suitably 
relate to existing features.   

 
5.9.21 Over all the approach to the highway design is considered to be 

appropriate and in line with policy CLP22.  
 
Link to Cutthorpe  
 
5.9.22 One aspect of the scheme which has not been resolved is the ability to 

provide a walking route into Cutthorpe. This is ideally required to 
enable those who live in Cutthorpe to be able to access facilities on 
site, particularly the Cricket Club. The possibility of a pedestrian access 

Page 104



75 
 

route into the site has been considered in detail and cannot be 
achieved in a safe manner.   

 
5.9.23 The masterplan indicates a route through the community orchard to the 

edge of Dunston Road. For all of the safety reasons given above it is 
not suitable to encourage pedestrian access onto Dunston Road due 
to the lack of footpath, visibility as a result of road levels and vehicle 
speeds.  

   
 Therefore, whilst a circuitous route around the Orchard would be 

appropriate as an incidental walking route it is not acceptable for this 
to link towards the highway.  

 
5.9.24 The applicant’s agent has noted that there is an informal route through 

the fields from Newbold Road which appears to be in regular use, 
however this is not the alignment of the public right of way and such 
unauthorised access over private third-party land cannot be 
encouraged. Therefore, the lack of a link into Cutthorpe is a negative 
of the scheme. However, considering the public benefits arising from 
the provision of a substantial housing scheme this negative is not 
considered to be of such weight that a refusal of planning permission 
would be warranted.  

 
Active travel/connectivity  
 
5.9.25 The sustainability and climate aims of the local plan are to ensure sites 

are connected for walking and cycling in order to minimise the need to 
travel by car. It is already noted that the development cannot be 
connected into Cutthorpe in a safe manner. There is a public footpath 
on the site which leads from the edge of Dunston Road to Newbold 
Road – this footpath is to remain albeit upgraded as part of the 
development. Concern has been noted that this path leads out onto 

Page 105



76 
 

Dunston Road, this is already the case and as a public right of way 
there is no intention to change this as part of the development.  

 
5.9.26 Concern has been raised that the development of the site will result in 

the loss of walking routes through the site. However, other than the 
public footpath route there is no public right to access the site or across 
any of the fields, although it is known that these are used by local 
residents. The proposed development includes a range of walking and 
cycling routes through the site and linking into adjacent areas which 
will be for the benefit of all residents including existing residents living 
near to the site. Therefore, connectivity and walking routes will be 
improved.  

 
5.9.27 In terms of the connections from the site, the public right of way 

remains and there is to be additional connectivity from the existing 
Skylarks development and from the site to Baines Wood Close and 
from the site southwards to the end of Kirkstone Road via Council 
controlled land. These connections have been costed and together will 
be in the region of £111,650.00 including a 10% contingency. This will 
be secured via a S106 agreement with the option of the developer 
providing the works directly.  

 
5.9.28 Other connections to the south of the site are indicated on the 

masterplan however, these do not connect to public rights of way but 
on to third party private land part of which is also a local wildlife site, 
where public access should not be encouraged. Therefore, only the 
connections into the existing Dunston Estate via Baines Wood Close 
and Kirkstone Road are proposed. This provides walkable access to 
public transport routes should a route not come forward through the 
development.  

 
5.9.29  The Ramblers Association have commented that: 

We can see no reason why Chesterfield FP 58 should be adversely 
affected. As a consequence we have no formal objection to make 
providing the character of footpath and its immediate surroundings are 
retained as indicated by the drawings provided.   
However, the development will irreversibly destroy a substantial green 
space in a particularly aesthetic area of the town; this is to be regretted 
when alternative sites could probably be identified and utilised. We 
note that the character of Footpath 58 is to be retained as a green 
corridor through the development.  We believe that this will encourage 
its use as a means to adopting a healthy life style. We note from the 
proposal that access to the RoW, (Right of Way) Footpath 58, from the 

Page 106



77 
 

housing areas is to be created as part of the potential pedestrian/cycle 
links.  Footpath 58 terminates at its southern end on Newbold 
Road.  This is immediately opposite Water Meadow Lane which gives 
excellent access to Holmebrook Valley Park and the wider footpath 
network around the town. At the northern end, Footpath 58 terminates 
on to Dunston Road; this is a known fast road and cut through from 
Whittington Moor.  We would request that every effort is made to 
ensure the safety of cyclist emerging on to this road from the proposed 
network of cycle ways on the site, i.e. suitable barriers. 

  
5.9.30 These comments are noted and when the upgrading of the footpath is 

considered under the phased reserved matters this element will be 
considered in more detail. However, such scrutiny is not required at the 
outline stage.  

 
5.9.31 Comments have been made that the informal routes through the site 

have been used for Hacking as they are a good link into Holmebrook 
Valley Park. Given the need to protect biodiversity and land ownership 
issues, it is not possible to find a suitable route for horses other than 
along the public footpath, again at the reserved matters stage the 
upgrading of the public footpath will be considered, whether or not this 
can include access for horses is therefore unknown at this stage.  

 
5.9.32 The Chesterfield Cycle Campaign, object as follows: 

The development proposes shared paths within the development but 
there are no connections to the existing cycle network outside the 
development. The principle for connecting developments to the 
existing network is enshrined in the local plan so currently this 
application does not comply with the local plan. The connections 
should be to: 
1. Newbold Road opposite the entrance to the Holmebrook Valley Park 
allowing cycle journeys to town centre along the Holmebrook Valley 
Trail.  
2. A connection along the B6050 or in parallel towards Dunston to meet 
with an existing shared path which will provide a route towards the 
major employment area of Sheepbridge.  

 
5.9.33 In response, the link to Sheepbridge is already provided on the east 

side of Dunston Lane, this connects into the front of the Skylarks site, 
the proposed extension will link into the Skylarks site and therefore the 
eastern connection is provided. This route forms part of the proposed 
cycle network as defined in the local plan. It is difficult to enhance the 
public footpath route south through the site as a cycle route along the 

Page 107



78 
 

whole length given third party landowners and biodiversity restrictions. 
However, cycle routes through the site will be provided and will connect 
in as set out above to Kirkstone Road and Baines Wood Close. Future 
cycle networks can be considered under CIL although this is not part 
of the strategic or local network as set out in the local plan.   

 
5.9.34 In conclusion on highway matters, whilst concerns have been raised 

and substantial queries of the technical assessments made, the 
Highway Authority have confirmed that the access points proposed are 
acceptable and that there will be no change to the speed limit on 
Dunston Road. The site will be connected into the adjacent estate via 
new footpath and cycle links and bus stops on Cordwell Avenue will be 
upgraded. The existing public footpath route through the site will be 
upgraded with details to be agreed through reserved matters, whether 
this can include cycle and horse access will be considered at the 
reserved matters stage. The recommended matters will be secured via 
S106 and conditions relating to access are recommended in line with 
highway authority advice. The proposal is therefore considered to meet 
the requirements of policy CLP22.  

 
5.10 Biodiversity, impact on protected species, enhancement and 

Trees 
 
5.10.1 Policy CLP16 requires that; The council will expect development 

proposals to: 
 protect, enhance and contribute to the management of the 
borough’s ecological network of habitats, protected and priority 
species and sites of international, national and local importance 
(statutory and non-statutory), including sites that meet the criteria for 
selection as a local wildlife site or priority habitat; and 
 avoid or minimise adverse impacts on biodiversity and 
geodiversity; and 
 provide a net measurable gain in biodiversity. 

 
5.10.2 Policy CLP16 goes on to note that: Development proposals resulting 

in the loss or deterioration (including fragmentation) of irreplaceable 
habitats (such as ancient woodland and ancient or veteran trees) will 
be refused, unless there are wholly exceptional reasons and the need 
for,  and public benefits of, the development in that location 
demonstrably  outweigh the loss or harm, and a suitable 
compensation/off-setting  strategy has been secured with planning 
conditions or obligations. 

 

Page 108



79 
 

Trees 
 
5.10.3  Based on the originally submitted scheme the Council’s Tree Officer 

advised that:   
 

“A decision on the application is delayed due to the negative impacts 
for the Dunston Road access and lack of detail and information. Further 
investigations should be carried out and alternative options explored 
for the access before a decision is made on the application. T2 & T3 
Oak are retained in the design of the new access road off Dunston 
Road and other solutions investigated.  
 
As advised by DWT, all stand-offs/buffers (m) should be specified 
along all features of value, including Ochre Dyke (from the bank top), 
retained hedgerows and retained woodland/dense scrub. 
 
 • A Tree Preservation Order is proposed to protect Category A & B 
trees which are to be retained. 
 
 • Exclude the grassland/scrub/woodland mosaic to the west of the 
arable fields and wooded corridor from development to retain valuable 
habitat for all wildlife and avoid the requirement to sever the north-
south woodland corridor. 
 
 • Affected hedgerows not included on the Hedgerow survey map 
should be included and all hedgerows assessed fully under the 
Hedgerow Regulations 1997.  
 
• The far western area of the site detailed in the tree survey, which is 
currently worked as arable land should be updated so as to be 
accurately reflected in the Concept Masterplan. Ochre Dyke should 
also be made explicitly clear on the Concept Masterplan and Tree 
Constraints Plan where it lies and whether it is within the site boundary.  
 
• Street types should include street tree planting as advocated in the 
current NPPF (July 2021).  
 
• The proposed orchard is extended to provide fruit and nut tree 
planting around the whole site where open spaces and footpaths are 
to be provided to provide food, interest, wildlife benefits and allow 
people to explore and use as an educational resource.  
 

Page 109



80 
 

• Existing hedgerows are not incorporated as property boundaries as 
these could be removed by the occupant in the future and replaced by 
fencing which would reduce the environmental benefits hedgerows 
have and the linear wildlife corridors they provide. 
 
 • Existing hedgerows are retained in any overall landscaping/layout 
plan for the scheme and where possible any impact for roadways and 
access reduced and where no alternatives are possible, in mitigation 
hedgerows improved in areas where they are in a poor condition or 
have gaps.” 
 

5.10.4 In response additional information and amendments to the masterplan 
were provided. To which the tree officer has noted:  
 
“The following documents have been submitted in support of the 
application in response to the feedback from consultees: 
 
• Additional Information: Hedgerow & Trees dated 25th April 2022 
• Dunston Masterplan P19-2720_025 Rev E 
• Illustrative Landscape Masterplan P19-2720-13C 
• Design and Access Statement Version 2 P19-2720-201A July 2022 
 
Point 1 Dunston Road Access: 
 
The proposed works are shown on the revised access layout DGC2-
BWB-GEN-XX-DR-TR-101 Revision P7 and the access location point 
is shown on the Masterplan P19-2720_025 Rev E. Category B trees 
T2 & T3 Oak were previously shown as removed to facilitate the new 
access off Dunston Road. The trees are now shown on the revised 
masterplan drawing and shown as retained in the land use drawing on 
page 32 within the Design and Access Statement Version 2 P19-2720-
201A.  
 
Point 2 Stand offs/Buffer zones: 
 
Stand-offs/buffer zones are now shown on the Landscape masterplan 
along all features of value, including Ochre Dyke, retained hedgerows 
and retained woodland/dense scrub. Buffer zones should therefore be 
attached as a condition for the reserved matters and influence the final 
design layout.  
 
Points 3, 4, 5, 8 & 9 Hedgerows, ‘Ochre Dyke’ and trees: 
 

Page 110



81 
 

Additional Hedgerow and tree information has now been provided by 
Baker Consultants dated 25th April 2022 and includes trees and 
hedgerows missed from the original arboricultural survey and impact 
assessment undertaken in 2021.  
 
An ‘Important Hedgerow’ survey of the four additional hedgerows, 
following criteria for determining important hedgerows under the 
Hedgerow Regulations 1997 has also been submitted. The four 
additional hedgerows and ‘Important’ hedgerow scores have been 
added to the Hedgerow Schedule at Appendix 1 reference H14, H15, 
H16 & H17 along with sixteen trees at Appendix 2 of the report. H14 
meets the criteria for an ‘Important’ hedgerow whilst H15, H16 & H17 
did not meet the ecological criteria. 3 category A trees and 12 category 
B were also identified in the area along ‘Ochre Dyke’ which runs along 
the southern boundary of the proposed development site which was 
not previously surveyed in full.   
 
Due to the existing constraints to the west and along ‘Ochre Dyke’, 
larger areas of public open space are now included at the development 
edges and the retention of the existing hedgerows is also proposed to 
create green corridors throughout the development as shown on the 
site layout masterplan drawing P19-2720_025 Sheet No: 01 Rev: E. 
The important buffer zones to the west and ‘Ochre Dyke’ are therefore 
welcomed and retain important hedgerows, trees, and habitats.   
Point 6 Street Trees: 
 
The proposed tree lined primary street with cycle lanes is welcomed 
and provides a green route through the development. A 2.0m verge is 
proposed to allow for consistent tree planting both sides of the street 
to create a green, visual feature through the development.  
 
Point 7 Orchard and fruit tree planting: 
 
An orchard is proposed in the landscape masterplan and addition fruit 
tree planting should be included in the final landscaping scheme 
drawing and schedule.  
 
Conclusion: 
 
In general, the revised details and masterplan provide a separation of 
the existing habitats to the west from the proposed development. The 
introduction of a tree lined, primary street, integrating a shared cycle/ 
footpath and the retention of trees and hedgerows is welcomed.  

Page 111



82 
 

 
The public open space strategy around the site in general retains the 
existing trees and hedgerows, where possible, using these existing 
features as the framework for the Masterplan, and the future character 
of the development site. 
 
Although all matters are reserved apart from access, future reserved 
matters applications should demonstrate how they have followed the 
principles identified within the Masterplan to retain the existing 
important habitat and landscape features on the site.  
 
I therefore have no objections to the application and if consent is 
granted to the proposals, conditions should be attached for the 
protection of the retained habitats, trees, and hedgerows.” 
 

5.10.5 To conclude consideration of the impacts on Trees and Hedgerows; 
whilst there will be impacts arising from the development these can be 
suitably mitigated with new planting. The access to the site from 
Dunston Road will lead to the loss of three Category B trees T5, 6 and 
7, the Tree Officer is satisfied with this and with the necessary 
Category B and lower tree removal for the Cricket pitch access. The 
new planting along the northern boundary of the site will include 
appropriate compensatory planting for these lost trees. The only 
Category A trees on site are located within areas to be retained for 
biodiversity and therefore the development when detailed should not 
impact on these trees. The amended Masterplan shows a layout which 
retains all important trees and hedgerows, this demonstrates that these 
important features can be retained through the detailed design stages. 

 
5.10.6 The recommendation includes consideration of a new TPO on the site 

relating to all Category A and B trees to be retained. The conditions 
recommended by the Tree Officer are included in the main 
recommendation below. The site has, in part, been used for agricultural 
crops which have minimised biodiversity in some areas of the site, 
therefore most important areas of habitat will be retained and 
enhanced as part of the development proposals. However, all details 
regarding the planting will be a reserved matter to be considered at a 
later detailed design stage.   

 
Biodiversity and ecology 
 
5.10.7 The application is accompanied by multiple studies and assessment of 

protected species and habitat, including; botanical surveys, hedgerow 

Page 112



83 
 

surveys, badger surveys, bat surveys. reptile surveys, Great Crested 
Newt eDNA surveys (nearby ponds) and breeding and wintering bird 
surveys. Evidence of multiple species; mainly birds and bats were 
present across the site, with the possibility of badgers being present in 
the wider area; making it important to ensure appropriate habitat for 
these species is retained. In order to consider the biodiversity and 
ecological matters pertaining to the site Derbyshire Wildlife Trust were 
consulted. The initial comment received in 2021 from DWT was a 
holding objection as a detailed BNG assessment was outstanding and 
required in order to assess net gains and losses resulting from the 
development.   

 
5.10.8 Following submission of the required information the Trust then went 

on to comment that:  
 

“The layout should be changed to leave the mosaic habitat to the west 
of the field and wooded corridor noting; Areas of highest biodiversity 
value are to the south west with the mosaic of grassland/scrub and 
woodland providing diverse habitat. 
 
The hedgerows on site are collectively valuable due to their species, 
width, longevity and management.  
 
Great Crested Newts are not a constraint to development. Reptiles are 
likely present in low numbers. To minimise impacts land to the south 
west could be retained.  
 
Breeding birds are likely to have greatest impacts with loss of 
hedgerow and arable land for ground nesting. Loss of the mosaic 
habitat would be detrimental to passerine species including Warblers. 
Loss of the mosaic to the east of the footpath is harmful in this regard. 
(See comments above) 

 
 Clarity is needed re: boundary of the site, location of Ochre Dyke and 

woodland. Any stand-off buffers need to be set out at the outline stage.”  
 
5.10.9 The scheme was then amended to address the comments to which the 

Trust responded:  
 

“We are pleased to see that the development parcel previously 
proposed within the south-western area has now been entirely 
removed. Furthermore, Ochre Dyke and the wooded corridor along this 
feature and extending north to Dunston Road is retained, unsevered 

Page 113



84 
 

by roads, and is buffered by open space and SuDS provision 
particularly in the south-east. Efforts have been made to retain a 
significant proportion of the hedgerow network (1100 m), including 
many perimeter hedges, the double hedgerow flanking the lane in the 
northeast and some internal hedges (albeit with some severance to 
allow roads and footpaths across the site). A loss of ~700 m of 
hedgerow will occur, with new planting of 430 m and enhancement of 
~280 m. 
 
Whilst we welcome the removal of the development parcel in the south-
west and support the retention and management of the grassland / 
scrub mosaic, we are cautious about removing too much scrub in order 
to bring the grassland within Area A into management. Whilst this may 
help to offset the loss of some of the other areas of grassland, the 
scattered scrub within in Area A provides a haven for breeding and 
foraging birds.  

 
The change in land-use around the hedgerows in the eastern part of 
the site will considerably reduce their suitability for farmland birds and 
this mosaic of scattered scrub and grassland could provide alternative 
habitat for those species which require dense cover and a lack of 
human disturbance. To enable a mechanised hay cut, a significant 
area will have to be cleared of scrub with an access provided for a 
tractor/machinery, reducing habitat for nesting birds. Whilst we 
appreciate that ‘enhancement’ of the grassland will provide some uplift 
in units, which will contribute to achieving a quantifiable net gain, the 

Area A

Area B 

Page 114



85 
 

functionality of the habitat should also be considered and the species 
which it currently supports. The Protected Species and Habitat 
Surveys - Interim Report (Baker Consultants, July 2022) states that the 
scrub and grassland mosaic will be retained in its entirety (Section 5.1), 
however we consider that some additional clarification should be 
provided as to the impacts of the proposed enhancement / 
management. The full detail of this would be provided in a Landscape 
and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) at the detailed design stage, 
however we request some additional confidence at this stage that this 
south-western area will still provide a valuable area of habitat.  
 
Further to the points made above, we have concerns regarding 
creation of a new footpath through the centre of the south-western 
mosaic. A public right of way is already present running north-south 
and existing footpaths are present along Ochre Dyke, just outside the 
site boundary, which will be connected to the new residential areas. Its 
wild, ‘scrubby’ nature should deter a certain level of disturbance, which 
will retain some of its value for breeding birds and badgers in particular.  
 
We are disappointed to see the proposal for a ‘natural play area’ within 
one of the areas of neutral grassland (Area B). We do not support the 
loss of this grassland to accommodate a play area. The retention and 
enhancement of this grassland would be a better option, given that 
meadow indicators are already present at low abundance and the 
likelihood of success with good management is high. 
 
Further to our comments on Area B, we wish to make similar comments 
regarding Area D. The creation of the cricket pitch will result in the loss 
of the neutral grassland in Area D to be replaced with more species-
poor modified grassland. As above, this is contrary to the aims of the 
LBAP, which seeks to restore lowland meadows in this area. Whilst we 
acknowledge that the grassland is not currently in good condition, 
without the pitch, there would be the option to retain and restore the 
grassland. This would be the preferred option for the Trust, given that 
it sits higher up in the mitigation hierarchy i.e. avoid impacts and it 
would comply with local policies and Biodiversity Action Plan targets. 
 
Biodiversity Metric Calculations have now been formally provided, one 
version including the cricket pitch proposals and one omitting this 
element of the scheme. Both versions result in a net gain, with +1.40 
% gain predicted if the pitch were provided and +9.16 % gain predicted 
if it were omitted.  
 

Page 115



86 
 

A meaningful gain in river and hedgerow units is also predicted and 
welcomed.  
 
The Trust consider that for a scheme of this size, a predicted gain of 
+1.40 % is relatively low and does not provide any real contingency for 
a lower success rate of habitat creation and enhancement than that 
predicted. There is a risk that if any of the habitat creation or 
enhancements fail, a net loss could be realised, which would be 
contrary to Policy CLP16. We understand that 10 % net gain is not yet 
mandatory until 2023, however we would encourage a best practice 
approach to be taken to net gain and that this should be the benchmark 
for large-scale development. 
 
We have reviewed the Interim Protected Species and Habitats Update 
(Baker Consultants, July 2022). The changes in habitat classification 
summarised in Section 4.2.1 appear reasonable. We agree that Areas 
B and D comprise meadows that have fallen out of condition and that 
they do not currently meet Local Wildlife Site criteria. A visit by the 
Trust in 2021 also picked up several meadow indicator species but at 
low frequency only and as such we support the grassland assessment. 
We are pleased to see the updated bat, badger and breeding bird 
surveys and support the conclusions to date. The Trust have passed 
on some additional badger information pertinent to the site to Baker 
Consultants, which has not been included to date. Consideration 
should be given to the connectivity along the eastern boundary for 
badgers in the final report and whether a main sett is actually present. 
We note that the full results of all surveys will be provided once they 
are completed. 
 
To conclude, we consider that sufficient information has been provided 
to demonstrate that some level of net gain is possible and we are 
pleased to see the retention of the south-western mosaic and wooded 
corridor. We advise the LPA that an appropriate level of up-to-date 
survey work has been / will be undertaken. We would like to see a 
review of the play area and cricket pitch and justification provided for 
these elements of the scheme, taking into account their biodiversity 
impacts. We would welcome some additional details of the 
‘enhancement’ of Area A, to address our concerns, with the 
understanding that full details would be provided further down the line. 
An increase in the net gain figure is also encouraged for the reasons 
stated. 
Once the final survey results and additional information have been 
provided, we will be able to suggest appropriate condition wording.” 

Page 116



87 
 

 
5.10.10 The Trust then commented further as follows:  

“Further to our last response, additional clarification has been 
provided. 
We are satisfied with the level of survey work to date and as per our 
previous letter advise that sufficient information has been provided to 
determine the application. The final report should be provided when 
available to feed into reserved matters details. 
 
The Trust acknowledge that the 1.4% biodiversity net gain is 
considered the “starting point” for the development and therefore 
increases may be possible during the detailed design stage. This 
should be kept in mind during the production of final layout and 
landscaping with every effort made to maximise the biodiversity gains 
for the scheme. 
 
We appreciate the clarification regarding re-instatement of the cricket 
pitch and understand that this is detailed within local planning policy. 
We would therefore encourage the detailed design of this area to be 
carefully considered to retain / create areas of more diverse grassland 
where practicable, for example around the perimeter of the area. 
 
With regards to the natural play area, we still consider that any loss of 
more diverse neutral grassland to provide a play area is unacceptable. 
We would re-iterate the aims of Local Plan Policy CLP16 and the 
targets of the Lowland Derbyshire Biodiversity Action Plan, which are 
to restore and enhance priority habitats and specifically lowland 
meadows. Given that the final layout will be determined at the reserved 
matters stage, this can be addressed further down the line, however 
we strongly encourage either a re-location of this element or a very 
sympathetic design, plus appropriate habitat management within a 
site-wide plan. Reducing losses in this area would also increase the 
biodiversity net gain achieved on site. 

 
We appreciate the additional detail provided by Baker Consultants 
regarding the management of Area A. This provides a clearer picture 
of the objectives for this area and confirms that large scale removal of 
scrub is not proposed and that grass cutting / scrub control will be 
undertaken via hand tools and pedestrian machinery, rather than larger 
machinery and vehicles. No additional access will be required other 
than footpaths. These details are expected to be incorporated within 
the sitewide habitat management plan. Conditions are recommended.” 

 

Page 117



88 
 

5.10.11 This is an outline application only and as such sets the parameters for 
future detailed consideration. The submission and assessment of the 
information to date and DWT’s response sets out that at the worst case 
scenario the scheme will result in a net gain on site of 1.40% in habitat 
units. As Policy CLP16 requires a net gain, this is considered to be 
acceptable at this time as the requirement for a 10% gain is not likely 
to be introduced at the earliest until Autumn 2023. Given the scale of 
the site and the complexity of providing a net gain, it is considered that 
a clause within the S106 agreement to secure off site funding for 
biodiversity within the Borough should the site fail to achieve the extent 
of gain anticipated is reasonable. This is included within the 
recommended S106 matters.    

 
5.10.12 The assessment submission notes that appropriate consideration of 

ecological matters and the need for a net gain have been undertaken 
and detailed conditions as recommended by the Trust are included in 
the suite of recommended conditions below. Subject to these 
conditions and the S106 for potential off site provision, the proposal is 
considered to meet the requirements of Policy SS6 and CLP16 of the 
Adopted Local Plan in regard to trees, biodiversity and ecological 
matters.  

 
5.10.13 The comments regarding the play area being inappropriate are noted 

and will be addressed under the appropriate reserved matters 
application. Whilst the removal of the natural play area may result in a 
reduction in play areas overall this is considered to be a reasonable 
balance against the need to provide for suitable biodiversity gains.  

 
5.10.14 The concerns raised regarding the provision of the Cricket Pitch are 

also noted, the recommended approach to the delivery of the Pitch and 
facilities secures that if this does not take place in agreement with all 
parties then the site for the pitch is to become further habitat to 
increase the gain in biodiversity. This is considered to be a suitable 
approach to this matter given the policy requirement for the pitch.  

 
5.10.15 The CPRE initially commented that:  
  “An abundance of trees and hedging will be lost during the 

construction process and the application does not satisfactorily 
demonstrate how the proposal would achieve a net biodiversity gain as 
required by the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2021 
(Paragraph 174 (d)). Furthermore, loss of the agricultural land 
encompassed within the application site will lower crop yield and food 
production which is not sustainable if agricultural land continues to be 

Page 118



89 
 

urbanised in this manner. We would remind the Council of their pledge 
to build on brownfield sites where possible.” 

 
5.10.16 In later comments the CPRE go on to note that:  
 “We would like to reiterate our concerns about loss of habitat. We note 

that the developer states that they should achieve only a 1.4% BNG. 
We appreciate that current legislation requires a minimum 1% BNG. 
However, we also note that in applications recently put before and 
approved at Chesterfield Borough Council’s Planning Committee, the 
higher figure of the soon to be mandated 10% BNG has been stipulated 
as part of planning conditions…We would therefore expect, as a matter 
of consistency, that a minimum 10% BNG be required as a condition 
to approve application CHE/21/00549/OUT.” 

 
5.10.17 There have been 10% net gains negotiated and achieved on some 

developments in the Borough and it is acknowledged that 10% 
biodiversity net gain is encouraged on all developments. This is 
anticipated to be mandatory when the secondary legislation in relation 
to the Environment Act 2021 comes into force, likely in November this 
year, although no date has been confirmed as yet. However, until that 
time the 10% provision is encouraged but cannot be secured as Policy 
CLP16 does not specify the percentage gain to be achieved. The gain 
proposed in this case is the maximum that has been negotiated and is 
balanced against the need to provide the amount of housing to meet 
the allocation. Whilst there is only a minor gain proposed in this case, 
it is nevertheless a policy compliant gain, which is a positive outcome 
of the application which will be monitored, managed and maintained 
for a 30 year period, in line with the likely aims of Part 6 of the Act.  

 
5.11 Ground conditions 
 
5.11.1 Policy CLP14 requires that; Proposals for development on land that is, 

or is suspected of being, contaminated or unstable will only be 
permitted if mitigation and/or remediation are feasible to make the land 
fit for the proposed use. 

 
5.11.2 The Coal Authority have raised no objection subject to conditions but 

note:  
 

“The application site falls within the defined Development High Risk 
Area. 

 

Page 119



90 
 

The Coal Authority records indicate that within the application site and 
surrounding area there are coal mining features and hazards, which 
need to be considered in relation to the determination of this planning 
application. In this instance, the site has been subject to historic 
underground recorded coal mining at shallow depth and is likely to 
have been subject to historic underground unrecorded coal mining at 
shallow depth. Our records also confirm that thick coal seams 
outcropped across the site and that there are numerous recorded mine 
entries (shafts and adits), within, or within close proximity of the 
planning boundary. The site has also been subject to past surface 
mining operations. 

 
The applicant has obtained appropriate and up-to-date coal mining 
information for the proposed development site, as well as information 
obtained from preliminary intrusive site investigations. This information 
has been used to inform the Combined Phase I Desk Study and Phase 
II Exploratory Investigation (Stage 1) Report (17 December 2020, 
prepared by GeoDyne Ltd), which accompanies the planning 
application.  

 
Based on this review of information obtained, the report confirms that 
further intrusive site investigations are necessary to check for the 
presence of shallow coalmine workings and to identify any necessary 
remedial measures. The report confirms that the investigation of the 
mines entries will also be necessary and that their positions may 
impact on any subsequent future development layout. Careful 
consideration is also afforded within the report to foundation design 
and implications posed by the past surface mining operations, which 
took place on the site. 

 
Given that there recorded mine entries within, or within close proximity 
of the site boundary, together with high walls associated with the 
former surface extraction, after they have been investigated, the Coal 
Authority would expect the finalised site layout to be informed by their 
presence.  

 
The intrusive site investigations should be designed and undertaken 
by competent persons and should be appropriate to assess the ground 
conditions on the site in order to establish the coal-mining legacy 
present and the risks it may pose to the development and inform any 
remedial works and/or mitigation measures that may be necessary.   

 

Page 120



91 
 

The applicant should note that Permission is required from the Coal 
Authority Permit and Licensing Team before undertaking any activity, 
such as ground investigation and ground works, which may disturb coal 
property. Please note that any comments that the Coal Authority may 
have made in a Planning context are without prejudice to the outcomes 
of a Permit application. 

 
Mine Gas: 
It should be noted that wherever coal resources or coal mine features 
exist at shallow depth or at the surface, there is the potential for mine 
gases to exist. These risks should always be considered by the 
LPA.   The Planning & Development team at the Coal Authority, in its 
role of statutory consultee in the planning process, only comments on 
gas issues if our data indicates that gas emissions have been recorded 
on the site.  However, the absence of such a comment should not be 
interpreted to imply that there are no gas risks present.  Whether or not 
specific emissions have been noted by the Coal Authority, local 
planning authorities should seek their own technical advice on. 

 
Surface Coal Resource: 
The Coal Authority’s records indicate that surface coal resource is 
present on the site, although this should not be taken to imply that 
mineral extraction would be economically viable, technically feasible or 
environmentally acceptable.   As you will be aware those authorities 
with responsibility for minerals planning and safeguarding will have 
identified where they consider minerals of national importance are 
present in your area and related policy considerations.  As part of the 
planning application decision making process consideration should be 
given to such advice in respect of the indicated surface coal resource.” 

 
5.11.3 The Coal Authority concludes by noting that; an adequate assessment 

of the coal mining risks associated with this site has been carried out. 
To ensure the site is safe and stable for development conditions are 
recommended. Based on the comments of the Coal Authority 
conditions are included within the recommendation with regard to 
further investigations. On this basis the matter of former Coal Mining 
impacts are considered to be appropriately considered in line with 
Policy CLP14 of the Adopted Local Plan. In terms of mine gas this 
would be considered alongside other matters of potential 
contamination.  

  

Page 121



92 
 

5.11.4 In terms of other ground matters the submitted GeoEnvironmental 
Appraisal (Combined Phase 1 and 2 Exploratory Investigation) 
concludes, in part, that; 

 “Historically, the site has remained essentially undeveloped with the 
exception of extensive areas of former opencast activity in the sites 
northeast and west. The opencast mining operations appear to have 
generally taken place during the first half of the 20th Century, prior to 
the land being ‘restored’ to agricultural use during the mid-20th 
Century. A number of historical mine shafts are recorded at the site, 
indicative of deeper coal mining activity. The geological publications 
show the site to be underlain by Pennine Lower Coal Measures of 
Carboniferous age. 

  
 There is made ground on site with deep Made Ground in the northeast 

and west. The natural strata is clay. Soakaways are unlikely to be 
feasible so alternative methods of surface water should be considered, 
attenuation ponds noted. There is evidence of former coal mining 
activity which will need to be addressed through further investigation 
and foundation design. Gas protection measures may be needed 
based on further specific monitoring. Low soil contaminant 
concentrations found, so no risk to Controlled Waters.  

 
 The chemical analysis has revealed the site to be uncontaminated with 

respect to the determinants tested, based on a residential with plant 
uptake end-use. Therefore, no remediation works will be required other 
than the provision of topsoil in proposed gardens and areas of soft 
landscape to provide a suitable growing media for plants. It may be 
necessary to increase the thickness of topsoil around the root balls of 
trees to suit the proposed planting regime. In the unlikely event that 
any topsoil is proposed for importation to the site, this should be tested 
at source to ensure it is suitably clean (prior to importation) in 
accordance with CLEA / generic guidance. Imported topsoil should 
ideally conform to BS3882: 2015 ‘Specification for topsoil’, with respect 
to nutrient levels etc. It is recommended that the results of the chemical 
analysis on the soils proposed for importation are forwarded to the 
Local Authority (Environmental Health Officer) for approval (prior to 
importation). Specific remedial measures are considered not 
necessary within areas of proposed hard standing at the site. The 
existing topsoil is considered suitable for re-use within the proposed 
development.” 

  
5.11.5 The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has commented that they 

would like to see a contaminated land condition and a condition about 

Page 122



93 
 

working hours on site (See Amenity section above in para 5.8.4).  
However, the recommendation of a standard condition for 
consideration of contaminated land will not be applicable in this case 
as the report already provides much of the detail required by such a 
condition therefore a more specific condition is required to cover the 
specific matters raised in the report above.  Subject to a detailed 
condition matters of below ground conditions are appropriately 
considered in line with policy CLP14 of the Adopted Local Plan.  

 
5.12 Drainage  
 
5.12.1 Policy CLP13 requires that; The council will require flood risk to be 

managed for all development commensurate with the scale and impact 
of the proposed development so that developments are made safe for 
their lifetime without increasing flood risk elsewhere. Sustainable 
Drainage Systems (SuDS) and clear arrangements for their ongoing 
maintenance over the lifetime of the development should be 
incorporated into all major development, unless it can be demonstrated 
that this is not appropriate in a specific location. The council will seek 
the maximum possible reduction in surface water run-off rates based 
on the SFRA or most recent national guidance. Development 
proposals will be expected to demonstrate that water is available to 
support the development proposed and that they will meet the optional 
Building Regulation water efficiency standard of 110 litres per occupier 
per day. 

 
5.12.2 The submitted FRA summarises that:  
  The site is in flood zone 1.  
 The Ochre Dyke is partially culverted within the site boundary and a 

residual flood risk is posed by blockage of this structure. The 
development has been sequentially arranged to locate the residential 
dwellings topographically above the Ochre Dyke. 

 Surface water flood risk mapping shows several overland flow routes 
in the vicinity of the site. However, these are highly localised, with the 
majority of the site being at a low risk of surface water flooding. 
Resilience against any residual flood risk can be achieved through 
raising development levels a minimum of 150mm above the existing 
ground levels and siting of residential units away from topographical 
depressions. Furthermore, levels should be profiled to direct overland 
flows away from the development and towards the nearest drainage 
point. 

 To mitigate the development’s impact on the current runoff regime it is 
proposed to appropriately manage surface water and foul water 

Page 123



94 
 

separately, in order to ensure flood risk in the wider area is not 
increased. Further information on the surface water and foul water 
Page | iv Dunston Grange Extension, Chesterfield Flood Risk 
Assessment April 2022 DNG2-BWB-ZZ-XX-RP-YE-0001_FRA 
drainage approach will be provided within the accompanying 
Sustainable Drainage Statement (SDS) (reference: DNG2-BWB-ZZ-
XX-RP-CD-0001_SDS). 

 
5.12.3 The FRA concludes that:  
 The majority of the site is at very low surface water risk. Low to medium 

risk overland flow routes are located within the site. The majority of 
these emanate from within the site and would therefore be mitigated 
by the proposed surface water drainage strategy for events up to and 
including the 1 in 100-year +40%CC event. 

 The Ochre Dyke is shown to flow in an easterly direction along the 
southern site boundary. Surface water mapping and available LiDAR 
data indicates that flood flows would be contained to within the capacity 
of the channel for the Ochre Dyke and the minor watercourse within 
the east of the site. 

 Finished floor levels should be raised a minimum of 150mm above 
surrounding ground levels. 

 Proposed that surface water is drained separately to foul water. 
 The surface water drainage strategy has been created to ensure that 

water is suitably controlled and there is no increase in runoff to the 
downstream receiving network. 

 
5.12.4 The revised Sustainable Drainage statement notes:  
 Surface 
 The Phase 1 drainage infrastructure was constructed with sufficient 

capacity to accept surface and foul water flows from some of the 
proposed extension to the scheme. Surface water drainage spurs have 
been provided at three locations at the periphery of Phase 1.  
Two foul water subs have been provided as points of connection for 
future development. 
The site has been separated into two sub-catchments to inform the 
proposed drainage strategy.  
The aim of the drainage hierarchy approach is to manage surface 
water runoff close to where it falls and mimic natural drainage as 
closely as possible. Due to ground conditions soakaways have been 
precluded.  
It is proposed that the drainage spurs incorporated into the Phase 1 
development are utilised where possible to accept surface water flows 

Page 124



95 
 

from the proposed extension. These are understood to have been 
constructed and adopted by Yorkshire Water. 
Based on the development proposals, only one (northern catchment) 
of the three available drainage spurs will be utilised as part of the 
proposed surface water drainage strategy. 
The topography and assumptions on drainage allowances when 
designing the Phase 1 sewers mean that it is not practical for all water 
to be directed here. Therefore, it is proposed that discharge to the 
Ochre Dyke, the ordinary watercourse along the southern site 
boundary, is used to accept flows from the remaining portion of the 
development. Consequently, it is proposed that runoff from the 
proposed development comprises a combination of discharge to a 
watercourse and appropriately sized sewer infrastructure.  
Given that the Northern Catchment is discharging into the 
neighbouring Phase 1 development, it is important to ensure that the 
equivalent greenfield runoff from these catchments does not exceed 
the rates previously assumed, to inform the design of the Phase 1 
infrastructure. This means that the runoff for the Northern Catchment 
should be over-attenuated.  
As the development proposals require a restricted runoff rate, it will be 
necessary to provide attenuated storage to balance the excess volume 
in a safe manner within the site. 
One detention basin is utilised to provide the required volumes for the 
Northern Catchment. Volumes for the Southern Catchment have been 
split into three cascading ponds. (See masterplan)  
Design of the basins should be in accordance with Yorkshire Water 
requirements.  
The models have also been run under FEH rainfall conditions 
(excluding the 15- and 30- minute storm events) and show no flooding 
of the storage features in all events up to and including the 1 in 100-
year plus 40% climate change event. This demonstrates that the 
storage features are adequately designed. 
As the development proposals emerge at detailed design, the 
impermeable area assumptions should be refined as necessary. It is 
envisaged that the final required attenuated storage volume will be 
determined during the detailed design stage as the masterplan 
aspirations, development layout and drainage areas evolve. 
 
Foul  
Correspondence with Yorkshire Water identifies that the existing 
network in the vicinity has capacity to accept flows from the 
development. The correspondence outlines that Yorkshire Water have 
no objections to the following: 

Page 125



96 
 

 • Capacity for the proposed extension up to 500 dwellings.  
• Up to 200 dwellings reserved in Phase 1 for the proposed extension 
with the connection being the 225mm foul water sewer in Dunston 
Lane.  
• Up to 253 dwellings reserved in the proposed extension with the 
connection being into the newly constructed Phase 1 infrastructure that 
will in turn discharge into the 225mm foul sewer in Dunston Lane.  
• Capacity for 200 to 250 dwellings into the existing foul sewer in 
Kirkstone Road. 
The total number of dwellings being served by each network should be 
confirmed at detailed design. All discharged by gravity.  
All elements of the drainage scheme not adopted by Yorkshire Water 
would be part of the management company.  
  

5.12.5 Yorkshire Water have commented on the proposal recommending 
conditions, which are included in the recommendation requiring 
separate systems of foul and surface water and that the development 
be carried out in line with the submitted sustainable drainage statement 
as set out above.  

 
5.12.6 The Lead Local Flood Authority have commented on the case raising 

numerous queries as set out below:  
 

• “Please provide the Phase I & Phase II report (report reference: 
D39154) referred to in paragraph 4.6 of the Sustainable Drainage 
Statement (DNG2-BWB-ZZ-XX-RP-CD-0001_SDS P03) 

• On the Illustrative Drainage Strategy drawing (0001 S2 P04) 
included in appendix 6 of the of Sustainable Drainage Statement, 
the discharge rate into Ochre Dyke is incorrectly marked as 54.1 
l/s. 

• The capacity and condition of Ochre Dyke should be investigated 
from the point of discharge from the proposed drainage scheme to 
the point of adoption by Yorkshire Water. 

• The applicant should note that at detailed design stage, the LLFA 
would want to see the outlet from the attenuation ponds discharging 
into Ochre Dyke at an obtuse angle. 

• How will it be ensured that existing properties to the east of the 
proposed detention basins in the south of the site would be 
protected in the event that the basins were to overtop? 

• Could the applicant please confirm whether the drainage system of 
the Skylarks development is complete, and when the attenuation 
and flow controls were completed?” 

Page 126



97 
 

 
5.12.7 The LLFA went on to comment:  
 “Upon further review of the information provided, it has been noted that 

the proposed discharge rate is higher that the greenfield runoff rate. 
Greenfield runoff rate calculations are presented in appendix 4 of the 
Sustainable Drainage Statement (DNG2-BWB-ZZ-XX-RP-CD-
0001_SDS P04). The inputs show that the hydrological region used is 
4, whereas the site is actually in region 3, albeit near the border with 
region 4. This does not affect the discharge rate of the northern 
catchment, which is determined by the allowance within the drainage 
scheme for the adjacent development. Regarding the southern 
catchment, please could the applicant revise the proposed discharge 
rate into Ochre Dyke? Consideration of the use of SuDS techniques 
for source control and conveyance would minimise the storage volume 
requirements of the detention basins.” 

 
5.12.8 The final comments of the LLFA were: No objections subject to 

conditions. Also noting that: The outlet from the attenuation ponds 
discharging into Ochre Dyke should be at an obtuse angle. At detailed 
design stage, the applicant should demonstrate exceedance flow paths 
from the attenuation basins which are designed to protect existing and 
proposed properties. 

 
5.12.9 In terms of drainage the CPRE have noted:  
 “Although the site is located in Flood Zone 1, CPRE Derbyshire trusts 

that the Local Planning Authority will take note of the recent flood 
reports and the requirement of the NPPF that all plans should apply a 
sequential, risk-based approach to the location of development – 
taking into account all sources of flood risk and the current and future 
impacts of climate change – so as to avoid, where possible, flood risk 
to people and property (Paragraph 161), particularly in regard to the 
risk of surface water flooding from Ochre Dyke.” 

 
5.12.10 DGAG have commented on drainage matters as follows:  
 

“The LLFA have requested we have provided additional detail about 
the flooding experienced in the area. On 31.10.21 we recorded flooding 
on Dunston Rd, below the junction of Dunston Rd and Dunston Lane 
just above the Sheepbridge Lane junction. The water was flowing from 
the direction of Dunston Lane, then down onto Dunston Rd towards 
Sheepbridge Lane. Water was also seen emerging from the storm 
drain.   
 

Page 127



98 
 

Similar flooding on Dunston Rd, below the junction of Dunston Rd and 
Dunston Lane just above the Sheepbridge Lane junction was recorded 
on 20.02.2022 - again flowing from the direction of Dunston Lane, then 
down onto Dunston Rd towards Sheepbridge Lane.  
 
This kind of flooding at the Sheepbridge Lane junction has not been 
experienced prior to the commencement of the 'Skylarks' development. 
And the storm drain is also now incapable of coping with run off from 
the new developments. 
 
Also, on 31.10.21 we recorded flooding on Dunston Road at the 
position where there is proposed access to the cricket pitch complex. 
This is historically a blackspot for flooding and is therefore an issue if 
the proposed cricket pitch complex with hard surface access roads, car 
parks, buildings etc are allowed to go ahead. The access point to the 
complex would also be compromised.  
 
We are also able to demonstrate, contrary to the developer's 
assessment of Ochre Dyke, that it does indeed flood and water is not 
contained within its banks.  It is a regular occurrence that it bursts its 
banks. This is why further physical assessment of the water course is 
required.  
 
We also understand that the LLFA have now asked further questions 
of the developer relating to our concerns as uploaded on the planning 
portal.” 
 
Further correspondence sent to LLFA: 
  
“We note that the LLFA have not yet responded. We would therefore 
like the opportunity to raise major concerns about this proposed 
development as we believe that it will directly result in increased 
flooding on nearby roads and pose a significant flood risk to nearby 
properties. 
 
Since the construction of development at the neighbouring Phase 1 
(Skylarks) Dunston Lane site by the same builder (LPA references: 
CHE/16/00016/OUT, CHE/17/00351/REM and CHE/18/00805/REM), 
incidences of flooding have been reported, notably on Dunston Rd at 
the Sheepbridge Rd junction.  The flood water seen to be flowing from 
the direction of this recent development. (Evidence can be provided if 
required).  
  

Page 128



99 
 

This is a major concern as flood mitigation measures on Phase 1 have 
been ineffective. In fact, we anticipate the situation is likely to 
deteriorate and flooding to increase since a large proportion of the 300 
houses in Phase 1 are still in the process of construction. We have no 
confidence therefore that flood mitigation measures for the proposed 
additional 500 houses, a local centre and school will be effective.  
  
The proposed use of SUDs attenuation basins on the proposed 
CHE/21/00549/OUT is particularly alarming as the basin on Phase 1 
was clearly ineffective. In the plans three large basins are situated at 
the lower end of the site. As you will see there are existing properties 
below and bordering these basins.  
  
We also understand that similar basins have been associated with 
flooding to properties situated in a similar situation. This is of huge 
concern.  
  
We also challenge the developer's Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) as 
more studies need to be undertaken on Ochre Dyke to fully assess its 
flood risk. Only LiDAR studies were done which do not accurately 
demonstrate the true nature of this water course. See paragraph 1 .9 
from the FRA  
  
1.9 Due to dense vegetation cover at the time the topographical survey 
was performed, the survey does not cover the Ochre Dyke. Instead, 
LiDAR (Light Detection and Ranging) has been used to take elevation 
cross-sections across the channel at several points.  
  
Excerpts from the Flood Risk Assessment show the lack of a full survey 
and the consultant's erroneous assumption that flows are contained 
within Ochre Dykes banks. Contrary to this assumption we know that 
Ochre Dyke frequently floods beyond its banks. (Evidence can be 
provided if required) 
  
3.19 The LiDAR cross-sections show that the elevation difference 
between the bed of the Ochre Dyke and top of bank along the cross-
sectioned stretch of channel ranges between approximately 2.6m to 
5.5m. During flood conditions, it is likely that flows will be contained 
within bank, leaving most of the site outside of the floodplain. 
  
3.24 In the absence of EA Flood Zones, surface water flood risk 
mapping and LiDAR data have been used to assess the risk from the 
Ochre Dyke and indicates that most of the site is at a low fluvial flood 

Page 129



100 
 

risk. Further, the surface water flood risk mapping indicates that flows 
generated in a flood event are mainly contained within the channel. 
However, without floodplain extents a conservative assessment has 
been taken and flood risk from this watercourse is therefore considered 
to be medium. 
  
4.2  Although the site is situated within Flood Zone 1, and LiDAR and 
mapping of surface water flood risk indicate floodplain extents would 
not extend a significant distance from the channel, the lack of data on 
the floodplain extents of the Ochre Dyke warrants a more conservative 
assessment of flood risk. 
  
The FRA report also states that: 4.14 It is proposed to discharge 
surface water from the northern catchment into the first phase of 
development to the east at a restricted rate, which has been 
accommodated during the design of the Phase 1 drainage network. 
Surface water from the southern catchment is proposed to discharge 
into Ochre Dyke at the equivalent greenfield Qbar rate. 
  
This is a concern as it suggests that Phase 1 mitigation is assumed to 
have worked in order for the proposed flood mitigation for 
CHE/21/00549/OUT to work. Evidence is that Phase 1 mitigation is 
failing. 
  
Extra pressure on Ochre Dyke, caused by the many impermeable 
surfaces of a new development, will result in issues with sewers 
serving the existing Dunston Estate and cause flooding to houses 
nearer the watercourse. The FRA describes protecting proposed 
houses but what about protecting existing long-established homes? 
  
We urge the LLFA to respond to the CHE/21/00549/OUT application 
and object to the plans.” 
 

5.12.11 The concerns and comments of the DGAG regarding local flooding 
issues have been taken into account by the Lead Local Flood Authority. 
Those comments along with the LLFA’s own assessment of the case 
has lead to the submission of an amended Drainage Statement and 
FRA. The LLFA after considering all matters have now, based on the 
additional information, raised no objection to the proposed 
development subject to conditions being imposed. Yorkshire Water are 
also satisfied with the proposal at this outline stage subject to 
conditions. In order to comply with water efficiency element of Policy 
CLP13 a condition will be required to secure the 110 litres per day. On 

Page 130



101 
 

this basis the proposal is considered to meet the requirements of policy 
CLP13.  

 
5.13 Waste 
 
5.13.1 DCC Development Management have noted that:  
 New residential development in Derbyshire can be expected to 

generate an increase in the overall amount of household waste and 
depending on the size of the development this can have a varying 
impact on the existing local Household Waste Recycling Centre 
network. Where it is expected that new housing development will 
generate a need for additional provision, funding through developer 
contributions will be expected to help provide the necessary additional 
capacity. Based on the capacity at Bolsover HWRC, a contribution from 
CIL may be requested to enable additional measures to increase 
capacity. 

 
5.13.2 The potential need to increase capacity is noted and any CIL monies 

to fund this would need to be requested as part of the infrastructure 
proposals which is dealt with separately to this application process.  

 
5.14 Development Contributions and CIL Liability. 
 
5.14.1 The proposed development will be liable for the Community 

Infrastructure Levy (CIL), subject to any exemptions that may be 
applied for.  The site is located within the medium CIL charging Zone 
as set out in the Council’s Charging Schedule (Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) (chesterfield.gov.uk)).  The CIL charge will be 
calculated in detail at the point of the reserved matters submission 
based on the floor space of each retail and residential unit.  

 
6.0 REPRESENTATIONS 

6.1 In the region of 595 contributors have made comment, some have 
submitted more than one comment (619 contributors if those who have 
not provided addresses are counted) this also includes 31 parties who 
have commented in support of the application.  The comments made 
are summarised into sections below: 

 
Against the proposal: 
 
6.2 Principle 
 

Page 131

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.chesterfield.gov.uk%2Fplanning-and-building-control%2Fplanning-permission-and-development-management%2Fcommunity-infrastructure-levy.aspx&data=04%7C01%7CHelen.Frith%40Chesterfield.gov.uk%7C8e830c8d1ba04accf82708d97f6c4110%7C991e3159c57547ca9c86cdd55f6aec1a%7C0%7C0%7C637680925186166874%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=3C0BhblVJQPBfM4VqOTCpSP1QRJDyLP0xBhT8EHaSRs%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.chesterfield.gov.uk%2Fplanning-and-building-control%2Fplanning-permission-and-development-management%2Fcommunity-infrastructure-levy.aspx&data=04%7C01%7CHelen.Frith%40Chesterfield.gov.uk%7C8e830c8d1ba04accf82708d97f6c4110%7C991e3159c57547ca9c86cdd55f6aec1a%7C0%7C0%7C637680925186166874%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=3C0BhblVJQPBfM4VqOTCpSP1QRJDyLP0xBhT8EHaSRs%3D&reserved=0


102 
 

1. Destruction of treasured green space is not acceptable. 
2. There is no need for this housing.  
3. This is a huge mistake, heart breaking and destructive.  
4. There won’t be any green space left in Chesterfield.  
5. This will not contribute to a shortfall as so many houses are being built in 

Chesterfield.  
6. Removing the last remaining green space in Dunston is brainless beyond 

measure.  
7. We should be encouraging more food growth from farming not stripping 

valuable land.  
8. The land is needed for food security. 
9. We need to future proof food production.  
10. A report in 2014 by the University of Cambridge stated that “Britain faces 

a potential shortfall of 2 million hectares (of farmland) by 2030”. 
11. The existing housing development at Strata has already had a huge 

negative effect on the area.  
12. Just because its cheaper to build on green fields doesn’t make it the right 

thing to do.  
13. Brownfield land should be redeveloped fully before development on 

agricultural land.  
14. Developing brownfield land on Chatsworth Road would be nearer to local 

facilities. 
15. New builds are expensive and bad quality.  
16. Revised plans do not address the concerns.  
17. This will destroy the small amount of green space we have left.  
18. This is green belt land.  

 
19. There is already a Cricket Club in Cutthorpe and Millthorpe, what are the 

running costs and who is going to run them. We don’t need another.  
20. The Cricket pitch went into disuse due to lack of support so presumably is 

not required.  
21. If Cutthorpe Cricket Club is thriving as much as Sport England say it is 

with 5 senior sides, women’s sides and also an active junior section is this 
site really suitable and big enough to provide the playing facilities they 
require. 

22. Only a very small proportion of the population play cricket it would be 
better if left as a field for all. 

23. The Cricket pitch would only benefit very few individuals so it would be 
better to leave as open green space.   

24. Cutting down trees to build a Cricket pitch and access.  
25. Wouldn’t a skateboard or basketball park be more appropriate than a 

Cricket Club. 
26. Retain the pitch area for open space and picnic space rather than Cricket.  

Page 132



103 
 

27. Is there any council data available which would support the need for a 
cricket pitch in this area. 

 
28. What evidence is there to support the need for an additional 500 homes. 
29. There is a commitment to lower CO2 emissions and other pollutants 

harmful to the environment.  
30. Loss of green field leads to loss of farming and importing of food which 

results in more environmental damage.  
31. Why not let developers tarmac the whole country.  
32. A climate emergency was declared by CBC on the 17th July 2019. The 

Action Plan does not cover new housing but there are some important 
points via a link on the preservation and expansion of green sites. If CBC 
is serious about their responsibilities, they should note this advice when 
considering development on green fields even if it is included in the 
Development Plan.  

33. There is the potential release of government funds to support brownfield 
development ahead of greenfield development – the Council should be 
lobbying for these funds.  

34. It is noted that the land has been used for industry in the past but this was 
generations ago and the site has become a green field.  

35. Social housing is the only viable solution to the housing crisis.   
36. Developers will renege on affordable housing provision. This needs to be 

agreed at this stage.  
37. There will be no fields, no farming, no bridleways just more pollution.  
38. Loss of footpaths.  
39. The houses will not be ‘low carbon green buildings’ they will have gas 

boilers, no solar panels or EV charging points.  
40. Houses should be to the highest green standard.  
41. The fields have been used for growing oil products which can be a greener 

fuel, building on the fields will not support carbon neutral aims. 
42. The plan states there will be new footpaths but the existing footpaths and 

routes across the site would be lost.  
 

43. There is currently overdevelopment in the Dunston area with 406 homes 
under construction – add the 500 to this and there are too many homes.  

44. CBC is planning to build more homes that the government target, this 
cannot be justified.  

45. The allocation of this site is based on outdated and now irrelevant 
rationale. The local plan took years to develop and does not adequately 
consider the reduction of emissions, climate change, flooding, food 
resilience and the need to restore and protect nature. There is also a 
slowing down of population growth. The plan needs to be reconsidered 
and fit for now and the future.  

Page 133



104 
 

46. We are overpopulated, there is plenty of pother land to build on.  
47. It’s a shame it’s all corrupt and about money.  

 
48. A public house would be unlikely to be successful given how any are 

closing.  
49. There is no need for any more takeaways. 
50. We don’t need any more public houses.  
51. Pubs in Dunston will suffer from competition.  
52. There is no need for any more shops.  
53. None of the accessible links noted will benefit any of the existing residents 

of the area not already on the new estate.  
54. Increased housing will increase traffic and CO2 against the governments 

aims to reduce emissions.  
55. The proposal is at odds with the aims of the local plan as there is no pubic 

transport in the area and it is not within walking distances of amenities.  
56. Utilising precious farmland for housing is contrary to the Local Plan. 
57. It feels like the council are panicking - they have to build more houses and 

it doesn't matter where. 
58. We need to look after the environment for the next generation.  
59. Newbold has seen enough new housing. 
60. Going back to the appeals in 1995 it was clear then and now that the site 

should not be developed in a piecemeal way.  
61. No need to build when the Council is way ahead of its targets.  
62. Access to facilities will necessitate a car journey. 
63. This is overdevelopment.  
64. More shops should be included on a project such as this. 
65. The Skylarks development has 12 affordable homes on the plan out of a 

total number of 157 plots, we need more social housing not luxury homes.  
66. Bear in mind the PM’s commitment at yesterday’s Conservative Party 

conference when considering this Application. 
67. Has a Climate Change Impact Assessment been completed for this 

development. 
 
6.3 Infrastructure  
 
1. More pressure put on Dentist, Schools, Doctors and the Hospital.  
2. Whitting Surgery have already said they are struggling with demand.  
3. The school, doctors and shop are unlikely to happen.  
4. The area amenities are already stretched to breaking point.  
5. Are there adequate secondary school places.  
6. No NHS Dentists are taking patients.  
7. Drainage, sewage, IT and electricity are already problematic, there are 

frequent floods, loss of supplies and drainage issues.  

Page 134



105 
 

8. There is no plan to increase bed capacity at the Hospital given increase in 
patient numbers. 

9. Children have to register at primary schools miles away from their homes.  
10. The applicant setting aside land for a school etc. is irrelevant as such 

developments require capital and more importantly recurrent funding 
which is neither confirmed or available. 

11. All the local primary schools are full, I am currently travelling over 5 miles 
to take my children to 2 different schools. 

12. All education levels need to be accommodated.  
13. Will not be able to get places at local schools.  
14. Limited facilities including; play groups for local children and care facilities 

for the elderly 
 
6.4 Heritage and Character 
 
1. This will harm the listed buildings at Dunston Hall and the Dunston Grange 

Barns.  
2. The character of Cutthorpe and Barlow will be changed.  
3. This proposed development is totally out of keeping with the area and is 

not sympathetic with the surrounding area. 
4. The buildings are not in keeping with the local house design. 
5. The density of hosing does not suit the vernacular.  
6. The development will impact on Barlow Conservation Area through 

development on the ridgeline.  
 

6.5 Highways  
 
1. Access from a road with unsighted dips, blind corners, weight restriction 

and at the national speed limit is dangerous. 
2. Chesterfield is getting busier with roadworks everywhere.  
3. Roads are already clogged with traffic. 
4. The road is already like a race track, mobile police cameras are often on 

this road.  
5. The existing development caused no end of problems for residents with 

roads being closed for months at a time.  
6. Building a school so close to the Industrial Estate is ridiculous, people will 

be dropping off and parking all over the place. 
7. Amount of traffic dangerous for children around local schools.  
8. The road is not capable of taking this extent of traffic.   
9. Dunston Road is a narrow country lane not a road.  
10. 500 houses using this road is over the top.  
11. Cutthorpe is already used as a rat run for the Peak District. This will 

increase traffic through the village.  

Page 135



106 
 

12. The road is not suitable for this level of traffic.  
13. Dunston Road has no provision for pedestrians and is dangerous. 
14. The existing road system is already overloaded.  
15. This would impact traffic onto Newbold Road at 4 lane ends and Littlemoor 

which is already constricted.   
16. A previous application was refused due to Dunston Road not being a main 

road.  
17. Dunston Road would need to be widened.  
18. Dunston Road reached full capacity years ago.  
19. Hacking in the area is virtually impossible due to the busy roads and speed 

of drivers.  
20. To widen the road hedgerows and trees would be lost, impacting on the 

ridgeline views and which would take years to replace.   
21. There are no pedestrian crossings at Upper Newbold where the speed 

changes from 40mph to 30mph making it hazardous to access the bus 
stop, local school and Holmebrook Valley Park.   

22. Highway impacts need to also consider other approved developments in 
the area.  

23. There will be increased hazards for Dunston Primary and Nursery 
Academy on Dunston Lane.  

24. The proposed mitigation (buses and walking and cycling routes) is 
extremely weak and will have minimal impact.  

25. There is no footway or safe access to the Cricket pitch.  
26. There would be an unacceptable increase of around 1000 cars on 

Dunston Road.  
27. What are the plans for a bus route through the site when services are 

being reduced. 
28. Will the footpath through the site remain as a bridleway and will informal 

routes remain accessible.   
29. The site is 2 miles from the town centre I doubt many will walk this route.  
30. Two access points are not sufficient a third will be needed.  
31. Whinfell Road on Skylarks is already too narrow with cars parked it will not 

be able to support the volume of traffic.  
32. A roundabout on Dunston Lane and one on Dunston Road is needed as a 

T junction will not cope with the volume of traffic.  
33. There should be a segregated cycle lane.  
34. Dunston Road and Lane should be 30mph, at places the 40mph limit is 

outright dangerous.  
35. Heavy vehicles often use Dunston Road following Sat Nav to avoid 

Chesterfield. 
36. Speed limits in Cutthorpe are already largely ignored, increasing the traffic 

will increase the dangers.   

Page 136



107 
 

37. Traffic in the area has already substantially increased with recent 
developments.  

38. Junctions at and through Sheepbridge and Cutthorpe have become 
saturated at peak times with frequent accidents occurring at these points. 

39. Large slow moving agricultural and farm vehicles use the rural narrow 
roads and are additional hazards.  

40. Hazard to farm animals.  
41. A pavement along the side of Dunston Road is needed.  
42. Why has the notorious Whittington Moor roundabout has been overlooked 

in the incident figures (33 in the last 5 years on the roundabout)? 
Whittington Moor Roundabout feeds onto Dunston Road (B6050) and is 
just 1.5 miles from the site. 

43. The traffic survey is not up to date.  
44. Why is there no cycle provision on Dunston Road.  
45. Dunston Road is not suitable for buses.  
46. Junctions in the area cannot cope with this additional traffic. 
47. The residents will want to access the footpaths off Dunston Road and will 

be at risk walking along this narrow road which is unsuitable for 
pedestrians and has no street lighting. 

48. There have been fatalities on Dunston Road.  
49. The dry stone wall that used to be the field boundary opposite my drive 

has been demolished for a distance of about 25m by speeding vehicles, 
one accident being fatal. 

50. Increased traffic also presents additional hazards for the visually-impaired 
crossing the road. 

51. Horse riders have used the lane as a bridlepath in that time to get to 
Holmebrook Valley Park and for access to other equestrian facilities If this 
access were to be removed we would be forced onto the busy Dunston 
Road. 

52. Access to the Cricket pitch is dangerous for traffic using our farm access.  
53. There is no path link into Cutthorpe.  
54. A footway, lighting and cycleway should be imposed along Dunston Road.  
55. Where will construction traffic come from and for which phase.  
56. What traffic calming within the Skylarks site will be provided.  
57. Has the travel plan been reviewed.  
58. There are already insufficient safe crossing points.  
59. The road should be wide enough to accommodate buses. 
60. It is unsuitable for any construction delivery vehicles to access from 

Dunston Road. 
61. Using Whinfell Road as the main access is dangerous.    
62. The road into the Skylarks estate is not a main road, we were told there 

would only be 3 phases of development.  

Page 137



108 
 

63. The traffic survey was taken at the wrong time of day – due to local schools 
the busy time starts at 3pm.  

64. Traffic has already increased due to the success of the Garden Centre.  
65. It is not clear what if any bus routes have been proposed, nor whether safe 

cycling links to the existing Chesterfield cycle network will be put in place. 
66. Our clients have a safe horse riding route via part of the site to Holmebrook 

Valley Park used for many years with consent of the land owner given 18 
years ago – will the tracks proposed include use by horses, we need a 
safe route to nearby riding areas, if we cannot use the tracks the road will 
be too dangerous.  

67. The route around the cricket pitch has been used for hacking for 34 years.  
68. The Technical note considerations to agree an access onto Dunston Road 

is ludicrous, it is not wide enough to be safe.  
69. I am amazed at DCC’s insistence that pavements are provided right up to 

the junction, who would walk to the edge of a road where their next step 
could be fatal.  
The swept path analysis for the bus shows there is potential for collision.  

70. Parking is already an issue in the area.  
71. What traffic calming measures through the existing Skylarks estate will be 

imposed. 
72. A road is shown to Hollin Close in error on the V2 Design and Access 

Statement.   
 
6.6 Ecology 
 
1. Harmful to wildlife and the environment.  
2. The Government plan to plant more trees not remove them should come 

into consideration.  
3. This is well established farm land rich in wildlife.  
4. Insufficient detail on the impacts on wildlife.  
5. Wildlife will be lost. Calling a development ‘Skylarks’ is rubbing salt in the 

wound.  
6. This development is not in line with the recently updated; A Green print for 

Chesterfield biodiversity action plan for the Borough.  
7. With management the soil could be improved and aid biodiversity.  
8. Hard to see how a net gain in biodiversity will be achieved when they are 

building on the site.  
9. Even with new planting there will be a loss of what is there now.  
10. Open green spaces are important for mental health.  
11. Trees and hedgerows should be retained to minimise environmental 

impacts.   
12. There are Munkjack deer, hares, foxes, badgers, grass snakes, slow 

worms, buzzards and grey leg partridges in the area. 

Page 138



109 
 

13. The Greenprint for Biodiversity in Chesterfield (2nd edition draft) from last 
year, states that 258 of Derbyshire’s native plants are on Derbyshire’s red 
list, 36 of Derbyshire’s birds are on the RSPB red list and around 70 
species of larger moths found in Derbyshire are priority species. It notes 
some species can be protected and their populations enhanced through 
the protection and management of priority habitats, its states that urgent 
action is needed to reverse these declines. Given this sensitive location 
and nearby wildlife site it seems preposterous to a lot of people that this 
land should be earmarked for development. 

14. There are also a number of red and amber listed birds that use the site 
such as kestrel, dunnock, bullfinch, redstart, willow warbler, house 
sparrow, fieldfare, redwing, yellowhammer, song thrush, linnet and quite 
ironically skylark. There are also owls that nest on the site which are not 
mentioned in the assessment. There are migrating birds that will come 
back every year not expecting a building site where they usually breed. 
These will disappear from the area.  

15. Open areas such as this are essential for Sparrowhawks, Kestrels and 
Buzzards (Photograph provided) often seen using the area for hunting.  

16. Wild areas are needed to capture CO2.  
17. This land also forms one of the few remaining "green corridors" in the area. 

the wildlife survey was conducted at a time of very dry conditions and 
therefore is not representative.  

18. An article by the Natural History Museum, last year, stated that decades 
of development “have made the UK one of the most nature-depleted 
countries in Europe”. 

19. In 2018 the government produced a document, A Green Future in which 
the Prime Minister says “Our natural environment is our most precious 
inheritance”. We need the people making the decisions to stop and think 
about what they want this country to look like for future generations, once 
our natural environment has been built on and the wildlife has 
disappeared, we can’t get it back.   

20. The housing is too close to the sensitive wildlife areas to the south and 
west of the site.  

21. Ecological surveys won’t include plants and insects that will be impacted.  
22. Without insects our environment would fall apart. The UK has reportedly 

seen a 25% decline in insects. Urbanization of land will be responsible for 
lowering crop yield and result in less food.  

23. This scheme would destroy that food source and directly be responsible 
for killing the bee population that pollinates our crops. 
The developer netted the hedgerows to prevent nesting birds.  

24. How will the proposed ponds be managed in terms of safety, water quality 
and animal habitat? 

25. Biodiversity is already in decline we need these spaces for our wildlife.  

Page 139



110 
 

26. The government are planning to award grants to land owners to facilitate 
the re-wilding of rural areas as part of the climate change plans necessary 
in the world as we know it. 

27. There are no comments from Conservation Groups on the impacts of the 
development.  

28. There are Badgers in the area – photographs provided.  
29. The net gain in biodiversity should be 10%.  
 
6.7 Landscape 
 
1. Why would the Council consider decimating such a beautiful piece of 

green belt land when there is so much brownfield land.  
2. This will change the character of the area at the entrance to the Peak 

District.  
3. This will harm a picturesque part of the town. 
4. All very well having planting plans but these need to be followed through.  
5. This will lead to the loss of the currently distinct conurbations of Dunston, 

Upper Newbold and Cutthorpe. 
6. Loss of trees and hedgerows. 
7. Policy is that there should be a strategic gap/green wedge between 

settlements. The applicant states the green areas and Cricket pitch are 
sufficient, this is nowhere near enough, there should be a cast iron 
condition for a larger green wedge. 

8. There will be harmful impacts on views from Barlow valley.   
9. This will adversely impact the view of the area.  
10. The rolling aspect of this land creates a wide and attractive vista for local 

residents and for people accessing Chesterfield and the Peak District from 
the east side of Chesterfield, this will be lost.  

11. Planting sapling hedge and tree species is no replacement for what will be 
lost.  

12. The subdivision of the existing fields would alter the character of the area 
which is characterised by larger fields separated by hedges. 

13. Object to the visual impact of the development in rural open space and the 
effect of development on the character of the Dunston rural area. 
When the western boundary edge of Chesterfield was originally drawn up, 
it was very cleverly done. None of the houses were visible from the 
countryside and the far reaching moors because they nestled into the 
valley. This proposal will be visible for miles. The houses will be built over 
the crest of the hill. 

14. Will there be a 25m buffer of trees on the whole of Dunston Road.  
15. In the 1980’s the Inspector increased the Green belt to ensure no harm to 

the Dunston Road ridge, this application breaches that.  
 

Page 140



111 
 

6.8 Amenity  
 
1. More pollution and greenhouse gases from all the cars when we should 

be cutting them.  
2. This will increase pollution in Cutthorpe.  
3. This will cause disruption, dust and noise for a long time.  
4. There will be increased light pollution. 
5. The area provides a sense of wellbeing.  
6. There is noise from piling - this needs to be considered.  
7. William Davis are a bad neighbour to live next to, damage to fencing, 

damage to cars from spraying concrete, flooded property with many issues 
going to Police and local MP.  

8. Congestion and passing traffic will adversely impact existing residents 
quality of life.  

9. Concerned about increase in air pollution.  
10. The construction is noted to be for 10 years – how will this be mitigated for 

residents. This means existing residents will have had 12 to 15 years of 
endless disruption.  

11. Noise from traffic will increase, this is already a problem.  
12. What noise mitigation will there be for existing residents.  
13. The development will cause dust issues.  
14. Dust from the existing building work has been unbearable, mud has been 

on the road making it dangerous.  
15. This development would lead to a significant deterioration of our air quality 

which we know leads to premature deaths, particularly near the local 
school and nursery. 

16. Have the impacts of nutrient pollution been assessed. 
17. If the new houses need double glazing to address noise then what about 

existing homes.  
18. Holidaymakers come to areas like Barlow for peace and tranquility and to 

get away from towns and cities, this build will destroy the peace, 
19. We have already had enough noise, disruption and dust a total of 10-12 

years is not acceptable.  
20. Works starting before 8am, with vehicles arriving from 6am, this is 

disruptive to residents.  
 

6.9 Drainage and flooding 
 
1. Loss of green fields will reduce absorption of rainfall leading to flooding.  
2. Farmland reduces the risk of flooding.  
3. Flooding is noted in terms of 1 in 100 year event, given climate change 

these events are becoming more common.  
4. Where will the lake in the field west of Dunston Grange drain to.  

Page 141



112 
 

5. Water mains and sewers in the area are antiquated and beyond capacity. 
There have been major water bursts on the road (Thought to be due to the 
weight of vehicles) and incidents of sewers backing up towards 
Sheepbridge.  

6. Untreated waste should not enter our rivers due to insufficient provision at 
water treatment works.  

7. Article 8 of the Human Rights Act states that a person has the substantive 
right to respect for their private and family life - this includes protection of 
the countryside.  

8. It has also been suggested that Ochre Dyke never has water running 
through it but after many years of walking the dog almost every day around 
this site I can say that is not the case. Many a time it has flooded along the 
whole southern boundary of the proposed site, occasionally making it 
impassable.  

9. I am aware of how the clay retains water in periods of high rainfall and 
gently release the ground water into ochre dyke and adjacent drains. 

10. The developer should submit a comprehensive management plan to detail 
how surface water will be managed during construction as there has been 
flooding caused by this previously on the earlier phase. Where are the 
checks on the flood prevention plan? 

 
11. The 300 homes approved have not all been built yet but the effect on 

flooding is already being felt.  
12. The subsoils are slowly permeable throughout which restrict movement of 

water through the soils resulting in wetness for long periods in autumn and 
winter. The risk of flooding in the locality will increase as the surface water 
cannot drain naturally. 

13. The submitted FRA says that the local network does not have capacity to 
receive additional surface flows from the development. 

14. Water feeds from the site into the River Whitling which then feeds into the 
River Rother and Holme Brook which regularly floods the junction at A61/ 
A617 roundabout causing major traffic disruption into and out of 
Chesterfield after heavy rain and potentially cause substantial economic 
loss to properties and businesses. These issues have not been 
addressed.  
 

6.10 Other  
 
1. The developer will only do the works which make a profit.  
2. There will be nowhere to walk our dog.  
3. Council Tax should go down with all the new houses being built.  
4. Dismayed by the short time given to comment.  

Page 142



113 
 

5. No coincidence that the window of time to comment aligns with the school 
holidays.  

6. There have been times when the website is not available.  
7. This will cause chaos.  
8. The value of the land should be considered in different ways including; the 

landowner (CBC) who wants to maximise financial return, the farmer who 
leases the land, locals who use the land for recreation and walkers and 
travelers who pass through the area as well as those who wish to tackle 
climate change. In this regard the value of open spaces cannot be 
estimated with figures.  

9. Building up to Newbold Road would make more sense.  
10. This will impact our children and grandchildren.  
11. This development will raise funds for CBC and make profit for the 

developer will it provide affordable homes for first time buyers or will it be 
executive homes? 

12. Jobs would be equally created if the building was on brownfield land.  
13. How would the school be built.  
14. Where are all the employment opportunities to serve all the new housing.  
15. What is the use of everything we are trying to do to save our environment 

locally, and nationally, if we see our local council blithely ignoring UK 
government recommendations. 

16. It should be the council AND local people who decide where developments 
should and shouldn't go. NOT the council and developer alone. 

17. How will public open space and the Cricket pitch be managed.  
18. An Environmental Impact Assessment is required.  
19. The council is balancing its books financially at the expense of the local 

communities health. 
20. The application form states this is agricultural land, it also includes 

grassland/meadow/wooded areas/scrub and hedgerows.  
21. The form says there are not trees and hedgerows adjacent to the site, this 

is untrue.  
22. Loss of childhood memories.  
23. Local businesses will struggle during construction due to access 

difficulties.  
24. Having considered the existing development at Skylarks I am concerned 

regarding, the roads being narrow, the gaps between houses being 
narrow, off street parking inconveniently laid out, the roads would not 
support a bus route, there are no solar panels and no EV charging. The 
housing needs to meet modern needs. 

25. The scheme could be improved through reducing the number of units, 
providing more space around each unit, provide more habitat, provide side 
by side parking for 2 cars for each unit, provide communal parking areas, 

Page 143



114 
 

provide adequate facilities and require that every unit is to zero carbon 
standards.  

26. Not enough teachers to recruit to a new school.  
27. A detailed list of the colliery, place and owners provided for all collieries in 

the Newbold area between 1854 and 1881.  
28. Many residents do not engage with the process as they feel the developers 

always get the upper hand over the Council.  
 

6.11 Comments in objection from The Dunston Grange Action Group 
(DGAG): 

1. The group comprises local residents of surrounding villages who would 
be severely and adversely impacted by this development. The Group 
formally objects to the proposed development. 
Acknowledge the allocation. The inclusion of the site in the Local Plan 
is lamentable due to its high landscape value and open countryside 
character.  Development on this site would suburbanise a large tract of 
open green space which acts as a significant buffer between the outer 
boundary of Chesterfield, Upper Newbold and villages on the boundary 
of Northeast Derbyshire. Notwithstanding the above, just because the 
site is allocated it does not mean that any proposal should just be 
deemed acceptable. 
The group note that Chesterfield Borough Council has a significant 
over-provision of housing targets in the Local Plan which are well in 
excess of the government’s objectively assessed need requirements.  
Chesterfield has many brownfield sites that could and should be used 
ahead of greenfield sites, such as the land the subject of this 
application, particularly given the Council’s confirmation that they seek 
to promote brownfield sites. 
DGAG is of the view that the amended application remains woefully 
lacking in sufficient information to enable a thorough and proper 
assessment of the proposals to take place, even at outline stage. The 
Local Planning Authority (LPA) is urged not to just defer matters to 
reserved matters stage. 

 
2. Using the wording from Policy SS6 of the Local Plan, our main areas 

of concern are: 
i. acceptable access arrangements from Dunston Road and Dunston 
Lane; 
The surrounding road network is narrow and winding with a number of 
blind bends and blind summits. An increase of a further 500 homes will 
cause unsustainable pressure on existing roads and give rise to severe 

Page 144



115 
 

highway safety impacts contrary to paragraph 111 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021). 
Highways related concerns for this application are too significant to be 
inaccurately assessed and considered – a full, thorough assessment 
should be undertaken through a Local Highway Authority approved 
and agreed method. Officers are also invited to see for themselves the 
true current traffic situation. 
Good, sustainable planning should ensure highway safety is secured 
before any development is permitted, not looking for solutions after 
serious accidents. 

 
ii. appropriate provision for walking and cycling within the site. 
The lack of public transport provision for the area will naturally result in 
significant numbers of car users. Walking and cycling provision must 
be provided. The proposed development does not allow for any 
connections to be made with existing cycle ways outside of the site.  

 
iii. appropriate transport mitigation to ensure an acceptable impact on 
the highway network for all users; 
It is noted that the applicant has already challenged the Travel Plan 
Bond put forward by DCC Highways. The applicant should not be 
allowed to dictate proceedings and if the applicant will not commit to 
this requirement, then the proposal does not comply with part iii of 
policy SS6 and should be refused. 

 
vii. a scheme of green infrastructure including landscaping, open 
space, play and sports provision including re-instatement of the former 
cricket pitch, and early implementation of a landscaping and planting 
scheme along Dunston Road; 
Though just outside the Green Belt, the application site borders it, and 
the development is uncomfortably close to this protected land. With 
regard to the application site, it is noted that Chesterfield Borough 
Council’s Local Plan notes that; “The area is sensitive in terms of 
landscape. The ridge line at the northwest boundary is particularly 
sensitive.” Insufficient regard has been given to this statement. The 
proposals as submitted fail to respect the sensitive nature of the area 
in terms of landscaping. 
The statement that trees and hedgerows will be retained “where 
possible” is ambiguous and not acceptable for an application of this 
size as this will just result in mass clearance of existing trees and 
hedgerows. Clear, detailed landscaping plans must be provided at the 
outline stage of this application due to the importance of the area and 
its landscape value. 

Page 145



116 
 

DGAG have been in correspondence with a number of stakeholders, 
including DCC regarding the landscape significance of the locality. It is 
apparent from the information received that the application site is 
designated an Area of Multiple Environmental Sensitivity (AMES). The 
concerns of DCC through the allocation process are noted.  
Indeed, there is sufficient evidence to indicate that the true landscape 
character of the site has not been fully considered by the applicant or 
the LPA.  
The application site will lower crop yield and food production which is 
not sustainable if agricultural land continues to be urbanised in this 
manner, particularly in light of the ongoing global pressures being 
created, such as the ongoing war in Ukraine.  
The Landscape Visual Impact Assessment submitted by the developer 
remains inadequate. From reading, it is clear that the focus is based 
entirely on 'viewpoints', rather than the landscape character itself, 
implying that simply by planting screening then there would be no 
impact on the landscape character. Essentially, the development on 
this site will fundamentally alter its character and therefore impact on 
the surrounding area, including the green belt which should be 
protected, in terms of traffic, tranquillity, light pollution, loss of wildlife 
and general rural ambience. 
The proposal is in conflict with policy CLP15(f) which seeks to protect 
and enhance landscape character, and policy SS6 vii which specifically 
requires early implementation of landscape planting. 

 
3. Climate:  

The world is experiencing unprecedented warming and climate change 
is already adversely impacting populations, their homes and their 
livelihoods. Here in England, 2022 was one of the hottest and driest 
summers on record. Action is required now. 
We would remind the Council of the zero-carbon target ambition of the 
government. Chesterfield Borough Council has also signed the 
Nottingham Declaration on Climate Change which pledges to address 
the causes of climate change and prepare for the associated impacts. 
Furthermore, the Council also declared a Climate Emergency in July 
2019. Regretfully there remains extremely limited information 
submitted by the applicant in the amended submission as to how this 
proposal would lend itself towards helping the Borough Council 
address the issue of a changing climate which is one of, if not the 
biggest, issue facing us at the current time.  

 
The amended submission still does not provide sufficient information 
on renewable energy provisions for these dwellings, or indeed, thermal 

Page 146



117 
 

issues. An ever-warming climate is going to require homes and 
businesses to be able to adapt effectively. In addition, no detailed 
information is given on EV charge points which, given the lack of 
pedestrian walkways and cycleways, is going to be required as fuel 
supplies diminish. The proposal does not offer sufficient future 
proofing. As with much of the application submission, the information 
submitted is vague and lacking detail. The energy and sustainability 
statement is extremely limited and does not cover other critical aspects 
such as water usage, materials and waste management. The issue of 
climate change is too critical for these matters to be deferred to a future 
application and we urge the LPA to take a lead on this. 

 
From the information submitted, the applicant seems content to offer 
gas boilers with future proofing additions by way of internal ducting for 
whatever might lay ahead, whilst at the same time suggesting the best 
way forward is the use of ground and air source heat pumps for any 
future school or retail which are very costly and not paid for by the 
developer. Further, the applicant considers photovoltaic panels as 
being viable but do not say whether they actually intend to provide 
them. It is our considered view that the amended application still fails 
to meet the fundamental requirements of the framework. Although the 
application is an outline application, the Climate Change Emergency is 
such that the application should be refused on the grounds of 
insufficient information having been submitted by the applicant despite 
having been given the opportunity to do so. Future proofing of large-
scale developments such as what is proposed is more critical than 
ever.  

 
4. Flooding:  

Since the construction of development at the neighbouring Dunston 
Lane site incidences of flooding have been reported, notably on 
Dunston Rd at the Sheepbridge junction. 
Although the site is located in Flood Zone 1, the Group trusts that the 
LPA will take note of the recent flood reports and the requirement of 
the NPPF that all plans should apply a sequential, risk-based approach 
to the location of development – taking into account all sources of flood 
risk and the current and future impacts of climate change – so as to 
avoid, where possible flood risk to people and property particularly in 
regard to the risk of surface water flooding from Ochre Dyke. 
The Group are extremely concerned at the apparent lack of 
transparency regarding this subject with a number of documents on the 
portal appearing long after they were apparently received. A separate 
letter of correspondence has been sent by the group to the Lead Local 

Page 147



118 
 

Flood Authority (LLFA) detailing a number of flooding occurrences 
since the Skylarks development was implemented. We would make the 
Local Planning Authority aware that it is the same builder applying to 
build on a site adjacent to Skylarks where a number of issues have 
occurred, as noted by the Council. The topography of the proposed 
site, being on a significant slope, would bring about an even higher risk 
of flooding during construction. William Davis failed in their obligations 
during Skylarks construction, and it must be a significant risk that they 
would do so again. 

 
5. Infrastructure: 

NHS services are under extortionate pressures with many residents 
unable to get doctor’s appointments, dental appointments, opticians’ 
appointments, etc. No provision has been made to address this 
significant shortfall despite an ever-growing population, brought about 
by non-stop building of new residential estates. Existing infrastructure 
needs to be brought up to speed before more residential development 
is approved. The cumulative effect of overdevelopment in the locality 
cannot be overstated. 

 
It is widely acknowledged that there are already insufficient places at 
the local secondary school for the local children and that there is no 
planned provision for additional infrastructure to accommodate 
additional children numbers generated by this development.  
The locations of the proposed play area and pocket parks next to 
Dunston Road are unsafe and unsuitable.  

 
The site currently benefits from a long-established network of footpaths 
which are extremely popular with local residents. The destruction of 
this network will adversely impact the health and wellbeing of users.  

 
6. Biodiversity:  

The application as submitted falls woefully short in terms of Biodiversity 
Net Gain (BNG). An increase of 1.40% (if the cricket pitch is provided) 
is nowhere near acceptable for the loss and destruction of existing 
trees, hedges and countryside. The Council is reminded of their 
pledges to be a “green” Council it is extremely disappointing that the 
Local Plan did not include a requirement for 10% BNG.  
Even with a minimum 10% BNG, DGAG do not feel that this is sufficient 
to overcome the significant harm that building on this green field site 
will create.  
The reinstatement of the cricket pitch offers a significant biodiversity 
loss.  

Page 148



119 
 

Reference is made to “2 winter sport pitches” what are these and what 
impact do they have?  
‘Sustainable drainage system’ basins should not be included in the 
BNG as they are actually part of the built environment. The current 
SUDs basin on Skylarks will attest to the lack of their biodiversity. 
 
Further submissions – additional submission have been received from 
DGAG regarding accident data and red list species as follows:  
We have compared the developers outdated RTC leading to injury 
statistics (PICs) with more current statistics gained from Derbyshire 
Constabulary, as set out in this table:   

 
 

 
 
The PIC study areas chosen for the William Davis July 21 Travel 
Assessment do not appear to include roads such as Dunston Lane and 
the junction between Dunston Road/Dunston Lane or the junction 
between Dunston Road/ Sheepbridge Lane. These are roads that are 
definitely ‘in the vicinity of the proposed development.’ 
The latest data that Derbyshire Constabulary could provide us with 
took us to the end of February 23. However, a number of serious 
accidents have occurred on Dunston Road since then- including two 
separate incidents occurring at a point close to each other and within 
a few hours of each other on May Bank Holiday (29th May). One 
resulted in road closure to recover a car from a field and the other 

Page 149



120 
 

required the casualty to be cut free by the fire service and evacuation 
via air ambulance. 
Many, many more accidents that occur on Dunston Road go 
unrecorded, including cars leaving the carriageway and ending up in 
fields. 
 
The Ecological assessment states that at least 29 species of bird have 
been identified as using the site including 7 red listed and 4 amber 
listed birds. The proposed development would result in the permanent 
loss of nesting and feeding sites for red listed, amber listed and green 
listed birds, the red listed birds including: Song Thrush, Yellowhammer, 
House Sparrow, Linnet, Marsh Tit, Spotted Flycatcher and Skylark. It 
is incredibly insensitive that the developer chose to name the first 
phase of the development ‘Skylarks’ when the development will have 
displaced that endangered bird. We must take this destruction of 
habitat very seriously and use alternative development sites as a 
matter of priority.  
 

6.12 Comments from Transition Chesterfield: 
 

We are concerned on several levels: 
Biodiversity and flooding 
The land could be better used for growing food, planting trees, and 
providing habitat for wildlife in future, rather than housing that can be 
sited on brownfield land.  For example, there appears to be over 60ha 
of previously developed land on the current Brownfield register.  The 
permanent loss of greenfield sites could, therefore, be avoided if use 
was made of such land. 
The site of the proposed development is a sloping one and likely to 
need attention to drainage with water run-off increasing. 
The plan includes an area to the north that will be planted along the 
boundary in a linear stretch.  This seems quite narrow and there would 
appear to be a risk that it could be squeezed out.  Without more detail 
on the planting scheme this remains unclear.   

 
1. Planned layout 
The proposed layout does not appear innovative in any way that would 
encourage alternative forms of transport other than the car.  There is a 
lack of public transport to the area and no provision to develop this.  
The development, therefore, focusses solely on car owners.  Cycle 
routes are shown but these are only marked as ‘potential’ and appear 
to be more for recreational use rather than designed as an integral 
transport measure.  

Page 150



121 
 

The Local Centre is sited on the edge of the development, rather than 
at the centre where play areas could also be sited.  For the residents 
of the new development, it would make it more likely that they would 
end up using their cars. 

 
2. Housing and energy use 
The proposal overall seems to suggest that the energy situation will 
remain as it currently exists with gas boilers as standard.  Given the 
climate emergency all houses should be built to the highest energy 
efficiency standard.  We would have expected to see some 
consideration for alternatives such as: heat pumps, district heating 
schemes, solar installations, and other renewables. 
In addition to the above, energy requirements can be offset by 
introducing insulation to high standards.  We suspect that adequate 
insulation is not being proposed.  
EV charging points are included in the Local Plan and should be a key 
requirement.  However, we notice that the developers already seem to 
be ruling this out as it is considered too expensive. 

6.13 Comments against the scheme from other group/organisations:  
 

Comment from Chesterfield Royal Hospital – S106 on health to be 
considered.  
 
Comment from Transition Chesterfield – this involves the development 
of 34 hectares of greenfield land which would be better used for 
growing food, planting trees and providing habitat. There are 60 
hectares of brownfield land on the register which should be used to 
avoid using greenfield land. Surface water run off will increase, SUD’s 
would be welcomed. The landscaped edge to the north seems narrow. 
The layout does not promote other travel options focusing solely on the 
car. The local centre should be to the centre of the development. Given 
the climate emergency the houses should be built to the highest 
efficiency standard. EV Charging points should be included.  
 
Comment from Derbyshire Swift Conservation Project – There is a 
concentration of breeding Swifts within 0.5 mile of the proposed 
development focused on Rose Wood Close and Spring Wood Close. 
Swifts have undergone a drastic reduction in breeding numbers of over 
65% in the past 25 years primarily due to loss of nest  sites and are 
now red-listed birds of conservation concern. As such it would seem 
appropriate that this development is built incorporating Swift bricks 
(otherwise known as “universal bricks”) so providing nest sites suitable 

Page 151



122 
 

for rapidly declining and red-listed urban bird species such as Swift, 
House Sparrow, Starling and House Martin. 
 
Comment to Cllrs from Derbyshire Police and Crime Commissioner -  
A number of concerns have been raised with me including increased 
volume of traffic, speeding vehicles and the safety of the road itself. As 
you may be aware, Road Safety is one of my key priorities in my Police 
and Crime Plan and I have led on the substantial partnership work 
being carried out to improve road safety across Derbyshire since being 
elected in the role of Police and Crime Commissioner. Residents want 
to see more work being done to help the safety of our road network. 
Having looked through the proposals, I am concerned that if it is 
granted it is likely to see a further increase in the volume of traffic to 
the area. The addition of an extra 500 new houses would see an 
increase of hundreds more cars accessing and frequently using the 
B6050 than current levels.  
At the proposed location for the Dunston Grange Extension, the stretch 
of road on the B6050 includes several commercial units, local 
businesses including a wedding venue, café and farm shop as well as 
local housing units which are all situated in in close proximity to where 
the development would be.  
Some of the issues that have been identified on Dunston Road, 
describing the road as 'very narrow in places, and subject to inclines 
and blind bends’. I am aware that the speed limit of the road has also 
been previously reduced from 60mph to 50mph. I am concerned that if 
this proposal was to be granted, it would have an adverse effect on the 
safety of pedestrians and school children in the area. 
There are multiple schools within the locality of the proposal and the 
safety of school children could be put at risk with the increase in volume 
of traffic that would inevitably be generated from Dunston Grange. 
Residents have said that drivers are using Dunston Estate as a 'rat run' 
to try and avoid traffic from a neighbouring housing development. 
Furthermore, the substantial increase in traffic and potential risk of 
increase in speeding vehicles in the area will have an additional 
negative impact on what is already a difficult and potentially dangerous 
local road network. 

 
6.14 In Support of the proposal: 
  
1. A cricket and sports facility will allow youngsters in the area somewhere 

to play cricket and sport.  
2. This will provide valuable sports facilities for local people.  
3. Hopefully this will encourage youngsters to get into sport.  

Page 152



123 
 

4. The idea of a Cricket Pavilion is refreshing.  
5. Great that there will be the added benefits of a school and cricket pitch, 

sport and education are massively under supplied in the area as is 
housing.  

6. Being able to widen the reach of the Cricket Club to the wider community 
is a prospect all of us at the club relish. It will build on what we have 
achieved over the last few years.  

7. The potential to create a new pavilion and some indoor training facilities 
that could be used by the wider community is exciting.  

8. The new housing, shops and doctors this will ring to the area will make it 
more desirable.  

9. Playing pitches will be a huge boost for the Club. We now have 7 teams 
playing including youth, women and men as well as 8 junior teams training 
children from as young as 4 years. We are proud of our inclusivity.  

10. We would like to create an indoor facility for year round training.  
11. Working together will give us the best chance to seek external funding to 

provide top of the range facilities. This will be a wonderful legacy of this 
development.    

12. Regenerating a former Cricket pitch would be an amazing bonus for the 
area.  

13. Youngsters need somewhere to go and have fun, Chesterfield lacks these 
opportunities.  

14. Girls and women who play for CCC have no home ground, making them 
'nomads', often playing at unsuitable locations with no toilets or changing 
facilities and amongst broken glass, other unsavoury things and anti-social 
behaviour. A new ground and facilities would provide them with 
somewhere to play that is safe, welcoming and comfortable. 

15. The club encourage girls and women into male dominated sports bringing 
forward opportunities for exercise, togetherness, team work and mental 
well-being.  

16. Without adequate grounds and facilities, it will not be possible to continue 
this expansion of girl's and women's 

17. A great incentive for people to move to North Derbyshire, as well as a new 
green space for all generations to thrive upon. 

18. The Clubs ability to maintain, never mind expand, this is severely 
constrained by a lack of available cricket pitches, outdoor nets and indoor 
nets. 

19. Given the club's ability to grow so effectively in recent years, there is huge 
potential to increase involvement from near schools. An increase in 
children and teenagers playing sport, especially in a age of lockdowns, 
social media and other digital distractions, should be welcomed. 

20. There is a severe lack of housing in the UK 

Page 153



124 
 

21. Having a new build will attract new families to the area which can only be 
a good thing. 

22. The house builders are NOT completely destroying the green areas as 
other commentators have suggested but are planning to reinstate a long 
lost cricket field and provide a much needed facility to the area. 

23. The planning should be upheld and new facilities built as soon as possible. 
24. This development would address the imbalance in sporting facilities in the 

north of Chesterfield. 
25. A great opportunity for much needed housing, education and primarily to 

get more kids off the PlayStation to play some sport. 
26. These houses and amenities are vital to the area in what appears to be a 

very thoughtful development.  
27. More local housing is needed.  
28. Young people have had their physical and mental health severely tested 

during Covid. I have seen at first hand what the lack of opportunities to 
exercise and play sport has had on our young people. 

29. This will provide long term income and infrastructure (wider than this 
development) to Chesterfield. 

30. The town needs to grow, not continue on its current decline. 

7.0 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998 
 
7.1 Under the Human Rights Act 1998, which came into force on 2nd 

October 2000, an authority must be in a position to show: 
• Its action is in accordance with clearly established law 
• The objective is sufficiently important to justify the action taken 
• The decisions taken are objective and not irrational or arbitrary 
• The methods used are no more than are necessary to accomplish 

the legitimate objective 
• The interference impairs as little as possible the right or freedom 

 
7.2 It is considered that the recommendation is objective and in 

accordance with clearly established law. 
7.3 The recommended conditions are considered to be no more than 

necessary to control details of the development in the interests of 
amenity and public safety and which interfere as little as possible with 
the rights of the applicant. 

 
8.0 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE WORKING WITH 

APPLICANT 
  

Page 154



125 
 

8.1 The following is a statement on how the Local Planning Authority (LPA) 
has adhered to the requirements of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) (Amendment No. 2) 
Order 2015 in respect of decision making in line with paragraph 38 of 
2021 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).   

 
8.2 Given that the proposed development does not conflict with the NPPF 

or with ‘up-to-date’ Development Plan policies, it is considered to be 
‘sustainable development’ and there is a presumption on the LPA to 
seek to approve the application. The LPA has used conditions to deal 
with outstanding issues with the development and has been sufficiently 
proactive and positive in proportion to the nature and scale of the 
development applied for.  

 
8.3 The applicant /agent and any objectors/supporter will be notified of the 

Committee date and invited to speak, and this report informing them of 
the application considerations and recommendation /conclusion is 
available on the website. 

 
9.0 CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 The development of such a large greenfield site for housing will bring 

change to the local area, which is an understandable concern for many 
local residents. However, planning decisions must be based on the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
The site is allocated for 500 homes with local centre and provision for 
a 1FE primary school. Policy SS6 sets out the remit of the allocation 
and the requirements of this policy are considered to have been met. 
It should be noted that prior to the site being allocated for the extent of 
development set out in the policy, an assessment of the suitability and 
sensitivity of the site for development has been undertaken to ensure 
the capacity and access to the site can be achieved and this involves 
the consideration of parties such as the Highway Authority. Therefore, 
this site would not have been allocated if there was doubt as to the 
suitability of the site for development. In this regard the ‘principle’ of the 
development, which this application seeks, is established by the 
allocation of the site for development.  

 
9.2 Policy SS6 sets out the detailed requirements of the allocation, it is 

important to revisit those points:  
“Planning permission will be granted for residential development for 
approximately 500 dwellings on land north of Dunston and south east 
of Dunston Road as allocated on the Policies Map and as set out in 

Page 155



126 
 

Table 4 (site reference SS6). Development should be carried out in 
accordance with a masterplan to be agreed with the Local Planning 
Authority prior to development that demonstrates: 
 
i. acceptable access arrangements from Dunston Road and Dunston 
Lane; 
   
- The access points from Dunston Road are considered appropriate 

by the Highway Authority.  
 
ii. appropriate provision for walking and cycling within the site. 
 
- Whilst the Masterplan is indicative only the layout shows 

appropriate footpath connections and cycle links.  
   

 iii. appropriate transport mitigation to ensure an acceptable impact on 
the highway network for all users; 
 
-  As set out above the Highway Authority are satisfied with the 

proposal subject to conditions and S106 matters.  
 
iv. appropriate mitigation to minimise any adverse impacts to the 
significance of affected heritage assets, including their settings. 
 
- Sufficient consideration of the heritage impacts has been 

undertaken in the indicative layout to ensure screening protection 
to the adjacent Heritage assets.  

 
v. provision of a new local centre to serve development; 
 
- A local centre in an appropriate position is proposed within the 

development.  
 
vi. provision of a site reserved for a new one form entry primary school 
(to be retained until such time as required or evidence can be provided 
of a lack of need); 
 
- provision of a site for a 1FE entry primary school is included in the 

layout and tied via S106 agreement.  
 
vii. a scheme of green infrastructure including landscaping, open 
space, play and sports provision including re-instatement of the former 

Page 156



127 
 

cricket pitch, and early implementation of a landscaping and planting 
scheme along Dunston Road; 
 
- all of these requirements are met within the development subject to 

condition and S106 agreement.  
 

viii. a phasing plan for development phases and the provision of 
infrastructure.” 
 
- Phasing will be integrated into the conditions and S106 agreement 

to ensure appropriate delivery of the various elements of the 
scheme at an appropriate point in the development.   

 
9.2 Concern has also been raised that detailed matters are not being 

considered at this initial stage. Given the scale and complexity of such 
a development it is a sensible approach to submit an outline application 
to establish the principle of the development followed by reserved 
matters applications which then consider detail, likely in a phased 
approach. This is a standard approach to larger development sites. 
The reserved matters are then considered through a further application 
process and are subject to the same level of public scrutiny.  

 
9.3 It is considered that the concerns raised have been considered fully 

and whilst they no doubt remain these have been addressed within the 
remit of the application and the planning system. 

 
9.4 The proposal is therefore considered to meet the expectation of the 

allocation and the requirements of Policy SS6 subject to conditions and 
matters to be tied into a S106 legal agreement. On this basis the 
proposal is recommended for approval.  

 
10.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Recommendation 1 
 
10.1 It is therefore recommended that the application be GRANTED subject 

to the following S106 matters being concluded as set out in 10.2 and 
conditions as set out in 10.4: 

 
10.2  S106 matters:  
 
1.      William Davis Homes will provide Cutthorpe Cricket Club with the 

following:  

Page 157



128 
 

 Freehold of 2.81ha of land for a nominal (£1) fee.  
Planning Obligations totalling up to £887k (index linked) towards the 

provision of:  
 Delivery of or a financial contribution towards the provision of a 

‘cricket pitch’ including a cricket square (6 pitch square – 458m2) 
and outfield (11,925m2), including 12 months maintenance/grow - in 
costs (c.£270 k – Agronomist Costs)  

 A two- team pavilion with umpire changing facilities and social space 
totalling 215 sqm (c.£ 462k SPONS 2021costs )  

 Associated infrastructure, e.g. Car park, pavements and drainage 
(estimated cost of up to £155k) Provision of access and service 
connections to the edge of the site including (gas, electricity, water 
and broadband).   

 As part of the submission of the detailed application the design of 
the cricket club and playing pitch will be supported by appropriate 
surveys and assessments undertaken by appropriate professionals. 

To be index linked.  
To be linked to the phasing of the development as set out in the 
conditions.  
 
This will be on a cascade provision firstly to Cutthorpe Cricket Club, 
then to another local Cricket Club, then if this should fail a scheme to 
be submitted for the land to become additional habitat with a 
biodiversity enhancement scheme to be submitted for this along with 
long term (30+ years) management and monitoring programme 
agreed. 
 

2.            CCG contribution for GP provision - £450,000 (index Linked) to be paid 
on the occupation of the 10th Unit. (Dialogue with the CCG is continuing 
regarding the potential project/s) 
 

3.           The land reserved for the 1FE primary school will be set aside for such 
provision for a set period of 10 years from the commencement of the 
development. With bi-annual assessment from the commencement to 
the end of a 10 year period, as necessary, to be provided from 
Derbyshire County Council as Education Authority based on birth rates 
and cohort data, to set out the need for the school places in order to 
aid determination under which phase the school shall be provided.   
At the end of the 10 year period from commencement, or shorter time 
period to be agreed with both CBC and DCC, should the land no longer 
need to be set aside for school delivery a scheme for an alternative 
use to be provided on the land shall be submitted to and agreed in 
writing with the LPA and subject to a further submission.   

Page 158



129 
 

 
4.            Footpath and cycle connections to Baines Wood Close and Kirkstone 

Road at a contribution of £111,650.00 (Index linked) including a 10% 
contingency (with any over payment to be returned to the developer), 
or alternatively to be constructed by William Davis on an agreed 
scheme. Along with William Davis taking responsibility for the long term 
maintenance of the footpath connections. Contribution to be provided 
on commencement of the relevant phase from which the footpath will 
be taken or if provided on site by William Davis for the phasing of the 
provision to be agreed.  
 

5.            Affordable housing provision of 10% provision within each phase with 
a 90/10 percentage split (or as otherwise agreed) of affordable rent and 
shared ownership.  
 

6.            Highways:  
 Travel Plan Monitoring fee of £11,165.00.  
 Travel Bond fee of £413,952.00. 
  Upgrade of bus stops on Cordwell Avenue – contribution yet to be 
confirmed by the Highway Authority.  
(index linked)  

 
7. Should the extent of habitat creation fall below that anticipated under 

conditions 31 and 32 of the planning permission, as to be assessed 
through the submission of each reserved matters application; then an 
off-site biodiversity contribution of £20,000 per habitat unit (index 
linked) to CBC for the off site gain to be provided within the borough, 
shall be provided to equate to the anticipated on-site requirement. A 
report to assess progress shall be submitted bi-annually from 
commencement of development to the end of a 10 year period with 
payments to address the shortfall to be made within 3 months of a 
submitted report advising that the habitat creation will fall short of the 
required amount. At the end of the 10 year period then if no off-site 
contribution is required no further assessments beyond this time period 
will be required.   

 
Recommendation 2:  
 
10.3 It is recommended that a Tree Preservation Order be served to protect 

the trees on site, specifically all Category A and B trees shown on the 
Tree Constraints Plan (Appendix A) with the exception of: T43 (G) and 
T5 to T7, which in the case of T5 to T7 are likely to be removed to allow 
the main access into the site and in the case of T43(G) are likely to be 

Page 159



130 
 

at least partially removed to form the Cricket Pitch access/visibility 
splays.  

 
10.4 Conditions  
 
1. Application for approval of all reserved matters must be made not later 

than the expiration of ten years from the date of this permission. The 
development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the 
expiration of two years from the final approval of the reserved matters, 
or in the case of approval of such matters on different dates, the date 
of the final approval of the last such matter to be approved. 

 
 Reason: 
 This is an extended time period in order to allow for the phased delivery 

of the development to comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Article 5(1) of the Town and 
Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2015. 

 
2. An application for details of the following matters, in a phased approach 

as required (hereafter referred to as the “reserved matters”), shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
before the commencement of any works:- 
a) the scale of the development; 
b) the layout of the development, including internal access roads; 
c) the external appearance of the development; 
d) the landscaping of the site 
The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with 
the approved details. 

 
 Reason: The application was made for outline planning permission and 

is granted to comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and Article 5(1) of the Town and Country 
Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2015. 

 
3. The development hereby approved shall only be carried out in 

accordance with the approved plans (listed below) with the exception 
of any approved non-material amendment or conditional requirement 
set out below.  
 
 Location Plan P19-2720 001 sheet no 1 Rev C received 

19.07.2021 
 Access link from Phase 1 DGC-BWB-HML-XX-DR-TR-102 S2 Rev 

P1 received 19.07.2021 

Page 160



131 
 

 Cricket Club access plan DGC2-BWB-GEN-XX-DR-TR-100 S2 
Rev P7 received 06.07.2022 

 Site Access Plan DGC2-BWB-GEN-XX-DR-TR-101 Revision P7 
received 06.07.2022 

 Design and Access Statement V2 received 06.07.2022 which 
includes the indicative Master Plan dated June 2022 

 Sustainable drainage statement DNG2-BWB-ZZ-XX-RP-CD-
0001_SDS Rev P05 received 03.11.2022 

 Flood Risk Assessment DNG2-BWB-ZZ-XX-RP-YE-0001_FRA 
Rev P04 received 10.10.2022 

 Geodyne Combined Phase 1 Desk Study and Phase 2 Exploratory 
Investigation (Stage 1) received 10.10.2022 

 
 Reason - In order to clarify the extent of the planning permission. 
 
4. Prior to the submission of the first reserved matters application for the 

site the subject of this permission, a supplementary Development 
Framework Masterplan shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval in writing. The Framework shall seek to establish 
the overarching design approach for the entire site to inform any 
phased reserved matters proposals. The Framework should be 
compatible and expand upon the principles set in the June 2022 
Masterplan set out in the Design and Access Statement (DAS) V2 and 
upon the content of the revised Design and Access Statement (DAS) 
V2 and those of the adopted Supplementary Planning Document 
'Successful Places: Housing Layout and Design'. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that the development is constructed to appropriate 

design quality / standard in accordance with the requirements of 
policies SS6 and CLP20 of the Adopted Local Plan and the ‘Successful 
Places’ SPD. 

 
Phasing 
5.  The first reserved matters submission required by condition 2 shall 

include a phasing scheme for the whole of the outline permission site 
area, including; 

 Details of the construction access, detailing the earliest feasible point 
the access through the Skylarks site will no longer used for construction 
vehicles, 
Setting out the maximum housing numbers within each phase, 
Referring to the school provision as set out in the S106 agreement;  

Page 161



132 
 

A phasing scheme for the delivery of the Cricket Pitch and associated 
facilities and access, 
A phasing scheme for the delivery of the Local Centre and associated 
facilities,  
A phasing scheme for the early delivery of the landscaped edge to the 
northern boundary of the site. 
The sequence of development across the whole site; such as strategic 
drainage and SuDS infrastructure, green infrastructure, cycle routes 
and footpaths (including links to Kirkstone Road and Baines Wood 
Close), and the associated access arrangements and timescales for 
implementation of the off-site highway improvements. 
The development shall be completed in accordance with the agreed 
details.  
 
Reason: For clarification and to secure appropriate phasing of the 
development in accordance with policy SS6 of the Adopted Local Plan.  

 
6.  No development shall commence until the site wide phasing 

programme required by condition 5 has been approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. Thereafter each subsequent reserved matters 
application for any phase (or part thereof) shall be accompanied by an 
updated programme or statement of compliance for approval by the 
local planning authority. Thereafter the development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the phasing programme as approved and/or 
updated. The development shall be completed in line with the agreed 
details. 

 
 Reason: For clarification and to ensure appropriate control over the 

whole development in accordance with Policy SS6 of the Adopted Local 
Plan. 

 
7.  Each reserved matters submission shall set out within a supporting 

statement, measures to minimise carbon emissions, including but not 
restricted to; 
The construction of the dwellings in terms of; heating, cooling, use of 
renewables, insultation, orientation and energy efficiency,  
A strategy to reduce carbon emissions through construction, 
A justification for any mains gas connection,  
Works shall be completed in accordance with the agreed details.  
 
Reason: To seek to minimise emissions from the development in 
accordance with Policy CLP20 of the Adopted Local Plan.  

 

Page 162



133 
 

8. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or in any 
Statutory Instrument revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification) no chimneys or flues shall be installed in any housing 
without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority upon 
an application submitted to it. 

 Reason: To seek to minimise emissions from the development in 
accordance with Policy CLP20 of the Adopted Local Plan. 

 
9.  a) No development shall take place, within any phase, until a Written 

Scheme of Investigation for archaeological work has been submitted to 
and approved by the local planning authority in writing, and until the 
pre-start elements of the approved scheme (to be identified in the WSI) 
have been completed to the written satisfaction of the local planning 
authority, all can be agreed in a phased manner as required.  The 
scheme shall include an assessment of significance and research 
questions; and  

 1.         The programme and methodology of site investigation and 
recording 
2.         The programme for post investigation assessment 
3.         Provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and 
recording 
4.         Provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the 
analysis and records of the site investigation 
5.         Provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and 
records of the site investigation 
6.         Nomination of a competent person or persons/organization to 
undertake the works set out within the Written Scheme of Investigation 
 b) No development shall take place other than in accordance with the 
archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation approved under 
condition (a). 
c) There shall be no occupation within each phase until the site 
investigation and post investigation reporting has been completed in 
accordance with the programme set out in the archaeological Written 
Scheme of Investigation approved under condition (a) and the provision 
to be made for publication and dissemination of results and archive 
deposition has been secured. 
 
Reason: In the interests of preserving and/or recording historical 
information in accordance with Policy CLP21 of the Adopted Local 
Plan.   

 

Page 163



134 
 

Highways: 
10.  Prior to any works commencing within each phase, exceeding site 

clearance, a construction management plan or construction method 
statement shall be submitted to and be approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The approved plan/statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the construction period. The statement shall provide for: 
• Parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors 
• Routes for construction traffic, including abnormal loads/cranes 

etc 
• Hours of operation 
• Method of prevention of debris being carried onto highway 
• Pedestrian and cyclist protection 
• Proposed temporary traffic restrictions 
• Wheel washing facilities 

 
 Reason: In the interest of Highway Safety in accordance with policies 

CLP20 and 22 of the Adopted Local Plan.  
 
11.  Prior to any works commencing within each phase, exceeding site 

clearance, construction details of the residential estate roads and 
footways (including layout, levels, gradients, surfacing and means of 
surface water drainage) shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
 Reason: In the interest of Highway Safety in accordance with policies 

CLP20 and 22 of the Adopted Local Plan.  
 
12. No part of the development within each phase shall be occupied until 

parking of residents and visitors vehicles and details of secure cycle 
parking facilities for the occupants of, and visitors to, the development 
have been provided within the site in accordance with the details/plan 
which need to be agreed as part of a subsequent Reserved Matters 
applications. These facilities shall be fully implemented and made 
available for use prior to the occupation of the the relevant unit hereby 
permitted and shall thereafter be retained for use at all times. 

 
 Reason: In the interest of Highway Safety in accordance with policies 

CLP20 and 22 of the Adopted Local Plan.  
 
13.  In line with condition 5 phasing, no part of the development, other than 

that served by the access link from the adjacent Skylarks estate, shall 
be occupied until new vehicular accesses have been formed to the 

Page 164



135 
 

proposed site in accordance with the application drawing No DGC2-
BWB-GEN-XX-DR-TR-101 Revision P7, provided with visibility 
sightlines extending from a point 2.4 metres from the carriageway edge, 
measured along the centreline of the accesses, for a distance of 
108.3m in the northern direction and 137.2m in the southern direction 
measured along the nearside carriageway edge. The land in advance 
of the visibility sightlines shall be retained throughout the life of the 
development free of any object greater than 1m in height (0.6m in the 
case of vegetation) relative to adjoining nearside carriageway channel 
level.  

 
 Reason: In the interest of Highway Safety in accordance with policies 

CLP20 and 22 of the Adopted Local Plan.  
 
14. No part of the built development hereby permitted on a development 

parcel shall be commenced on a particular phase or sub-phase unless 
the internal layout/ internal design of the roads of that particular phase 
or sub-phase has been agreed as part of a relevant Reserved Matters 
applications. As part of a Reserved Matters application (including 
appropriately worded conditions) the scheme of the internal layout must 
include information such as detailed design of internal roads, gradients, 
dimensioned plan, swept path assessments for refuse vehicle and fire 
tender vehicle, waste strategy management document, drainage, bus 
access strategy,  dimension of carriageway and footways, road radii, 
turning head dimension, visibility splays at junctions, at driveways and 
garages, cross-corner visibility, forward visibility, pedestrian visibility 
etc. should be provided, all in accordance with current guidance in a 
manner be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with the Highway Authority.   

 
 Reason: In the interest of Highway Safety in accordance with policies 

CLP20 and 22 of the Adopted Local Plan.  
 
15. The details to be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval 

as part of each reserved matters application shall include 
scheme/schemes for the storage of refuse and recycling bins and 
access for refuse collection vehicles. No development within each 
phase as agreed under condition 5, shall be occupied until the agreed 
refuse collection scheme relevant to the property has been 
implemented in full. The refuse collection scheme(s) shall then be 
retained as such thereafter.  

 

Page 165



136 
 

 Reason: In the interest of Highway Safety in accordance with policies 
CLP20 and 22 of the Adopted Local Plan.  

 
16. The cricket club/pitch element of the development hereby approved 

shall not be brought into use until the access has been provided as 
shown on drawing DGC-BWB-GEN-XX-DR-TR-100 Rev P6, the 
access shall thereafter be retained throughout the life of the 
development. 

 
 Reason: In the interest of Highway Safety in accordance with policies 

CLP20 and 22 of the Adopted Local Plan.  
 
17. Before any other operations are commenced, within any phase or sub-

phase, (excluding site clearance) detailed designs of temporary 
access(es) to the development site for construction purposes shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for written approval. The 
approved temporary access(es) shall be implemented and maintained 
in accordance with the approved details throughout the contract period 
free from any impediment to its designated use. 

 
 Reason: In the interest of Highway Safety in accordance with policies 

CLP20 and 22 of the Adopted Local Plan.  
 
Coal:  
18. Prior to the submission of each reserved matters application, in a 

phased approach as required; There shall be the undertaking of a 
scheme of intrusive site investigations, designed by a competent 
person and adequate to properly assess the ground conditions on the 
site and establish the risks posed to the development by past coal 
mining activity (shallow mining / mine entries and high walls); 

 As part of each reserved matters application, in a phased approach as 
required, a report of findings arising from the intrusive site 
investigations and any remedial and / or measures necessary, 
including the submission of the proposed layout plan which identifies 
the location of any high wall and on-site mine entries (if found present) 
including appropriate zones of influence for all mine entries, and the 
definition of suitable ‘no-build’ zones; 

 Prior to the commencement of development within each phase the 
agreed remedial works shall be implemented in full and a verification 
report on the works submitted.  

 

Page 166



137 
 

 Reason: In order to ensure the site is appropriately remediated in the 
interests of safety in accordance with Policy CLP14 of the Adopted 
Local Plan.  

 
19. Prior to development commencing within any phase (or subphase as 

may be agreed in writing by the local planning authority under the terms 
of condition 5 above), an Employment and Training Scheme shall be 
submitted to and be approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
The Scheme shall include a strategy to promote local supply chain, 
employment and training opportunities throughout the construction of 
the development and the scheme. Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved scheme.  

 
 Reason: In order to support the regeneration and prosperity of the 

Borough, in accordance with the provisions of Policy CLP6 of the 
Adopted Local Plan. 

 
20. In relation to each phase and as part of the reserved matters 

submission there shall be: 
 A plan showing clearly defined Landscape buffers shown on plan along 

Dunston Road and the natural landscapes to the west and south 
including ‘Ochre Dyke’ with the measurement in metres annotated on 
plan, to separate the development from these landscape features and 
excluded from residential dwellings and boundaries, 

 A plan showing appropriate buffer zones where ‘Important’ hedgerows 
have been identified, with the measurement in metres shown, to 
separate the development from these landscape features.  

 All excluding agreed works taking place such as access, in line with the 
protection areas to be agreed under condition 21. 

 
 Reason: Required to satisfy the Local Planning Authority that the 

‘Important’ hedgerows to be retained will not be damaged during land 
clearance and construction and to ensure their continued protection 
under the Hedgerow Regulations 1997 and in line with Policy CLP16 of 
the Adopted Local Plan. In addition, protecting the appearance and 
character of the site in accordance with Policy CLP20 of the Adopted 
Local Plan.  

 
21. Prior to the commencement of the development within each phase or 

sub-phase as approved under condition 5 above, (including land 
stripping and all preparatory work), a scheme within each phase, for 
the protection of the retained landscape features, hedgerows and trees, 
in accordance with BS 5837:2012, including a tree protection plan(s) 

Page 167



138 
 

(TPP) and an arboricultural method statement (AMS) shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Specific issues to be dealt with in the TPP and AMS: 

 
a) Location and installation of services/ utilities/ drainage. 
b) Methods of demolition within the root protection area (RPA as 

defined in BS 5837: 2012) of the retained trees. 
c) Details of construction within the RPA or that may impact on the 

retained trees. 
d) a full specification for the installation of boundary treatment works. 
e) a full specification for the construction of any roads, parking areas 

and driveways, including details of the no-dig specification and 
extent of the areas of the roads, parking areas and driveways to be 
constructed using a no-dig specification. Details shall include 
relevant sections through them. 

f) Detailed levels and cross-sections to show that the raised levels of 
surfacing, where the installation of no-dig surfacing within Root 
Protection Areas is proposed, demonstrating that they can be 
accommodated where they meet with any adjacent building damp 
proof courses and existing surfaces. 

g) A specification for protective fencing to safeguard the landscape 
features, hedgerows and trees during land stripping, demolition and 
construction phases and a plan indicating the alignment of the 
protective fencing. 

h) a specification for scaffolding and ground protection within tree 
protection zones. 

i) Tree protection during construction indicated on a TPP and 
construction and construction activities clearly identified as 
prohibited in this area. 

j) details of site access, temporary parking, on site welfare facilities, 
loading, unloading and storage of equipment, materials, fuels and 
waste as well concrete mixing and use of fires 

k) Boundary treatments within the RPA 
l) Methodology and detailed assessment of root pruning 
m) Arboricultural supervision and inspection by a suitably qualified tree 

specialist 
n) Reporting of inspection and supervision 
o) Methods to improve the rooting environment for retained and 

proposed trees and landscaping 
The development thereafter shall be implemented in strict accordance 
with the approved details. 

 

Page 168



139 
 

 Reason: Required prior to commencement of development to satisfy 
the Local Planning Authority that the landscaping features, hedgerows 
and trees to be retained will not be damaged during demolition or 
construction and to protect and enhance the appearance and character 
of the site and locality pursuant to section 197 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

 
22. As part of each reserved matter to include landscaping, in a phased 

approach as required; details of treatment of all parts on the site not 
covered by buildings shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The site shall be landscaped strictly in 
accordance with the approved details in the first planting season after 
completion or first occupation of the development, whichever is the 
sooner. Details shall include: 
1) a scaled plan showing all existing vegetation and landscape features 

to be retained and trees and plants to be planted; 
2) location, type and materials to be used for hard landscaping 

including specifications, where applicable for: 
a) permeable paving 
b) tree pit design 
c) underground modular systems 
d) Sustainable urban drainage integration 
e) use within tree Root Protection Areas (RPAs); 
3) a schedule detailing sizes and numbers/densities of all proposed 

trees/plants; 
4) specifications for operations associated with plant establishment and 

maintenance that are compliant with best practise; and 
5) types and dimensions of all boundary treatments 

 
 There shall be no excavation or raising or lowering of levels within the 

prescribed root protection area of retained trees unless agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Unless required by a separate 
landscape management condition, all soft landscaping shall have a 
written five year maintenance programme following planting. Any new 
tree(s) that die(s), are/is removed or become(s) severely damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced and any new planting (other than trees) 
which dies, is removed, becomes severely damaged or diseased within 
five years of planting shall be replaced. Unless further specific 
permission has been given by the Local Planning Authority, 
replacement planting shall be in accordance with the approved details. 

   
 Reason: Required to safeguard and enhance the character and 

amenity of the area, to provide ecological, environmental and bio-

Page 169



140 
 

diversity benefits and to maximise the quality and usability of open 
spaces within the development, and to enhance its setting within the 
immediate locality in accordance with policy CLP16 of the Adopted 
Local Plan.  

 
LLFA:  
23.  No development shall take place until a detailed design and associated 

management and maintenance plan of the surface water drainage for 
the site, in accordance with the principles outlined within:  

 a. BWB. (03.11.2022). Dunston Grange Extension, Chesterfield 
Sustainable Drainage Statement, DNG2-BWB-ZZ-XX-RP-CD-
0001_SDS, Revision P05, BWB. (19.04.2022). Dunston Grange 
Extension, Chesterfield Flood Risk Assessment, DNG2-BWB-ZZ-
XXRP-YE-0001_FRA, Revision P04 & Bailey, M. (BWB) (2022). Letter 
to Jo CrawshawMoore, 18 October (referenced DNG2-BWB-ZZ-XX-
RP-CD-0002_S2-P02), including any subsequent amendments or 
updates to those documents as approved by the Flood Risk 
Management Team  

 b. And DEFRA’s Non-statutory technical standards for sustainable 
drainage systems (March 2015), have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not increase 

flood risk and that the principles of sustainable drainage are 
incorporated into this proposal, and sufficient detail of the construction, 
operation and maintenance/management of the sustainable drainage 
systems are provided to the Local Planning Authority, in advance of full 
planning consent being granted. In accordance with Policy CLP13 of 
the Adopted Local Plan. 

 
24.  Prior to commencement of the development within any phase, the 

applicant shall submit for approval to the LPA details indicating how 
additional surface water run-off from the site will be avoided during 
each construction phase. The applicant may be required to provide 
collection, balancing and/or settlement systems for these flows. The 
approved system shall be operating to the satisfaction of the LPA, 
before the commencement of any works, which would lead to increased 
surface water run-off from site during each construction phase. 

 
 Reason: To ensure surface water is managed appropriately during the 

construction phase of the development, so as not to increase the flood 
risk to adjacent land/properties or occupied properties within the 

Page 170



141 
 

development, in accordance with Policy CLP13 of the Adopted Local 
Plan.  

 
25.  The attenuation ponds should not be brought into use until such a time 

as a scheme for implementation, design and construction in line with 
CIRIA SuDS manual C753 and an associated management and 
maintenance plan, in line with CIRIA SuDS Manual C753 in accordance 
with the submitted design plans submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that the proposed attenuation pond does not 

increase flood risk, that the principles of sustainable drainage are 
incorporated into the proposal, the system is operational prior to first 
use and that maintenance and management of the sustainable 
drainage systems is secured for the future, in accordance with Policy 
CLP13 of the Adopted Local Plan.  

 
26.  Prior to commencement of development within any phase to which it 

relates, a survey of the capacity and condition of Ochre Dyke, from the 
point of discharge of the proposed drainage scheme to the point of 
adoption by Yorkshire Water, shall be undertaken and submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority. The survey shall be carried out by a suitably 
qualified engineer and shall make recommendations for any 
maintenance required to ensure the culvert is fit for purpose to accept 
the flows and to demonstrate that structural integrity of the culvert shall 
be maintained for the lifetime of the development. All recommendations 
made by the survey shall be fully implemented prior to the first 
occupation within the relevant phase of the development. 

 
 Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding due to inadequacy of 

the culvert in accordance with Policy CLP13 of the Adopted Local Plan  
 
27.  Prior to the first occupation, within each phase relating to its relative 

drainage catchment, a verification report carried out by a qualified 
drainage engineer must be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. This must demonstrate that the serving drainage 
system has been constructed as per the agreed scheme (or detail any 
minor variations), provide the details of any management company and 
state the national grid reference of any key drainage elements (surface 
water attenuation devices/areas, flow restriction devices and outfalls). 

 

Page 171



142 
 

 Reason: To ensure that the drainage system is constructed to the 
national Non-statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage 
and CIRIA standards C753. 

 
Ecology and Biodiversity:  
29. Prior to the commencement of development in each phase (including 

compound set-up, fencing installation, ground works, vegetation 
clearance), updated ecological surveys will be undertaken as 
necessary and in line with CIEEM 2019 guidelines to ensure 
appropriate mitigation measures are in place and inform the production 
of a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP: 
Biodiversity). 

 
 Reason: In order to ensure appropriate consideration of habitat and 

species in accordance with Policy CLP16 of the Adopted Local Plan.  
 
30. Construction and Environment Management Plan (CEMP: 

Biodiversity): 
Prior to the commencement of development in each phase (including 
compound set-up, fencing installation, ground works, vegetation 
clearance) a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP: 
Biodiversity) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The CEMP shall be informed by update ecological 
surveys for each phase, in addition to the baseline surveys undertaken 
at the outline stage. The CEMP shall include the following: 
a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities. 
b) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”, including all retained 
habitat and sensitive features. 
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working 
practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction. These will 
specifically include measures to safeguard nesting birds, badgers, 
reptiles and amphibians, along with more general habitat protection 
measures. 
d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to 
biodiversity features. 
e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be 
present on site to oversee works. 
f) Responsible persons and lines of communication. 
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works 
(ECoW) or similarly competent person. 
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs. 

Page 172



143 
 

The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout 
the construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure appropriate consideration of habitat and 
species in accordance with Policy CLP16 of the Adopted Local Plan.  
 

31. Biodiversity Net Gain Update 
Prior to the commencement of each phase of development, an updated 
biodiversity metric for the whole site shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval. This shall reflect the final layout and 
landscaping for that phase and ensure the development is on track to 
deliver the predicted level of biodiversity net gain approved at the 
outline stage, as a minimum (+1.40 % habitat units, +46.25 % 
hedgerow units and +21.97 % river units). If this cannot be achieved on 
site then appropriate provision shall be provided off site in line with the 
S106 agreement.  
 
Reason: In order to ensure biodiversity net gain in accordance with 
Policy CLP16 of the Adopted Local Plan.  
 

32. Landscape and Biodiversity Enhancement and Management Plan 
(LBEMP): 
Prior to the commencement of each phase of development, a 
Landscape and Biodiversity Enhancement and Management Plan 
(LBEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. This shall be an iterative document, with 
management prescriptions for each phase of works added over time 
with a view to producing one document for the whole site. The aim of 
the LBEMP is to enhance and sympathetically manage the biodiversity 
value of onsite habitats and should combine both the ecology and 
landscape disciplines. It shall be suitable to provide to the management 
body responsible for the site and shall include the following: 
a) Description and location of features to be retained, created, 
enhanced and managed. 
b) Aims and objectives of management, to include achieving the level 
of net gain specified in the approved biodiversity metric for each phase 
and delivering no less than +1.40 % habitat units, +46.25 % hedgerow 
units and +21.97 % river units across the whole site. 
c) Appropriate management methods and practices to achieve aims 
and objectives, including 
the desired habitat conditions specified in the approved metric. 
d) Prescriptions for management actions. 

Page 173



144 
 

e) Preparation of a work schedule (including a 30-year work plan 
capable of being rolled forward in perpetuity). 
f) Details of the body or organization responsible for implementation of 
the plan. 
g) A detailed monitoring schedule to assess the success of the 
enhancement and management measures. 
h) A set of remedial measures to be applied if conservation aims and 
objectives of the plan are not being met. 
i) Reporting requirement to submit monitoring results and any remedial 
actions to the LPA. The LBEMP shall also include details of the legal 
and funding mechanism(s) by which the long-term implementation of 
the plan will be secured by the developer with the management 
body(ies) responsible for its delivery. The approved plan will be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure biodiversity enhancement in accordance 
with Policy CLP16 of the Adopted Local Plan.  
 

33. Ecological Enhancement Plan: 
 Prior to building works commencing above foundation level in each 

phase, a Biodiversity Enhancement Plan shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such approved 
measures shall be implemented in full and maintained thereafter. The 
plan shall clearly show positions, specifications and numbers of 
features, which will include (but are not limited to) the following: 

 • integrated bird boxes on all dwellings where possible, as per the 
British Standard 42021:2022. 

 • integrated bat boxes in 20% of dwellings. 
 • insect bricks in 20% of dwellings. 
 • variety of tree-mounted bat and bird boxes in suitable locations. 
 • features for amphibians and reptiles in suitable locations, such as log 

piles and hibernacula. 
 • gaps 130 mm x 130 mm in residential garden fencing to maintain 

connectivity for hedgehogs. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure biodiversity enhancement in accordance 
with Policy CLP16 of the Adopted Local Plan.  
 

34. As part of the appropriate and related reserved matters application to 
be determined as part of the phasing under condition 5, details of the 
upgrading of the public right of way through the site, if possible to 
include hacking and cycling provision, shall be submitted.  
 

Page 174



145 
 

Reason: To ensure the appropriate upgrade of the right of way in 
accordance with policies CLP1 and 2 of the Adopted Local Plan.  
 

35. As part of the appropriate and related reserved matters application to 
be determined as part of the phasing under condition 5, detailed plans 
of the connections with Kirkstone Road, existing Skylarks development 
and Baines Wood Close shall be submitted.  

 
Reason: To ensure the appropriate links into the site in accordance with 
policies CLP1 and 2 of the Adopted Local Plan.  

 
36. Prior to any construction or contaminated land remediation works 

commence in connection with each identified phase, a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority detailing the 
provisions to be made for the monitoring and control of:  
a)  Operating hours:  No demolition, construction or contaminated land 
remediation activities, movement of traffic, or deliveries to and from the 
premises, shall occur other  
Monday to Friday: 08:00 – 18:00 
Saturday: 08:00 – 13:00 
Sundays and bank Holidays - No working 
b)  Noise and vibration:  To demonstrate compliance with the guidance 
in British Standard BS5228 Noise and vibration control on construction 
and open sites; including the proposed measurement methodology, the 
location of monitoring locations and noise-sensitive premises, the 
maximum permitted facade noise levels.  No piling, blasting, dynamic 
compaction or use of vibrating rollers shall occur without the written 
approval of the Local Planning Authority; 
c)  Dust/Particulate emissions:  To include the prevention of 
dust/particulates being blown off-site.  At such times as the prevention 
of dust/particulate nuisance by the agreed means is not possible, the 
movement of vehicles, soils or dusty materials must temporarily cease 
until such time as weather conditions improve; 
d)  Waste:  To include suitable and sufficient provisions for the 
collection, storage and disposal of waste materials.  No unwanted 
materials shall be disposed of on site by burning without the prior 
written approval of the Local Planning Authority; 
e)  Lighting:  To include a site plan showing the proposed types, 
locations and heights of the lamps, vertical illuminance levels (Lux) to 
the facades of agreed light-sensitive premises and operating times. 
 All works shall be fully implemented in accordance with the approved 
CEMP.  The CEMP shall be reviewed at least at the start of each phase 

Page 175



146 
 

of the development or where there are changes to relevant legislation 
or where changes are made to the agreed CEMP. 
  
Reason: This pre commencement condition is required to safeguard 
the privacy and amenities of the occupiers of adjoining properties in 
accordance with policy CLP14 of the Adopted Local Plan. 
 

37. A. Development shall not commence within any phase (or sub-phase 
as may be agreed in writing by the local planning authority under the 
terms of condition 5 above), until details as specified in this condition 
have been submitted to the local planning authority for consideration 
and those details, or any amendments to those details as may be 
required, have received the written approval of the local planning 
authority. 
i. Further works/investigations/monitoring, as recommended in the 
Geodyne Combined Phase 1 Desk Study and Phase 2 Exploratory 
Investigation (Stage 1) received 10.10.2022 
, shall be carried out in accordance with current guidance using UKAS 
accredited methods. All technical data must be submitted to the local 
planning authority. 
ii. A detailed scheme of remedial works should the further investigations 
reveal the presence of ground gas or other contamination. The scheme 
shall include a remediation Method Statement and Risk Assessment 
Strategy to avoid any risk arising when the site is developed or 
occupied. 
B. If, during remediation works, any contamination is identified that has 
not been considered in the Remediation Method Statement, then 
additional remediation proposals for this material shall be submitted to 
the local planning authority for written approval. Any approved 
proposals shall thereafter form part of the Remediation Method 
Statement. 
C. The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until a 
written Validation Report (pursuant to A II and A III only) has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. A 
Validation Report is required to confirm that all remedial works have 
been completed and validated in accordance with the agreed 
Remediation Method Statement. 

 
Reason: To ensure appropriate mitigation and remediation of the site 
in accordance with Policy CLP14 of the Adopted Local Plan. 
 

38. No individual dwelling hereby approved shall be occupied until the 
optional requirement for water consumption (110 litres use per person 

Page 176



147 
 

per day) in Part G of the Building Regulations has been complied with 
for that dwelling. 
 
Reason: To protect the water environment in accordance with policy 
CLP13 of the of the adopted Chesterfield Borough Local Plan and to 
accord with paragraph 149 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

39. Each reserved matters submission shall demonstrate that 25% of the 
residential units across the whole site, including across tenures, shall 
be to the M4(2) building regulations for adaptable and accessible 
homes.  

 
Reason: To ensure appropriate consideration of the requirements set 
out in policy CLP4 of the Adopted Local Plan.  
 

40.  The phased scheme to be agreed under condition 5 shall be built in 
accordance with the approved Plans set out in condition 3 above, 
unless a further planning application specific to one or more of the 
phases as agreed is submitted and approved by the Council in 
substitution for that part of the approved development. If such further 
planning application is approved, the remaining phase or phases may 
still be developed as approved in this Planning Permission, it being 
intended that this overarching Planning Permission should permit each 
phase separately and severably from the others. 

 
Reason: For clarity and to set out the remit of the permission.  
 

 
Informatives:  
 
Highway footnotes:  
Notes In addition to the above conditions, the following notes should be 
appended to any consent for the applicant’s information: - a ) The application 
site is affected by a Public Right of Way (No 58) also pass across the site on the 
Derbyshire Definitive Map). The route must remain unobstructed on its legal 
alignment at all times and the safety of the public using it must not be prejudiced 
either during or after development works take place. Further advice can be 
obtained by calling 01629 533190. • Please note that the granting of planning 
permission is not consent to divert or obstruct a public right of way. • If it is 
necessary to temporarily obstruct a right of way to undertake development works 
then a temporary closure is obtainable from the County Council. Please contact 
01629 533190 for further information and an application form. • If a right of way 
is required to be permanently diverted then the Council that determines the 

Page 177



148 
 

planning application (The Planning Authority) has the necessary powers to make 
a diversion order. Caution: This email originated from outside of the 
organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the 
sender and know the content is safe. When in doubt, please contact the ICT 
Service Desk. • Any development insofar as it will permanently affect a public 
right of way must not commence until a diversion order (obtainable from the 
planning authority) has been confirmed. A temporary closure of the public right 
of way to facilitate public safety during the works may then be granted by the 
County Council. To avoid delays, where there is reasonable expectation that 
planning permission will be forthcoming, the proposals for any permanent 
stopping up or diversion of a public right of way can be considered concurrently 
with the application for proposed development rather than await the granting of 
permission. b) Pursuant to Section 38 and the Advance Payments Code of the 
Highways Act 1980, the proposed new estate roads should be laid out and 
constructed to adoptable standards and financially secured. Advice regarding 
the technical, legal, administrative and financial processes involved in Section 
278 Agreements may be obtained from emailing 
development.implementation@derbyshire.gov.uk in Development Control at 
County Hall, Matlock (tel: 01629 538658). The applicant is advised to allow 
approximately 12 weeks in any programme of works to obtain a Section 278 
Agreement. c) Pursuant to Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 and the 
provisions of the Traffic Management Act 2004, no works may commence within 
the limits of the public highway without the formal written Agreement of the 
County Council as Highway Authority. It must be ensured that public transport 
services in the vicinity of the site are not adversely affected by the development 
works. Advice regarding the technical, legal, administrative and financial 
processes involved in Section 278 Agreements may be obtained from emailing 
development.implementation@derbyshire.gov.uk in Development Control at 
County Hall, Matlock (tel: 01629 538658). The applicant is advised to allow 
approximately 12 weeks in any programme of works to obtain a Section 278 
Agreement. d) Pursuant to Sections 219/220 of the Highways Act 1980, relating 
to the Advance Payments Code, where development takes place fronting new 
estate streets the Highway Authority is obliged to serve notice on the developer, 
under the provisions of the Act, to financially secure the cost of bringing up the 
estate streets up to adoptable standards at some future date. This takes the 
form of a cash deposit equal to the calculated construction costs and may be 
held indefinitely. The developer normally discharges his obligations under this 
Act by producing a layout suitable for adoption and entering into an Agreement 
under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980. e) Pursuant to Section 163 of the 
Highways Act 1980, where the site curtilages slopes down towards the public 
highway/new estate street, measures shall be taken to ensure that surface water 
run-off from within the site is not permitted to discharge across the footway 
margin. This usually takes the form of a dish channel or gulley laid across the 

Page 178



149 
 

access immediately behind the back edge of the highway, discharging to a drain 
or soakaway within the site. f) Pursuant to Sections 149 and 151 of the Highways 
Act 1980, steps shall be taken to ensure that mud or other extraneous material 
is not carried out of the site and deposited on the public highway. Should such 
deposits occur, it is the applicant’s responsibility to ensure that all reasonable 
steps (e.g. street sweeping) are taken to maintain the roads in the vicinity of the 
site to a satisfactory level of cleanliness. g) Highway surface water shall be 
disposed of via a positive, gravity fed system (i.e.; not pumped) discharging to 
an approved point of outfall (e.g. existing public sewer, highway drain or 
watercourse) to be sanctioned by the Water Authority (or their agent), Highway 
Authority or Environment Agency respectively. The use of soakaways for 
highway purposes is generally not sanctioned. h) Effective monitoring is an 
essential requirement of a successful Travel Plan. The Highway Authority 
recommends the use of the STARSFor Travel plan toolkit: 
https://www.starsfor.org , although other monitoring methods are available. Use 
of this system ensures a consistency of quality and puts in place a 
straightforward system for subsequent updating and monitoring. Fees are levied 
for the use of this system. Contact: sustainable.travel@derbyshire.gov.uk for 
more details. 
 
Coal note:  
The undertaking of intrusive site investigations, prior to the commencement of 
development, is considered to be necessary to ensure that adequate information 
pertaining to ground conditions and coal mining legacy is available to enable 
appropriate remedial and mitigatory measures to be identified and carried out 
before building works commence on site. This is in order to ensure the safety 
and stability of the development, in accordance with paragraphs 183 and 184 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Under the Coal Industry Act 1994 any intrusive activities, including initial site 
investigation boreholes, and/or any subsequent treatment of coal mine 
workings/coal mine entries for ground stability purposes require the prior written 
permission of The Coal Authority, since such activities can have serious public 
health and safety implications.  Failure to obtain permission will result in 
trespass, with the potential for court action.  In the event that you are proposing 
to undertake such work in the Forest of Dean local authority area our permission 
may not be required; it is recommended that you check with us prior to 
commencing any works.  Application forms for Coal Authority permission and 
further guidance can be obtained from The Coal Authority’s website at: 
https://www.gov.uk/get-a-permit-to-deal-with-a-coal-mine-on-your-property   
 
Any form of development over or within the influencing distance of a mine entry 
can be dangerous and raises significant safety and engineering risks and 

Page 179

https://www.gov.uk/get-a-permit-to-deal-with-a-coal-mine-on-your-property


150 
 

exposes all parties to potential financial liabilities.  As a general precautionary 
principle, the Coal Authority considers that the building over or within the 
influencing distance of a mine entry should wherever possible be avoided.  In 
exceptional circumstance where this is unavoidable, expert advice must be 
sought to ensure that a suitable engineering design is developed and agreed 
with regulatory bodies which takes into account of all the relevant safety and 
environmental risk factors, including gas and mine-water.  Your attention is 
drawn to the Coal Authority Policy in relation to new development and mine 
entries available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/building-on-or-
within-the-influencing-distance-of-mine-entries 
 
Where development is proposed over areas of coal and past coal workings at 
shallow depth, the Coal Authority is of the opinion that applicants should 
consider wherever possible removing the remnant shallow coal.  This will enable 
the land to be stabilised and treated by a more sustainable method; rather than 
by attempting to grout fill any voids and consequently unnecessarily sterilising 
the nation’s asset.  Prior extraction of surface coal requires an Incidental Coal 
Agreement from the Coal Authority.  Further information can be found at: 
https://www.gov.uk/get-a-licence-for-coal-mining  
 
The above consultation response is provided by The Coal Authority as a 
Statutory Consultee and is based upon the latest available data on the date of 
the response, and electronic consultation records held by The Coal Authority 
since 1 April 2013.  The comments made are also based upon only the 
information provided to The Coal Authority by the Local Planning Authority 
and/or has been published on the Council's website for consultation purposes 
in relation to this specific planning application.  The views and conclusions 
contained in this response may be subject to review and amendment by The 
Coal Authority if additional or new data/information (such as a revised Coal 
Mining Risk Assessment) is provided by the Local Planning Authority or the 
Applicant for consultation purposes. 
 
In formulating this response The Coal Authority has taken full account of the 
professional conclusions reached by the competent person who has prepared 
the Coal Mining Risk Assessment or other similar report.  In the event that any 
future claim for liability arises in relation to this development The Coal Authority 
will take full account of the views, conclusions and mitigation previously 
expressed by the professional advisers for this development in relation to ground 
conditions and the acceptability of development. 
 
Yorkshire Water note:  
i) If the developer is looking to have new sewers included in a sewer adoption 
agreement with Yorkshire Water (under Section 104 of the Water Industry Act 

Page 180

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/building-on-or-within-the-influencing-distance-of-mine-entries
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/building-on-or-within-the-influencing-distance-of-mine-entries
https://www.gov.uk/get-a-licence-for-coal-mining


151 
 

1991), he should contact our Developer Services Team (telephone 0345 120 84 
82, email: technical.sewerage@yorkshirewater.co.uk) at the earliest 
opportunity. Sewers intended for adoption should be designed and constructed 
in accordance with the WRc publication 'Codes for Adoption - a design and 
construction guide for developers' supplemented by Yorkshire Water's 
requirements. 
 
LLFA notes:  
Advisory/Informative Notes (It should be noted that the information detailed 
below (where applicable), will be required as an absolute minimum in order to 
discharge any of the drainage conditions set by the LPA): 
A. The County Council does not adopt any SuDS schemes at present (although 
may consider ones which are served by highway drainage only). As such, it 
should be confirmed prior to commencement of works who will be responsible 
for SuDS maintenance/management once the development is completed. 
B. Any works in or nearby an ordinary watercourse may require consent under 
the Land Drainage Act (1991) from the County Council. For further advice, or to 
make an application please contact Flood.Team@derbyshire.gov.uk. 
C. No part of the proposed development shall be constructed within 5-8m of an 
ordinary watercourse and a minimum 3 m for a culverted watercourse (increases 
with size of culvert). It should be noted that DCC have an anti-culverting policy. 
D. The applicant should be mindful to obtain all the relevant information 
pertaining to proposed discharge in land that is not within their control, which is 
fundamental to allow the drainage of the proposed development site. 
E. The applicant should demonstrate, to the satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority, the appropriate level of treatment stages from the resultant surface 
water discharge, in line with Table 4.3 of the CIRIA SuDS Manual C753. 
F. The County Council would prefer the applicant to utilise existing landform to 
manage surface water in mini/sub-catchments. The applicant is advised to 
contact the County Council’s Flood Risk Management team should any 
guidance on the drainage strategy for the proposed development be required. 
G. Surface water drainage plans should include the following: 
Rainwater pipes, gullies and drainage channels including cover levels. 
Inspection chambers, manholes and silt traps including cover and invert levels. 
Pipe sizes, pipe materials, gradients, flow directions and pipe numbers. 
Soakaways, including size and material. 
Typical inspection chamber / soakaway / silt trap and SW attenuation details. 
Site ground levels and finished floor levels. 
H. On Site Surface Water Management; 
The site is required to accommodate rainfall volumes up to the 1% probability 
annual rainfall event (plus climate change) whilst ensuring no flooding to 
buildings or adjacent land. 

Page 181



152 
 

The applicant will need to provide details and calculations including any below  
ground storage, overflow paths (flood routes), surface detention and infiltration 
areas, etc, to demonstrate how the 30 year + 35% climate change and 100 year 
+ 40% Climate Change rainfall volumes will be controlled and accommodated. 
In addition, an appropriate allowance should be made for urban creep 
throughout the lifetime of the development as per ‘BS 8582:2013 Code of 
Practice for Surface Water Management for Developed Sites’ (to be agreed with 
the LLFA). 
Production of a plan showing above ground flood pathways (where relevant) for 
events in excess of the 1% probability annual rainfall event, to ensure 
exceedance routes can be safely managed. 
A plan detailing the impermeable area attributed to each drainage asset (pipes, 
swales, etc), attenuation basins/balancing ponds are to be treated as an 
impermeable area.  
Peak Flow Control 
For greenfield developments, the peak run-off rate from the development to any 
highway drain, sewer or surface water body for the 1 in 1 year rainfall event and 
the 1 in 100 year rainfall event, should never exceed the peak greenfield run-off 
rate for the same event. 
For developments which were previously developed, the peak run-off rate from 
the development to any drain, sewer or surface water body for the 100% 
probability annual rainfall event and the 1% probability annual rainfall event must 
be as close as reasonably practicable to the greenfield run-off rate from the 
development for the same rainfall event, but should never exceed the rate of 
discharge from the development, prior to redevelopment for that event. 
Volume Control 
For greenfield developments, the runoff volume from the development to any 
highway drain, sewer or surface water body in the 6 hour 1% probability annual 
rainfall event must not exceed the greenfield runoff volume for the same event. 
For developments which have been previously developed, the runoff volume 
from the development to any highway drain, sewer or surface water body in the 
6 hour 1% probability annual rainfall event must be constrained to a value as 
close as is reasonably practicable to the greenfield runoff volume for the same 
event, but must not exceed the runoff volume for the development site prior to 
redevelopment for that event. 
Note:- If the greenfield run-off for a site is calculated at less than 2 l/s, then a 
minimum of 2 l/s could be used (subject to approval from the LLFA). 
Details of how the on-site surface water drainage systems shall be maintained 
and managed after completion and for the lifetime of the development to ensure 
the features remain functional. 
Where cellular storage is proposed and is within areas where it may be 
susceptible to damage by excavation by other utility contractors, warning 

Page 182



153 
 

signage should be provided to inform of its presence. Cellular storage and 
infiltration systems should not be positioned within the highway. 
Guidance on flood pathways can be found in BS EN 752. 
The Greenfield runoff rate which is to be used for assessing the requirements 
for limiting discharge flow rates and attenuation storage for a site should be 
calculated for the whole development area (paved and pervious surfaces - 
houses, gardens, roads, and other open space) that is within the area served by 
the drainage network, whatever the size of the site and type of drainage system. 
Significant green areas such as recreation parks, general public open space, 
etc., which are not served by the drainage system and do not play a part in the 
runoff management for the site, and which can be assumed to have a runoff 
response which is similar to that prior to the development taking place, may be 
excluded from the greenfield analysis. 
I. If infiltration systems are to be used for surface water disposal, the following 
information must be provided: 
Ground percolation tests to BRE 365. 
Ground water levels records. Minimum 1m clearance from maximum seasonal 
groundwater level to base of infiltration compound. This should include 
assessment of relevant groundwater borehole records, maps and on-site 
monitoring in wells. 
Soil / rock descriptions in accordance with BS EN ISO 14688-1:2002 or BS EN 
ISO 14689- 1:2003. 
Volume design calculations to 1% probability annual rainfall event + 40% climate 
change standard. An appropriate factor of safety should be applied to the design 
in accordance with CIRIA C753 – Table 25.2. 
Location plans indicating position (soakaways serving more than one property 
must be located in an accessible position for maintenance). Soakaways should 
not be used within 5m of buildings or the highway or any other structure. 
Drawing details including sizes and material. 
Details of a sedimentation chamber (silt trap) upstream of the inlet should be 
included. 
Soakaway detailed design guidance is given in CIRIA Report 753, CIRIA Report 
156 and BRE Digest 365. 
J. All Micro Drainage calculations and results must be submitted in .MDX format, 
to the LPA. (Other methods of drainage calculations are acceptable.) 
K. The applicant should submit a comprehensive management plan detailing 
how surface water shall be managed on site during the construction phase of 
the development ensuring there is no increase in flood risk off site or to occupied 
buildings within the development. 
  

Page 183



154 
 

Appendix A – Tree Constraint Plan Fig 01 Rev A: 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 184



Case Officer: EC                                    Application No: CHE/22/00437/LBC 
       CHE/22/00436/FUL            

ITEM 2 
 

RENOVATION AND CONVERSION OF PART OF GRADE II LISTED 
BARN TO CREATE TWO DWELLINGS WITH ASSOCIATED 

LANDSCAPING WORK 

PARK HALL FARM, WALTON BACK LANE, WALTON, CHESTERFIELD 
FOR MR M TAYLOR 

Local Plan: Unallocated, within the built up area 

Ward: Walton 

1.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 
Ward Members No comments received 

 
Local Highways 
Authority 

No objections to the application in principle. 
Conditions recommended covering site 
compound arrangements, provision of 
parking, removal of pd rights for garaging, no 
gates/barriers and informatives 
 

Tree Officer No objections subject to tree protection 
measures contained within the submitted 
AIA and TPP be imposed by condition 
 

DCC Tree 
Officer 

No comments received 
 
 

DCC Rights of 
Way Officer 

No objections to the proposal as the route 
will be ultimately unaffected by the proposed 
works. Recommended informative notes 
 

Design Services 
Drainage 

Site located within flood zone 1 and not in 
area impacted by surface water flooding.  
 

Yorkshire Water No comments received 
 

Environmental 
Health 

No comments received 
 
 

Conservation 
officer 

Comments received – see report - The 
applications propose the same scheme that 

Page 185



was submitted in 2018, under applications 
CHE/18/00691/FUL & CHE/18/00692/LBC.  
 

Chesterfield 
Civic Society 

We are happy to support all three 
applications. The scheme has been 
designed by a reputable local architect with 
considerable relevant experience and will 
produce two attractive dwellings from a barn 
which is no longer used for its original 
purpose, together with one new dwelling.  
 

DCC 
Archaeology 

I submit that there will be a loss of historic 
fabric, legibility and authenticity to the 
historic building, meriting production of a pre-
conversion historic building record as 
indicated at NPPF para 205. There will also 
be impacts to below-ground archaeology. 
These should also be addressed by 
archaeological recording (monitoring during 
groundworks) in line with NPPF para 205. I 
recommend that the submitted WSI is 
acceptable in each case, and that the 
following condition is therefore attached to 
each separate consent granted against any 
of the three applications 
 

Derbyshire 
Wildlife Trust 

Requested up to date bat surveys be 
undertaken. An updated nocturnal survey 
was completed during survey season and no 
bats were recorded to re-enter the existing 
building however low foraging activity was 
detected. On the basis of the submitted 
survey bats are unlikely to present a 
constraint to the development and no further 
surveys required. Sufficient information has 
now been submitted to enable the Local 
Planning Authority to reach a decision with 
regards to protected species. 
 

Representations 3 representations received – see report 
 

2.0  THE SITE 

Page 186



2.1 The site subject of this application comprises of barns and land 
associated with Park Hall Farm. On the site there is a listed 
stone barn and a modern barn adjacent to the northern 
boundary of the site. Vehicular access to the site is taken from 
Walton Back Lane via a private drive, the drive serves No 209 
and the southern end of the stone barn which has already been 
converted to a residential dwelling and is occupied, indicated in 
blue on the submitted site location plan. The application site is 
within the defined Built up Area and is unallocated on the 
Chesterfield Borough Council adopted local plan policies map 
2018-2035. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 2.2 In 2018 consent was granted for the redevelopment of the site. 
The previously approved scheme expired in June 2022 and the 
current proposal is effectively a re-submission of the previous 
approval. The scheme is largely the same, however the proposal 
has been split into three applications comprising of a detached 
dwelling (CHE/22/00438/FUL) and works to convert part of the 
listed barn into two dwellings (CHE/22/00436/FUL and 
CHE/22/00437/LBC). Conditional permission has already been 
granted at committee for the demolition of the modern farm 
building in the north western corner of the site and for the 
construction of a dwelling under application CHE/22/00438/FUL 
(see site history). The determination of the application for the 
conversion of the listed barn has been delayed due to 
requirements for bat surveys during the relevant survey period. 

2.3 The barn subject of the application is Grade II listed, historic 
England reference ‘Barn incorporating cottage at Park Hall 
Farm’, listing entry number 1334697 (listed in 1977). The official 
listing is as follows; 

Extract of submitted location plan © Aerial photograph from 
Google maps ©

Page 187



‘2. C17/early C18. large barn of coursed stone rubble with 
quoins and stone slate roof (some patching). Coped gables. 
Eastern facade has end doors with massive quoins and lintels. 
Centre door also with quoins originally but now partly filled in 
With brick and a window. Opposite this former western wagon 
entrance projects under stone slate roof. A cottage contrived in 
the south end of the barn probably during the earlier C19.’ 

2.3 To the east of the listed barn is Grade II listed ‘Park Hall’, list 
entry number 1203414 (listed 1968). The official listing is as 
follows; 

‘2. Generally of C17 date but some features stylistically earlier 
and suggest C16 work. The entrance has a reset panel above it 
inscribed:- 1661 A P I F I. Of coursed rubble with quoins. Main or 
southern facade of 2 storeys but with eastern projecting gabled 
wing of 3 storeys. Stone slate roof with coped gable. Diagonal 
chimney stacks (probably rebuilt). A blocked window on each 
floor in angle between gabled wing and rest of building. 3 
windows, stone mullions, those in gabled wing and all ground 
floor with dripstone moulds. Of 2, 3 and 4 lights, casements with 
glazing bars, the top lights with shallow arches. Former off 
centre door with cambered head, now modern glazing. 1 slope 
top dormer. 1 storey western outshut contains entrance. Rear 
gable looks earlier. Interior has some plaster moulded ceilings 
decorated with roses, oak leaves acorns and blackberries 
possibly of C16 date. Fireplace and some 6 panelled doors’ 

2.4 The site is bound by trees protected by Tree Preservation Order 
(DCC Order 52 – Area 8) including a large sycamore 
immediately adjacent to the modern barn structure. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Private access to site from Walton Back Lane

Page 188



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.0  SITE HISTORY 

3.1 CHE/22/00438/FUL - Demolition of modern farm building and 
construction of a dwelling in grounds of grade II listed barn with 
associated landscaping work – conditional permission 
(09.01.2023) 

3.2 CHE/18/00692/LBC - Renovation and conversion of part of 
grade II listed stone barn to create two dwellings, construction of 
new single-storey dwelling in grounds with associated 
landscaping work – conditional permission (11.06.2019) 

3.3  CHE/18/00691/FUL - Renovation and conversion of part of 
grade II listed stone barn to create two dwellings, construction of 
new single-storey dwelling in grounds with associated 
landscaping work – conditional permission (11.06.2019) 

3.4 CHE/0990/0641 - Outline application for the erection of one 
bungalow - refused 19.02.1991.   

3.5 CHE/0990/0642 - Conversion of barn into two residential units - 
conditional permission 19.02.1991.   

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY AT PARK HALL 

Listed barn

Page 189



3.8  CHE/0600/0397 - Listed Building Consent for alterations to form 
caretakers flat – conditional permission (25.08.2000) 

3.9  CHE/0395/0149 - Conversion of outbuilding to habitable 
accommodation – found to be permitted development 
(19.04.1995) 

4.0  THE PROPOSAL 

CHE/22/00436/FUL 

4.1 This application seeks full planning permission for the proposed 
conversion of the listed barn (part of the barn is already 
converted into Unit 1) into two dwellings. The proposal will 
create 2 no. four bedroom dwellings (identified on the plans as 
Unit 2 and 3).   

 Unit 2 - is positioned in the central section of the listed barn and 
comprises of 3 bedrooms at ground floor with utility and 
bathroom, open plan kitchen / diner and bedroom at first floor 
and gallery lounge at second floor.  Approximately 176sqm in 
gross internal area. 

 Unit 3 - will occupy the northern / end portion of the listed barn 
comprising of four bedrooms at ground floor, open plan kitchen / 
diner and living space to first floor; and gallery to second floor.  
Approximately 149sqm in gross internal area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Proposed floorplans

Page 190



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.2 The proposed conversion will re-instate existing openings at first 
floor and introduce new openings and roof lights. The number of 

Proposed elevations 

Page 191



window/door openings has been kept to a minimum to limit the 
impact on the character and appearance of the barn.   

4.3 The proposal will provide small private garden spaces for each 
unit to the east of the barn. The submitted site layout plan 
indicates two parking spaces per unit with the potential for a third 
space to serve unit 3. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CHE/22/00437/LBC 

4.4 This application seeks listed building consent for the proposed 
works that will facilitate the conversion of the listed barn into two 
dwellings (as detailed in the associated full planning application 
above).   

4.5  The listed building consent works deal exclusively with any 
works to the fabric of the listed barn and include the following: 

- Rebuilding of large section of the western elevation wall and 
the lean-to to the north. 

- Insertion of new floors and subdividing walls  
- Insertion of new timber windows, doors and glazing screens 
- Insertion of 6 conversation roof lights  
- Insertion of new stone heads, cills and surrounds 
- Insertion of new oak lintels 
- Erection of a new roof to single storey side lean to 
- New cast iron downpipes and timber guttering 

Proposed site plan

Page 192



- Creation of opening for new boiler flue and extraction fans 
 

5.0  CONSIDERATIONS 
 

5.1  Planning Policy 

5.1.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 and section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 require that, ‘applications for planning permission must be 
determined in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise’. The relevant 
Development Plan for the area comprises of the Chesterfield 
Borough Local Plan 2018 – 2035. 

5.1.2 Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 requires that; In considering whether to grant 
planning permission for development which affects a listed 
building or its setting, the local planning authority shall have 
special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its 
setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses. 

5.2  Chesterfield Borough Local Plan 2018 – 2035 
• CLP1 Spatial Strategy (Strategic Policy)  
• CLP2 Principles for Location of Development (Strategic 

Policy)  
• CLP11 Infrastructure Delivery 
• CLP13 Managing the Water Cycle 
• CLP14 A Healthy Environment 
• CLP16 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and the Ecological Network 
• CLP20 Design  
• CLP21 Historic Environment 
• CLP22 Influencing the Demand for Travel  

 
  Supplementary Planning Documents  

• Successful Places 
 

5.3           National Planning Policy Framework 
• Part 2. Achieving sustainable development 
• Part 5. Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
• Part 8. Promoting healthy and safe communities  
• Part 9. promoting sustainable transport 
• Part 12. Achieving well-designed places  

Page 193



• Part 14. Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding 
and coastal change 

• Part 15. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
• Part 16. Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 

5.4  Principle of Development 

  Relevant Policies 

5.4.1 The application site is unallocated and is positioned within the 
built up area therefore policies CLP1 and CLP2 are of relevance. 

5.4.2 Policy CLP1 sets out the overall approach to growth will be to 
concentrate new development within walking distance of a range 
of Key Services as set out in policy CLP2. 

5.4.3 Policy CLP2 states that when ‘Planning applications for 
developments that are not allocated the Local Plan, will be 
supported according to the extent to which the proposals meet 
the following requirements which are set out in order of priority: 
a) deliver the council’s Spatial Strategy (policy CLP1); 
b) are on previously developed land that is not of high 
environmental value; 
c) deliver wider regeneration and sustainability benefits to the 
area; 
d) maximise opportunities through their location for walking 
access to a range of key services via safe, lit, convenient 
walking routes; 
e) maximise opportunities through their location for cycling and 
the use of public transport to access a range of key services; 
f) utilise existing capacity in social infrastructure (Policy CLP10) 
or are of sufficient scale to provide additional capacity, either on 
site or through contributions to off-site improvements; 
g) ensure the long term protection of safeguarded Minerals 
Related Infrastructure as identified in the Derbyshire and Derby 
Minerals 
Local Plan and shown on the Policies Map; 
h) are not on the best and most versatile agricultural land;’ 

  Considerations 

5.4.4 The principle of development is assessed through consideration 
of Local Plan Policies CLP1 and CLP2 (see extracts above). 

 

Page 194



5.4.5  The application site is located within walking and cycling 
distance of key services located in the defined Walton Local 
Centre with access to public transport therefore the proposal is 
considered to accord with the principles of CLP1 and would 
largely accord with CLP2. The proposal is within the settlement 
boundary and would introduce additional housing within the 
existing built up area and therefore meets the strategic 
requirements of Local Plan policies CLP1 and CLP2 and the 
NPPF.  

5.5  Historic Impact, Archaeology and Design 

  Relevant Policies 

5.5.1  Local Plan policy CLP21 states that in assessing the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated 
heritage asset, the council will give great weight to the 
conservation of designated heritage assets and their setting and 
seek to enhance them wherever possible. 

5.5.2 Section 16 of the NPPF states that when considering the impact 
of a proposed development on the significance of a designated 
heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the 
weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential 
harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than 
substantial harm to its significance and continues to states that 
where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial 
harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this 
harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the 
proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum 
viable use. Paragraph 205 require developers to record and 
advance understanding of the significance of any heritage 
assets to be lost (wholly or in part) in a manner proportionate to 
their importance and the impact, and to make this evidence (and 
any archive generated) publicly accessible69. However, the 
ability to record evidence of our past should not be a factor in 
deciding whether such loss should be permitted. 

5.5.3 Local Plan policy CLP20 states all development should identify 
and respond positively to the character of the site and 
surroundings and respect the local distinctiveness of its context 
respect the character, form and setting of the site and 
surrounding area by virtue of its function, appearance and 

Page 195



architectural style, landscaping, scale, massing, detailing, height 
and materials. 

5.5.4  Consultation was undertaken with the Council’s Conservation 
Officer, Derbyshire County Council Archaeologist and the local 
Civic Society. 

  Consultee comments 

5.5.5 The Conservation Officer raised no objections to the 
development with the following comments 

‘The above applications proposes the same scheme that was 
submitted in 2018, under applications CHE/18/00691/FUL & 
CHE/18/00692/LBC. These two applications were not 
implemented and expired, hence the proposals are being 
submitted again, including the same accompanying documents, 
i.e. Structural Investigation (Gary Pagdin), and Design & Access 
Statement (John Botham). I made comments on the 2018 
applications which I attach, and which I would refer to and 
reiterate. I would request that the conditions placed on the 
elapsed consents, namely Condition No. 18 for 
CHE/18/00691/FUL (materials), Condition No. 3 (windows and 
door schedule) & Condition No. 4 (Schedule of Works) for 
CHE/18/00692/LBC are applied on new consents, where 
relevant. In respect of the aforementioned condition No. 4, I 
would recommend a new bullet point ‘g’ is added to the list, 
which states: ‘any structural timber repair, alteration or 
replacement, including the roof trusses’. 

 

 

5.5.6  Conservation Officer comments on 2018 applications 

‘I met with the applicant and the agent (John Botham Architects) 
on site in 2015 to discuss proposals for a residential conversion 
of the grade II listed barn and to provide clarity as to what would 
be acceptable from a conservation perspective should a listed 
building consent application be submitted. It was clear to me that 
the proposals then being put forward were sound and the 
approach was very much one which would protect as much of 
the character and appearance of the barn as possible (albeit 
within the acknowledgement that this would be a contemporary 
residential conversion). It should be noted that externally the 

Page 196



barn is in something of a dilapidated state (although internally 
any damage has been kept to a minimum given the soundness 
of the existing roof).  

The focus of the discussion on site in 2015 included the need to 
protect and repair where necessary the following: - The original 
natural stone elevations.  

- The stone slate roof. 
- Existing window and ventilation openings.  
- The internal roof timbers (much of which, including the larger 

purlins, looks to be original and add a great deal of character 
to the building).  
 

There was an emphasis on avoiding internal over-
compartmentalisation with the aim of retaining a sense of 
openness and exposing the existing roof timbers. There was 
also a consensus that any proposed separate new build (to 
replace the existing modern open barn structure to the north) 
should respect the character and setting of the listed building in 
its massing, scale and materials.  

I have read the applicant’s Design & Access Statement (which is 
supported by an accompanying structural survey of the barn) 
and I feel it is robust and contains enough detail and information 
to make a proper assessment of what is being proposed. It is 
also consistent with discussions in 2015, namely the 
requirement to put forward a design philosophy which focuses 
on retaining the barn’s historic fabric and character. It also 
clearly highlights proposed changes and any new materials. It 
confirms the following:  

- The separation of the barn into two separate residential units.  
- Retention and repair of existing elevations (including 

rebuilding a part of the western elevation (which is bulging) 
and the northern lean-to (the latter has collapsed).  

- Retention of existing stone slates (with introduction of 
breathable membrane when re-laid).  

- Retention of existing windows and ventilation openings with 
introduction of new timber casement windows.  

- New timber and cast iron guttering/downpipes.  
- New timber doors (heavily glazed for introduction of light). 
- Conservation roof lights (laid flush with the roof slates). 
- Internal oak joinery where appropriate.  
- Lime based mortar for repointing.  

Page 197



 
I note there has been a focus on reducing compartmentalisation 
on the upper storey (bedrooms are on the ground floor) to retain 
some openness and expose the existing timber trusses, 
including purlins. This is a sound approach and one I would 
support. The applicant is proposing to remove the existing upper 
storey floor (timber floorboards and joists) on the basis that there 
is rot, it is uneven and was introduced in the 1960s (and replace 
presumably with a new timber floor). I would normally encourage 
the retention of original timber floors in listed buildings, but in this 
case it is a later addition and sections are in poor condition, so I 
would not object. The existing ground floor is to be excavated 
and re-laid, again this would not involve the loss of any character 
or significance (the existing ground floor is largely concrete).  

The only regrettable part of the conversion in my view is the 
introduction of internal timber stud walls on the interior skin. 
These attractive internal natural stone walls could be left 
exposed and repointed in lime mortar or lime plastered which 
would retain authenticity and add character to the building. It 
would also allow the solid walls to breath effectively and there 
would be no requirement for the proposed ‘electro-osmotic damp 
proof course’ (which in any case have largely been discredited 
and should be avoided in my view). However timber stud walls 
are easily removed so this would not to result in a loss of historic 
fabric.  

I have read the accompanying Structural Investigation report (by 
Gary Pagdin B.Eng Hons) and note that it estimates that 10-20 
percent of the roof timbers have been lost to decay and 
woodworm which means that the roof can be salvaged and 
strengthened, hence the report recommends repair and 
strengthening of the existing roof timbers rather that wholesale 
introduction of new timbers (this approach is as confirmed and 
reflected in the Design & Access Statement).There will inevitably 
be some uncertainty as to the exact condition of the timber roof 
until it is more closely inspected as the proposed works 
progress, hence the applicant should be reminded that if there is 
a requirement to begin to comprehensively replace the roof then 
it is likely a new listed building consent would be required. I 
would be happy to provide any further advice or guidance to the 
agent or applicant as work progressed.’ 

Page 198



5.5.7  The Derbyshire County Council Archaeologist provided 
comments in respect of all applications on the site. Key extracts 
of the full comments are set out below;  

  ‘Park Hall Farm contains two Grade II Listed Buildings, the 17th 
century house at Park Hall itself, dating from 1661 (Derbyshire 
HER 3957 and an associated barn thought to date between the 
17th and early 18th century, with a cottage ‘contrived in the south 
end of the barn probably during the earlier 19th century’. The 
north end of the barn forms the subject of the current 
applications. The ensemble represents an early focus of activity 
within the former medieval deer park at Walton (HER 14619).  

Should the local planning authority be minded to grant consent 
against these policies, I submit that there will be a loss of historic 
fabric, legibility and authenticity to the historic building, meriting 
production of a pre-conversion historic building record as 
indicated at NPPF para 205. There will also be impacts to below-
ground archaeology associated with the early post-medieval 
activity on and around the site, occasioned by the lowering of 
ground levels within the barn and other external groundworks to 
create access, landscaping and the new build dwelling. These 
should also be addressed by archaeological recording 
(monitoring during groundworks) in line with NPPF para 205. 

The previous applications on the site were for the conversion 
and new build elements as a piece, and the consents included 
an archaeological condition requiring historic building recording 
and archaeological monitoring as per the comment above. A 
WSI for this work was submitted this year by the applicant’s 
archaeological consultant as we indicated that the document 
was acceptable. This WSI is now submitted as part of each of 
the three separate applications made here (the conversion now 
separated out as 22/00436-00437 and the new build covered by 
22/00438). I recommend that the submitted WSI is acceptable in 
each case, and that the following condition is therefore attached 
to each separate consent granted against any of the three 
applications’ 

Considerations 

5.5.8 A condition was recommended by the Archaeologist requiring 
the development to be undertaken in accordance with the 
agreed written scheme of investigation. 

Page 199



5.5.9 The local Civic Society raised no objections to the development 
and made additional comments regarding the detail submitted in 
the heritage, design and access statement, written scheme of 
investigation and history of building. 

5.5.10 The conversion focuses on the re-instatement of existing 
openings. New windows and doors will match the existing 
patterns with dark grey frames predominantly with clear glazing 
with two half boarded/half glazed doors for privacy and new 
timber screens and louvres to the cart doors. Conservation style 
roof lights are proposed to be installed with recessed flashings 
flush with roof with black frames. 

5.5.11 Internally the walls will be lined with insulated timber studwork, 
however the walls will remain uncovered in the open plan upper 
living spaces. A new party wall will be constructed in masonry 
between the units to give improved fire and acoustic separation 
and to help support the roof structure. The remaining internal 
walls and new first floor will be timber framed so could be 
removed as reversible works in the future. 

5.5.12 As set out in the structural report substantial works are required 
to stabilise the northern elevation of the building. A large section 
of the west elevation will need to be re-built with new 
foundations. The remaining walls are stable and stonework will 
need be generally re-pointed with a lime-grit sand mortar and 
replacement lintels in specified locations. Repairs to the stone 
work will be reclaimed to match existing. Further detailed survey 
will be required of the roof structure and timbers to ensure 
appropriate load bearing for the stone roof. The submitted 
structural survey was undertaken in 2017 therefore an up to date 
evaluation will be required with details to be submitted and 
controlled by condition in the event that works progress. The 
submitted heritage, design and access statement also refers to 
the removal of the roof structure to re-instate to its original 
alignment. Further clarity on this element is required. 

5.5.13 The existing ground floor is formed of a concrete slab and is 
likely to be polluted due to the former use. The application 
proposes excavating the floor to lay a new floor with damp proof 
membrane, insulation and underfloor heating with floor levels 
varying to accommodate the existing openings. The heritage 
statement specifies that any stone flags found during the work 
will be retained and reinstated in the new floor. 

Page 200



5.5.14 Timber guttering with wrought iron brackets are to be retained 
with new cast iron downpipes and new matching brackets made 
where required. New timber profiled guttering to match will be 
installed throughout. 

5.5.15 The previously approved new detached dwelling within the 
courtyard setting of the listed building (application 
CHE/22/00438/FUL) creates additional built form surrounding 
the existing stone barn. The massing and scale of the new 
dwelling reflects single storey subservient traditional farm 
buildings and is acceptable in the site context surrounded by 
modern residential development. In allowing further development 
within the site, this will provide finances to enable the renovation 
and repair of the listed barn which requires notable works as set 
out in the submitted structural investigation and heritage, design 
and access statement.  

5.5.16 It is considered that the impact of the development on the 
significance of the heritage assets amounts to less than 
substantial harm to its significance. On balance the proposal 
accords with the provisions of Local Plan policy CLP21 and the 
NPPF. The proposal is considered to be appropriately designed 
and would not cause adverse impacts on the visual amenity and 
character of the area, setting or character of the listed barn and 
surrounding listed building. The features of significance in the 
building are retained in the scheme and works are proposed 
largely on a reversible basis where appropriate. The proposal 
will therefore accord with the provisions of policy Local Plan 
policies CLP20 and CLP21 

5.6  Impact on Amenity 

Relevant Policies 

5.6.1  Local Plan policy CLP14 states that ‘All developments will be 
required to have an acceptable impact on the amenity of users 
and adjoining occupiers, taking into account noise and 
disturbance, dust, odour, air quality, traffic, outlook, overlooking, 
shading (daylight and sunlight and glare and other 
environmental impacts’ 

5.6.2 Local Plan policy CLP20 expects development to ‘k) have an 
acceptable impact on the amenity of users and neighbours;’ 

Considerations 

Page 201



5.6.3 The barn subject of this application is Grade II listed therefore 
the conversion must adapt to the building resulting in a degree of 
compromise. The external openings are pre-determined and the 
internal layout is required to adjust accordingly. Suggestion were 
submitted by the Local Planning Authority during the application 
process to reduce the level of internal compartmentalisation of 
the building and to re-consider the proposed layout. Revised 
plans were not forthcoming and the previous approvals for the 
scheme in 2018 were referenced. The overall gross internal 
floorspace provides an acceptable level of living and bedroom 
space. 

5.6.4 The proposal will create two 4 bedroom properties respectively.  
The private amenity space proposed as part of the scheme will 
not meet the minimum recommendation of 90sqm for a four 
bedroom dwelling. The amenity space for Unit 2 is particularly 
small at approximately 65sqm and therefore represents a clear 
compromise however this has to be considered on the basis of 
the size constraints of the site and associated listing of the 
building.  

5.6.5 The conversion of the barn into residential use, will introduce a 
domestic use into a building which already has upper floor 
windows / openings but a use and level of occupation which 
differs from the current arrangement. Part of the barn is already 
converted to residential. Inter-visibility between existing 
openings in the barn and the neighbouring windows already 
exist and a separation of approximately 20m which is marginally 
less than the 21m separation distance recommendation of the 
adopted SPD.  On balance and taking into account the 
previously approved schemes, it is considered that the proposal 
will not adversely impact on the neighbouring residents in terms 
of loss of light or privacy such that refusal of the case is 
warranted. 

 
5.6.6 It is considered that a condition limiting permitted development 

rights in this case is not needed because the Council already 
has full control of changes involving alteration, extension and 
development within the curtilage as a consequence of the 
buildings listed status. This ensures that further works are not 
undertaken which would adversely impact the privacy and 
amenity of the neighbouring residents. 

  

Page 202



5.6.7 Given that the site the subject of the application is entirely 
adjoined by neighbouring residential properties it would be 
necessary to control any hours of construction works associated 
with the development proposals in the interests of neighbouring 
amenity.    

 
5.6.8 Subject to conditions the proposal will therefore accord with the 

provisions of Local Plan policies CLP14 and CLP20. 

5.7 Highways Safety, Parking Provision and Impact on Public 
Footpath 

 
Relevant Policies 

5.7.1  Local Plan policy CLP20 expects development to ‘g) provide 
adequate and safe vehicle access and parking and h) provide 
safe, convenient and attractive environment for pedestrians  

an 
5.7.2 Local Plan policy CLP22 details the requirements for 

vehicle/cycle parking. 
 

Considerations 

5.7.3 The Local Highways Authority raised no objections to the 
application in principle. In the submitted comments the Highways 
Officer stated that the existing access off Walton Back Lane 
benefits from acceptable levels of emerging visibility in either 
direction within highway limits due to width of fronting 
footway/margin. The Highways Officer highlighted that the 
existing driveway would benefit from an increase in width at 
either end of the driveway are intervisible therefore considered 
there are no grounds for a highway objection. The proposed 
development will provide off-street parking for each dwelling (2 
or 3 spaces) with a large turning area within the shared 
courtyard. 

5.7.4 The submitted drainage layout indicates provision of a channel 
drain across the site entrance to mitigate surface water run off to 
the public highway.  

5.7.5 Conditions recommended by the Highways Officer covering site 
compound arrangements, provision of parking prior to 
occupation, removal of pd rights for garaging, no gates/barriers 
and included a list of informatives to be attached to the decision. 

Page 203



5.7.4 The Public Rights of Way Officer reviewed the scheme and 
raised no objections to the proposal as the route will be 
ultimately unaffected by the proposed works and recommended 
informative notes by attached to the decision. 

5.7.5  Subject to conditions as detailed above the development 
complies with the requirements of CLP20 and CLP22. 

5.8  Flood risk, Drainage and Water Efficiency 

Relevant Policies 

5.8.1 Local Plan policy CLP13 states that ‘The council will require 
flood risk to be managed for all development commensurate with 
the scale and impact of the proposed development so that 
developments are made safe for their lifetime without increasing 
flood risk elsewhere. 
Development proposals and site allocations will: 
a) be directed to locations with the lowest probability of flooding 
as required by the flood risk sequential test; 
b) be directed to locations with the lowest impact on water 
resources; 
c) be assessed for their contribution to reducing overall flood 
risk, taking into account climate change. 

 
5.8.2 Local Plan policy CLP13 states that ‘Development proposals will 

be expected to demonstrate that water is available to support the 
development proposed and that they will meet the optional 
Building Regulation water efficiency standard of 110 litres per 
occupier per day.’ 

 
Considerations 

5.8.3 The application site is located in ‘Flood Zone 1’ as defined by the 
Environment Agency and is therefore considered to be at low 
risk of flooding. Having regards to the provisions of CLP13 and 
the wider NPPF the application was referred to the Council’s 
Design Services (Drainage) Team and Yorkshire Water for 
comments in respect of flood risk and drainage/waste water 

Consultee Comme 
5.8.4 The Design Services (Drainage) Team reviewed the application 

and highlighted that the developer will need to consider the 
hierarchy of surface water disposal and noted that there appears 
to be unmapped surface water and foul water public sewers 

Page 204



running through the site from 209 Walton Back Lane. No 
comments were received from Yorkshire Water. 

5.8.5  Subject to the imposition of relevant conditions the proposal will 
accord with the provisions of CLP13 and the wider NPPF. 

5.9 Ground Conditions and Land Stability 

Relevant Policies 

5.9.1 Local Plan Policy CLP14 states that ‘Unstable and 
Contaminated Land Proposals for development on land that is, 
or is suspected of being, contaminated or unstable will only be 
permitted if mitigation and/or remediation are feasible to make 
the land fit for the proposed use and shall include: 
a) a phase I land contamination report, including where 
necessary a land stability risk assessment with the planning 
application; and 
b) a phase II land contamination report where the phase I report 
(a) indicates it is necessary, and 
c) a strategy for any necessary mitigation and/or remediation 
and final validation. 
A programme of mitigation, remediation and validation must be 
agreed before the implementation of any planning permission on 
contaminated and/or unstable land. The requirement to 
undertake this programme will be secured using planning 
conditions. 

 
5.9.2 Paragraph 178 of the NPPF states that ‘Planning policies and 

decisions should ensure that: 
a) a site is suitable for its proposed use taking account of ground 
conditions and any risks arising from land instability and 
contamination. This includes risks arising from natural hazards 
or former activities such as mining, and any proposals for 
mitigation including land remediation (as well as potential 
impacts on the natural environment arising from that 
remediation); 
b) after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable 
of being determined as contaminated land under Part IIA of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990; and 
c) adequate site investigation information, prepared by a 
competent person, is available to inform these assessments.’ 

 
Considerations  
 

Page 205



5.9.3 The application site is not located in area considered to be at 
‘high risk’ of former Coal Mining Legacy, therefore standing 
advice from The Coal Authority applies.  

5.9.4 Having regards to the provisions of CLP14 and the NPPF the 
application was referred to the Council’s Environmental Health 
Officer for comments. No comments were provided by 
Environmental Health, however they previously offered no 
objections to the submissions in 2018. 

5.9.5 The proposal is considered to accord with the requirements of 
Local Plan policy CLP14 and the NPPF. 

5.10 Biodiversity Including Impact on Protected Trees, protected 
species and Landscaping  

Relevant Policies 

5.10.1 Local Plan policy CLP16 states that ‘The council will expect 
development proposals to: 
• avoid or minimise adverse impacts on biodiversity and 

geodiversity; and 
• provide a net measurable gain in biodiversity’ 

 
5.10.2 The NPPF also requires net gains in biodiversity (paragraph 170 

d). 
 

Considerations 
 
5.10.3 The application is supported by a biodiversity enhancement plan, 

bat activity survey report (dated 2019), arboricultural impact 
assessment (AIA) and bat survey reports. 

 
5.10.4 Immediately to the west of the existing modern barn building is a 

mature sycamore protected by Derbyshire County Council Tree 
Preservation Order. The DCC Tree Officer was consulted on the 
scheme and no comments were provided.  

 
5.10.5 The CBC Tree Officer raised no objections to the development 

and stated that a Tree Protection Plan (TPP) has been included 
within the AIA at section 5 of the report which follow the 
guidelines in BS5837: 2012 ‘Trees in relation to design, 
demolition and construction: Recommendations’ and provide 
adequate protection measures so that there are no significant or 
noticeable effect on the health of any of the retained trees, 
neither in the short or long-term subject to the development 

Page 206



complying with the tree protection measures within the AIA and 
TPP by Jon Coe Tree Consultancy which should be controlled 
by condition. 

 
5.10.6 The Derbyshire Wildlife Trust requested that further surveys be 

undertaken to support the application as the Preliminary Bat 
Roost Assessment and Activity survey were completed in 2019 
and were therefore did not provide up-to date information on the 
status of protected species at the site. 

 
5.10.7 An updated bat activity survey report was subsequently 

undertaken during the survey period in May 2023 by ML 
Ecology. During the nocturnal survey no bats were recorded to 
re-enter the existing building however low foraging activity was 
detected. The Wildlife Trust confirmed that on the basis of the 
survey bats are unlikely to present a constraint to the 
development and no further surveys required. Sufficient 
information has now been submitted to enable the Local 
Planning Authority to reach an decision with regards to protected 
species. 

 
5.10.8 To achieve a net gain in biodiversity a condition is recommended 

requiring 1 external bat box, 1 external bird box and native 
planting. The application is supported by a biodiversity plan 
showing the installation of 2 build in woodstone bat boxes. It is 
considered that there is also scope for bird boxes within the 
wider site along with planting. 

5.10.9 Proposed landscaping is indicated on the submitted site plan 
and it is recommended that full details should be controlled by 
condition.  

 
5.10.10 Subject to conditions as recommended above the development 

accords with the requirements of CLP16 and the NPPF.  
 
5.11 Community Infrastructure Levy 

5.11.1 Having regard to the nature of the application proposals the 
development comprises the creation of a new dwellings and is 
therefore CIL Liable. The site the subject of the application lies 
within the high CIL zone and therefore the CIL Liability is 
calculated (using gross internal floor space and is index linked). 

  
A 

 
B C D E 

Page 207



Developme
nt type 

Proposed 
floor 

space 
(GIA in 
Sq. m) 

Less 
Existing 

(Demolition 
or change 

of use) (GIA 
in Sq.m) 

Net 
Area 

 
(GIA 

in Sq. 
m) 

CIL Rate Index 
permission 

Index 
Charging 
schedule 

2020 

CIL 
Charge 

Residential 
(C3) 

325 325 0 £80.00 
High 
Zone 

332 288 £29972 

 

Calculation: 

CIL Charge (E) is calculated as outlined below: 

 

           Net Area (A) x CIL Rate x BCIS Tender Price Index (at date of permission) (C)  

BCIS Tender Price Index (at date of charging schedule) (D)   

 

Therefore, the CIL charge liable for this application is as follows: 

   325 x £80 x 332          = £29,972 

        288 

6.0  REPRESENTATIONS 

6.1 The application has been publicised by neighbour notification 
letters and site notice. Three representations have been 
received and are summarised below (see representations for full 
comments).  

 
• Overlooking/loss of privacy - Planting to obscure windows 

may not be effective in short term. Proposed development 
encroaches on privacy, noted that it falls with regulations 
(separation distances) but this does not alter concerns 

• Waste disposal - Proposed development is to west of 
property and direction of prevailing winds therefore concerns 
raised regarding the removal of any asbestos cladding to the 
barn. Concerns regarding removal of waste and issues with 
smoke arising from bonfires on the site 

• Has applicant considered converting barn into a single two 
storey dwelling with internal garaging to reduce development 
costs 

• Occupation of dwellings - Proposed development may be 
intended for investment purposes which could result in a 
higher turnover of occupancy and higher noise disturbance 
levels to neighbours and higher traffic pollution 

Page 208



• Noise/disturbance from occupants - Existing issues with noise 
disturbance from surrounding properties on Park Hall Avenue. 
Development may lead to such issues becoming worse 

• Highway safety, access and parking - There is already one 
rented property on the site with tenants who have three 
vehicles. The proposal seeks to create two – four bedroom 
dwellings and one – three bedroom dwelling which will mean 
the driveway will service around 8 vehicles not including the 
occupants at No 209. Frequently find that a vehicle has to 
wait at the entrance to the driveway until the driveway is clear 
due to the width which could be a potential hazard to traffic 
flow on Walton Back Lane and to traffic turning into the lane 
from Park Hall Avenue. Entrance to the road is shared and 
two vehicles cannot pass side by side. Noted an incident 
where there was not enough space to wait on the pavement 
with a vehicle coming down the road leading to a vehicle 
waiting/sticking out in the highway on Walton Back Lane 
nearly causing an accident 

• Protected species - Noted that there is to be a review of bat 
nesting/roosting site during the course of the summer. Bats 
have been seen in the area but unable to identify 
nesting/roosting site. 

• Stone barn - Concerns raised regarding the maintenance of 
the grade II listed barn and stone roof tiles falling 

• Bin storage - Plans state that a bin store will be on the 
pavement which could be up to 12 bins on collection day 

 
6.2  Officer comments 

• Overlooking/loss of privacy – acceptable levels of separation 
are proposed between the barn and surrounding residential 
properties  

• Waste disposal – the applicant would be required to comply 
with relevant waste disposal regulations if asbestos was 
present. Concerns regarding bonfires which lead to nuisance 
should be raised with Environmental Health 

• Occupation of dwellings – the proposal is for C3 residential 
use which could be let or sold. 

• Noise/disturbance from occupants -undue disturbance arising 
from neighbours such as barking dogs, noise/music etc can 
be raised with Environmental Health for investigation 

• Highway safety, access and parking – the Local Highways 
Authority reviewed the scheme and raised no objections to 
the proposal. See section 5.7 of report 

• Protected species – see section 5.10 of report 

Page 209



• Stone barn – works subject of this application seek to restore 
and repair the building 

• Bin storage – the submitted site plan shows bin storage areas 
for each unit within the application site. The site plan shows 
that there is sufficient space to leave bins on the pavement on 
bin collection day.  

7.0  HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998 

7.1 Under the Human Rights Act 1998, which came into force on 2nd 
October 2000, an Authority must be in a position to show: 

• Its action is in accordance with clearly established law 
• The objective is sufficiently important to justify the action 

taken 
• The decisions taken are objective and not irrational or 

arbitrary 
• The methods used are no more than are necessary to 

accomplish the legitimate objective 
• The interference impairs as little as possible the right or 

freedom 
 

7.2  The action in considering the application is in accordance with 
clearly established Planning law and the Council’s Delegation 
scheme. It is considered that the recommendation accords with 
the above requirements in all respects.   

8.0 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE WORKING 
WITH APPLICANT 

8.1 In accordance with the requirements of the Town and Country 
Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 
(Amendment No. 2) Order 2012 and paragraph 38 of 2021 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) as the proposed 
development does not conflict with the NPPF or with ‘up-to-date’ 
policies of the Local Plan, it is considered to be ‘sustainable 
development’ to which the presumption in favour of the 
development applies.  

8.2  The Local Planning Authority have during the consideration of 
this application engaged in a positive and proactive dialogue with 
the applicant in order to achieve a positive outcome for the 
application.  

9.0  CONCLUSION 

CHE/22/00436/FUL 

Page 210



9.1 The proposal would introduce additional housing within the 
existing built up area and therefore meets the strategic 
requirements of Local Plan policies CLP1 and CLP2 and the 
NPPF. The proposal is considered to be appropriately designed 
and would not cause adverse impacts on the visual amenity and 
character of the area and less than substantial harm to the 
setting the listed buildings. Subject to conditions the proposal will 
therefore accord with the provisions of policy Local Plan policy 
CLP20 and CLP21. It is considered that adverse impact arising 
from the proposal will not cause significant impacts on the 
residential amenity of the adjoining neighbours and therefore 
accords with the amenity considerations of Local Plan policies 
CLP14 and CLP20. Subject to conditions no highways safety 
concerns arise and it is considered the site can accommodate 
sufficient parking for the proposed dwellings therefore subject to 
conditions the proposal accords with the requirements of CLP20 
and CLP22. Subject to conditions and the submission of further 
details controlled by condition covering drainage and biodiversity 
the proposal is considered to accord with the principles of 
CLP13 and CLP16 and the wider National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

CHE/22/00437/LBC 

9.2 The proposed conversion of the remaining part of the barn to 
residential use is considered to be acceptable in accordance 
with Local Plan policies CLP21 and the wider National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF). The submission seeks minimal 
alterations to the building to facilitate the conversion and it is 
considered that appropriate conditions can be imposed to secure 
the provision of further information to address any outstanding 
matters.   

10.0  RECOMMENDATION 

10.1 It is therefore recommended that the full application 
CHE/22/00436/FUL and the listed building application 
CHE/22/00437/LBC be GRANTED with associated CIL Liability 
noticed issued in accordance with section 5.11 above and 
subject to the following conditions: 

CHE/22/00436/FUL 

Conditions  

Page 211



Standard time frame 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 

 
Reason - This is a statutory period which is specified in 
Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

Approved plans and documents 

2. The development hereby approved shall only be carried out in 
full accordance with the approved plans and documents 
(listed below) with the exception of any approved non material 
amendment and discharge of condition application . All 
external dimensions and elevational treatments shall be as 
shown on the approved plan/s (listed below).  

• Parking Details, drawing number P-10, Dated 
20.09.2022  

• Proposed Barn Elevations, drawing number P-05, 
Dated 21.07.2018 

• Proposed Barn Plans, drawing number P-04, Dated 
21.07.2018 

• Drainage Layout, drawing number P-07, Dated 
06.05.2022 

• Biodiversity – Barn Conversions, drawing number P-13, 
Dated 23.06.2022 

• Heritage, Design and Access Statement, dated 
23.06.2022 

• Structure Investigation produced by Gary Pagdin, 
reference 17-028-R1, dated 10.11.2017 
 

Reason - In order to clarify the extent of the planning 
permission for the avoidance of doubt. 

Development undertaken in accordance with submitted WSI 

3. No development shall take place other than in accordance 
with the agreed Written Scheme of Investigation for historic 
building recording and archaeological monitoring: Park Hall 
Farm Barn, Walton Back Lane, Walton, Derbyshire. Written 
Scheme of Investigation for Historic Building Recording (The 
Jessop Consultancy, May 2022). All elements of work within 
the WSI will be completed as approved unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the local planning authority 
 

Page 212



Reason – In accordance with the requirements of the NPPF 
and paragraph 205. 

Tree protection measures 

4. The tree protection measures outlined in the Arboricultural 
Impact Assessment and Tree Protection Plan by Jon Coe 
Tree Consultancy Ltd reference JC/343/220518 shall be 
adhered to at all times throughout any demolition and 
construction phases. The development shall be implemented 
in strict accordance with the approved details unless 
otherwise agrees in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason - Required prior to commencement of development to 
satisfy the Local Planning Authority that the trees to be 
retained will not be damaged during demolition or 
construction and to protect and enhance the appearance and 
character of the site and locality pursuant to section 197 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

Highways - site compound 
 

5. At the commencement of operations on site (excluding 
demolition/ site clearance), space shall be provided within the 
site curtilage for storage of plant and materials, site 
accommodation, loading and unloading of goods vehicles, 
parking and manoeuvring of site operatives and visitors 
vehicles, all laid out and constructed in accordance with 
detailed designs to be submitted in advance to the Local 
Planning Authority for written approval and maintained 
throughout the contract period in accordance with the 
approved designs free from any impediment to its designated 
use. 
 
Reason – To ensure adequate space is retained for site 
storage during the construction period in accordance with 
CLP22. 

Highways - parking provision provided prior to occupation 
 

6. The development the subject of the application, shall not be 
occupied until space has been provided within the application 
site in accordance with the approved application drawings 
‘Parking Details, drawing number P-10, Dated 20.09.2022’ for 
the parking and manoeuvring of residents vehicles, laid out, 

Page 213



surfaced and maintained throughout the life of the 
development free from any impediment to its designated use. 
 
Reason - In the interests of providing adequate off-street 
parking provision in accordance with CLP20 and CLP22. 
 
Highways - No gates or barriers 
 

7. There shall be no gates or other barriers on the shared  
access/driveway.   
 
Reason - To ensure clear unobstructed access to the site in 
the interests of highway safety and in accordance with 
Policies CLP20 and CLP22 of the Adopted Local Plan 2020. 
 
Highways – parking provision 
 

8. No part of the development shall be occupied until space for 
storage of bins have been carried out in accordance with the 
agreed details as shown on drawing ‘Parking Details, drawing 
number P-10, Dated 20.09.2022’ and retained for the 
designated purposes at all times thereafter. 

 
     Reason – In the interests of highway safety. 
 

Separate foul and surface water 
 

9. The site shall be developed with separate systems of 
drainage for foul and surface water on and off site. The 
separate systems should extend to the points of discharge to 
be agreed.  

 
Reason - In the interest of satisfactory and sustainable 
drainage and in accordance with CLP13  
 

  Hours of construction 

10. No construction or demolition works, movement of 
construction traffic, or deliveries to and from the premises, 
shall occur other than between 0800 and 1800 hours 
weekdays, and 0800 and 1300 hours on Saturdays, and at no 
time on Sundays or Public Holidays. The term 'construction 
work' shall include mobile and fixed plant/machinery, (e.g. 
generators) radios and the delivery of construction materials. 
 

Page 214



Reason - To safeguard the privacy and amenities of the 
occupiers of adjoining properties in accordance with CLP20 
and CLP14 

Landscaping details 
 

11. Notwithstanding the submitted details within two months of 
the commencement of the development details for the 
treatment of all parts on the site not covered by buildings shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The site shall be landscaped strictly in accordance 
with the approved details in the first planting season after 
completion or first occupation of the development, whichever 
is the sooner. Details shall include:  

a. a scaled plan showing trees and plants to be planted 
including species and planting density. The plan shall 
include indications of all existing trees, hedgerows and 
other vegetation on the land to be retained and detail 
measures for the protection of retained vegetation 
during the course of development, including details of 
ecologically beneficial landscaping to provide a 
biodiversity enhancement. 

b. proposed hardstanding surfacing materials and shall 
include elevational drawings of boundary treatments 
and new walls including materials, types of fencing and 
treatment/colour. 

c. a schedule detailing sizes and numbers of all proposed 
trees/plants  

d. Sufficient specification to ensure successful 
establishment and survival of new planting.  

 
Reason - In order to safeguard and enhance the character 
and amenity of the area, to provide ecological, environmental 
and biodiversity benefits and to enhance its setting within the 
immediate locality in accordance with CLP16 of the Local 
Plan. 
 
Retention of soft landscaping 
 

12. All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of 
landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and 
seeding season following the first occupation of the 
building(s) or the completion of the development whichever is 
the sooner; All shrubs, trees and hedge planting shall be 
maintained free from weeds and shall be protected from 

Page 215



damage by vermin and stock. Any trees or plants which, 
within a period of five years, die, are removed, or become 
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next 
planting season with others of a similar size and species, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority. All hard landscaping shall also be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation 
of any part of the development or in accordance with a 
programme to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
Reason- To ensure a satisfactory standard of landscaping in 
the interests of amenity in accordance with CLP20 and 
CLP16 

Materials 

13. Precise specifications or samples of all materials to be used 
in the construction of the external surfaces of the proposed 
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local Planning Authority before any work to any external 
surface is carried out. The development shall thereafter be 
constructed in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason - To ensure a satisfactory external appearance of the 
development in accordance with CLP20 and CLP21 of the 
Local Plan 
 
Removal of pd rights for outbuildings, extension, fencing, 
gates, walls 
 

14. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015 (or in any Statutory Instrument revoking or re-enacting 
that Order with or without modification) no fences, gates, 
walls or other means of enclosure shall be erected within the 
curtilage of any dwelling, no extensions, outbuildings or 
garages constructed (other than garden sheds or 
greenhouses of a volume less than 10 cubic metre) without 
the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority upon 
an application submitted to it. 
 
Reason - To ensure appropriate development is maintained 
within the setting of the listed buildings Policies CLP20 and 
CLP22 of the Adopted Local Plan 2020. 

Page 216



 
Water efficiency 
 

15. No individual dwelling hereby approved shall be occupied 
until the optional requirement for water consumption (110 
litres use per person per day) in Part G of the Building 
Regulations has been complied with for that dwelling. 
 
Reason - To protect the water environment in accordance 
with policy CLP13 of the of the adopted Chesterfield Borough 
Local Plan and to accord with paragraph 149 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework 
 
Biodiversity enhancements/Ecology 
 

16. Notwithstanding the submitted details within two months of 
the commencement of the development details of biodiversity 
enhancements shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for written approval. The scheme shall include 
integral bat boxes with details of installation to protect the 
stone elevation of the listed barn and the installation of bird 
boxes within the wider application site and timescale for 
implementation. The approved measures must thereafter be 
installed in accordance with the approved details and 
maintained thereafter. 
 
Reason - In the interests of achieving a net measurable gain 
in biodiversity in accordance with policy CLP16 of the 
adopted Chesterfield Borough Local Plan and to accord with 
paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
Notes  

1. If work is carried out other than in complete accordance with 
the approved plans, the whole development may be rendered 
unauthorised, as it will not have the benefit of the original 
planning permission. Any proposed amendments to that 
which is approved will require the submission of a further 
application. 
 

2. This approval contains condition/s which make requirements 
prior to development commencing. Failure to comply with 
such conditions will render the development unauthorised in 
its entirety, liable to enforcement action and will require the 

Page 217



submission of a further application for planning permission in 
full. 
 

3. You are notified that you will be liable to pay the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to Chesterfield Borough Council as 
CIL collecting authority on commencement of development. 
This charge will be levied under the Chesterfield Borough 
Council CIL charging schedule and s211 of the Planning Act 
2008.   A CIL Liability Notice will be issued at the time of a 
detailed planning permission which first permits development, 
in accordance with the Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations 2010 (as amended).  The extent of liability will be 
dependent on the permitted Gross Internal Area.  This will be 
calculated on the basis of information contained within a 
subsequent detailed planning permission.  Certain types of 
development may eligible for relief from CIL, such as self-
build or social housing, or development by charities.  Further 
information on the CIL is available on the Borough Council’s 
website. 
 

4. The proposed development lies within a coal mining area 
which may contain unrecorded coal mining related hazards.  If 
any coal mining feature is encountered during development, 
this should be reported immediately to the Coal Authority on 
0345 762 6848. 
 
Further information is also available on the Coal Authority 
website at:www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-coal-
authority 
 

5. Connection to the public sewerage system requires prior 
consent from Yorkshire Water. Connections to the existing 
drainage may require Building Control approval.  
 

6. The application site is adjacent to a Public Right of Way 
(Footpath number 157 Chesterfield on the Derbyshire 
Definitive Map). The route must remain unobstructed on its 
legal alignment at all times and the safety of the public using it 
must not be prejudiced either during or after development 
works take place. Advice regarding the temporary (or 
permanent) diversion of such routes may be obtained from 
the Strategic Director of Economy Transport and Environment 
at County Hall, Matlock (tel: 01529 580000 and ask for the 
Rights of Way Officer). 
 

Page 218

http://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-coal-authority
http://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-coal-authority


7. Under provisions within Sections 149 and 151 of the 
Highways Act 1980, the developer must take all necessary 
action to ensure that mud or other extraneous material is not 
carried out of the site and deposited on the public highway.  
Should such deposits occur, it is the developer's responsibility 
to ensure that all reasonable steps (e.g. street sweeping) are 
taken to maintain the roads in the vicinity of the site to a 
satisfactory level of cleanliness. 
 

8. The Highway Authority recommends that the first 6m of the 
access / driveway should not be surfaced with a loose 
material (i.e. unbound chippings or gravel, etc.). In the event 
that loose material is transferred to the highway and is 
regarded as a hazard or nuisance to highway users, the 
Authority reserves the right to take any necessary action 
against the landowner. 
 

9. Where the site curtilage slopes down towards the public 
highway provisions within Section 163 of the Highways Act 
1980 requires measures to be taken to ensure that surface 
water run-off from within the site is not permitted to discharge 
across the footway margin.  This usually takes the form of a 
dished channel or gulley laid across the access immediately 
behind the back edge of the highway, discharging to a drain 
or soakaway within the site. 
 

10. The application site is adjacent to a Public Right of Way 
(Footpath No157, Chesterfield on the Derbyshire Definitive 
Map). The route must remain unobstructed on its legal 
alignment at all times and the safety of the public using it 
must not be prejudiced either during or after development 
works take place. Further advice can be obtained by calling 
01629 533190 and asking for the Rights of Way Duty Officer. 
 

11. Car parking spaces should measure 2.4m x 5.5m (2.4m x 
6.5m where in front of garage doors) with an additional 0.5m 
of width to any side adjacent to a physical barrier e.g. fence, 
hedge, wall, etc. Single garages should be of 3.0m x 6.0m 
minimum dimension to be included as a part of off-street 
parking provision. 
 

12. The buildings and landscaping have potential to support 
nesting birds. The active nests of all wild birds are protected 
under the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). An 
active nest is one being built, containing eggs or chicks, or on 

Page 219



which fledged chicks are still dependent. No building 
demolition work should be undertaken between 1st March 
and 31st August inclusive, unless a competent ecologist has 
undertaken a careful, detailed check for active birds' nests 
immediately before the work is commenced. If any active 
nests are discovered then the nest should be left undisturbed 
until the birds have fledged with an appropriate buffer 
surrounding the nest.  
 

13. When you carry out the work, you must not intentionally kill, 
injure or take a bat, or intentionally or recklessly damage, 
destroy or block access to any structure or place that a bat 
uses for shelter which would be an offence under relevant 
regulations. Planning consent for a development does not 
provide a defence against prosecution under European and 
UK wildlife protection legislation. 
 

14. Lighting installed on site shall be designed to ensure no glare 
or overspill occurs to nearby residential properties. 
 

CHE/22/00437/LBC 

Standard time frame 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 

 
Reason - This is a statutory period which is specified in 
Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

Approved plans and documents 

2. The development hereby approved shall only be carried out in 
full accordance with the approved plans and documents 
(listed below) with the exception of any approved non material 
amendment and discharge of condition application . All 
external dimensions and elevational treatments shall be as 
shown on the approved plan/s (listed below).  

• Parking Details, drawing number P-10, Dated 
20.09.2022  

• Proposed Barn Elevations, drawing number P-05, 
Dated 21.07.2018 

• Proposed Barn Plans, drawing number P-04, Dated 
21.07.2018 

• Drainage Layout, drawing number P-07, Dated 
06.05.2022 

Page 220



• Biodiversity – Barn Conversions, drawing number P-13, 
Dated 23.06.2022 

• Heritage, Design and Access Statement, dated 
23.06.2022 

• Structure Investigation produced by Gary Pagdin, 
reference 17-028-R1, dated 10.11.2017 
 

Reason - In order to clarify the extent of the planning 
permission for the avoidance of doubt. 

Development undertaken in accordance with submitted WSI 

3. development shall take place other than in accordance with 
the agreed Written Scheme of Investigation for historic 
building recording and archaeological monitoring: Park Hall 
Farm Barn, Walton Back Lane, Walton, Derbyshire. Written 
Scheme of Investigation for Historic Building Recording (The 
Jessop Consultancy, May 2022). All elements of work within 
the WSI will be completed as approved unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the local planning authority 
 
Reason – In accordance with the requirements of the NPPF 
and paragraph 205. 

4. There shall be no works undertaken to any existing external 
windows or doors until a windows and doors schedule of 
works has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority for 
consideration and written approval.  This schedule shall 
include any proposed changes to existing windows and doors 
throughout the building and include the proposed design and 
materials for any new windows and doors.  Robust 
justification to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority 
will be required to justify the replacement of any windows and 
doors with historic and architectural value.  Only those details 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority shall be 
implemented on site in strict accordance with the approved 
schedule.    
 
Reason – In the interests of preserving and protecting the 
special character and appearance of the listed building, in 
accordance with policy CLP21 of the Local Plan and wider 
NPPF.    

5. There shall be no works undertaken concerning the 
renovation, reinstatement or repair of features or fabric of the 
listed building without prior approval by the Local Planning 

Page 221



Authority.  Prior to any such works being undertaken a 
Schedule of Works / Methodology shall be prepared and 
submitted (the submission of which can be phased) to detail:  
a. any roofing repair  
b. any repair / replacement rainwater goods 
c. any repair / repointing to external stonework  
d. punctuation of the external stonework for any extraction 

flues or fans 
e. installation of any boiler / heating system (inc. radiators 

and pipework) 
f. location and details of any new services which may 

require removal / punctuation of floors or wall internally or 
externally 

g. any structural timber repair, alteration or replacement, 
including the roof trusses 

Only those details approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority shall be implemented on site in strict 
accordance with the approved schedule.    

Reason – In the interests of preserving and protecting the 
special character and appearance of the listed building, in 
accordance with policy CS19 of the Core Strategy and 
wider NPPF.   

Notes  

1. If work is carried out other than in complete accordance 
with the approved plans, the whole development may 
be rendered unauthorised, as it will not have the benefit 
of the original planning permission. Any proposed 
amendments to that which is approved will require the 
submission of a further application. 
 

2. This approval contains condition/s which make 
requirements prior to development commencing. Failure 
to comply with such conditions will render the 
development unauthorised in its entirety, liable to 
enforcement action and will require the submission of a 
further application for planning permission in full. 

 

Page 222



1 
 

Case Officer: EC                        Application No: CHE/23/00313/FUL 
 

ITEM 3 
 

ERECTION OF AN APARTMENT BLOCK (8 UNITS) WITH ASSOCIATED 
PARKING, AMENITY AREAS AND LANDSCAPING (REVISED SCHEME OF 

CHE/20/00808/FUL) AT LAND TO NORTH OF DUNSTON ROAD, 
CHESTERFIELD, DERBYSHIRE FOR G H PRESTON 

 
Local Plan: Unallocated 
Ward: Dunston 
 
1.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 

Ward Members No representations received 
 

Strategic 
Planning 

Acceptable in principle. Appropriate conditions 
should be used to cover: the water efficiency 
standard, the provision of electric vehicle 
charging points, secure cycle parking and the 
provision of a measurable net gain for 
biodiversity 
 

Estates No comments received 
 

Environmental 
Health 

No comments received on this application 
(Comments on CHE/20/00808/FUL - No 
objections in principle subject to consideration of 
the impact from operational mechanic garage 
and design of internal layout so noise sensitive 
rooms are away from garage. Conditions 
required covering construction working hours, 
lighting, air quality and electric charging 
provision and land contamination.)  
 

Design Services 
Drainage 

Site not shown to be at risk of flooding. Request 
to see full drainage details prior to full approval 
of how developer intends to dispose of surface 
water and foul drainage from proposed site.  

 
Yorkshire Water No objections subject to conditions requiring 

details of surface water drainage prior to 
installation of any piped discharge for written 
approval.  

Page 223



2 
 

 
The Coal 
Authority 

No objection subject to a pre-commencement 
condition requiring intrusive site investigations 
and associated remediation/mitigation. 
 

Cycle 
Campaign 

No comments received on this application. 
(Comments on CHE/20/00808/FUL - Objection 
due to lack of secure cycle parking within the 
development. Site well located for local cycle 
routes including Stonegravels Way linking to 
railway station and town centre.) 
 

Tree Officer No objections to the proposals in general as the 
land has previously been cleared of vegetation. 
A detailed landscaping scheme is therefore 
required and should be attached as a condition 
if consent is granted to the application.  
 

Derbyshire 
Wildlife Trust 

No comments received on this application 
(Comments on CHE/20/00808/FUL - On the 
basis of the information submitted that it is 
unlikely protected species will be impacted (with 
the exception of breeding bird) and some 
precautionary measures are recommended. See 
report.) 
 

Local Highways 
Authority 

As the revisions do not alter the original HA 
response to planning application 
CHE/20/00808/FUL, it is recommended that 
Conditions cover parking provision, site access 
and visibility and site compound details. 
 

Derbyshire Swift 
Conservation 
 

The Ecological Appraisal recommends bespoke 
House Sparrow and Starling nest boxes unless 
the structure of the building allows the 
installation of Swift bricks at a height of 6m or 
more. Request that a condition is imposed. 
 

CIL Officer CIL paperwork provided 
 

Representations 1 letters of representation has been received. 
Summarised in report (see section 6.0) 
 

2.0  THE SITE 

Page 224



3 
 

 
2.1 The site subject of this application is situated on the north side of 

Dunston Road. The site is broadly rectangular in shape with a 
stepped northern boundary which tapers towards the east/north east 
of the site. The site is approximately 0.08 hectares in area (800m2). 

 
2.2 The surrounding streetscene is mixed in character comprising of 

residential dwellings to the east/north east and south/south west.  
To the north of the site is a commercial car garage and to the north 
west is a site operated by Derbyshire County Council Corporate 
Property. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.3 The site is in a sustainable location in walking distance of 

Whittington Moor District centre which offers a range of services. 
The site is in close proximity to Gilbert Heathcote Nursery and Infant 
School, Cavendish Junior School and Whittington Moor Surgery. 
The application site is not allocated for a specific use on the 
Chesterfield Borough Council adopted local plan policies map 2018-
2035 and is within the defined built up area (Policy CLP3). 

 

Page 225



4 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.4 Conditional permission was granted in 2021 for the same scheme 

under application CHE/20/00808/FUL (see site history). The scheme 
does not expire until 21.06.2024 therefore subject to compliance 
with pre-commencement conditions remains a live consent and 
relevant fall-back position. A minor change to the scheme is 
proposed as it has become apparent that a small area of the site in 
the southern front corner is not within the ownership of the applicant 
and the red line boundary has been amended accordingly. See 
comparative plans below; 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Aerial photograph of site from Google © (see location plan)

CHE/23/00313/FUL Revised red line 
boundary as part of this application 

CHE/20/00808/FUL Red line 
boundary of approved application 

Page 226



5 
 

2.5 To address the alteration to the red line boundary minor changes 
are proposed to move the small area of hard surfacing creating a 
patio for Apartment 3 to the south eastern corner of the site as 
indicated in the landscaping plan below. The ground floor window to 
the south west elevation fronting Dunston Road and serving 
Apartment 3 is proposed to be moved to the side south east 
elevation to provide unrestricted outlook for the occupants and direct 
access to the external patio. All other elements of the scheme 
remain unchanged. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CHE/23/00313/FUL
Revised site layout with minor 

change to hard surfacing 

CHE/20/00808/FUL 
landscaping of approved application 

CHE/20/00808/FUL 
Previously approved south east 

and south west elevations 

CHE/23/00313/FUL
Revised south east and south west 

elevations showing amended 
ground floor window placement

Page 227



6 
 

3.0  SITE HISTORY 
 
3.1 CHE/20/00808/FUL - Erection of an apartment block (8 units) with 

associated parking, amenity areas and landscaping (Revised 
Scheme of CHE/20/00808/FUL) – CONDITIONAL PERMISSION 
(21.06.2021) 

 
3.2 CHE/08/00235/OUT - Semi-detached dwellings – REFUSED 

(19.11.2008) 
 

Reason for refusal copied below; 
 

01. The Local Planning Authority considers that the development of 
this site in isolation is not in the interests of good planning. Policy 
HSN 6 of the replacement Chesterfield Borough Local Plan adopted 
June 2006 promotes comprehensive redevelopment of backland 
sites. This proposal has the potential to sterilise the development of 
adjoining sites which minimises the potential for a comprehensive 
redevelopment of the area. 

 
02. Development of this site adjacent to industrial premises would 
be detrimental to residential amenity which is contrary to policy EVR 
23 (2) of the Replacement Chesterfield Borough Local Plan adopted 
June 2006. 

 
4.0  THE PROPOSAL 
 
4.1 The application proposes the erection of a 2.5 storey block of 8 flats 

situated adjacent to the southern boundary of the site in a ‘t-shaped’ 
formation. The proposal comprises of a mix of 5 x 1-bed units and 3 
x 2-bedroom units.  Each unit has an open plan living/kitchen dining 
area, bathroom and separate bedroom. The 2-bedroom units also 
include an en-suite bathroom to one bedroom. Balconies are 
provided to Apartments 4 and 6. Ground floor apartments 1, 2 and 3 
also benefit from direct access to external amenity space. 

 
4.2 Revised plans submitted include secure cycle storage, electric 

charging provision and amended car parking layout to provide 11 
car parking spaces (equivalent to 1 space per 1 bed unit and 2 
spaces per 2 bed unit). 

Page 228



7 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3 Access to the site will be taken from Dunston Road public highway, 

supporting drawings have been provided demonstrating the 
achievable 2.4m x 4.7m visibility splays in both directions. 

 
4.4 The design of the proposal responds to the character of the 

prevailing built form. The proposal comprises of 2.5 storey building 
with dual pitched roof and intersecting gables. Submitted plans 
indicate red facing brick with contrasting black/grey brick as a 
design feature, dark grey concrete roof tiles and grey upvc windows. 
The building façade features varied fenestration in a contemporary 
design (see elevational plans). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Extract of proposed site plan Revision J ©

Extract of Proposed Elevations Revision G ©

Page 229



8 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

5.0  CONSIDERATIONS 
 
5.1  Planning Policy 

5.1.1  Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
and section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
require that, ‘applications for planning permission must be 
determined in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise’. The relevant 
Development Plan for the area comprises of the Chesterfield 
Borough Local Plan 2018 – 2035. 

5.2  Chesterfield Borough Local Plan 2018 – 2035 
• CLP1 Spatial Strategy (Strategic Policy) 
• CLP2 Principles for Location of Development 
• CLP3 Flexibility in Delivery of Housing 
• CLP13 Managing the water cycle 
• CLP14 A Healthy Environment  
• CLP15 Green Infrastructure 
• CLP16 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and the Ecological Network 
• CLP20 Design 
• CLP22 Influencing the Demand for Travel 

5.3           Other Relevant Policy and Documents 

• National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2021 
• 5. Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
• 8. Promoting healthy and safe communities 
• 9. Promoting sustainable transport 
• 12. Achieving well-designed places 
• 15. Conserving and enhancing the natural Environment 

Indicative 3D visualisation of proposed scheme ©

Page 230



9 
 

• ‘Successful Places’ Supplementary Planning Document 

5.4  Principle of Development 
 
  Relevant Policies 
 
5.4.1 The application site is unallocated and is positioned within the built 

form of Dunston therefore policies CLP1 and CLP2 are of relevance. 
Relevant policy extracts are provided below, for full wording of 
policies see the Chesterfield Borough Local Plan 2018 – 2035. 

 
5.4.2 Policy CLP1 states that ‘The overall approach to growth will be to 

concentrate new development within walking distance of a range of 
Key Services as set out in policy CLP2, and to focus on areas that 
need regenerating, including the ‘place shaping’ areas set out in 
policies SS1 to SS6 and Regeneration Priority Areas.’ 

 
5.4.3 Policy CLP2 states that when ‘Planning applications for 

developments that are not allocated the Local Plan, will be 
supported according to the extent to which the proposals meet the 
following requirements which are set out in order of priority: 
a) deliver the council’s Spatial Strategy (policy CLP1); 
b) are on previously developed land that is not of high 
environmental value; 
c) deliver wider regeneration and sustainability benefits to the area; 
d) maximise opportunities through their location for walking access 
to a range of key services via safe, lit, convenient walking routes; 
e) maximise opportunities through their location for cycling and the 
use of public transport to access a range of key services; 
f) utilise existing capacity in social infrastructure (Policy CLP10) or 
are of sufficient scale to provide additional capacity, either on site or 
through contributions to off-site improvements; 
g) ensure the long term protection of safeguarded Minerals Related 
Infrastructure as identified in the Derbyshire and Derby Minerals 
Local Plan and shown on the Policies Map; 
h) are not on the best and most versatile agricultural land;’ 

 
5.4.4 In July 2021 the NPPF was updated, the previous approval was 

issued in June 2021 just before the revised NPPF was published. 
The principle of development however remains compliant with the 
latest version of the NPPF. 

 
  Considerations 
 

Page 231



10 
 

5.4.5  The application site is unallocated and is positioned within the built 
up area of Dunston therefore policies CLP1 and CLP2 are of 
relevance. The Planning Policy/Strategic Planning team reviewed 
the application and confirmed that the proposal would not be a 
departure from the Local Plan and would accord with the broad 
location principles of the Local Plan policies and the NPPF.  

 
5.4.6  The application site is located within walking and cycling distance of 

key services located in the defined Whittington Moor District centre 
with access to public transport therefore the proposal is considered 
to accord with the principles of CLP1. The proposal would accord 
with criteria a, d, e, f and h of CLP2. The proposal would introduce 
additional housing within the existing built up area of Dunston 
(CLP3) and therefore meets the strategic requirements of Local 
Plan policies CLP1 and CLP2 and the NPPF.  

 
5.4.7  It is necessary to reflect on the previous refusal which considered 

that a residential development on this site in isolation would sterilise 
the development of the adjoining sites and minimise the potential for 
comprehensive re-development of the area. Since the previous 
refusal the Local Planning Authority has adopted a new Local Plan 
with new policies. No further proposals have come forward in this 
time period for a larger re-development of the site in conjunction 
with surrounding plots. Comments received from the occupiers of 
the commercial premises to the rear made no reference to 
immediate plans for re-development. Each application is therefore 
considered on its own merits. The site is not allocated in the local 
plan and is considered to be in a sustainable location for residential 
development which accords with local plan policies. 

 
5.4.8  The previous refusal also raised concerned about the location of the 

site adjacent to industrial premises which would be detrimental to 
residential amenity. The existing commercial units are surrounded 
by residential premises on Albert Street North and St John’s Road. 
The Council’s Environmental Health Officer previously highlighted 
that no complaints had arisen as a result of the operation of the 
units prompting investigation. The development has been designed 
to limit window openings facing the commercial premises to the 
north and introduced a fixed window in proximity to the identified log 
burning flue. It is considered that potential impacts on the amenity of 
the future occupiers can be addressed through a condition requiring 
submission of mitigation measures prior to occupation. 

 
 

Page 232



11 
 

 

5.5 Design and Appearance of the Proposal  

Relevant Policies 

5.5.1 Local Plan policy CLP20 states ‘all development should identify and 
respond positively to the character of the site and surroundings and 
respect the local distinctiveness of its context respect the character, 
form and setting of the site and surrounding area by virtue of its 
function, appearance and architectural style, landscaping, scale, 
massing, detailing, height and materials.’  

 
Considerations 

 
5.5.2 The application proposes the erection of a 2.5 storey building 

formed of a t-shaped footprint. The proposal is set back from 
Dunston Road and situated in the southern corner of the site. The 
proposal has been designed to respond to the traditional 
architectural character of the surrounding dwellings with a dual 
pitched roof form and intersecting gables. The proposal represents 
a modern design showing consideration of the traditional 
characteristics within the area. 

 
5.5.3 The development combines contrasting brickwork and contemporary 

glazing, the dominant palate of materials reflects the surrounding 
streetscene, particularly the brick-built properties on St Johns Road 
to the east/south east. It is recommended that a condition be 
imposed requiring the submission of specific materials (roofing and 
walling) and windows prior to ordering. 

 
5.5.4 The building is 2.5 storeys in height overall and is set down from 

Dunston Road public highway to reduce the height and scale of the 
development. The scale and massing are considered to be 
acceptable within the site context. The proposed development is 
relatively high density, however, it is considered that the proposed 
design and layout responds well to the constraints of the plot and 
site context. 

 
5.5.5 The proposal will create dwellings which would each provide 

acceptable levels of living accommodation for future occupiers. It is 
noted that to accommodate additional off-street parking in response 
to concerns raised by residents and the Local Highways Authority 
the amount of shared private amenity space has been reduced.  

Page 233



12 
 

 
5.5.6 Landscaping details have been provided indicating areas of 

proposed planting, hard surfacing and boundary treatment. Specific 
details of type/numbers of plants and materials have not been 
provided and therefore should be controlled by condition. 

 
5.5.7 Having consideration for the observations above the proposal is 

considered to be appropriately designed and would not cause 
adverse impacts on the visual amenity and character of the area. 
The proposal will therefore accord with the provisions of policy Local 
Plan policies CLP20 and CLP21. 

 
5.6 Impact on Residential Amenity of Surrounding and Future 

Occupiers 
 

Relevant Policies 
 
5.6.1  Local Plan policy CLP14 in part states that ‘All developments will be 

required to have an acceptable impact on the amenity of users and 
adjoining occupiers, taking into account noise and disturbance, dust, 
odour, air quality, traffic, outlook, overlooking, shading (daylight and 
sunlight and glare and other environmental impacts’.  

 
5.6.2 Local Plan policy CLP20 expects development to ‘k) have an 

acceptable impact on the amenity of users and neighbours;’  
 

Considerations 
 
5.6.3 The application site is bound by a mixture of residential and 

commercial premises. The closest residential dwellings are situated 
on Dunston Road to the south/south west on the opposite side of 
the public highway, St John’s Road to the east/south east and Albert 
Street North to the north. The proposal is considered to be situated 
with an acceptable separation distance between the rear elevations 
of properties on Albert Street North, St John’s Road and the 
principle elevations of properties on Dunston Road which accord 
with the Successful Places SPD. Additional screening is provided by 
detached garages in the rear gardens of properties on St John 
Street. To mitigate potential overlooking arising from Apartment 5 
the proposed balcony was removed and replaced with a fixed 
window.  

 
5.6.4 The proposal will therefore retain an acceptable separation distance 

between the proposed dwellings and surrounding residential 

Page 234



13 
 

dwellings on St John’s Road, Dunston Road and Albert Street 
North. The proposal would therefore not result in undue loss of light 
or privacy as a result. Overall, due to the siting and orientation of the 
proposed development relative to the adjoining dwellings, it is not 
considered that the development would cause any significant injury 
to the residential amenity of the other boundary sharing neighbours. 

 
5.6.5 The application site is bound by commercial premises including a 

car repair garage directly to the north/north east of the proposed 
development. Existing residential dwellings are located to the 
north/north east and south/south east to the commercial units. The 
Council’s Environmental Health Officer was consulted on the 
scheme and previously provided comments on the proximity to a log 
burning flue and potential noise arising for the mechanic’s 
yard/garage. The Environmental Health Officer previously 
highlighted that they have not received or investigated a complaint 
from the residential dwellings regarding noise from these premises, 
which have been in operation for some time, but that it would be 
advisable for the applicant to consider noise mitigation during the 
design/build phase of the apartments for example double/triple 
glazing and trick vents. Recommendations were also made for 
relocation windows or re-orientating the floor layout so that the 
openable windows are not on the façade next to the mechanics 
garage. 

 
5.6.6 To address the concerns raised previously a fixed window was 

introduced at first floor level in proximity to the identified wood 
burning flue. No windows are proposed in the elevation closest to 
the garage. The windows indicated to the north east elevation to 
Apartment 1 and 4 serve a bathroom and a secondary window to 
the open plan kitchen/living space. One window is indicated to serve 
the bedrooms of Apartment 2 and 5 to the north west elevation, 
facing north west across the communal amenity space and parking 
area.  

 
5.6.7 It is recommended that a condition be imposed requiring the 

submission of a noise impact assessment and proposed mitigation 
measures shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. The noise assessment should demonstrate that the 
design of the glazing, ventilation, wall and roof structures ensure 
sufficient sound insulation for the occupants of the building. Prior to 
the residential occupation of the hereby permitted development, 
compliance testing shall be undertaken and results shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for written approval. The 

Page 235



14 
 

approved noise mitigation measures shall be retained in perpetuity 
for the life of the development. 

 
5.6.8 It is recommended that conditions previously requested by the 

Environmental Health Officer covering construction working hours 
and lighting be imposed on the decision in the interests of the 
amenity of the surrounding occupants. Matters covering electric 
charging providing and land contamination will be addressed in the 
following sections. 

 
5.6.9 The revised plans propose a communal lawn to the north and a 

landscaped area with lawn to the south/south west. The area to the 
south/south west will be largely screened from the public highway 
by the mature hedge on the site frontage. In addition, Apartments 4 
and 6 will benefit from balconies. The application will therefore 
provide acceptable levels of amenity space for future occupiers. 

 
5.6.10 Revised plans propose an amended internal layout to provide a full 

length window to the living accommodation serving Apartment 7 and 
the introduction of larger elongated roof lights with balcony openings 
to create enhance the amenity of the occupants of Apartments 7 
and 8. 

 
5.6.11 Having consideration for the observations above the proposal is 

considered to be appropriately designed and subject to conditions is 
not considered to cause significant adverse impacts on residential 
amenity of the adjoining neighbours or future occupiers. The 
proposal will therefore accord with the provisions of Local Plan 
policies CLP14 and CLP20. 

 
5.7  Highways Safety, Vehicle and Cycle Provision and Air Quality 
 

Relevant Policies 
 
5.7.1 Local Plan policy CLP20 expects development to ‘g) provide 

adequate and safe vehicle access and parking;’ and ‘h) provide 
safe, convenient and attractive environment for pedestrians and 
cyclists’.  

 
5.7.2 Local Plan policy CLP22 details the requires ‘To reduce congestion, 

improve environmental quality and encourage more active and 
healthy lifestyles, the Council will seek to maximise walking, cycling 
and the use of public transport through the location and design of 

Page 236



15 
 

development and parking provision’. and seeks ‘e) provision of 
opportunities for charging electric vehicles where appropriate.’  
 
Considerations 

 
5.7.3 The Local Highway Authority were consulted on the original scheme 

and raised concerns regarding the ratio of spaces to number of 
units. The Local Highway Authority recommended the number of 
parking spaces be increased to reduce the likelihood of parking on-
street or on/part on the footway which would be against the best 
interests of the safe and free flow of traffic with the potential to force 
vulnerable highway users into the live carriageway to by-pass 
obstacles. Concerns raised about the number of off-street parking 
spaces and previously recommend the provision of 14 spaces in 
total (2 spaces per 2 bedroom apartment and 1.5 spaces per 1 
bedroom apartment).  

 
5.7.4 The Highways Officer also recommended that minimum dimensions 

of parking spaces should be 2.4m x 5.5m with 6m to the rear for 
manoeuvring, stating the spaces as shown appear to be too short 
impacting on the manoeuvring space. The Highways Officer also 
noted that there is considered to be sufficient frontage to create an 
access with adequate exit visibility splays which should be 
maintained accounting for 0.5m of seasonal growth of the existing 
hedge. 

 
5.7.5 Further comments from the Local Highways Authority have been 

provided for the current submission, the previous comments were 
reiterated and conditions were requested covering site 
storage/compound during construction, parking provision and 
access/visibility splay requirements. 

 
5.7.6 The comments from the Local Highways Authority have been noted. 

The submitted plans propose 11 spaces (equating to 1 space for 
each 1 bedroom flat and 2 spaces for each 2 bedroom flat). It is 
acknowledged that the number of proposed spaces is less than 
originally requested by the Local Highways Authority, however 11 
spaces is considered to be an appropriate balance given the 
sustainable location and opportunities for cycling connections and 
enabling the retention of amenity space and soft landscaping. The 
previous submission with 11 parking spaces was previously deemed 
to be acceptable and agreed by Planning Committee in 2021. The 
size of the parking spaces reflects the space standards stipulated in 
the adopted Successful Places SPD. 

Page 237



16 
 

 
5.7.7 It is also recommended that conditions covering site storage/site 

compound during construction, parking provision and visibility splay 
be imposed on the decision to ensure the development complies 
with the requirements of CLP20 and CLP22.  

 
5.7.8 The Council’s Environmental Health Officer previously requested 

electric vehicle charging point be installed as part of the building 
phase in accordance with policy. The applicant has provided a 
revised plan showing electric charging provision available for each 
parking space, as electric charging provision is now covered by 
building regulations it is no longer necessary to impose this 
requirement by condition. 

 
5.7.9 Chesterfield Cycle campaign objected to the original proposal due to 

the lack of cycle provision within the development. No further 
comments have been received for this submission. The plans were 
previously amended to address the concerns and the scheme now 
includes secure bicycle storage for 8 bikes to the rear of the 
building. 

 
5.7.10 Subject to conditions covering the matters raised above the 

proposal is considered to accord with the requirements of CLP20 
and CLP22. 

 
5.8  Flood risk, Drainage and Water Efficiency 

Relevant Policies 

5.8.1 Local Plan policy CLP13 states that ‘The council will require flood 
risk to be managed for all development commensurate with the 
scale and impact of the proposed development so that 
developments are made safe for their lifetime without increasing 
flood risk elsewhere. 
Development proposals and site allocations will: 
a) be directed to locations with the lowest probability of flooding as 
required by the flood risk sequential test; 
b) be directed to locations with the lowest impact on water 
resources; 
c) be assessed for their contribution to reducing overall flood risk, 
taking into account climate change. 

 
5.8.2 Local Plan policy CLP13 states that ‘Development proposals will be 

expected to demonstrate that water is available to support the 

Page 238



17 
 

development proposed and that they will meet the optional Building 
Regulation water efficiency standard of 110 litres per occupier per 
day.’ 

 
Considerations 

 
5.8.3 The application site is located in ‘Flood Zone 1’ as defined by the 

Environment Agency and is therefore considered to be at low risk of 
flooding. Having regards to the provisions of CLP13 and the wider 
NPPF the application was referred to the Council’s Design Services 
(Drainage) Team and Yorkshire Water for comments in respect of 
flood risk and drainage/waste water 

Consultee Comme 
5.8.4 The Design Services (Drainage) Team reviewed the application and 

highlighted that the site not shown to be at risk of flooding according 
to the Environment Agency maps and requested to see full drainage 
details prior to full approval of how developer intends to dispose of 
surface water and foul drainage from proposed site. The site should 
be developed with separate foul and surface water drainage 
systems as stated by Yorkshire Water. Any new connections to the 
public sewerage system will require prior approval from Yorkshire 
Water 

 
5.8.5 Yorkshire Water reviewed the application and raised no objections 

subject to conditions covering separate systems of foul and surface 
water on and off site, details of surface water drainage works to be 
agreed prior to installation 

 
5.8.6 It is considered that full drainage detail can be submitted for 

consideration and controlled by condition prior to the installation of 
any drainage systems to meet the requirements set out by the 
consultees. Subject to the imposition of relevant conditions the 
proposal will accord with the provisions of CLP13 and the wider 
NPPF. 

 
5.9 Ground Conditions, Land contamination and Land Stability 

Relevant Policies 

5.9.1 Local Plan Policy CLP14 states that ‘Unstable and Contaminated 
Land Proposals for development on land that is, or is suspected of 
being, contaminated or unstable will only be permitted if mitigation 
and/or remediation are feasible to make the land fit for the proposed 
use and shall include: 

Page 239



18 
 

a) a phase I land contamination report, including where necessary a 
land stability risk assessment with the planning application; and 
b) a phase II land contamination report where the phase I report (a) 
indicates it is necessary, and 
c) a strategy for any necessary mitigation and/or remediation and 
final validation. 
A programme of mitigation, remediation and validation must be 
agreed before the implementation of any planning permission on 
contaminated and/or unstable land. The requirement to undertake 
this programme will be secured using planning conditions. For full 
wording of policy see the Chesterfield Borough Local Plan 2018 – 
2035. 

 
5.9.2 Paragraph 183 of the NPPF states that ‘Planning policies and 

decisions should ensure that: 
Planning policies and decisions should ensure that:  

a) a site is suitable for its proposed use taking account of ground 
conditions and any risks arising from land instability and 
contamination. This includes risks arising from natural hazards 
or former activities such as mining, and any proposals for 
mitigation including land remediation (as well as potential 
impacts on the natural environment arising from that 
remediation);  

b) after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable 
of being determined as contaminated land under Part IIA of 
the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and  

c) adequate site investigation information, prepared by a 
competent person, is available to inform these assessments. 

 
Considerations  

 
5.9.3 The application site is located in an area considered to be at ‘high 

risk’ of former Coal Mining Legacy. Having regards to the provisions 
of CLP14 and the NPPF the application was referred to The Coal 
Authority and the Council’s Environmental Health Officer for 
comments. 

 
5.9.4 The Coal Authority reviewed the submitted Coal Mining Risk 

Assessment. The Coal Authority concurs with the conclusions and 
recommendations of the land contamination risk assessment 
(LCRM: Stage 1 Risk Assessment & CMRA) and stated that should 
permission be granted conditions should be imposed requiring 
intrusive site investigations and appropriate remediation (if required) 

 

Page 240



19 
 

5.9.5 The Environmental Health Officer previously reviewed the submitted 
land contamination risk assessment and noted that the submitted 
report advises a phase 2 investigation, it is therefore recommended 
that a condition be imposed requiring a phase 2 site investigation be 
undertaken with the findings submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for consideration and approval of proposed remediation 
measures and validation report submitted once completed. 

 
5.9.6 Subject to the imposition of relevant conditions the proposal is 

considered to accord with the requirements of Local Plan policy 
CLP14 and the NPPF. 

 
5.10 Biodiversity including Trees and Landscaping  

Relevant Policies 

5.10.1 Local Plan policy CLP16 states that ‘The council will expect 
development proposals to: 

• avoid or minimise adverse impacts on biodiversity and 
geodiversity; and 

• provide a net measurable gain in biodiversity’ 
 
5.10.2 The NPPF also requires net gains in biodiversity (paragraph 180 d). 
 

Considerations 
 
5.10.3 The site previously comprised on dense scrub with self-set trees 

including large mature trees to the northern boundary. The site has 
recently been cleared with just the hedge on the site frontage facing 
Dunston Road retained. 

 
5.10.4 The application submission is supported by an ecological appraisal 

which make recommendations for proposed ecological enhancement 
measures. 

 
5.10.5 The Derbyshire Wildlife Trust were consulted on the proposal and 

previously confirmed on the basis of the information submitted that it 
is unlikely protected species will be impacted (with the exception of 
breeding birds) and some precautionary measures are 
recommended. The Trust previously noted that development will 
result in the loss of most of the habitat present on site and whilst it is 
not a habitat of principle importance (priority habitat) it does still have 
local biodiversity value. The landscaping plans indicate the hedge 
along the south-western boundary will be retained with new lengths of 

Page 241



20 
 

hedgerow along the north and south of the development as part of 
the landscaping scheme. The new hedgerow will help off-set the loss 
of scrub habitat on site. The new hedgerow should be comprised of 
native tree and shrub species and the landscaping plans indicate the 
use of wildlife friendly planting. 

 
5.10.6 The Derbyshire Wildlife Trust continue to say that due to the size of 

the site the biodiversity impacts are limited however the proposal will 
result in a small loss of biodiversity due to impacts on scrub, under 
scrub and loss of trees. Landscaping plans should therefore be 
implemented in full and it is recommended that conditions be 
imposed protecting breeding birds during construction, retention and 
protection of the hedgerow and for the submission of a landscape 
and biodiversity enhancement and management plan. 

 
5.10.7 The Council’s Tree Officer reviewed the scheme and raised no 

objections, noting that the land had previously been clear of 
vegetation and requesting a detailed landscaping condition be 
imposed on the decision. The landscape design should also include 
permeable surfacing materials, tree pit design and an underground modular 
system to demonstrate that the new tree and shrub planting has sufficient space 
and an adequate rooting soil volume to accommodate the species and plant 
numbers. 

 
5.10.8 The Derbyshire Swift Conservation Project made comments on the 

scheme requesting a condition be imposed on the decision requiring 
the development is built with up to 8 internal nest bricks designed for 
swifts as a biodiversity enhancement. 

 
5.10.9 The application is supported by a proposed landscaping and site 

boundary treatment plan however this does not go into extensive 
detail regarding the number of plants/species etc. It is recommended 
that a detailed landscaping plan be submitted with additional 
measures to enhance biodiversity in accordance with the information 
contained within the submitted appraisal. It is considered that there is 
scope for new planting within the site including potential for wildlife 
friendly shrubs to create a similar habitat structure including a range 
of plants such as climbers/hedging to provide enhanced botanical 
diversity and food sources for wildlife. Additional biodiversity 
enhancements such as bat bricks/roosts built within the house and 
swift bricks to encourage nesting birds should be included.  

 

Page 242



21 
 

5.10.10 It is therefore recommended that a condition be imposed requiring the 
development to demonstrate a measurable net gain in biodiversity in 
accordance with the requirements of CLP16 and the NPPF.  

 
5.11 Developer Contributions and Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
5.11.1 Having regard to the nature of the application proposals the 

development comprises the creation of a new dwelling and is 
therefore CIL Liable. 

 
5.11.2 The site the subject of the application lies within the low CIL zone and 

therefore the CIL Liability is calculated (using gross internal floor 
space and is index linked). 

 
  

A 
 

B C D E 

Developme
nt type 

Proposed 
floor 

space 
(GIA in 
Sq. m) 

Less 
Existing 

(Demolition 
or change of 
use) (GIA in 

Sq.m) 

Net 
Area 

 
(GIA 

in Sq. 
m) 

CIL Rate Index 
permission 

Index 
Charging 
schedule 

2020 

CIL Charge 

Residential 
(C3) 

529 0 529 £50.00 
(Medium 

Zone) 

332 288 £30490.97 

 
Calculation: 
CIL Charge (E) is calculated as outlined below: 

 
           Net Area (A) x CIL Rate x BCIS Tender Price Index (at date of permission) (C)  

BCIS Tender Price Index (at date of charging schedule) (D)   
 

Therefore, the CIL charge liable for this application is as follows: 
   529 x £50 x 332          = £30490.97 
           288 
 
6.0  REPRESENTATIONS 

6.1 The application has been publicised by neighbour notification letters 
site notice, 1 letter of representation has been received as a result 

 
Impact on amenity of residents and conflict with existing 
commercial premises 
• Impact on Simpsons Yard which benefits from an unrestricted 

industrial use including MOT and major vehicle repairs. The site 
has been improved in recent times under numerous planning 
consents for replacement buildings. 

Page 243



22 
 

• Proposal will impact the amenity of future occupiers of the 
proposal and would not be acceptable to approve an 
unrestrained B2 use in such close proximity to existing dwellings 
in the interests of their residential amenity. Consequently, it 
cannot be acceptable for a residential development to be 
proposed next to a B2 use. I presume the current comments from 
your Environmental Health Officer will reflect the comments in 
20/00808. Previous comments from EHO on this subject 
suggests a redesign of the floor layout to protect the rooms which 
would be most vulnerable to nuisance/disturbance. 

• Previous reason for refusal should be considered and previously 
stated “development of this site adjacent to industrial premises 
would be detrimental to residential amenity which is contrary to 
policy EVR 23 (2) of the Replacement Chesterfield Borough 
Local Plan adopted June 2006.  

• It would be unreasonable for the occupants and myself to have to 
deal with the obvious conflicts which would likely ensue. 
 

6.2 Officer comments – the above comments have been noted 
• impacts on amenity are - see section 5.6 of report. 

7.0  HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998 
 
7.1 Under the Human Rights Act 1998, which came into force on 2nd 

October 2000, an Authority must be in a position to show: 
• Its action is in accordance with clearly established law 
• The objective is sufficiently important to justify the action taken 
• The decisions taken are objective and not irrational or arbitrary 
• The methods used are no more than are necessary to 

accomplish the legitimate objective 
• The interference impairs as little as possible the right or freedom 

 
7.2  The action in considering the application is in accordance with 

clearly established Planning law and the Council’s Delegation 
scheme. It is considered that the recommendation accords with the 
above requirements in all respects.   

8.0 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE WORKING WITH 
APPLICANT 

  
8.1 In accordance with the requirements of the Town and Country 

Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 
(Amendment No. 2) Order 2012 and paragraph 38 of 2021 National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) as the proposed development 

Page 244



23 
 

does not conflict with the NPPF or with ‘up-to-date’ policies of the 
Local Plan, it is considered to be ‘sustainable development’ to which 
the presumption in favour of the development applies.  

 
8.2  The Local Planning Authority have during the consideration of this 

application engaged in a positive and proactive dialogue with the 
applicant in order to achieve a positive outcome for the application.  

 
9.0  CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 The application site is situated in a sustainable location and the 

proposal would introduce additional housing within the existing built 
up area of Dunston and therefore meets the strategic requirements 
of Local Plan policies CLP1, CLP2 CLP3 and the NPPF. The 
application submission presents a minor alteration to a recently 
approved scheme and is appropriately designed and would not 
cause adverse impacts on the visual amenity, residential amenity 
and character of the area. The previous approval remains alive and 
is a valid fall back position to take into account. Since. the approval 
circumstances, guidance and policy has not changed such that a 
different conclusion could be reached. Subject to conditions the 
proposal will therefore accord with the provisions of policy Local 
Plan policies CLP14, CLP20 and CLP21. Adequate off-street 
parking is proposed as part of the development and secure cycle 
parking Subject to conditions the proposal therefore accords with 
the requirements of CLP20 and CLP22. Subject to the submission 
of further details controlled by condition covering land 
contamination, drainage, biodiversity and intrusive site 
investigations (and remediation works if required) the proposal is 
considered to accord with the principles of CLP13, CLP14, CLP16 
and the wider National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
10.0  RECOMMENDATION 
 
10.1 It is therefore recommended that the application be GRANTED 

subject to the following: 
 

Conditions  
 

Standard time frame 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 

expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
 

Page 245



24 
 

Reason - This is a statutory period which is specified in Section 
91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 
Approved plans and documents 

2. The development hereby approved shall only be carried out in full 
accordance with the approved plans and documents (listed 
below) with the exception of any approved non material 
amendment. All external dimensions and elevational treatments 
shall be as shown on the approved plan/s (listed below). 

o Site Location Plan, drawing number 20-028-LP01 Revision 
A (dated 26.04.2023) 

o Proposed Site Plan, drawing number 20-028-P02 Revision 
J (dated 22.05.2023) 

o Proposed Ground Floor Plan, drawing number 20-028-P03 
Revision J (dated 22.05.2023) 

o Proposed First Floor Plan, drawing number 20-028-P04 
Revision G (Dated 19.05.2023) 

o Proposed Second Floor Plan, drawing number 20-028-P05 
Revision E (dated 19.05.2023) 

o Proposed Elevations Sheet 1, drawing number 20-028-P06 
Revision G (dated 19.05.2023)  

o Proposed Elevations Sheet 2, drawing number 20-028-P07 
Revision G (dated 19.05.2023) 

o Proposed Site Levels Plan, drawing number 20-028-P08 
Revision G (dated 22.05.2023) 

o Proposed Landscaping & Site Boundary Treatment Plan, 
drawing number 20-028-P09 Revision G (dated 
19.05.2023) 

o Proposed Site Access Visibility Splays, drawing number 20-
028-P10 Revision C (dated 22.05.2023) 

Supporting documents 
▪ Design and Access Statement Revision B, produced by 

Brightman Clarke Architects (dated May 2023) 
▪ Supporting Planning Statement, Revised scheme, 

produced by Stainton Planning Urban & Rural 
Consultancy (dated May 2023) 

▪ Ecological Appraisal, produced by Armstrong Ecology 
Ltd (dated July 2020) 

▪ LCRM (Land Contamination Risk Management): Stage 1 
Risk Assessment & CMRA, Project reference GUK-
0221-03, Dunston Road, Chesterfield produced by 
GroundSmiths Geotechnical Engineers (report dated 
09.02.2021) 

Page 246



25 
 

 
Reason - In order to clarify the extent of the planning permission 
in the light of guidance set out in "Greater Flexibility for planning 
permissions" by CLG November 2009. 
 
Pre-commencement – intrusive site investigations 

3. No development shall commence until; 
a) a scheme of intrusive investigations has been carried out on 
site to establish the risks posed to the development by past 
shallow coal mining activity; and 
b) any remediation works and/or mitigation measures to address 
land instability arising from coal mining legacy, as may be 
necessary, have been implemented on site in full in order to 
ensure that the site is made safe and stable for the development 
proposed. 

 
The intrusive site investigations and remedial works shall be 
carried out in accordance with authoritative UK guidance. 

 
Reason - To protect the environment and ensure that the 
redeveloped site is reclaimed to an appropriate standard in 
accordance with the requirements of CLP14 and the NPPF. 
 
Land stability – remediation 

4. Prior to the occupation of the development, or it being taken into 
beneficial use, a signed statement or declaration prepared by a 
suitably competent person confirming that the site is, or has been 
made, safe and stable for the approved development shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing. 
This document shall confirm the methods and findings of the 
intrusive site investigations and the completion of any remedial 
works and/or mitigation necessary to address the risks posed by 
past coal mining activity. 
 
Reason – In accordance with the requirements of CLP14 and the 
NPPF. 

 
Pre-commencement – Land contamination 

5. a) Prior to work commencing on site, the application site shall be 
subjected to a detailed scheme for the investigation and 
recording of contamination and a report has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority; 
b)  Prior to works commencing on site, detailed proposals in line 
with current best practice for the removal, containment or 

Page 247



26 
 

otherwise rendering harmless such contamination (the 
'Contamination Proposals') shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority; 
c)  For each part of the development, 'Contamination Proposals' 
relevant to that part shall be carried out either before or during 
such development as appropriate; 
d)  If during development works any contamination should be 
encountered which was not previously identified and is derived 
from a different source and/or of a different type to those included 
in the 'Contamination Proposals' then the revised 'Contamination 
Proposals' shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority; 
e)  If during development work site contaminants are found in 
areas previously expected to be clean then their remediation 
shall be carried out in line with the agreed 'Contamination 
Proposals'; 
f)  Prior to the commencement of any construction works in any 
area that has been subject to remediation, a verification report 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
Reason - This pre commencement condition is required in the 
interests of safeguarding the proposed development and 
adjacent properties from the possible harmful effects of 
development affecting contaminated land, in accordance with 
CLP14 
 
Highways – pre-commencement site storage/compound 

6. At the commencement of operations on site (excluding 
demolition/ site clearance), space shall be provided within the 
site curtilage for storage of plant and materials, site 
accommodation, loading and unloading of goods vehicles, 
parking and manoeuvring of site operatives and visitors vehicles, 
laid out and constructed in accordance with detailed designs to 
be submitted in advance to the Local Planning Authority for 
written approval and maintained throughout the contract period in 
accordance with the approved designs free from any impediment 
to its designated use. 

Reason – To ensure adequate space is retained for site storage 
during the construction period in accordance with CLP22. 
 
Hours of construction 

Page 248



27 
 

7. No construction or demolition works, movement of construction 
traffic, or deliveries to and from the premises, shall occur other 
than between 0800 and 1800 hours weekdays, and 0800 and 
1700 hours on Saturdays, and at no time on Sundays or Public 
Holidays. The term 'construction work' shall include mobile and 
fixed plant/machinery, (e.g. generators) radios and the delivery of 
construction materials. 
 
Reason - To safeguard the privacy and amenities of the 
occupiers of adjoining properties in accordance with CLP20 and 
CLP14 
 
Noise mitigation 

8. a) No development above floor-slab/D.P.C level shall take place 
until a noise impact assessment including any noise mitigation 
measures shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. The noise assessment should demonstrate 
that the design of the glazing, ventilation, wall and roof structures 
ensure sufficient sound insulation for the occupants of the 
building. The agreed details shall be implemented as part of the 
development.  
 
b) Prior to the first occupation of the hereby permitted 
development, compliance testing shall be undertaken and results 
shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for written 
approval. The approved noise mitigation measures shall be 
retained in perpetuity for the life of the development. 
 
Reason - To safeguard the privacy and amenities of the future 
occupiers in accordance with CLP20 and CLP14 
 
Drainage - surface water  

9. There shall be no piped discharge of surface water from the 
development prior to the completion of surface water drainage 
works, details of which will have been submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority. If discharge to public sewer is 
proposed, the information shall include, but not be exclusive to:- 
 
i. evidence that other means of surface water drainage have 

been properly considered and why they have been 
discounted; and  

ii. ii) the means of discharging to the public sewer network at 
a rate not to exceed 3.5 litres per second. 

Page 249



28 
 

 
Reason - To ensure that no surface water discharges take place 
until proper provision has been made for its disposal and in the 
interest of sustainable drainage in accordance with CLP13. 
 
Drainage – separate foul and surface 

10. The site shall be developed with separate systems of drainage 
for foul and surface water on and off site. The separate systems 
shall extend to the points of discharge to be agreed. 

 
Reason - In the interest of satisfactory and sustainable drainage 
and in accordance with CLP13  

 
Approval of Materials 

11. Precise specifications or samples of all materials to be used in 
the construction of the external surfaces of the proposed 
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority before any work to any external surface 
is carried out. The development shall thereafter be constructed in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason - To ensure a satisfactory external appearance of the 
development in accordance with CLP20 and CLP22 of the Local 
Plan 
 
Biodiversity 

12. No development above floor-slab/D.P.C level shall take place 
until A landscape and biodiversity enhancement and 
management plan (LBEMP) shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The LBEMP should 
combine both the ecology and landscape disciplines and include 
the following:-  

a) Description and location of features to be created, planted, 
enhanced and managed.  
b) Aims and objectives of management.  
d) Appropriate management methods and practices to achieve 
aims and objectives.  
e) Prescriptions for management actions.  
f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work 
plan capable of being rolled forward over a ten-year period).  
g) Details of the body or organization responsible for 
implementation of the plan.  

Page 250



29 
 

h) Ongoing monitoring visits, targets and remedial measures 
when conservation aims and objectives of the plan are not 
being met.  
i) Details of internal bird and bat boxes, (including swift boxes, 
specifications, installation guidance and numbers)  

The approved plan will be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details and maintained thereafter. 
 
Reason: In the interests of achieving a net measurable gain in 
biodiversity in accordance with policy CLP16 of the adopted 
Chesterfield Borough Local Plan and to accord with paragraph 
190 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
Landscaping 

13. Prior to completion or first occupation of the development hereby 
approved, whichever is the sooner; details of treatment of all 
parts on the site not covered by buildings shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details 
shall include:  

a) a scaled plan showing all existing vegetation and 
landscape features to be retained and trees and plants to 
be planted;  

b) location, type and materials to be used for hard 
landscaping including specifications for:  

I. permeable paving  
II. tree pit design 
III. underground modular systems  
IV. Sustainable urban drainage integration  

c) a schedule detailing sizes and numbers/densities of all 
proposed trees/plants; 

d) specifications for operations associated with plant 
establishment and maintenance that are compliant with 
best practise;  

 
The site shall be landscaped strictly in accordance with the 
approved details in the first planting season after completion 
or first occupation of the development, whichever is the 
sooner.  
 
All hard landscaping shall also be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details prior to the occupation of any part of 
the development or in accordance with a programme to be 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

 

Page 251



30 
 

Reason - Required to safeguard and enhance the character and 
amenity of the area, to provide ecological, environmental and bio-
diversity benefits and to maximise the quality and usability of 
open spaces within the development, and to enhance its setting 
within the immediate locality in accordance with Local Plan 
policies CLP20 and CLP16. 

 
Protection of hedgerows 

14. The existing hedgerow to be retained identified on drawing 
‘Proposed Landscaping & Site Boundary Treatment plan drawing 
number 20-028-P09 Revision D’ should be protected (in 
accordance with BS5837:2012 as appropriate) from damage 
during construction by the erection of adequate temporary 
fencing prior to the commencement of groundworks which should 
remain in place for the duration of construction. 

 
Reason - In order to safeguard and enhance the character and 
amenity of the area, to provide ecological, environmental and 
biodiversity benefits and to enhance its setting within the 
immediate locality.  

 
Retention of soft landscaping 

15. All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of 
landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding 
season following the first occupation of the building(s) or the 
completion of the development whichever is the sooner; All 
shrubs, trees and hedge planting shall be maintained free from 
weeds and shall be protected from damage by vermin and stock. 
Any trees or plants which, within a period of five years, die, are 
removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be 
replaced in the next planting season with others of a similar size 
and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local 
planning authority.  

  
Reason- To ensure a satisfactory standard of landscaping in the 
interests of amenity in accordance with CLP20 and CLP16 
 
Water efficiency 

16. No individual dwelling hereby approved shall be occupied until 
the optional requirement for water consumption (110 litres use 
per person per day) in Part G of the Building Regulations has 
been complied with for that dwelling. 
 

Page 252



31 
 

Reason - To protect the water environment in accordance with 
policy CLP13 of the of the adopted Chesterfield Borough Local 
Plan and to accord with paragraph 153 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
Parking provision 

17. The development, the subject of the application, shall not be 
occupied until space has been provided within the application site 
in accordance with the approved application drawings for the 
parking and manoeuvring of residents vehicles, laid out, surfaced 
and maintained throughout the life of the development free from 
any impediment to its designated use. 
 
Reason - In the interests of providing adequate off-street parking 
provision in accordance with CLP20 and CLP22. 
 
Access/visibility splays – 

18. The proposed means of vehicular access hereby approved 
shall be laid out, hard surfaced and drained prior to occupation of 
the first dwelling. Visibility splays shall be provided in accordance 
with drawing ‘Proposed Site Access Visibility Splays, drawing 
number 20-028-P10 Revision C’ with a minimum visibility splay of 
2.4m x 47m in each direction. The approved visibility splays shall 
be kept clear of any obstruction above a height of 1m and 
retained thereafter. 

 
Reason - To ensure that a suitable form of access is made 
available to serve the development in accordance with Policies 
CLP20 and 22 of the Adopted Local Plan.  

 
Lighting 

19. All lighting used on site shall be designed so as to control glare 
and overspill onto nearby residential properties. The applicant 
shall submit details of all the lights they intend to use as part of this 
development and shall seek written approval from the local 
planning authority prior to the installation of lighting on site. 
 
Reason – To protect residential amenity through construction 
works in accordance with policy CLP14 of the Adopted Local 
Plan 

 
 
 
 

Page 253



32 
 

Informative Notes 
 

1. If work is carried out other than in complete accordance with the 
approved plans, the whole development may be rendered 
unauthorised, as it will not have the benefit of the original 
planning permission. Any proposed amendments to that which is 
approved will require the submission of a further application. 

 
2. This approval contains condition/s which make requirements 

prior to development commencing. Failure to comply with such 
conditions will render the development unauthorised in its 
entirety, liable to enforcement action and will require the 
submission of a further application for planning permission in full.  

 
3. You are notified that you will be liable to pay the Community 

Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to Chesterfield Borough Council as CIL 
collecting authority on commencement of development. This 
charge will be levied under the Chesterfield Borough Council CIL 
charging schedule and s211 of the Planning Act 2008. A CIL 
Liability Notice will be issued at the time of a detailed planning 
permission which first permits development, in accordance with 
the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as 
amended). 

 
4. The proposed development lies within an area that has been 

defined by the Coal Authority as containing potential hazards 
arising from former coal mining activity.  These hazards can 
include: mine entries (shafts and adits); shallow coal workings; 
geological features (fissures and break lines); mine gas and 
previous surface mining sites.  Although such hazards are 
seldom readily visible, they can often be present and problems 
can occur in the future, particularly as a result of development 
taking place.   

 
It is recommended that information outlining how the former 
mining activities affect the proposed development, along with any 
mitigation measures required (for example the need for gas 
protection measures within the foundations), be submitted 
alongside any subsequent application for Building Regulations 
approval (if relevant).    

 
Any form of development over or within the influencing distance 
of a mine entry can be dangerous and raises significant safety 
and engineering risks and exposes all parties to potential 

Page 254



33 
 

financial liabilities.  As a general precautionary principle, the Coal 
Authority considers that the building over or within the influencing 
distance of a mine entry should wherever possible be avoided.  
In exceptional circumstance where this is unavoidable, expert 
advice must be sought to ensure that a suitable engineering 
design is developed and agreed with regulatory bodies which 
takes into account of all the relevant safety and environmental 
risk factors, including gas and mine-water.  Your attention is 
drawn to the Coal Authority Policy in relation to new development 
and mine entries available at:  
www.gov.uk/government/publications/building-on-or-within-the-
influencing-distance-of-mine-entries 

 
Any intrusive activities which disturb or enter any coal seams, 
coal mine workings or coal mine entries (shafts and adits) 
requires a Coal Authority Permit.  Such activities could include 
site investigation boreholes, digging of foundations, piling 
activities, other ground works and any subsequent treatment of 
coal mine workings and coal mine entries for ground stability 
purposes.  Failure to obtain a Coal Authority Permit for such 
activities is trespass, with the potential for court action.   

 
Property-specific summary information on past, current and 
future coal mining activity can be obtained from: 
www.groundstability.com or a similar service provider. 

 
If any coal mining features are unexpectedly encountered during 
development, this should be reported immediately to the Coal 
Authority on 0345 762 6848.  Further information is available on 
the Coal Authority website at: 
www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-coal-authority  

 
5. Connection to the public sewerage system requires prior consent 

from Yorkshire Water. Connections to the existing drainage may 
require Building Control approval.  
 

6. Pursuant to Section 184 of the Highways Act 1980 and Section 
86(4) of the New Roads and Streetworks Act 1991 prior 
notification shall be given to the Department of Economy, 
Transport & Environment at County Hall, Matlock regarding 
access works within the highway. Information, and relevant 
application forms, regarding the undertaking of access works 
within highway limits is available via the County Council’s website 
http://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport_roads/roads_traffic/devel

Page 255

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/building-on-or-within-the-influencing-distance-of-mine-entries
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/building-on-or-within-the-influencing-distance-of-mine-entries
http://www.groundstability.com/
http://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-coal-authority
http://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport_roads/roads_traffic/development_control/vehicular%20_%20access/default.asp


34 
 

opment_control/vehicular _ access/default.asp  , e-mail 
highways.hub@derbyshire.gov.uk  or telephone Call Derbyshire 
on 01629 533190  
 

7. Pursuant to Sections 149 and 151 of the Highways Act 1980, 
steps shall be taken to ensure that mud or other extraneous 
material is not carried out of the site and deposited on the public 
highway. Should such deposits occur, it is the applicant’s 
responsibility to ensure that all reasonable steps (e.g. street 
sweeping) are taken to maintain the roads in the vicinity of the 
site to a satisfactory level of cleanliness. 

 
8. The Highway Authority recommends that the first 5m of the 

proposed access/driveway should not be surfaced with a loose 
material (i.e. unbound chippings or gravel etc.). In the event that 
loose material is transferred to the highway and is regarded as a 
hazard or nuisance to highway users, the Authority reserves the 
right to take any necessary action against the householder. 
 

9. To ensure that breeding birds are protected from harm we advise 
that a condition should be imposed requiring that “No removal of 
hedgerows, trees, shrubs or brambles shall take place between 
1st March and 31st August inclusive, unless a recent survey has 
been undertaken by a competent ecologist to assess the nesting 
bird activity on site during this period. If any active nests are 
discovered, then the nest should be left undisturbed until the 
birds have fledged with an appropriate buffer surrounding the 
nest 
 

10. When you carry out the work, you must not intentionally kill, 
injure or take a bat, or intentionally or recklessly damage, destroy 
or block access to any structure or place that a bat uses for 
shelter. These would be offences under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981, the Habitats Regulations 1994 and the 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000. Planning consent for a 
development does not provide a defence against prosecution 
under European and UK wildlife protection legislation. 
 

11. In line with conditions requested by Yorkshire Water - The 
developer is proposing to discharge surface water to public 
sewer however, sustainable development requires appropriate 
surface water disposal.  

a) Yorkshire Water promote the surface water disposal 
hierarchy and the developer must provide evidence to 

Page 256

http://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport_roads/roads_traffic/development_control/vehicular%20_%20access/default.asp
mailto:highways.hub@derbyshire.gov.uk


35 
 

demonstrate that surface water disposal via infiltration or 
watercourse are not reasonably practical before 
considering disposal to public sewer. 

b) The developer and LPA are strongly advised to seek 
comments on surface water disposal from other drainage 
bodies as further restrictions may be imposed.  

c) As the proposal site is currently undeveloped, no positive 
surface water is known to have previously discharged to 
the public sewer network. Surface water discharge to the 
existing public sewer network must only be as a last resort 
and the developer is required to eliminate other means of 
surface water disposal.  

d) As a last resort, and upon receipt of satisfactory evidence 
to confirm the reasons for rejection of other methods of 
surface water disposal, curtilage surface water may 
discharge to public at a restricted rate of 3.5 litres per 
second. 

 
12. In accordance with condition 12 above appropriate 

ecological/biodiversity enhancement measures shall include but 
shall not be limited to: 

• Bird/owl/bat boxes  
o (Locating your nestbox: Whether fixed to a tree or a 

wall, the height above ground is not critical to most 
species of bird as long as the box is clear of 
inquisitive humans and prowling cats. If there is no 
natural shelter, it is best to mount a box facing 
somewhere between south-east and north to avoid 
strong direct sunlight and the heaviest rain. The box 
should be tilted slightly forwards so that the roof may 
deflect the rain from the entrance. 

o You can use nails to attach the box directly to a tree 
trunk or branch; or you can use rope or wire wrapped 
right around the box and trunk (remembering to 
protect the trunk from the wire cutting into it by using 
a piece of rubber underneath it). Both methods are 
satisfactory, but annual maintenance is easier if the 
box is wired and can be taken down easily for 
cleaning. 

o The number of nestboxes which can be placed in a 
garden depends on the species you wish to attract. 
Many species are fiercely territorial, such as blue tits, 
and will not tolerate another pair close by; about 2 to 
3 pairs per acre is the normal density for blue tits. 

Page 257



36 
 

Other species, such as the tree sparrow, which is a 
colonial nester, will happily nest side-by-side. 

o Do not place your nestbox close to a birdtable or 
feeding area, as the regular comings and goings of 
other birds are likely to prevent breeding in the box.) 

o (Locating your bat box: Bat boxes should be 
positioned at least 3 metres above the ground (5 
metres for noctules) in a position that receives some 
direct sun for part of the day, with a clear flight path to 
the box, but preferably also with some tree cover 
nearby as protection from the wind. In the roof eaves, 
on a wall or fixed to a tree are all suitable sites.) 

• Biodiversity enhancing planting and landscaping including 
trees, hedges and native species, wildflower planting and 
nectar rich planting for bees and night scented flowers for 
bats. 

• Measures to enhance opportunities for invertebrates 
including bug hotels/log piles, stone walls including a 
programme of implementation and maintenance. 

• Holes in fences and boundary treatment to allow species 
such as hedgehog to move across the site. 

• Bee bricks. 
 

Species  
Potential 
Enhancement 
Measure  

Notes 

Wildflowers  

Native wildflower 
meadow areas: as 
an alternative to 
amenity grassland. 
 
Wildflower verges. 

Wildflower meadow can 
be added where there is 
grassed verge / communal 
garden space as well as 
within residential gardens 
or as part of wider 
landscaping schemes. 
Advice for creating and 
maintaining a wild patch is 
available on the Wildlife 
Trust website and through 
Flora Locale. 

Birds  

Bird Boxes and 
other nesting 
features: (such as 
stone ledges and 
wooden cladding). 

Particularly where 
adjoining natural areas 
such as woodland, areas 
of priority habitat and the 
river and canal 

Page 258



37 
 

Native species 
planting and 
boundary features: 
Berry and seed 
producing shrubs 
are particularly 
beneficial for wildlife 
and include: 
Barberry, 
Blackthorn, Common 
Dogwood, Guelder 
Rose Hawthorn and 
Spindle berry. 

environment. For 
guidance on installing bird 
boxes including minimum 
height see: 
https://www.bto.org/how-
you-can-help/providing-
birds/putting 
nest-boxes-birds/putting-
nest-box 
Generally, boxes should 
be sheltered from 
prevailing wind, rain and 
strong sunlight. Check 
local records (Magic portal 
and DWT advice) for 
target species. 

Invertebrates  

Bug hotels and log 
piles with stones: 
particularly near 
ponds. 
South facing 
banks: with some 
bare ground. 
Rough or natural 
stone walls with 
holes for 
invertebrates to use. 
Brown roofs with a 
range of substrates 
these are particularly 
recommended on 
brownfield sites 
where 
open mosaic habitat 
may have been lost. 
The substrate does 
not have to cover the 
entire roof. 

Examples of living roof 
projects are available on 
the Buglife web page: 
https://www.buglife.org.uk/
our-work/living-roof-
projects/ 

 
 
 

Page 259



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
COMMITTEE/SUB   Planning Committee 
 
 
DATE OF MEETING   24th July 2023 
 
 
TITLE     DELEGATION 
 
 
PUBLICITY    For Publication 
 
 
CONTENTS Items approved by 

Development Management and  
Conservation Manager under 
the following Delegation 
references:- 

 
Planning Applications  

 P020D, P200D to P250D, 
P270D to P320D, P350D to 
P370D, P390D, P420D to 
P440D 

 
Agricultural and 
Telecommunications 
P330D and P340D 

  
 
RECOMMENDATIONS  Not applicable 
 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND Relevant applications 
PAPERS 
 
These are reported to Planning Committee for information only.  
Anyone requiring further information on any of the matters 
contained in this report should contact:- 
 
Planning Applications   Paul Staniforth      345781 

Page 261

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 Delegated List 
 Planning Applications 
 Code No Ward Proposal Decision  Decision Date 

 FileNo 

 CHE/22/00772/FUL Barrow Hill  Two storey and single storey rear  CP 30/06/2023 
 And New  extensions, conversion of a dilapidated  
 Whittington unit to a one bed residential unit and  
 renovations to site including electric  
 charging points for vehicles. 

 At 19 South Street North 
  New Whittington 
  Chesterfield 

 S43 2AA 

 For  Mr Simon France 

 CHE/22/00786/FUL Brampton  Use of outbuilding as self-contained  CP 04/07/2023 
 West &  annex and erection of a balcony 
 Loundsley  At 

 25 Somersall Lane 

 Somersall 

 Chesterfield 

 S40 3LA 
 For  Mr and Mrs Allcock 

 CHE/22/00812/FUL Staveley  Formation of new vehicular access and CP 11/07/2023 
 North  blocking of existing vehicular access;  
 demolition of existing porch, garage  
 and conservatory; erection of single  
 storey rear and side extensions  
 including vestibule;front 2 storey  
 entrance feature;creation of rear roof  
 terrace and formation of habitable  
 rooms in roofspace; 

 At 20 Woodthorpe Road 
  Woodthorpe 
  Chesterfield 
  S43 3BZ 

 For Mr and Mrs A Gent 

 CHE/23/00104/FUL Staveley  Proposed single and two storey  CP 30/06/2023 
 South extensions to the front, side and rear of  
 the property- Resubmission of  
 application CHE/22/00157/FUL 
 

 At 28 Kinder Road 

 Inkersall 

 S43 3HR 
 For  Mr Maarek Jaansoo    12 July 2023 Page 1 of 7 

Page 263



 Code No Ward Proposal Decision  Decision Date 

 FileNo 

 CHE/23/00141/DOC Spire Discharge of Conditions 4 (Compliance DPC 29/06/2023 
  with preparing ecological  
 assessments) & 5 (landscaping  
 scheme) of CHE/22/00291/FUL-  
 Replacement and repair of retaining  
 walls 

 At Royal Court Rear Car Park 

 Basil Close 

 Chesterfield 
 S41 7SL 

 

 For  The Rc Managment Company Ltd 

 CHE/23/00191/RET Brimington  Retention of outbuilding CP 23/06/2023 
 South At 11 Canalside Crescent 

 Chesterfield 

 S41 0UQ 

 
 For Mr Shailesh Hinglajia 

 CHE/23/00192/FUL Brampton  Single storey rear extension with small  CP 21/06/2023 
 West &  projection to upper storey corner and  
 Loundsley  extension to existing rear raised patio  
 area 

 At  18 Hucknall Avenue 

 Loundsley Green 

 Chesterfield 
 S40 4BY 

 

 For Mr Gary Smith 

 CHE/23/00195/FUL Linacre Demolition of existing conservatory and CP 22/06/2023 
  erection of two storey side extension  
 and single storey side extension to porch 

 At 14 Bretby Road 

 Holme Hall 

 Chesterfield 

 S40 4UL 
 For 
 Mr Richard Carter 

 CHE/23/00209/ADV Brampton  Installation of illuminated Vauxhall totem CP 28/06/2023 
 West &  
 Loundsley  At 464 Chatsworth Road 

 Chesterfield 

 S40 3BD 
 For  Vertu Motors plc    12 July 2023 Page 2 of 7 Page 264



 Code No Ward Proposal Decision  Decision Date 

 FileNo 

 CHE/23/00220/FUL Brockwell Replacement of existing canopy, fuel  CP 28/06/2023 
 tanks, fills, pipework, forecourt and  
 alterations to existing parking  
 arrangement 

 At Chesterfield Express  

 Newbold Road 

 Newbold 

 Chesterfield 
 S41 7AL 

 For  Esso Petroleum Company Limited 

 CHE/23/00221/ADV Brockwell Freestanding Price Sign (existing  CP 28/06/2023 
 retained), Proposed Ancillary Petrol  
 Pump Signage (existing Retained) and  
 Proposed New Canopy Fascia Signage 
  with 'Eyebrow' LED down light lighting  
 strips 

 At Chesterfield Express  

 Newbold Road 

 Newbold 

 S41 7AL 

 For Esso Petroleum Company Limited 

 CHE/23/00245/FUL Spire Front and rear dormers CP 23/06/2023 
 At 35 Spital Lane 
  Spital 
  Chesterfield 
  S41 0EX 

 

 For  Mr and Mrs Casey 

 CHE/23/00255/FUL Brimington  First floor side extension CP 29/06/2023 
 South At 65 Swaddale Avenue 

 Tapton 

 Chesterfield 

 S41 0SX 

 
 For Mr Ismael Abdullah 

 CHE/23/00273/FUL Brimington  Construction of 1 dwellinghouse CP 23/06/2023 
 North At 15 Newbridge Lane 

 Brimington 

 S43 1LX 
 For Martin & Walker Construction Ltd 

 

 
        12 July 2023 Page 3 of 7 Page 265



 Code No Ward Proposal Decision  Decision Date 

 FileNo 

 CHE/23/00280/FUL Whittington  Part single part two storey rear  CP 05/07/2023 
 Moor extension in render 

 At 27 Selhurst Road 

 Newbold 

 Chesterfield 

 S41 7HR 
 For  Greg Deakin 

 CHE/23/00290/TPO Spire Lime trees T2, T5, T9 - To cut down  SC 27/06/2023 
 (lop) the top of the trees by removing  
 overhanging branches of trees into  
 residential garden 

 At  Hunters Walk 

 Chesterfield 

 
 For Ms Glenna Thorpe 

 CHE/23/00305/FUL Staveley  Single / two storey rear extension CP 03/07/2023 
 South At 31 East Crescent 

 Duckmanton 

 S44 5ES 

 
 For Jonathan Bailey 

 CHE/23/00351/TPO Walton Scoth pines under TPO carry out work  CP 10/07/2023 
 on snow damaged pines broken  
 branch in canopy to make safe for  
 owners to walk under. Also remove two 
  small pines with not much branch  
 formation left 

 At 231 Walton Back Lane 

 Walton 

 S42 7LP 

 
 For Mr Tony Thorpe 

 CHE/23/00358/TPO Walton Crown thin, crown lift and draw back  CP 10/07/2023 
 branches overhanging the conservatory 
  of no.7 Sandstone Avenue, the garage  
 of no.5 Sandstone Avenue and garden  
 of 30 Foxbrook Drive 

 At 7 Sandstone Avenue 

 Walton 

 Chesterfield 

 S42 7NS 

 
 For Mrs Anne Spencer    12 July 2023 Page 4 of 7 Page 266



 Code No Ward Proposal Decision  Decision Date 

 FileNo 

 CHE/23/00367/TPO Linacre G1X6 Oak trees- Crown lift 5.2m to  CP 10/07/2023 
 clear the dwelling and structures and  
 allow light underneath the canopy.  
 Reduction of lateral overhang by 2-3  
 metres and to leave a crown outwards  
 from the tree's main stem. Crown thin  
 by 20-30% to allow light and sunlight to 
  filter through onto the home and  
 garden area. Mixed hedgerow- Which 
  is Holly Hawthorn and Hazel-  
 reduction of 50% to leave a 2m high  
 hedge, but retaining its natural  
 appearance to allow light into the  
 garden area. 

 At  4 Ballidon Close 

 Holme Hall 

 Chesterfield 

 S40 4UA 

 
 For Ms Julie Mulliss (Wharton) 

 CHE/23/00369/DOC Walton Discharge of condition 4 (biodiversity  DPC 22/06/2023 
 measures) of CHE/22/00197/FUL-  
 Front porch extension 

 At 81 Ling Road 

 Walton 

 Chesterfield 

 S40 3HU 

 
 For Ms Julia Marples 

 CHE/23/00400/TPO Dunston Crown lift, crown thin and reduction of  CP 07/07/2023 
 branches growing towards the dwelling 
  and structures 

 At 22 Lancaster Road 

 Newbold 

 Chesterfield 

 S41 8TR 

 
 For Mr Rowan Whittaker 

 CHE/23/00403/TPO Brampton  Fell one Dead Beech tree reference T8  CP 29/06/2023 
 West &  of TPO 173 
 Loundsley  At 341 Ashgate Road 

 Chesterfield 

 S40 4DB 

 
 For G W Sabin     12 July 2023 Page 5 of 7 Page 267



 Code No Ward Proposal Decision  Decision Date 

 FileNo 

 CHE/23/00404/EIA Brampton  Town & Country Planning  EIANR 11/07/2023 
 East &  (Environmental Impact Assessment)  
 Boythorpe Regulations 2017, EIA Screening  
 Opinion Request for proposed new  
 custody suite and divisional  
 headquarters development 

 At Site Of Former Boythorpe Works 

 Goyt Side Road 

 Chesterfield 
 S40 2PH 

 

 For David Staniland 

 CHE/23/00410/TPO Spire T1 Lime- Clean out deadwood. Crown  CP 06/07/2023 
 lift to 5.2m over carriageway, T3 Ash-  
 Clean out deadwood and hanging  
 branch, T7- Copper Beech- Crown lift  
 to 3m over churchyard and T8 Lime-  
 Clean out deadwood and crown lift to  
 3m over the pavement 

 At Holy Trinity Rectory  

 31 Newbold Road 

 Newbold 

 Chesterfield 
 S41 7PG 

 For  Ms Jenny Allen 

 CHE/23/00411/CA Spire T5 Willow- Fell and grind stump, T9  UP 06/07/2023 
 Goat Willow- Fell and grind out/poison, 
  T10 Goat Willow- Fell and grind  
 out/poison stump 

 At  Holy Trinity Rectory 

 31 Newbold Road 

 Newbold 

 Chesterfield 
 S41 7PG 

 

 For 
 Ms Jenny Allen 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
        12 July 2023 Page 6 of 7 Page 268



 Code No Ward Proposal Decision  Decision Date 

 FileNo 

 CHE/23/00413/NMA Staveley  Non material amendment to application CPNMAZ 11/07/2023 
 Central  CHE/18/00229/FUL- (Residential  
 development of 175 two, three and four 
  bed dwellings and ancillary works)- to  
 change bricks to be used 

 At Land South Of Erin Road Junction 

 The Grove 

 Poolsbrook 
 Chesterfield 

 

 For Gleeson Developments Limited 

 CHE/23/00415/TPO Walton Crown lift to trees within G1 of TPO  CP 07/07/2023 
 212 (2001). In relation to  
 implementation of works approved  
 under planning application 22-00116- 
 REM1 

 At Land South Of Walton Hospital 

 Harehill Road 

 Grangewood 
 Chesterfield 

 For 
 Miss Georgie Haslam 

 CHE/23/00417/TPO Brimington  Crown lift all low branches and  CP 07/07/2023 
 North weeping extension growth up to 3.5m  
 from ground level and remove all  
 epicormic growth from the lower stem 

 At 
 9 Victoria Street 

 Brimington 

 Chesterfield 

 S43 1HY 
 For 
 Mr Robert Marsden 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
        12 July 2023 Page 7 of 7 Page 269



This page is intentionally left blank



 Delegated List - Planning Applications 
 
 
Key to Decisions   
 
Code Description 
  
AC Historic 
AP Historic 
APPRET Application returned to applicant 
CI Called in by secretary of state 
CIRNO Circular 18/84 no objection 
CNOCO Circular 18/84 no objs but conditions 
CONCOM Confirmation Compliance with Conditions 
CP Conditional permission 
CPEOTZ Conditional Permission Extension of Time 
CPMAZ Conditional consent for material amendment 
CPRE1Z Conditional Permission Vary Conditions 
CPRET Conditional Approval Retrospective 
DPC Discharge of Planning Conditions 
FDO  Finally Disposed Of 
GR CLOPUD CLOPUD Granted 
GRANT CLUD CLUD Granted 
GRNTEX Permission Granted with Exemption 
ND Non Development 
OBJ Other Council objection 
OC Other Council no obj with comments 
OW Other Council no obj without comments 
PA Prior Notification Approval 
PADEM Prior Notification Demolition Approve 
PD Found to be Permitted Development 
PR Prior Notification Refusal 
RAP Retrospective Application Refused 
RARETZ Retrospective Application Approved 
RC Application Refused 
REF  Refused 
RETAP DO NOT USE 
RETRFZ Retrospective Application Refused 
RF CLODUP CLOPUD Refused 
RTN  Invalid Application Returned 
S106 S106 Approved pending planning obligation 
SC Split decision with conditions 
SU Split decision - approval unconditional 
UP Unconditional permission 
UPRET Unconditional Approval Retrospective 
WDN Withdrawn 
XXXXXX Recommendation Pending 

 

Page 271



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 
COMMITTEE/SUB   Planning Committee 
 
 
DATE OF MEETING   24th July 2023 
 
 
TITLE     DELEGATION 
 
 
PUBLICITY    For Publication 

 
 
CONTENTS Items approved by the 

Development Management and  
Conservation Manager under 
the following Delegation 
references:- 

 
Felling and Pruning of Trees  

 P100D, P120D, P130D 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS  Not applicable 
 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND Relevant applications 
PAPERS 
 
 
These are reported to Planning Committee for information only.  
Anyone requiring further information on any of the matters 
contained in this report should contact:- 
 
 
Applications to Fell or Prune Trees  Steve Perry 345791 
 

Page 273

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



SECTION 1  APPLICATION TO FELL OR PRUNE TREES 
 

CODE NO DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL TERMS OF DECISION 

CHE/23/00290/TPO 
 
TPO 4901.261 
 
    26/06/23 

The pruning of 5 trees reference T2, 
T5-T8 Lime on the Order Map and 
which are situated along the driveway 
of Hunters Walk, Saltergate. 

Consent is refused to the lopping of the tops 
(height) and side branches of 5 Lime trees. 
The lopping of branches to such a degree 
would make the trees unsightly, unbalanced 
and instigate epicormic growth on the lopped 
branch framework which would in turn create 
a denser canopy.  
 
The trees are approximately 23 metres away 
from the main dwellings with a branch 
spread of approximately 5-6 metres 
outwards from the main stem located along 
Hunters Walk which is at a suitable distance 
from the main dwellings along Tennyson 
Avenue. 
 
Consent is granted to the crown lifting of the 
trees to 5.2 metres to allow light underneath 
the canopy and to selectively prune 
branches growing towards 11 Tennyson 
Avenue to re-shape the crown and to some 
degree remove some overhanging branches 

P
age 275



to the garden area.  
CHE/23/00403/TPOEXP 
 
   TPO 4901.234 
 
    29/06/23 

The felling of one dead Beech tree 
reference T8 at 341 Ashgate Road 

A notification to the owner of 341 Ashgate 
Road has been issued for the felling of one 
dead and dangerous tree to the frontage of 
the property due to the high risk to the 
general public and highway.  
 
A condition has been attached to plant one 
Maple tree in the next available planting 
season.  

CHE/23/00410/TPO 
 
   TPO 4901.19 
 
    06/07/23 

The pruning of 4 trees within consisting 
of 2 Limes, 1 Ash & 1 Copper Beech 
within G1 on the Order Map and which 
are situated to the rear of The Holy 
Trinity Rectory, 31 Newbold Road 

Consent is granted to crown lift the trees to 
clear the highway and footpath and to 
removed dead wood within the crown.  

CHE/23/00400/TPO 
 
TPO 4901.47 
 
    06/07/23 

The pruning of one Beech tree 
reference T1, one Sycamore reference 
T2 and two Ash reference T4 & T5 on 
the Order Map and which are situated 
in the garden of 22 Lancaster Road, 
Newbold. 

Consent is granted to crown lift, crown thin 
and reduce branches growing towards the 
property to give a 2 metre clearance from 
the structure.  

CHE/23/00415/TPO 
 
TPO 4901.212 
 
    07/07/23 

The pruning of 17 Lime trees reference 
G1 on the Order Map and which are 
situated on the former Walton Hospital 
site off Harehill Road, Grangewood 

Consent is granted to the crown lifting of 17 
Lime trees to clear the public highway and 
facilitate the installation of drainage services. 
 
 
  

P
age 276



CHE/23/00417/TPO 
 
TPO 4901.315 
 
    07/07/23 

The pruning of one Elm tree reference 
T23 on the Order map at the Ringwood 
Centre, 9 Victoria Road, Brimington. 

Consent is granted to crown lift one Elm tree 
by 3.5 metres.  

CHE/23/00367/TPO 
 
TPO 4901.153 
 
    10/07/23 

The pruning of 8 Oak trees and mixed 
hedgerow species consisting of Hazel, 
Hawthorn and Holly within G1 on the 
Order Map and which are situated to 
the east of 4 Ballidon Close, Newbold 

Consent is granted to crown lift the trees 6 
Oak trees to 4.5 metres and 5.2 metres over 
the highway. Crown thin by a maximum of 
20% and the reduction of side branches by 
2-3 metres pruning back to suitable 
replacement branches and clearing the 
property structure.  
 
Consent is also granted to a 50% crown 
reduction of the hedgerow consisting of 
Hazel, Holy and Hawthorn to leave a 2 
metre high hedge but retaining its natural 
appearance. 

CHE/23/00351/TPO 
 
   TPO 4901.234 
 
    10/07/23 

The felling of four Scots Pine trees and 
the pruning of Larch & Pine trees within 
G9 on the Order Map and which are 
situated in the grounds of 231 Walton 
Back Lane, Somersall 

Consent is granted to the felling of four Pine 
trees which are being supressed by other 
trees within the group and have storm 
damage which cannot be pruned out. The 
duty to replant has been dispensed with on 
this occasion due to insufficient room and no 
loss of amenity to the group.  
 
Consent is also granted to crown clean the 

P
age 277



remaining Scots Pine and Larch trees to 
remove dead wood and storm damaged 
branches. 

CHE/23/00358/TPO 
 
TPO 4901.174 
 
    10/07/23 

The pruning of one Oak tree reference 
T5 on the Order Map and which is 
situated in the rear garden of 7 
Sandstone Avenue, Walton.  

Consent is granted to the crown reduction of 
one Oak tree by a maximum of 2-3 metres to 
re-shape the tree and clear structures. 
Crown lift by 4 metres and remove dead 
wood within the crown.  

CHE/23/00378/TPO 
 
TPO 4901.160 
 
    12/07/23 

The pruning of one Oak tree reference 
T71 on the Order map at Hasland 
Support Centre, 86 The Green, 
Hasland.  

Consent is granted to crown lift the Oak tree 
by 5.2 metres to facilitate the delivery of 
temporary classroom units to the site.  

 

P
age 278



SECTION 2  NOTIFICATION OF INTENT TO AFFECT TREES IN A CONSERVATION AREA 
 

CONTENTS OF NOTICE SUMMARY OF CONSIDERATIONS TERMS OF DECISION DATE OF 
DECISION 

CHE/23/00411/CA The felling of 
3 Goat Willow trees in the 
grounds of the Holy Trinity 
Rectory, Newbold Road.  

The trees are within the Abercrombie 
Street Conservation Area and the 
applicant wishes to fell the self-set Goat 
Willow trees before they grow any larger 
and maintain the garden area. A tree 
survey and report have been submitted 
with the application to justify the trees 
removal.  

Agreement to the felling of trees. 
The felling of the trees will have 
no adverse effect on the 
character and amenity of the 
area. 

 
 
06/07/23 

 
 

P
age 279



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
APPEALS  REPORT 

 
 

MEETING:  PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
DATE:  24th July 2023 
 
REPORT BY: DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT AND 

CONSERVATION MANAGER 
 
 
FOR PUBLICATION 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR PUBLIC REPORTS 
 
TITLE     LOCATION 
 
Non exempt papers on files  Development Management 
referred to in report   Section 
      Planning Service 
      Town Hall   

Chesterfield 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

1.1 To inform Members regarding the current status of 
appeals being dealt with by the Council. 
 

 
PAUL STANIFORTH 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT AND CONSERVATION 
MANAGER 
 
 
These are reported to Planning Committee for information only.  
Anyone requiring further information on any of the matters 
contained in this report should contact Paul Staniforth on 01246 
345781. 

Page 281

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



APPEALS 
 

FILE 
NO. 

WARD APPELLANT CASE MEMBER 
OFFICER 

DATE 
REC 

TYPE AND  
DATE 

DECISION 
AND DATE 

2/4150 West ward Mr D Pogson 
of 31 Storrs 
Road 

CHE/22/00250/TPO – 
Felling 2 Beech trees 
at 25a Storrs Road 
Refusal 

Officer 
delegation 

21/06/22 Hearing  

2/621 Barrow Hill and 
New Whittington 
ward 

Mr P Rawson CHE/22/00592/OUT 
2 dwellings on land at 
66 South Street North 
– None Determination 
 

n/a 9/2/23 Written 
Reps 

 

2/2581 Middlecroft & 
Poolsbrook ward 

Mr T Singh CHE/21/00381/FUL  
Extension at 26A 
Circular Road –  
Refusal 

Officer 
delegation 

23/2/23 Written 
Reps 

 

2/705 Brockwell ward Mr D 
Hopkinson 

CHE/22/00276/RET  
Retention of fencing 
and retail sales at 194-
196 Newbold Road - 
Refusal 

Planning 
Committee 
against 
officer advice 

28/02/23 Written 
Reps 

 

2/1257 Middlecroft & 
Poolsbrook ward 

Mrs V Zheng CHE/21/00778/FUL  
Change of Use and 
new build to create 20 
apartments at Elm 
Tree Inn, High Street, 
Staveley –  
Refusal 

Planning 
Committee 
against 
officer advice 

28/04/23 Written 
Reps 

 

2/3583 St Helens ward Woodall 
Homes Ltd 

CHE/22/00604/FUL – 
Residential 
Development of land at 
Brimington Road, 
Waterside – 145 units 
– Non Determination 
 

n/a 11/05/23 Public 
Inquiry 

 

P
age 283



2/1209 Moor ward Plumco Ltd CHE/23/00090/ADV – 
48 sheet illuminated 
signage 
Refused  

Officer 
delegation 

23/05/23 Written 
Reps 

 

2/2150 Old Whittington 
Ward 

Chris Eaton CHE/23/00001/FUL 
Dwelling at 7 Ashcroft 
Drive, Old Whittington 
– Refusal 

Officer 
delegation 

9/6/23 Written 
Reps 

 

2/2403 Holmebrook 
ward 

Mr Paul 
Servante 

CHE/19/00534/RET – 
Play Equipment at 94 
Chester Street – 
appeal against 
planning refusal dated 
19/11/19 rather than 
Enforcement Notice  

Committee 
authorised 
Enforcement 
Notice 

9/6/23 Written 
Reps 

 

 

P
age 284



 

  

 
 

ENFORCEMENT REPORT 
   
MEETING:  PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

DATE:  24TH JULY 2023 
 

REPORT BY: HEAD OF REGULATORY LAW  
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT & CONSERVATION MANAGER 

WARD: 
 

As listed in the report 
  
FOR PUBLICATION                      BACKGROUND PAPERS  
TITLE: Non-exempt papers (if 
any) on relevant files 

LOCATION: LEGAL SERVICES 

 
1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 For non-exempt information about current formal enforcement progress. 
 
2.0 BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The table summarises formal planning enforcement by the Council.  
 
3.0 INFORMAL ACTION  
 
3.1 Formal enforcement is a last resort, with most planning problems resolved 

without formal action (in accordance with government guidance). More 
information on informal enforcement is available from the Enforcement team. 

 
4.0 MORE INFORMATION ABOUT THE TABLE 
 
4.1 A summary of the main types of planning enforcement action available to the 

Council and penalties for non-compliance is available from Legal Services.   
 
5.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
5.1 That the report be noted. 

GERARD ROGERS 
HEAD OF REGULATORY LAW  

 

PAUL STANIFORTH 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 
& CONSERVATION MANAGER 

 
Further information on this report from Gerard Rogers, Regulatory Law  
Tel 01246 936471 or email gerard.rogers@chesterfield.gov.uk

FOR PUBLICATION 

Page 285

Agenda Item 8



ENFORCEMENT REPORT 14 July 202311Enforcements currently Authorised:

Address Authorised Breach CHE/ Issued Effective Comply Notes  update Ward

days to issue last updatedays to (-) /fromdays to (-) /fromdays from

Breach of Condition Notice 540Authorised to Issue Average: days2Total currently Authorised:

Dunston Road 25/05/23 Loud music in 
marquee

23/00228/DOC Authorised by 
Development 
Management and 
Conservation Manager

Dunston 
Hall

D
51

York Street 23/09/19 balcony, canopy 
and french door

17/00800/FUL 16/03/21 16/03/21 16/04/21 Issued. One month to 
submit details. Then 6 
months after approval 
to carry out works. Not 
complied. Prosecution 
being prepared.

2 Ha
540 18/03/218208511,391

Enforcement Notice 65Authorised to Issue Average: days6Total currently Authorised:

Chester Street 20/02/23 wooden play 
structure

30/05/23 29/06/23 29/07/23 removal within 28 
days. Issued 30/05/23. 
Owners seeking to 
appeal refusal of 
planning permission 
and may also appeal 
enforcement notice

94 B
99 10/07/23-1416145

Details at 14 July 2023

P
age 286



Address Authorised Breach CHE/ Issued Effective Comply Notes  update Ward

days to issue last updatedays to (-) /fromdays to (-) /fromdays from

Markham Road 18/02/08 storage of 
commercial vehicles

20/03/08 18/04/08 20/10/08 Complied by 2009. 
Unauthorised use has 
started again. 
Prosecute - awaiting 
instructions.

Markham 
House

HI
31 14/11/19538155665,626

Newbold Road 30/01/23 frontage fencing and 
forecourt retail sales

Appeal against refusal 
of planning permission, 
further report to be 
submitted.

194-196 - 
former 
Hardy's 
Site

N
12/05/23166

Park Hall Avenue 12/12/22 timber fencing and 
stone columns on 
frontage

Awaiting instructions2 Wa
21/12/22215

Pottery Lane 
West

18/07/22 Storage of vehicles Instructed10 Mo
20/10/22362

Details at 14 July 2023

P
age 287



Address Authorised Breach CHE/ Issued Effective Comply Notes  update Ward

days to issue last updatedays to (-) /fromdays to (-) /fromdays from

York Street 09/10/17 conversion and 
extension of roof 
space

17/00800/FUL Flat conversion 
approved 03/04/18, 
conditions requiring 
removal of balcony, 
canopy, french 
windows appealed, but 
dismissed 18/12/18. 
Not complied with 
conditions. BCN 
served - see separate 
entry.

2 Ha
19/12/182,105

Section 215 Amenity Notice Authorised to Issue Average: days3Total currently Authorised:

Edinburgh Road 10/10/22 unroadworthy 
vehicle, trailer and 
miscellaneous 
building materials 
etc.

Did not comply within 3 
months given. 
Instructed.

12 SH
28/10/22278

Highfield Road 05/10/20 Removal of debris 
and waste

Update report 
15/02/21. Working with 
occupier and 
representative with 
view to progress 
without formal action.

80 SH
15/02/211,013

Details at 14 July 2023

P
age 288



Address Authorised Breach CHE/ Issued Effective Comply Notes  update Ward

days to issue last updatedays to (-) /fromdays to (-) /fromdays from

Tapton Terrace 05/10/20 removal of Heras 
fencing and erection 
of new boundary 
fence, removal of 
vans, debris and 
waste

Update report 
15/02/21. Progressing 
without formal action.

26 SL
15/02/211,013

Key to Ward abbreviations: BNW Barrow Hill and New Whittington• BN Brimington North • BS Brimington South • B Brockwell • D Dunston • Ha Hasland • Hb Holmebrook • HI 
Hollingwood and Inkersall • L Linacre • LG Loundsley Green • LW Lowgates  and Woodthorpe • MP Middlecroft and Poolsbrook • Mo Moor • N Newbold  • OW Old Whittington • R 
Rother • SH St Helens • SL St Leonards • Wa Walton • We West    

Action authorised by Committee except Breach of Condition, Planning Contravention,Section 215 Notices, Advertisement Discontinuance, prosecutions and urgent action which 
are authorised by officers      

SJP - single justice procedure: procecutions dealt with by the Magistrates Court on paper without a hearing in open court
CV-19 - coronavirus implications for enforcement or compliance

Details at 14 July 2023

P
age 289



T
his page is intentionally left blank



For publication 
 

Five Year Supply of Land for Housing 
 

Meeting: 
 

Planning Committee 

Date:  
 

24th July 2023 

Cabinet 
portfolio: 
 

Climate Change, Planning and Environment 

Directorate: 
 

Economic Growth 

For publication 
 

 
 

1.0 Purpose of the report 
 

1.1 To update planning committee on the latest position on the council’s five year 
supply of deliverable housing sites. 
 

1.2 To summarise the results of the latest Housing Delivery Test (HDT). 
 
2.0 Recommendations 

 
2.1 That member of Planning Committee note the report. 
 
3.0 Reason for recommendations 

 
3.1 In order that the Housing Supply and HDT results can inform the 

determination of planning applications. 
 
4.0 Report details 

 
4.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires that Local planning 

authorities should identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable 
sites sufficient to provide a minimum of five years’ worth of housing against 
the housing requirement (NPPF Paragraph 74).   
 

4.2 The Council publishes a statement annually, setting out the five year supply 
position (attached to this report as appendix 1). 
 

4.3 In addition, the government is responsible for annually publishing the results 
of the Housing Delivery Test (HDT), usually in February.  This sets out the 
performance of every Local Planning Authority on housing delivery and 
informs the calculation of the housing supply.  The government has not yet 

Page 291

Agenda Item 9



published the latest HDT results and has given no indication when, or if, they 
will be published this year.   
 
Housing Delivery Test (HDT) 
 

4.4 The Housing Delivery Test is based on a comparison of the Council’s Housing 
Delivery (as monitored and reported by the Council to the Department of 
Levelling Up), and an assessment of housing need over a three year period. 
The Housing Need is calculated using the methodology set out in the ‘Housing 
Delivery Test Calculation Handbook’ and is not the same as the one used to 
calculate the adopted Local Plan target which is used to calculate the Five 
Year Housing Supply.  The HDT results are set out in the Five Year Housing 
Supply statement attached as appendix 1, and are as follows: 
 

Housing Delivery Test Results - 2022 measurement  

Deliver Year  

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Total 

Homes 
required 

220 153 223 596 

Homes 
delivered 

304 276 379 959 

Delivery measurement 161% 

 
4.5 The Council’s performance on the Housing Delivery Test result would have 

been 161% had it been published as normal. 
 

4.6 Housing delivery for the 2022/2023 monitoring year was 273 (net) new 
dwellings, so performance for the next HDT is expected to remain above 
100%. 
 
Five Year Housing Supply. 
 

4.7 As the Council’s Local Plan (the Chesterfield Borough Local Plan 2018-2035) is 
less that five years old the calculation of the housing supply position  will be 
based on the adopted Local Plan Target of 240 dwellings a year, plus a buffer 
of 5%, as required by the NPPF. 
 

4.8 The five year supply is calculated in three parts: 
 

i. Five year housing target (240 x 5 plus a 5% buffer) 
ii. Supply of deliverable sites (as defined by the NPPF) 
iii. Calculation of surplus/deficit compared to the Local Plan housing 

target 

Page 292



 
4.9 The housing target for the next five years is 1260 (net) new dwellings: 

 
Five Year Housing Requirement  
Local Plan Objectively assessed need (OAN) 
(annual) 

240 

Five year target (240 x 5) 1200 
5% buffer  60 
Five Year Housing Requirement 1260 

 
4.10 To be considered deliverable, sites for housing should be available now, offer 

a suitable location for development, and be achievable with a realistic 
prospect that housing will be delivered on the site within five years. In 
particular the NPPF sets definitions of deliverable sites as follows: 

i. sites which do not involve major development [less than 10 
dwellings] and have outline planning permission, and all sites with 
detailed planning permission, unless there is clear evidence that 
homes will not be delivered within five years; 

ii. sites with outline planning permission for major development [10 or 
more dwellings]; allocations in a Local Plan; permission in principle, 
or; identified on a brownfield register - where there is clear evidence 
that housing completions will begin on site within five years. 
 

4.11 The sites that are considered to be ‘deliverable’ according to these definitions 
are set out in the appendices of the Housing Supply statement and amounts 
to a total supply of 2022 dwellings. 
 
Housing Supply as of 1st April 2023 
Supply of sites deliverable within five years No. Dwellings 
Remaining commitments on sites under 
construction as of 1st April 2023 

883 

Detailed planning permission & Outline permission 
for less than 10 dwellings 

574 

Outline permission for major development  201 
Allocated in Local Plan, but without planning 
permission 

364 

Brownfield Land Register sites only 0 
Total Housing supply 2022 

 
4.12 This works out as the equivalent of an eight year supply of deliverable sites. 

 
4.13 The result of this in terms of decision making, is that paragraph decisions on 

planning applications should continue to be made on the basis of the adopted 
Local Plan and paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF (the ‘presumption in favour of 
sustainable development) does not apply. 

 
Document information 

Page 293



 
Report author 
Alan Morey – Strategic Planning and Key Sites Manager 
 
Background documents 
These are unpublished works which have been relied on to a material extent when 
the report was prepared. 
NA 
Appendices to the report 
Appendix 1 Chesterfield Borough Council Five Year Housing Supply 

Position 1st April 2023 To 31st March 2028 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 294



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chesterfield Borough Council 
Five Year Housing Supply Position  

 
1st April 2023 

To 
31st March 2028 

 

 

 
 
  

Page 295



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

1 
 

Contents 
 

Introduction 

1. Housing Delivery Monitoring 

2. Housing Requirement 

3. Housing Supply 

4. Five Year Housing Land Supply Position (As of 1st April 2023) 

5. Affordable Housing Delivery Monitoring 

6. Appendices 

 Appendix 1 – Sites Under Construction as of 1st April 2023 

 Appendix 2 – Dwelling Supply: Sites with Detailed Planning 
permission, and outline permission for non-major 
development as of 1st April 2023 

 Appendix 3 – Dwelling Supply: Sites with Outline Permission 
for Major Development and Evidence of Delivery as of 1st April 
2023 

 Appendix 4 – Dwelling Supply: Local Plan Allocations without 
planning permission as of 1st April 2023 

 Appendix 5 – Dwelling Supply: Brownfield Register Sites 
(without planning permission or Local Plan allocation) as of 1st 
April 2023 

  

Page 296



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

2 
 

Introduction 

Paragraph 74 of the revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), published July 20211, 
requires Local Planning Authorities to identify and update annually: 
 

“a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide a minimum of five years’ 
worth of housing against their housing requirement set out in adopted strategic 
policies, or against their local housing need where the strategic policies are more than 
five years old. 
 
The supply of specific deliverable sites should in addition include a buffer (moved  
forward from later in the plan period) of:  
 

a) 5% to ensure choice and competition in the market for land; or  
b) 10% where the local planning authority wishes to demonstrate a five year 

supply of deliverable sites through an annual position statement or recently 
adopted Plan, to account for any fluctuations in the market during that year; 
or  

c) 20% where there has been significant under delivery of housing over the 
previous three years, to improve the prospect of achieving the planned supply. 

The following statement sets out the council’s up-to-date position based on monitoring data 
for the 2022-23 period.  It takes account of the requirement, Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) 
for housing, the supply of sites and evidence of delivery.  It should be read in conjunction with 
the council’s approved development plan2.  

At the time of writing, the council’s development plan consists of The Chesterfield Borough 
Local Plan 2018-2035 (adopted July 2020). 

 
The Local Plan was adopted in July 2020 and the Council was required to demonstrate the 
Plan provided a specific, deliverable supply of sites sufficient for five years (with, at the time, 
a 20% buffer for persistent under-delivery).   

The Housing Statement is set out in four parts: 

1. Housing Delivery monitoring 
2. The Housing Requirement 
3. The Housing Supply 
4. The overall Five Year Supply position 
5. Affordable Housing Delivery monitoring 

 

  

 
1 Policy paper overview: National Planning Policy Framework - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)  
2 Chesterfield Borough Council Local Plan 2018-2035 

Page 297



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

3 
 

1. Housing Delivery Monitoring 
 
Throughout the 2022/23 financial year 273 (net) new dwellings were completed. This is 
calculated using the following formula: 

Net dwellings = (New Build Completions) + (Net Conversion to Residential) - (Demolitions) 

This exceeded the Housing Need target of 240 dwellings per annum set out in the adopted 
Chesterfield Borough Local Plan 2018/2035 (adopted in July 2020). 
 
Details of sites under construction are set out in Appendix 1.  
 
 

Table 1: Housing Completions by year 

Year Net Completions 

2011/12 51 
2012/13 150 
2013/14 148 
2014/15 184 
2015/16 206 
2016/17 123 
2017/18 110 
2018/19 212 
2019/20 304 
2020/21 276 
2021/22 379 
2022/23 273 

 
 

 
  
 
  

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

Net Completions by year

Page 298



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

4 
 

Housing Delivery Test 
 
The government has not published Housing Delivery Test results for the most recent 
monitoring period (which would cover 2019-2022).  In the absence of this, an estimate has 
been prepared for this statement using the methodology set out in the housing test 
measurement rulebook3.  The implications of this on the housing requirement are set out 
below. 
 

Table 2b: Housing Delivery Test Results - 2022 measurement (estimated) 

 Year Total 

2019/20  2020/21  2021/22 

Homes required 220 153 223 596 

Homes delivered 304 276 379 959 

Delivery measurement 161% 

 
On this basis the Chesterfield is demonstrating over 100% on the Test and is not showing 
‘persistent under delivery’.  

 
3 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-delivery-test-measurement-rule-book  

Page 299



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

5 
 

2. Housing Requirement  

In order to meet the housing needs of a growing population and expanding economy the Local 
Plan 2018-2035 seeks to deliver a minimum Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) of 240 new 
dwellings per year, (4,080 dwellings over the period 2018 to 2035) as set out in policy CLP1 of 
the Plan   

The current Local Plan was adopted in July 2020 it and its policies are less than five years old.  
Therefore, according to paragraph 74 of the NPPF, the council’s housing requirement for five 
year supply purposes must be based on the housing requirement set out in adopted 
strategic policy CLP1 (240 new dwellings per year).   

The NPPF requires a further ‘buffer’ to be added to the target as determined by the most 
recent Housing Delivery Test (HDT)4 results.  As the government has not published the results 
of the Housing Delivery Test for the most recent monitoring period an estimate has been 
prepared (see above).  Although the government has not published the most recent Housing 
Delivery Test results at the time of writing, using the HDT methodology the Council’s HDT 
result for the 2022 measurement period (1st April 2019 to 31st March 2022) would be 163%.  
This does not qualify as ‘persistent under-delivery’ and the lowest buffer of 5% has therefore 
been added to the Housing Target as required by paragraph 74(a) of the NPPF.   

Five Year Housing Target 

The calculation of the borough’s five-year housing supply requirement is set out in table 3, 
below. 

 

Table 3: Five Year Housing Requirement  
Local Plan OAN (annual) 240 
Five year target (240 x 5) 1200 
5% buffer  60 
Five Year Housing Requirement 1260 

 

 

 

  

 
4 Housing Delivery Test: 2021 measurement - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

Page 300



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

6 
 

3. Housing Supply 

The Revised NPPF definition of ‘deliverable’ is set out in the Glossary in Annex 2 of the 
Framework. 
 

“To be considered deliverable, sites for housing should be available now, offer a 
suitable location for development now, and be achievable with a realistic prospect 
that housing will be delivered on the site within five years. In particular: 
 
a) sites which do not involve major development and have planning permission, and 

all sites with detailed planning permission, should be considered deliverable until 
permission expires, unless there is clear evidence that homes will not be delivered 
within five years (for example because they are no longer viable, there is no longer 
a demand for the type of units or sites have long term phasing plans). 

b)  where a site has outline planning permission for major development, has been 
allocated in a development plan, has a grant of permission in principle, or is 
identified on a brownfield register, it should only be considered deliverable where 
there is clear evidence that housing completions will begin on site within five 
years.” 

 
Planning Practice Guidance sets out guidance on what should be considered ‘Clear Evidence 
of Delivery for the second category, this evidence may include5: 
 

 current planning status – for example, on larger scale sites with outline or hybrid 
permission how much progress has been made towards approving reserved matters, 
or whether these link to a planning performance agreement that sets out the timescale 
for approval of reserved matters applications and discharge of conditions; 

 firm progress being made towards the submission of an application – for example, a 
written agreement between the local planning authority and the site developer(s) 
which confirms the developers’ delivery intentions and anticipated start and build-out 
rates; 

 firm progress with site assessment work; or 
 clear relevant information about site viability, ownership constraints or infrastructure 

provision, such as successful participation in bids for large-scale infrastructure funding 
or other similar projects. 

 
The sites that make up the supply for the borough are set out in appendices 1 to 5.  Evidence 
for the delivery of sites with outline permission for major development, allocations in the 
Local Plan, and sites on the Brownfield Land Register, which are considered deliverable 
within five years is set out in appendix 6. 
 
To calculate the number of dwellings these sites are likely to provide within a five-year period, 
the following assumptions have been used where a site-specific trajectory has not been 
agreed with the developer.  These are based on the assumptions set out in the council’s 

 
5 Housing supply and delivery - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) Paragraph: 007 Reference ID: 68-007-20190722 

Page 301



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

7 
 

adopted Land Availability Methodology6 and were tested and confirmed at the Local Plan 
Examination undertaken in 2019. 
 
 

Table 4: Build Rates 

Site Status Timescales Site size/ no. dwellings 

<50homes 50-200 homes >200 homes 
Under construction 
(applied to remaining 
capacity) 

Lead in time NA NA NA 

Build rate (per 
annum) 

15 30 50 

Full pp/Reserved 
Matters 

Lead in time 1 year 1.5 years 2 years 
Build rate (per 
annum) 

15 30 50 

Outline planning 
permission 

Lead in time 1.5 2 2.5 

Build rate (per 
annum) 

15 30 50 

No planning 
permission 
(allocations and LAA 
sites) 

Lead in time 2.5 3 3.5 

Build rate (per 
annum) 

15 30 50 

 

Summary of Supply (appendices 1 to 5) 

Monitoring of housing supply was undertaken during April and May of 2023, using a 
range of sources including CIL records, interviews with developers and site visits. 

Table 5: Housing Supply 1st April 2023 
Supply of sites deliverable within five years No. Dwellings 
Remaining commitments on sites under construction 883 
Detailed planning permission & Outline permission for 
less than 10 dwellings 

574 

Outline permission for major development  201 
Allocation in Local Plan without planning permission 364 
Brownfield Land Register sites only 0 
Total Housing supply 2022 

 
The council can currently demonstrate a supply of dwellings deliverable within five years 
from all sources of 2022 dwellings.   

  

 
6 https://www.chesterfield.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy-and-the-local-plan/land-availability-
assessment.aspx  

Page 302



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

8 
 

4. Five Year Housing Land Supply Position (As of 1st April 2023) 

The following table sets out the five-year land supply position for Chesterfield as of April 2023, 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of paragraph 73 of the Revised NPPF.  
 

Table 6: Five Year Supply Position 1st April 2023 
Housing Requirement 
(based on 240 pa plus 
5% buffer) 

1260 

Housing Supply 2022 
Shortfall / Surplus 762 

 
This is equivalent to a housing supply of 8.02 years based on an annual housing supply 
target of 252 (240 plus 5%).    

Housing Supply ÷ annual target (plus 5%) = supply in years 

2022 ÷ 252 = 8.02 

The Council’s stated position is that it is currently able to demonstrate 
a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide a minimum of 
5 years’ worth of housing against the housing requirement set out in 
the Chesterfield Borough Local Plan 2018-2035. 

  

Page 303



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

9 
 

5. Affordable Housing Delivery Monitoring 

During the monitoring period 2021-22 (the most recent period for which full completions 
data is available) a total of 100 new affordable homes were created through a combination 
of new build, conversion and acquisition. 

The adopted Local Plan did not set out a specific annual target for affordable housing.  Policy 
CLP4 of the plan sets out a geographically variable minimum provision for qualifying sites 
(sites of 10 or more dwellings) based on the Council’s CIL Charging Zones. 

Zone Affordable 
Housing 
Requirement 

Staveley and Rother Valley 
Corridor 

0% 

Low 5% 

Medium 10% 

High 20% 

 

Given this geographic variation, there will inevitably be variation in affordable housing 
delivery year on year depending on which sites are active in which locations.  Nonetheless 
average rates of completions of affordable homes remain steady when considered over a 
rolling three-year period (to match the Housing Delivery Test measurement). 

Year 
 

                
  

Social Rent 

A
ffordable Rent 

Interm
ediate rent 

Total rent 

A
ffordable H

om
e 

ow
nership 

Total affordable 
com

pletions 

Total net housing 
com

pletions 

Ratio 

Rolling three year 
avg ratio 

22-23  TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC 273  TBC TBC 
21-22 18 59 0 77 23 100 379 26.39% 15.64% 
20-21 17 0 0 17 0 17 276 6.16% 9.34% 
19-20 5 12 8 25 8 33 304 10.86% 12.14% 
18-19 5 14 0 19 5 24 212 11.32% 12.43% 
17-18 3 9 0 12 7 19 110 17.27% 13.67% 
16-17 3 8 0 11 0 11 123 8.94% 21.60% 
15-16 25 3 0 28 2 30 206 14.56% 25.66% 
14-15 3 20 45 68 2 70 184 38.04% NA 
13-15 12 14 0 26 12 38 148 25.68% NA 
Total           342 1942 17.61%   

Page 304



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

10 
 

 

6. APPENDICES 

 

 Appendix 1 – Sites Under Construction as of 1st April 2023 
 Appendix 2 – Dwelling Supply: Sites with Detailed Planning 

permission, and outline permission for non-major development as 
of 1st April 2023 

 Appendix 3 – Dwelling Supply: Sites with Outline Permission for 
Major Development and Evidence of Delivery as of 1st April 2023 

 Appendix 4 – Dwelling Supply: Local Plan Allocations without 
planning permission as of 1st April 2023 

 Appendix 5 – Dwelling Supply: Brownfield Register Sites (without 
planning permission or Local Plan allocation) as of 1st April 2023 

 

Page 305



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

1 
 

Appendix 1 – Sites Under Construction as of 1st April 2023 

PP Ref Address Description Granted Prop 
Units 

Lost Net 
Gain 

Com
pleted 

(G
ross)  

N
et Supply  

(5 years) 

U
nder 

Construction 

N
ot Started 

 Current 
Status  

SITES UNDER CONSTRUCTION AS OF 1ST APRIL 2023 

CHE/08/00311/FUL Land At Wessex Close, 
Chesterfield, Derbyshire 

Residential development of five new houses - 
resubmission of CHE/08/00073/FUL 

31/07/2008 5 0 5 2 3 0 3 STARTED 

CHE/20/00456/FUL Land adj. 58A, Coronation 
Road, Brimington, 
Chesterfield, S43 1EX 

Erection of a detached dwelling (including revised 
drawings submitted on 10/09/20) 

11/09/2020 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 STARTED 

CHE/20/00869/RE
M 

Land To The North Of 
Northmoor View 
Brimington 
Derbyshire 

Approval of reserved matters for 150 dwellings of 
CHE/18/00532/OUT -( Re-submission of 
CHE/16/00614/OUT (Outline application for 
proposed housing development with all matters 
reserved except the access) (Revised plans 
including layout, house types, landscape 

24/08/2021 150 0 150 13 137 23 114 STARTED 

CHE/21/00911/FUL Land to the Rear of, 9, 
Dorset Drive, Brimignton, 
S43 1DS 

Construction of a single storey dwelling in the rear 
garden plot of No. 9 Dorset Drive, revised drawings 
received 11.05.2022 

28/06/2022 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 STARTED 

CHE/12/00286/MA 14A Spital Lane, 
Chesterfield, Derbyshire 
S41 0HJ 

Material amendment to CHE/07/00041/FUL 
extended under CHE/10/00231/EOT - The existing 
house is to be retained as a single dwelling house 
(amended from conversion to 2 No flats) but 
extended and altered externally in a similar built 
form 

12/07/2012 7 1 6 0 6 2 5 STARTED 

CHE/15/00348/FUL 115 Coniston Road, 
Chesterfield, Derbyshire 
S41 8JE 

New Dwelling 20/01/2016 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 STARTED 

P
age 306



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

2 
 

PP Ref Address Description Granted Prop 
Units 

Lost Net 
Gain 

Com
pleted 

(G
ross)  

N
et Supply  

(5 years) 

U
nder 

Construction 

N
ot Started 

 Current 
Status  

CHE/16/00216/FUL Jacksons Bakery, New Hall 
Road, S40 1HE 

Residential development of 7 units and associated 
ancillary works - coal mining risk assessment 
received 25th May 2016 and revised plans 
received 24th June 2016 - bat report received 10th 
October 2016 

22/11/2016 7 0 7 0 7 7 0 STARTED 

CHE/17/00375/RE
M 

Hady Miners Welfare Club, 
Houldsworth Drive, Hady, 
Chesterfield, S41 0BS 

Approval of reserved matters of 
CHE/16/00508/OUT - Outline planning application 
for the construction of two blocks of linked 
townhouses and one bungalow 

08/11/2017 6 0 6 2 4 0 4 STARTED 

CHE/18/00462/FUL 27 - 29 Clarence Road, 
Chesterfield, Chesterfield, 
S40 1LN 

Second storey side extension, extension of roof 
line and change of use to 3 flats on first and 
second floor above existing ground floor office 
(revised plans received 17.12.2018 and 
01.03.2019) 

21/05/2019 4 0 4 0 4 4 0 STARTED 

CHE/18/00764/FUL Oldfield Farm, Wetlands 
Lane, Brimington, 
Chesterfield, S43 1QG 

Redevelopment of a previously developed site for 
2no. 'self-build' dwellings and garages - revised 
details received 02/05/2019 

11/06/2019 2 0 2 0 2 2 0 STARTED 

CHE/18/00784/FUL 87, New Square, 
Chesterfield, S40 1AH 

Change of use and conversion to 9 apartments 04/01/2019 9 0 9 0 9 9 0 STARTED 

CHE/18/00805/RE
M 

Land To The West Of 
Dunston Lane, Newbold, 
Chesterfield, S41 9RJ 

Reserved Matters submission for the erection of 
200 dwellings and associated landscaping (to 
which CHE/16/00016/OUT refers) - revised details 
received 26/02/2019, 06/03/2019, 08/03/2019, 
19/03/2019, 21/03/2019, 22/03/2019, 25/03/2019 
and 26/03/2019 

02/04/2019 200 0 200 93 107 30 77 STARTED 

CHE/19/00007/RE
M 

Land At East Of A61, 
Known As Chesterfield 
Waterside, Brimington 
Road, Tapton, Chesterfield 

Approval of reserved matters of appearance, 
layout and scale, of CHE/18/00083/REM1, for the 
development of 177 dwellings, public open space 
and associated infrastructure.  
 

12/06/2019 177 0 177 140 37 37 0 STARTED 

P
age 307



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

3 
 

PP Ref Address Description Granted Prop 
Units 

Lost Net 
Gain 

Com
pleted 

(G
ross)  

N
et Supply  

(5 years) 

U
nder 

Construction 

N
ot Started 

 Current 
Status  

The outline planning application, ref. 
09/00662/OUT, was supported by an environment 

CHE/19/00076/FUL Apple Trees, Lancaster 
Road, Newbold, 
Chesterfield, S41 8TP 

Erection of 6 residential dwellings within the 
grounds of Appletrees comprising 2 x 4 bedroom 
detached houses and 4 x 3 bedroom semi-
detached houses served by a modified access from 
Lancaster Road - revised plans received 
08/04/2019 and 11/04/2019 

24/04/2019 6 0 6 0 6 2 4 STARTED 

CHE/19/00156/FUL Land At Whitebank Close, 
Hasland, Chesterfield 

Construction of 9 new detached dwellings and 
access road. Noise Impact Assessment received 
20.05.2019 - Coal Mining Report, Coal Mining Risk 
Assessment, Geo-technical & Geo Environmental 
Risk Assessment, Desk Top Study and Site 
Photographs received 03.06.1 

23/07/2019 9 0 9 0 9 9 0 STARTED 

CHE/19/00459/FUL 3-5 Avondale Surgery, 
Avondale Road, 
Chesterfield, S40 4TF 

Demolition of existing former pharmacy building 
and erection of two pairs of semi detached 
dwellings and conversion of existing retained 
doctors’ surgery to one pair of semi detached 
dwellings.  

07/10/2020 6 0 6 0 6 6 0 STARTED 

CHE/19/00649/FUL 35 Ashgate Road, Ashgate, 
Chesterfield, S40 4AG 

Erection of a single dwelling  - revised drawings 
received 28 11 2019 and 12 12 2019 

17/01/2020 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 STARTED 

CHE/19/00747/FUL 3 Quarry Bank 
RoadSpitalChesterfieldS41 
0HH 

Demolition of existing garage and erection of one 
detached dwelling on land to the side (revised 
drawings received 31.01.2020, 02.03.2020 and 
30.03.2020) 

21/04/2020 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 STARTED 

CHE/20/00305/FUL Land South of Walton 
Hospital, Harehill Road, 
Grangewood, Chesterfield 

Erection of new residential dwellings at the sites 
off Whitecotes Lane and Harehill Road with 
associated access parking and open space 

14/12/2020 153 0 153 56 97 34 63 STARTED 

CHE/20/00689/FUL 6, Rodge, Old whittington, 
S41 9RE 

Partial demolition of existing bungalow and re-
development into a two storey dwelling 

05/01/2021 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 STARTED 

P
age 308



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

4 
 

PP Ref Address Description Granted Prop 
Units 

Lost Net 
Gain 

Com
pleted 

(G
ross)  

N
et Supply  

(5 years) 

U
nder 

Construction 

N
ot Started 

 Current 
Status  

CHE/20/00760/FUL Land adj. 72, Walton Road, 
Walton, Chesterfield, S40 
3BY 

Conversion and extension of existing garage to 
form new dwelling. 

16/02/2021 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 STARTED 

CHE/20/00772/FUL 9 - 21 Stephenson Place 
Chesterfield 
Derbyshire 
S40 1XL 

Conversion of offices above retail units to form 7 
residential apartments, 1 office unit and the 
amendment/ replacement of existing rear 
windows.  Revised drawings received 15.01.2021, 
18.02.2021 and 11.05.21. (Description revised 
13/05/21 from 9 units) 

24/06/2021 7 0 7 0 7 7 0 STARTED 

CHE/21/00012/FUL 56, Cobden Road, 
Chesterfield, S40 4TD 

Change of use to from commercial (B1 Office) to 5 
residential units (C3) 

13/07/2021 5 0 5 0 5 5 0 STARTED 

CHE/21/00324/FUL Land at 46, Newbold Road, 
Newbold, Chesterfield 

Proposed residential development of 9 bungalows 
with associated infrastructure, roadway, garaging 
and parking (Revised scheme of 
CHE/17/00421/FUL) (Revised plans and description 
reducing the number of units on 06 and 
07.09.2021) 

27/10/2021 9 0 9 0 9 9 0 STARTED 

CHE/21/00331/RE
M 

Moorlea, Ashgate Road, 
Chesterfield, S42 7JE 

Approval of all Reserved Matters for 7 dwellings 
(following approval of outline planning permission 
CHE/19/00043/OUT) 

01/02/2022 7 0 7 0 7 7 0 STARTED 

CHE/21/00524/FUL Business House 1, Calow 
Lane, Hasland, 
Chesterfield, S41 0AL 

Conversion of existing business unit to domestic 
dwelling (C3 use) (revised plans received 
09.11.2021) 

31/01/2022 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 STARTED 

CHE/21/00609/FUL Land to the West of, 
Swaddale Avenue, Tapton 

Residential development of 26 dwellings, new 
access, parking and associated landscaping 
(revised plans received 13.06.2022) 

11/11/2022 26 0 26 0 26 14 12 STARTED 

CHE/21/00748/FUL 15 Chapel Lane West 
Chesterfield 
Derbyshire 
S40 3BG 

Demolition of the existing bungalow, re-build 
retaining wall to southern boundary and erection 
of a new detached dwelling - Revised Drawing 
Received 14.11.2021, further drawing received 
15.12.2021, revised drawings received 02.02.2022 

09/03/2022 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 STARTED 

P
age 309



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

5 
 

PP Ref Address Description Granted Prop 
Units 

Lost Net 
Gain 

Com
pleted 

(G
ross)  

N
et Supply  

(5 years) 

U
nder 

Construction 

N
ot Started 

 Current 
Status  

CHE/21/00815/FUL Land Between37 - 39, 
Highfield Lane, Newbold 

Proposed dormer bungalow (revised drawings 
received 17.01.2022) 

13/05/2022 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 STARTED 

CHE/22/00009/FUL Land to the East of, 140, 
Newbridge Lane, Old 
Whittington, S41 9JA 

proposed detached dwelling 08/04/2022 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 STARTED 

CHE/22/00220/RE
M 

Land Adj 16, Eyre Street 
East, Hasland, 
Chesterfield, S41 0PQ 

Approval of reserved matters (appearance, access 
and landscaping) of CHE/21/00286/OUT 

30/08/2022 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 STARTED 

CHE/22/00221/PA Storage Above 
431 - 435 Sheffield Road 
Whittington Moor 
Chesterfield 
Derbyshire 
S41 8LU 

Re-submission of CHE/22/00043/PA -  Change of 
use of office space into three 2 bedroom flats and 
one 1 bedroom flat. 

07/06/2022 4 0 4 0 4 4 0 STARTED 

CHE/22/00309/FUL 272 - 274, Old Road, S40 
3QN 

Single storey rear extension and conversion of two 
dwellings into one - re-submission of 
CHE/21/00357/FUL 

11/07/2022 1 2 -1 0 1 1 0 STARTED 

CHE/22/00447/FUL 1A, Whitebank Close, 
Hasland, S41 0TS 

Erection of a detached split level dormer bungalow 
with garage attached to the side. 

12/01/2023 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 STARTED 

CHE/15/00386/FUL 24 
NetherthorpeChesterfield
DerbyshireS43 3PU 

Barn conversion and splitting of existing dwelling 
into two - resubmission with bat survey 

18/08/2015 3 1 2 2 0 0 1 STARTED 

CHE/16/00824/RE
M 

Land Opposite Oaks Farm, 
Markham 
RoadDuckmanton 

Reserved matters for CHE/15/00267/OUT - outline 
planning permission for two storey dwelling 

13/02/2017 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 STARTED 

CHE/18/00229/FUL Land South Of Erin Road 
Junction, The Grove, 
Poolsbrook, Chesterfield 

Residential development of 175 no. 2, 3 and 4 bed 
dwellings and ancillary works - revised plans 
received 27/07/2018 and 09/08/2018 - Proposed 
site layout with os plan received 22.08.18 

30/11/2018 175 0 175 78 97 53 44 STARTED 

CHE/19/00083/FUL All Inn, Lowgates, Staveley, 
Chesterfield, S43 3TX 

Conversion of existing pub (6-one bed flats) , new 
3 storey building to front (6-one bed flats)  two 

11/06/2019 16 0 16 0 16 16 0 STARTED 

P
age 310



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

6 
 

PP Ref Address Description Granted Prop 
Units 

Lost Net 
Gain 

Com
pleted 

(G
ross)  

N
et Supply  

(5 years) 

U
nder 

Construction 

N
ot Started 

 Current 
Status  

new single storey blocks arranged parallel to the 
east and west site boundaries (2-one bed flats) 
and 1.5 storey block to north of site (2-one bed 
flats) 

CHE/19/00357/FUL Land Adjacent 11 Bridle 
Road, Woodthorpe, 
Chesterfield 

Erection of a detached dwelling (revised drawings 
received 23.08.2019 and 16.09.2019) 

15/10/2019 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 STARTED 

CHE/19/00514/FUL Land At Rowsley Crescent, 
Staveley, Derbyshire 

Erection of two new three bedroom dwellings - 
mining assessment rec'd 04/11/2019 

10/07/2020 2 0 2 0 2 2 0 STARTED 

CHE/19/00518/FUL 8, Court Place, Staveley, 
Chesterfield, S43 3RJ 

Erection of two new two bedroom houses 07/12/2020 2 0 2 0 2 2 0 STARTED 

CHE/19/00661/FUL 30 High 
StreetStaveleyDerbyshireS
43 3UX 

Change of use from retail shop across 2 floors to 
retail shop (Use Class A1) and hot food takeaway 
(Use Class A5) at ground floor, creation of 2 self 
contained flats at first floor, alterations to 
entrance door to front and installation of cooking 
ex 

15/05/2020 2 0 2 0 2 2 0 STARTED 

CHE/21/00135/FUL Former 9 and 11 Paisley 
Close, Staveley, Derbyshire 
S43 3NS 

Erection of 2 two bedroom dwellings 31/08/2021 2 0 2 0 2 2 0 STARTED 

CHE/21/00190/FUL Former 9 and 9a, Wensley 
Way, Staveley, 
Chesterfield 

Erection of four 2 bedroomed bungalows 28/01/2022 4 0 4 0 4 4 0 STARTED 

CHE/21/00567/RE
M 

Land To West Of Inkersall 
Road, Staveley, Derbyshire 

Approval of reserved matters of 
CHE/19/00131/OUT - residential development of 
400 dwellings, public open space and associated 
infrastructure (Amended and additional 
information received 17.12.2021) 

22/02/2022 400 0 400 0 250 10 390 STARTED 

CHE/21/00883/FUL 4, Woodthorpe Road, 
Woodthorpe, Chesterfield, 
S43 3BZ 

Re submission of CHE /21/00078/FUL for 
demolition of existing bungalow and detached 
garage and erection of a 2 bed bungalow. 

21/02/2022 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 STARTED 

P
age 311



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

7 
 

PP Ref Address Description Granted Prop 
Units 

Lost Net 
Gain 

Com
pleted 

(G
ross)  

N
et Supply  

(5 years) 

U
nder 

Construction 

N
ot Started 

 Current 
Status  

CHE/22/00668/FUL Woodthorpe Grange Farm, 
27, Bridle Road, 
Woodthorpe, S43 3BY 

Conversion of barn to one dwelling including 
associated alterations, air source heat pump, 
amenity space and parking - revised drawings 
received 12.12.2022 

10/01/2023 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 STARTED 

TOTAL        883    
  

P
age 312



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

8 
 

Appendix 2 – Dwelling Supply: Sites with Detailed Planning permission, and outline permission for non-major 
development as of 1st April 2023 

PP Ref Address Description Granted Proposed 
U

nits 

Lost 

N
et Supply 

CHE/19/00810/FUL 132, High Street, Old Whittington, 
Chesterfield, S41 9LE 

Erection of a detached house 26/08/2020 1 0 1 

CHE/20/00017/FUL Brampton Manor 107, Old Road, 
Chesterfield, S40 3QR 

Conversion and change of use of Brampton Manor to form 4 apartments, conversion and 
change of use of the club house to a single apartment and conversion of the barn to three 
garages and demolition of the existing rear kitchen extension to Brampton Manor. 

06/12/2021 5 0 5 

CHE/20/00309/FUL 1A, Wharf Lane, Chesterfield, S41 7NE Internal alterations to first floor residential unit to create 2 new apartments accessed from 
existing rear staircase installation of 2 new roof lights and associated works. Revised 
drawings received 17.09.2020.  Revised drawings received 02.10.2020. 

19/10/2020 2 1 1 

CHE/20/00314/FUL Land At, Basil Close, Chesterfield, 
Derbyshire 

Erection of 34 apartments and 133 room hotel with cafe and restaurant 29/09/2021 34 0 34 

CHE/20/00361/REM 1, Branton Close, Boythorpe, 
Chesterfield, S40 2NL 

Approval of reserved matters for CHE/17/00017/OUT (outline planning permission with all 
matters reserved for one house joining onto 1 Branton Close)  Revised drawings received 
03.07.2020 

26/08/2020 1 0 0 

CHE/20/00605/FUL 9a - 11, High Street, Chesterfield, S40 
1PS 

Conversion of vacant first second and third floors of the building into 8 separate dwelling 
units including 1 bedroom studios 1 and 2 bedroom apartments. and a third floor extension 
on the existing flat roof section of the building to allow space f 

10/11/2020 7 0 7 

CHE/20/00632/FUL Land adj. Old Houses, Piccadilly Road, 
Chesterfield, S41 0EH 

Erection of two houses including frontage parking and gardens and a side access path to Old 
Houses. 

09/03/2021 2 0 2 

CHE/20/00741/FUL Glasshouse Farm Bungalow,  
Glasshouse Lane, New Whittington 
S43 2DQ 

Erection of a four bed detached dwelling (revised drawings received 30.03.2021 and 
18.05.2021) 

01/06/2021 1 0 1 

CHE/20/00808/FUL Land To North Of Dunston Road 
Chesterfield, Derbyshire 

Erection of an apartment block with associated parking, amenity areas and landscaping 
(revised plans received 26.05.2021) 

21/06/2021 8 0 8 

P
age 313



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

9 
 

PP Ref Address Description Granted Proposed 
U

nits 

Lost 

N
et Supply 

CHE/20/00878/FUL St Patricks Church Hall, High Street 
New Whittington, Derbyshire 
S43 2AN 

Demolition of disused church/church hall building and erection of 9 three bedroom houses 
with associated access, parking and landscaping. 

02/06/2021 9 0 9 

CHE/21/00092/FUL 25 and 27 Old Road, Chesterfield 
Derbyshire, S40 2RE 

Demolition of 25 and 27 Old Road and erection of a new building with a commercial unit on 
the ground floor and flat above. (Revised elevation and ground floor dated 01.07.21 and 
revised first floor dated 10.05.21, Bat survey 13.08.2021) 

22/09/2021 2 2 0 

CHE/21/00131/REM Land Between 34 And 38, Lake View 
Avenue, Walton, S40 3DR 

Approval of reserved matters of CHE/19/00088/OUT - erection of detached dwelling 
including access 

09/01/2023 1 0 1 

CHE/21/00252/FUL Land Adj 20, Rushen Mount, 
Birdholme, S40 2JU 

Erection of one 4 bedroomed house. 31/01/2023 1 0 1 

CHE/21/00303/FUL The Oaks 534, Chatsworth Road, 
Chesterfield, S40 3AY 

Demolition of existing residential annex and construction of new 4-bedroom house. 05/10/2021 1 0 1 

CHE/21/00396/PA Former North East Derbyshire County 
Council Council House, Saltergate 

Prior approval for the change of use of former Council building to 59 no. apartments 
(Description changed to correct the no. of apartments 27.05.2021) 

20/07/2021 59 0 59 

CHE/21/00430/FUL Dunston Hall Dunston Road 
Chesterfield 
S41 9RL 

Change of use of Dunston Hall from C3 to Sui Generis use permitting the building to be 
operated as a Holiday Let and wedding venue, including conversion of the existing garage 
building to create an internal space suitable for conducting wedding ceremonies 

05/10/2021 0 1 -1 

CHE/21/00446/FUL Land adj, 5, Mary Ann Street, 
Sheepbridge, S41 9EP 

Erection of a residential dwelling - revised drawings received 05.10.2021 and 18.01.2022 05/04/2022 1 0 1 

CHE/21/00570/FUL Land Between George Street and 
Victoria Street North, Broomhill Road, 
Old Whittington 

Erection of three, detached, split level dwellings with associated parking courtyards and 
landscaping (revised drawings received 25.01.2022) 

05/04/2022 3 0 3 

CHE/21/00585/FUL 48, Newbold Back Lane, Newbold, 
Chesterfield, S40 4HQ 

Demolition of detached two storey house and erection of detached dwelling (revised 
description and plans 25.08.22) 

31/10/2022 1 1 0 

CHE/21/00633/FUL 41, Cobnar Drive, Newbold, 
Chesterfield, S41 8DB 

Erection of a two bedroom detached dwelling - Revised drawings received 09/02/2022 1 0 1 

CHE/21/00694/FUL Land adjacent to 65, St Johns Road, 
Newbold 

Construction of 4 two bed apartments with associated parking and amenity space 05/04/2022 4 0 4 

CHE/21/00703/FUL 53, Heaton Street, S40 3AF Extension, alterations and change of use of existing mixed use residential/commercial 
property (Sui Generis) to separate residential unit and Class E hair salon. 

07/06/2022 1 1 0 

P
age 314



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

10 
 

PP Ref Address Description Granted Proposed 
U

nits 

Lost 

N
et Supply 

CHE/21/00707/FUL Land to the East of Linacre Road, 
Linacre Road, Holme Hall, Chesterfield 

Erection of 301 dwellings including the provision of public open space, landscaping and 
associated infrastructure and works. 

30/09/2022 301 0 250 

CHE/21/00727/FUL 1-3, Cobden Road, Chesterfield, S40 
4TD 

Conversion of former hotel to form 4 dwellings (revised plans received 26/06/2022, 
description updated 04/07/2022) 

30/08/2022 4 0 4 

CHE/21/00800/FUL Land Adjacent 929, Sheffield Road, 
Sheepbridge, S41 9EJ 

Demolition of 1 no. existing dwellinghouse and outbuildings, and construction of 33 no. 2, 3 
& 4 bed dwellinghouses and associated access, parking and gardens. 

16/01/2023 33 0 33 

CHE/21/00824/FUL 396, Chatsworth Road, Chesterfield, 
S40 3BQ 

Second storey rear extension to create flat above shop and new shopfront on side elevation - 
Revised drawings received 21/03/2022 and 25/05/2022 

05/07/2022 1 0 1 

CHE/22/00117/FUL Garage Site Adjacent 23, Roecar Close, 
Old Whittington, S41 9PN 

Erection of 1 dwelling 07/06/2022 1 0 1 

CHE/22/00168/PA Second & Third Floor, West Bars 
House, West Bars, Chesterfield, S40 
1AQ 

Change of use of second and third floor to 8 self-contained units 17/06/2022 8 0 8 

CHE/22/00194/FUL Burlington House, Burlington Street, 
Chesterfield, S40 1RX 

Change of use of existing building to create 42 residential apartments (Use Class C3) and 
associated external alterations. 

13/10/2022 42 0 42 

CHE/22/00195/FUL Burlington House, Burlington Street, 
Chesterfield, S40 1RX 

Erection of third storey to create 13 no. residential apartments (Use Class C3) 13/10/2022 13 0 13 

CHE/22/00248/FUL 43, Knifesmithgate, Chesterfield, S40 
1RL 

Conversion and refurbishment of first and second floors to create four residential units with 
associated access. (Revised plans received 23/08/2022) 

13/09/2022 4 0 4 

CHE/22/00302/FUL 390, Sheffield Road, Whittington Moor, 
S41 8LF 

Conversion of domestic dwelling (C3) to Cafe (E(b)) at ground floor level and the creation of a 
single dwelling at first floor level along with associated internal and external alterations 

29/11/2022 1 1 0 

CHE/22/00335/FUL Devonshire Hotel, 17, Occupation 
Road, Newbold, Chesterfield, S41 8TH 

Change of use of existing public house to form 4 flats (revised drawings received and 
description amended 19.10.2022, revised drawings received 21.10.2022) 

12/12/2022 4 0 4 

CHE/22/00438/FUL Park Hall Farm, Walton Back Lane, 
Walton, S42 7LT 

Demolition of modern farm building and construction of a dwelling in grounds of grade II 
listed barn with associated landscaping work. 

09/01/2023 1 0 1 

CHE/22/00484/REM Ryro Engineering, Shaw Street, 
Whittington Moor, S41 9AY 

Approval of reserved matters for the erection of 7 dwellings in relation to Outline permission 
CHE/19/00214/OUT - (Demolition of factory buildings and erection of 8 dwellings) 

22/12/2022 7 0 7 

CHE/22/00488/FUL 211, Langer Lane, Birdholme, S40 2JW Erection of a dwelling 09/01/2023 1 0 1 

CHE/22/00511/FUL Land to West of Wash House Land, 
Wash House Lane, Chesterfield 

Erection of a new 3 bedroom bungalow with attached garage and associated landscaping 
works (revised drawings received 26.09.2022) 

10/10/2022 1 0 1 

P
age 315



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

11 
 

PP Ref Address Description Granted Proposed 
U

nits 

Lost 

N
et Supply 

CHE/22/00575/PA First Floor, West Bars House, West 
Bars, Chesterfield, S40 1AQ 

Conversion of vacant office spaces on 1st floor of previous office space to 4 self-contained 
apartments (revised drawings received 01.09.2022) 

06/10/2022 4 0 4 

CHE/22/00607/FUL 20, Somersall Lan, Somersall, 
Chesterfield, S40 3LA 

Demolition of 20 and 22 Somersall Lane and erection of three replacement dwellings with 
associated parking and turning areas (existing accesses retained) 

14/03/2023 3 2 1 

CHE/22/00796/FUL Sports Bar adj 37, Holywell Street, 
Chesterfield, S41 7SH 

Conversion of existing bar/ former chapel to form 9 residential flats. Resubmission of 
CHE/22/00463/FUL 

30/01/2023 9 0 9 

CHE/22/00802/PA Existing Offices, Dunston Hole Farm, 
Unnamed Road Accessing Dunston Hall 
and Hole Farm, S41 9RL 

Conversion of existing office building to a single, 4- bedroom dwelling (Class C3) 26/01/2023 1 0 1 

CHE/20/00333/FUL 25, Porter Street, Staveley, 
Chesterfield, S43 3UY 

Demolition of a detached garage and storage building and the erection of a detached 
dwelling with integral garage and a detached garage 

26/08/2020 1 0 1 

CHE/20/00356/FUL 62 Bellhouse Lane, Staveley, S43 3UA Residential development of 2 three bedroom dormer bungalows. Revised drawings received 
21.09.2020. Revised drawings received 22.01.2021. 

19/04/2021 2 0 2 

CHE/20/00371/FUL 21, Station Road Barrow Hill, Barrow 
Hill, Chesterfield, S43 2PG 

Change of use of existing annex to separate dwelling.  Revised drawing received 11.08.2020. 11/08/2020 1 0 1 

CHE/20/00801/FUL Land South of Poolsbrook School, 
Cottage Close, Poolsbrook 

Residential development of 9 dwellings (Revised layout and description 19.01.022) 04/04/2022 9 0 9 

CHE/21/00187/COU Chapel, Cavendish Place, Barrow Hill, 
Derbyshire, S43 2NS 

Change of use of former methodist chapel (D1 use) to single dwelling (C3a use) with ancillary 
workshop and storage (B2 use) 

05/10/2021 1 0 1 

CHE/22/00362/FUL Handleywood Farm, Whittington Road, 
Barrow Hill, Chesterfield, Derbyshire 43 
2PW 

Demolition of buildings used for commercial purposes and erection of 7 dwellings. 
Conversion of out-buildings for use as home-working studios (in conjunction with dwellings). 
Access, parking and landscaping. Re-submission of previously approved application 

26/09/2022 7 0 7 

CHE/22/00775/PA St John's Farm, Bridle Road, 
Woodthorpe, S43 3BY 

Change of use of barn to residential dwelling under Class Q of Part 3, Schedule 2 of The Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015. 

23/12/2022 1 0 1 

CHE/20/00125/OUT 15, Newbridge Lane, Brimington, S43 
1LX 

Detached two bedroom dwelling 02/06/2020 1 0 1 

CHE/20/00658/OUT 3 and 5 Cordwell Avenue, Newbold, 
Derbyshire, S41 8DA 

Outline application for a Single storey bungalow to include reserved matters for access. 
(description and drawings amended 03/03/21) 

20/04/2021 1 0 1 

CHE/20/00663/OUT 140, Newbridge Lane, Old Whittingotn, 
Chesterfield, S41 9JA 

Outline application for residential development.  Amended drawings received 26.11.2020 for 
one dwelling. 

05/01/2021 1 0 1 

P
age 316



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

12 
 

PP Ref Address Description Granted Proposed 
U

nits 

Lost 

N
et Supply 

CHE/21/00863/OUT Land To The Rear 6 Walton Walk, 
Boythorpe, Derbyshire, S40 2QQ 

Outline application for a single detached 1.5 storey dwelling, with access off Central Avenue 25/02/2022 1 0 1 

CHE/22/00034/OUT Avenue Villa 12, Avenue Road, 
Whittington Moor, Chesterfield, S41 
8TA 

3 storey residential block with associated parking and access (revised plans received 
24/05/2022 and 20/06/2022) 

31/08/2022 9 0 9 

CHE/22/00370/OUT 30, Holland Road, Old Whittington, S41 
9HF 

Outline application for the erection of a dwelling with reserved matters for access and layout 27/01/2023 1 0 1 

CHE/22/00581/OUT 366, Brimington Road, Tapton, S41 0TF Outline application for demolition of existing detached garage and erection of a 3/4 
Bedroom chalet bungalow (1.5) storey with separate detached garage with all matters 
reserved 

31/10/2022 1 0 1 

CHE/22/00689/OUT Land adjacent to 21, Southfield 
Avenue, Hasland 

Outline planning consent for two dwellings adjacent to 21 Southfield Avenue - replacement 
of previous permission CHE/19/00468/OUT 

15/03/2023 2 0 2 

CHE/20/00039/OUT Four Poplars, Rectory Road, 
Duckmanton, S44 5JS 

Outline application with all matters reserved for residential development of a detached 
house on land adjacent to Four Poplars, Rectory Road, Duckmanton (revised site plan 
received 04.04.2020) 

05/08/2020 1 0 1 

CHE/20/00601/FUL* Langdale Lodge 56, Selhurst Road, 
Newbold, S41 7HR 

Extension to existing residential care home for the elderly to include an extended 
dining/lounge and 3 extra bedrooms. (Amended plans received 27th July 2021 along with 
Coal mining Risk Assessment) 

15/11/2021   1.67 

CHE/21/00926/FUL* Avenue Villa, 12A Avenue Road, 
Whittington Moor, S41 8TA 

Erection of a new care home facility with separate detached day units and creation of new 
access and auxiliary car parking areas. (Revised plans received 24/05/2022 and 21/07/2022) 

31/08/2022   4.44 

CHE/22/00014/FUL* Ridgewood House Residential Home13 
Dukes DriveNewboldDerbyshireS41 
8QB 

Proposed bedroom extension to turn elderly person 20 bed nursing home into 21 bed 
nursing home (1 unit) 

09/03/2022   0.56 

CHE/22/00743/COU* 16, Albion Road, Chesterfield, S40 1LJ Change of use of residential dwelling from small shared house (C4 Use Class) to a House of 
Multiple Occupation (Use Class Sui Generis) 

30/01/2023   0.56 

CHE/22/00844/FUL* Pine Bank Day Centre, 9, Abercrombie 
Street, Abercrombie, S41 7LW 

Change of use from Class E(f) Day Centre to Residential Home for Adults with Learning 
Disabilities (Class C2), including the removal and incorporation of external windows and 
doors, provision of access steps to south elevation and render 

07/03/2023   3.33 

P
age 317



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

13 
 

PP Ref Address Description Granted Proposed 
U

nits 

Lost 

N
et Supply 

TOTAL    624 8 574 

 

* Contribution to supply calculated using methodology set out in Housing Delivery Test rulebook ratio for communal accommodation  

 

  

P
age 318



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

14 
 

Appendix 3 – Dwelling Supply: Sites with Outline Permission for Major Development and Evidence of Delivery as of 1st 
April 2023 
 

PP Ref Address Description Granted Proposed 
U

nits 

Lost 

Five year 
supply 

Summary of evidence of delivery 

CHE/22/00109/OUT Manor Offices, Old 
Road, Chesterfield, 
S40 3QT 

Outline application for the demolition of existing office 
premises and erection of residential dwellings, with all 
matters reserved except access. 

30/03/2023 58 0 58 Applicant in advanced discussion with purchaser 

CHE/20/00700/OUT Land South of 
Worksop Road, 
Worksop Road, 
Mastin Moor 

Outline application for residential development of up to 
650 dwellings, a residential care facility with extra care, 
a Local Centre (including local retail, health facilities, 
leisure facilities, other local facilities and services, 
offices), open space, 

20/02/2023 650 0 143 REM applications received for road layout and first 
phase of 143 dwellings 

TOTAL    708 0 201  

 

  

P
age 319



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

15 
 

Appendix 4 – Dwelling Supply: Local Plan Allocations without planning permission as of 1st April 2023 

Local 
Plan Ref 

Site Name Est. 
capacity 

Contribution 
to 5 year 
Housing 
Supply 

Commentary 

H1 Edale Road Garage Court, Mastin 
Moor 

6 5 Full planning application for 5 dwellings received June 2023 

H5 Pondhouse Farm, Works Road, Troughbrook 23 23 Revised applications under consideration (CHE/18/00688/OUT & CHE/18/00491/OUT).  Being 
actively pursued by landowner.  No impediments to delivery. 

H6 Miller Avenue, Mastin Moor 14 13 Full planning application for 13 dwellings received June 2023 

H7 Hollythorpe Close, Hasland 14 14 CBC owned, to be released once no longer required for current storage.  Development expected 
2023-2025 

H8 Chesterfield Road (Land North of),  
Staveley 

14 0 No current activity, do not include in five year supply 

H9 White Bank Close (Land at), Hasland 9 0 Extant outline planning permission CHE/19/00156/FUL for 9 dwellings.  See entry in appendix 2 

H10 Derwent House HOP, Ulverston Road,  
Newbold 

17 0 Derbyshire County Council – vacant site but no current timetable for redevelopment.  Delivery 
projected for 2023/24. 

H11 Sycamore Road (Land at),  
Hollingwood 

18 0 Pre-application discussions with landowner.  No specific timescale at present.  Do not include in 
five year supply. 

H12 Ashbrook Centre (Former), Cuttholme 
Road, Loundsley Green 

20 0 Derbyshire County Council – vacant site but no current timetable for redevelopment.  Delivery 
projected for 2023/24. 

H13 Elm Street (Land at), Hollingwood 23 0 Pre-application discussions with landowner.  No specific timescale at present.  Do not include in 
five year supply. 

H15 Goldwell Rooms (Former) and 6 
Ashgate Road, Chesterfield 

70 0 Planning permissions CHE/18/00605/FUL for assisted living facility and CHE/19/00385/FUL for 72 
bed care home under construction.  See appendix 2 

H16 Red House HOP and Spire Lodge,  
Sheffield Road, Chesterfield 

25 0 Derbyshire County Council – vacant site but no current timetable for redevelopment. Delivery 
projected for 2023/24. 

H19 Ash Glen Nursery (Former), Sheffield  
Road, Unstone 

30 0 Planning permission CHE/21/00800/FUL  - see appendix 2 

H20 Duewell Court (Land at), Station  
Road, Barrow Hill 

35 35 Owned by CBC Housing.  Part of current Council Housing construction plan. Delivery projected for 
2024/25. 

H21 Staveley Canal Basin, Eckington 
Road, Staveley 

90 0 Working with DCC on planning brief.  Some land assembly required.  Do not include in supply at 
this stage 

P
age 320



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

16 
 

H23 Allen and Orr Timber Yard, Saltergate,  
Chesterfield 

39 0 Site now being retained for current use after relocation site could not be secured.  Do not include 
in housing land supply  

H25 Boat Sales (Former), Sheffield Road, 
Unstone 

50 0 Completed 

H26 Rectory Road, Duckmanton 33 0 Completed 

H27 Walton Hospital (Land at), Harehill  
Road, Walton 

60 0 Under construction, see entry for planning permission CHE/20/00305/FUL, Appendix 1 

H28 Walton Hospital (Land at), Whitecotes  
Lane, Walton 

90 0 Under construction, see entry for planning permission CHE/20/00305/FUL, Appendix 1 

H30 Walton Works (Former), Factory 
Street, Brampton 

150 0 Planning application CHE/15/00832/FUL pending.  No recent contact with applicant.  Do not 
include in five year supply 

H31 Varley Park, Staveley Road, Poolsbrook 175 0 Under construction – see appendix 1 

H32 Bent Lane, Staveley 140 0 CBC owned.  Issues with access – not scheduled for current disposal 

H33 Land at Linacre Road, Holme Hall 300 0 planning application CHE/21/00707/FUL for 301 dwellings granted permission 30/09/2022.  
Application for discharge of conditions made (CHE/22/00706/DOC).  Site CBC owned and sale 
agreement and permissions in place.  Now on site and first unit completions anticipated October 
2024.  Delivery of 160 units in five year housing supply based on completion of 30 units per 
annum – included in appendix 2 

H34 Tom Lane (Land South of), West of 
Rectory Road, Duckmanton 

275 0 Outline planning application CHE/16/00340/OUT pending.  No current known developer interest.  
Do not include in five year housing supply. 

H35 Land South of Worksop Road and  
East and West of Bolsover Road, 
Mastin Moor 

650 0 Outline permission  CHE/20/00700/OUT – REM applications received for road layout and first 
phase of housing - see entry at appendix 3 for details 

H36 Land at Inkersall Road 400 0 REM permission granted - see appendix 2  

SS1 Spire Neighbourhood, Chesterfield 100 0 CBC to develop planning brief over 2022/23.  Some site acquisition and relocation of use likely to 
be required. Do not currently include in five year housing supply. 

SS3 Chesterfield Waterside, Brimington  
Road, Chesterfield 

1550 0 Planning permission CHE/19/00007/REM for 177 dwellings currently under construction.  See 
entry in appendix 1. 
Reserved Matters planning application CHE/21/00184/REM for 314 dwellings pending, but 
alternative scheme expected – no additional contribution to five year supply.   
Outline planning permission CHE/09/00662/OUT has lapsed 
Full Planning application for 145 dwellings on land east of River Rother currently subject to 
appeal against non-determination (CHE/22/00604/FUL) – no additional contribution to five year 
supply 

SS5 Staveley Works, Staveley 1499 0 Delivery anticipated in Local Plan from 2032 onwards. 

P
age 321



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

17 
 

Relies on completion of Chesterfield Staveley Regeneration Route (CSRR) to maximise dwelling 
numbers.  Construction of CSRR scheduled for 2025. 
Current outline planning applications for up to 1200 dwellings (CHE/17/00644/OUT & 
CHE/19/00103/OUT) pending – revised information to be provided by applicants late 2022/23.  
First completions on site could be brought forwards to 2027. 

SS6 Land South of Dunston Road, Dunston 799 274 Planning permission CHE/18/00805/REM for 200 dwellings under construction.  See entry in 
appendix 1 
Outline planning application CHE/21/00549/OUT for up to 500 dwellings pending.  274 dwellings 
anticipated by 31st September 2026 based in trajectory agreed for developer (assumes two 
housebuilders active on site) 

TOTAL  6718 364  

 
 
  

P
age 322



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

18 
 

Appendix 5 – Dwelling Supply: Brownfield Register Sites (without planning permission or Local Plan allocation) as of 1st 
April 2023 

Site Name Planning 
Status 

Site 
Capacity 
(no. 
dwellings) 

Contribution 
to Housing 
Supply 

Commentary 

Inkersall Social Club, Inkersall Green, Inkersall None 
16 

0 No current evidence of delivery 

Middle Farm, Duckmanton, Chesterfield None 
3 

0 Full permission lapsed 2017 

The Conservatory Centre, Hazlehurst Lane, 
Stonegravels, Chesterfield 

None 9 0 Outline planning permission CHE/15/00595/OUT lapsed 

Fridays Chip Shop, 109 Highfield Road, 
Chesterfield, Derbyshire, Chesterfield 

None 

5 

0  

Land Used For Storage and Premises Goyt Side 
Road, Chesterfield 

None 

8 

0  

Land On Goytside Road Corner Factory 
Street Chesterfield Derbyshire 

None 

5 

0  

The Elm Tree Inn, High Street, Staveley None 
23 

0 Subject to planning appeal 

P
age 323



Chesterfield Borough – Five year housing supply statement, 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 

19 
 

 

Page 324


	Agenda
	Please ask for Liz Athorn
	Direct Line: 01246 959612
	Email  democratic.services@chesterfield.gov.uk

	3 Minutes of Planning Committee
	Minutes 5.7.23

	4 Applications for Planning Permission - Plans Determined by the Committee
	COMMITTEE/SUB			Planning Committee
	DETERMINATION -INDEX
	21.00549.OUT Dunston FINAL
	22-00436 and 22-00437 Park Hall Farm
	23-00313 Land north of Dunston Road

	5 Applications for Planning Permission - Plans Determined by the Development Management and Conservation Manager (P140D)
	TITLE					DELEGATION
	PAPERS

	Delegated List
	DELEGATED - PLANNING - KEY TO PLANNING

	6 Applications to Fell or Prune Trees (P620D)
	TITLE					DELEGATION
	PAPERS

	APPLICATION TO FELL OR PRUNE TREES June -July 2023
	TREES IN A CONSERVATION AREA June - July 2023

	7 Appeals Report (P000)
	Committee Appeals report

	8 Enforcement Report (P410)
	9 Five Year Supply of Land for Housing
	5YS Position April 2023 - Appendix




